Report No. 19

December 2000



# **Toward Sustainable Forest Management:**

# Part II—The Role and Effects of Timber Harvesting in Idaho

by

Philip S. Cook and Jay O'Laughlin

Idaho Forest, Wildlife and Range Policy Analysis Group Jay O'Laughlin, Director Idaho Forest, Wildlife and Range Experiment Station Charles R. Hatch, Director



- The Idaho Forest, Wildlife and Range Policy Analysis Group was established by the Idaho Legislature in 1989 to provide objective analysis of the impacts of natural resource proposals (see Idaho Code § 38-714).
- The Policy Analysis Group is administered through the University of Idaho's College of Natural Resources, Charles R. Hatch, Dean.

Advisory Committee			
Jane Gorsuch, Vice Pres., Idaho Affairs	Stan Hamilton, Director	Kent Henderson	
Intermountain Forest Association	Idaho Dept. of Lands	Idaho Wildlife Federation	
Boise, Idaho	Boise, Idaho	Lewiston, Idaho	
Jack Lavin, Coordinator	John McCarthy	Greg Nelson, D.V.M.	
Idaho Recreation / Tourism Initiative	Idaho Conservation League	Idaho Farm Bureau Federation	
Boise, Idaho	Boise, Idaho	Boise, Idaho	
Dave Rittenhouse, Supervisor	Rod Sando, Director	Margaret Soulen Hinson	
Boise National Forest	Idaho Dept. of Fish and Game	Idaho Rangeland Resources Committee	
Boise, Idaho	Boise, Idaho	Boise, Idaho	

#### **Policy Analysis Group Reports**

- No. 1. Idaho's endowment lands: a matter of sacred trust. J. O'Laughlin (March 1990).
- No. 2. BLM riparian policy in Idaho: analysis of public comment on a proposed policy statement. *K.L. Johnson, C. Mosley, J.C. Mosley, and J. O'Laughlin* (June 1990).
- No. 3. Idaho Department of Fish and Game's land acquisition and land management program. *C. Wise and J. O'Laughlin* (October 1990).
- No. 4. Wolf recovery in central Idaho: alternative strategies and impacts. C. Wise, J.J. Yeo, D. Goble, J.M. Peek, and J. O'Laughlin (February 1991).
- No. 5. State agency roles in Idaho water quality policy. A.C. Turner and J. O'Laughlin (February 1991, with separate Executive Summary).
- No. 6. Silver Valley resource analysis for pulp and paper mill feasibility. *J.G. MacCracken and J. O'Laughlin*, editors (October 1991).
- No. 7. A national park in Idaho? Proposals and possibilities. J.G. MacCracken and J.O'Laughlin (June 1992).
- No. 8. Design of forest riparian buffer strips for the protection of water quality: analysis of scientific literature. *G.H. Belt, J. OLaughlin, and T. Merrill* (June 1992).
- No. 9. Analysis of methods for determining minimum instream flows for recreation. T. Merrill and J. O'Laughlin (March 1993).
- No. 10. Idaho roadless areas and wilderness proposals. J.G. MacCracken, J. O'Laughlin, and T. Merrill (July 1993).
- No. 11. Forest health conditions in Idaho. J. O'Laughlin, J.G. MacCracken, D.L. Adams, S.C. Bunting, K.A. Blatner, and C.E. Keegan, III (December 1993, with separate Executive Summary).
- No. 12. Grizzly bear recovery in Idaho. J.G. MacCracken, D. Goble, and J. O'Laughlin (November 1994).
- No. 13. Endangered Species Act at the crossroads: New directions from Idaho case studies. *J.O'Laughlin and P.S. Cook* (October 1995, with separate Executive Summary).
- No. 14. Idaho water quality policy for nonpoint source pollution: A manual for decision-makers. J. O'Laughlin (December 1996, with separate Executive Summary).
- No. 15. Guidelines for managing cattle grazing in riparian areas to protect water quality: Review of research and best management practices policy. J.C. Mosley, P.S. Cook, A.J. Griffis, and J. O'Laughlin (December 1997).
- No. 16. History and analysis of federally administered land in Idaho. J. O'Laughlin, W.R. Hundrup, and P.S. Cook (June 1998).
- No. 17. Public Opinion of Water Pollution Control Funding Sources in Idaho. J. O'Laughlin and K. McGuire (December 1998).
- No. 18. Toward Sustainable Forest Management: Part I Certification Programs. P.S. Cook and J. O'Laughlin (December 1999).

# **Toward Sustainable Forest Management:**

# Part II—The Role and Effects of Timber Harvesting in Idaho

by

Philip S. Cook<sup>1</sup> and Jay O'Laughlin<sup>2</sup>

# Report No. 19 Idaho Forest, Wildlife and Range Policy Analysis Group University of Idaho

December 2000

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Philip S. Cook is a Research Associate with the Idaho Forest, Wildlife and Range Policy Analysis Group, University of Idaho, Moscow. He is a member of the Society of American Foresters and teaches Natural Resource Policy at Washington State University, Pullman.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Jay O'Laughlin is Director of the Idaho Forest, Wildlife and Range Policy Analysis Group, and Professor in the Department of Forest Resources, University of Idaho, Moscow. He is a Fellow of the Society of American Foresters and teaches Natural Resources Policy Analysis at the University of Idaho.

[This page left blank intentionally.]

# About the Policy Analysis Group (PAG)

*Role and Mission.* The Idaho Legislature created the Policy Analysis Group (or "PAG") in 1989 as a way for the University of Idaho to respond quickly to requests for information and analysis about current natural resource issues. The PAG's formal mission is to provide timely, scientific and objective data and analysis, and analytical and information services, on resource and land use questions of general interest to the people of Idaho.

**PAG Reports.** This is the nineteenth report of the Policy Analysis Group (see inside cover). The PAG is required by law to report the findings of all its work, whether tentative or conclusive, and make them freely available. PAG reports are primarily policy education documents, as one would expect from a state university program funded by legislative appropriation. The PAG identifies and analyzes scientific and institutional problems associated with natural resource policy issues. In keeping with the PAG's mandate, several alternative policy options are developed and their potential benefits and detrimental effects are analyzed. As an operational policy the PAG does not recommend an alternative.

*Advisory Committee.* A standing Advisory Committee (see inside cover) has specific functions assigned by the PAG's enabling legislation. The committee's main charge is to review current issues and suggest topics for analysis. Based on those suggestions, the dean of the College of Natural Resources works closely with the PAG director to design analysis projects. The Advisory Committee has a responsibility to suggest the appropriate focus of the analysis. This is done iteratively, until an outline for the project is mutually agreed upon by the committee and the PAG. The outline is usually organized as a series of focus questions, and the PAG's analytical tasks are to develop replies to the questions. The PAG uses the resources of the university and other public and private organizations as needed. When the PAG becomes active on a project, the committee receives periodic oral progress reports. This process defines the scope of PAG report content and provides freedom for the PAG to conduct unbiased analysis.

*Technical Review.* Peer review of PAG work is absolutely essential for ensuring not only technical accuracy but also impartiality and fairness. A technical advisory committee and technical reviewers are selected separately for each project by the dean and PAG director, sometimes upon recommendation of the Advisory Committee, to ensure that a wide range of expertise is reflected in the design and execution of PAG reports, and that no point of view is favored. Report review criteria used by the National Research Council of the National Academy of Sciences are the guidelines furnished to PAG reviewers.

*Additional Information.* If you would like additional information, please contact Jay O'Laughlin, PAG Director, at any of the following addresses:

Idaho Forest, Wildlife and Range Policy Analysis Group College of Natural Resources University of Idaho Moscow, ID 83844-1134

voice: 208-885-5776 FAX: 208-885-6226 E-mail: pag@uidaho.edu World Wide Web: http://www.uidaho.edu/cfwr/pag

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS — TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE

The following individuals provided advice on the concept of the plan for this study project.

Dr. Matt Carroll Associate Professor Department of Natural Resources Sciences Washington State University, Pullman

Lloyd French Idaho Farm Bureau Boise, Idaho

Stan Hamilton Director, Idaho Department of Lands Boise, Idaho Dr. Charles Harris Professor Department of Resource Recreation and Tourism University of Idaho, Moscow

Dr. Dale Toweill Idaho Department of Fish and Game Boise, Idaho

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS — TECHNICAL REVIEW

The following individuals provide comments on a review draft of this report. In addition, on May 24-25, 2000, a workshop was held in Moscow, Idaho to provide additional technical review and input to the draft report. Participants in that workshop are marked with an asterisk (\*).

Dr. Matt Carroll\* Department of Natural Resource Sciences Washington State University, Pullman

Dr. Steve Cook\* Department of Forest Resources University of Idaho, Moscow

Tom Dechert Idaho Department of Environmental Quality Lewiston, Idaho

Dr. Jo Ellen Force\* Department of Forest Resources University of Idaho, Moscow

Dr. Tom Gorman\* Department of Forest Products University of Idaho, Moscow

Jane Gorsuch Intermountain Forest Association Boise, Idaho

Dr. Joel Hamilton\* Department of Agricultural Economics University of Idaho, Moscow

Dr. Chuck Harris\* Department of Resource Recreation and Tourism University of Idaho, Moscow

Kent Henderson\* Idaho Wildlife Federation Lewiston, Idaho Dr. Katy Kavanaugh\* Department of Forest Resources University of Idaho, Moscow

Bob Maynard, Esq. Perkins Coie Boise, Idaho

Dr. Barry Moore Department of Natural Resource Sciences Washington State University, Pullman

Cory Scott\* Department of Resource Recreation and Tourism University of Idaho, Moscow

Dr. Chuck Slaughter\* USDA Northwest Watershed Research Center Boise, Idaho

Dr. Dale Toweill Idaho Department of Fish and Game Boise, Idaho

Dr. Fran Wagner\* Department of Forest Products University of Idaho, Moscow

Dr. Patrick Wilson\* Department of Political Science University of Idaho, Moscow

## ADDITIONAL ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Dr. Julia Parker, Research Scientist, Policy Analysis Group, provided material in Chapters 2 and 4.

The authors would like to thank Brain Sudgen, Hydrologist, Plum Creek Timber Company, Columbia Falls, Montana for his assistance in obtaining research materials used in Chapter 6.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

About the PAG	i
Acknowledgments	<i>ii</i>
Table of Contents	. <i>iv</i>
List of Tables	. <i>ix</i>
List of Figures	<i>x</i>
Abstract	1
Executive Summary	3
Chapter 1. What is sustainable forest management?	3
Chapter 2. How important is the timber harvesting issue in Idaho?	3
Social Values	. 4
Economic Values	. 4
Importance of Place	5
Chapter 3 What is the timber situation in Idaho's forests?	5
Idaho Timber Statistics	5
Sustaining Healthy Forests	
Chapter 4 What policies affect timber harvesting in Idaho?	10
Environmental I aws	10
National Forest Land-Use Policies	. 10
Laws Protecting Wilderness and Biodiversity	12
Eaws However Management	13
Management Objectives	11
Forest Certification	14
Chapter 5 What are the effects of timber harvesting on other resources?	15
Timber	. 15
Water	. 15
Wildlifa	. 15
	. 10
Elk	. 10
	. 10
Chapter 6 Alternative Approaches to Wetershed Analysis	. 17
Chapter 6. Alternative Approaches to watersned Analysis	. 1/
Labora Cumulative Watershed Effects (CWE) Process	. 17
Idano's Cumulative Watershed Effects (CWE) Process	. 1/
Wasnington's watersned Analysis Program	. 18
Federal Watershed Analysis Process	. 18
A Driverte Sector Annues et to Wetersheld Analysis	. 18
A Private Sector Approach to watersned Analysis	. 18
Chapter /. Conclusions	. 19
Future Directions	. 20
A World Demonstring on Like 2 Timber Demonstri	. 20
A world Perspective on Idano's Timber Resources	. 20
	. 20
"Sustainability" and Human Values	. 20
Chapter 1. What is sustainable forest management?	22
1 1 Defining "Sustainability"	· 23
1.1. Defining Sustainability	. 23 24
1.2. Sustainability is Based on Human Values	. 24 24
1.2.1. Sustainability is Dasce on Human values	· 24
1.2.2. Equity of Latiness	. 25
1.2.5. 155005 01 State	. 25

1.3. Difficulties Implementing Sustainability	. 25
1.3.1. Ambiguity in Definition	. 26
1.3.2. Agreement on Values	. 26
1.3.3. Substitutability of Capital and the Role of Technology	. 26
1.3.4. Agreement on Scales	. 27
1.3.5. Things Change	. 27
1.3.6. Institutional Change	. 28
1.3.7. Science and Sustainability	. 28
1.3.8. Uncertainty and Risk	. 28
1.4. Sustainability and Forests	. 29
1.4.1. Forest Management	. 29
1.4.2. Sustainable Forest Management	. 29
1.4.3. Sustained Yield	. 30
1.4.4. From Sustained Yield to Sustainable Forest Management	. 31
1.5. Conclusions	. 31
Chapter 2. How important is the timber harvesting issue in Idaho?	. 33
2.1. Forest Values	. 33
2.2. Social Values	. 34
2.2.1. Value Orientations	. 34
2.2.2. Values Shift	. 35
2.2.3. National Attitudes Towards Forest Management	. 35
2.3. Forest Values in Idaho	. 36
2.3.1. Environmental Protection and Economic Development	. 36
2.3.2. Recreation and Timber Harvesting	36
2.3.2. Rederal Land Management	36
2.3.4 Forest Management and Timber Industry	37
2.3.5 Residential Differences in Values	37
2.3.6. Differences Between National and Local Values	37
2.3.0. Differences between National and Local Values	. 37
2.5.7. Fublic Opinion VS. Fublic Judgment	. 30
2.4. Leonomie Values of Idano Folests	. 30
2.4.2. Non-timber Forest Products	. 57
2.4.2. Representation	. +1
2.4.5. Recreation	. 42
2.4.4. Other Economic values	. 45
2.4.5. Growin and Development	. 44
2.5. Importance of Place	. 44
	. 44
Chapter 2 What is the timber situation in Idaho's forests?	15
2.1. Timborland Dasa	. 45
2.2. Timber Inventories	. 45
3.2. 1 Imper inventories	. 45
3.2.1. The Forest Inventory and Analysis (FIA) Unit of the U.S. Forest Service	. 4/
3.2.2. Problems with inventories of the National Forests	. 48
3.2.3. New Directions for the Forest Inventory and Analysis (FIA) Program	. 49
3.3. Idano Timber Statistics	. 49
	. 50
<i>3.3.2.</i> Age	. 51
5.5.5. SIZE	. 51
3.3.4. Stocking	. 52
3.3.5. Net Volume	. 53
3.3.6. Annual Mortality	. 53
3.3.7. Net Annual Growth	. 57

3.3.8. Net Annual Growth and Removals	57
3.3.9. Trends in Net Annual Growth, Removals, and Mortality	60
3.3.10. Softwood Sawtimber Harvest	61
3.4. Sustaining Healthy Forests	65
3.4.1. What is forest health?	66
3.4.2. Measuring Forest Health	67
3.4.3. Idaho Trends in Mortality as a Percent of Growth	67
3.4.4. Changes in Idaho's Forest Structure and Composition	70
3.4.5. Are Idaho's forests healthy?	70
3.4.6. Health Management Strategy	71
3.4.7. Policy Issues	71
3.4.8. Conclusion on Forest Health	71
3.5. Conclusions	72
Chapter 4. What policies affect timber harvesting in Idaho?	73
4.1. Environmental Laws	73
4.1.1. National Environmental Policy Act	73
4.1.2. Clean Air Act	74
4.1.3. Clean Water Act	74
4.1.4. Idaho Forest Practices Act	75
4.2. National Forest Land-Use Policies	76
4.2.1. Organic Act	76
4.2.2. Multiple-Use Sustained-Yield Act	76
4.2.3. Forest and Rangeland Renewable Resources Planning Act	76
4.2.4. National Forest Management Act	77
Timber Suitability	77
Clearcutting	78
Maturity	78
Sustained Yield and Departures	78
Problems with NFMA	78
4.2.5 Road Management and Roadless Area Protection Policies	78
4.3 Laws Protecting Wilderness and Biodiversity	79
4.3.1 Wilderness Act	79
4.3.2 Wild and Scenic Rivers Act	80
4.3.3 Endangered Species Act	80
Identification of Imperiled Species	80
ESA Protection: Section 7	80
ESA Protection: Section 0	00 Q1
Decovery of Imperilad Species	01
ESA and Earast Management	01
4.2.4 NEMA Diversity Mendete	01
	02 02
4.3.3. PACFISH	02
Impact of PACFISH on Timber Harvest Levels	82
4.3.0. INFIST	03
4.4. Ecosystem Management	83
4.4.1. Ecosystem Management as Policy	84
4.4.2. Interior Columbia Basin Ecosystem Management Project	84 07
4.5. Management Objectives	87
4.5.1. National Forest Lands	8/
4.5.2. State Endowment Lands	88
4.5.5. Forest Industry Lands	88
4.5.4. Non-Industrial Private Forest (NIPF) Lands	88
4.5.5. American Indian Iribal Lands	88
4.0. Forest Certification	89

4.6.1. Forest Management Changes	89
4.6.2. Costs of Certification	90
4.6.3. World Markets: Where will the wood come from?	90
4.7. Conclusions	91
Chapter 5. What are timber harvesting's effects on other resources?	93
5.1. Variability of Harvesting's Effects	. 93
5 1 1 Diversity of Ecosystems	93
5.1.2 Variability in Harvesting Methods and Machinery	96
5.1.2. Variability in that vesting incurous and machinery	
5.2.1 Effects of Timber Hervesting on Soil	
Microalimete	97
Microcinnate	
Nutrients	
Erosion	
Compaction	98
Microorganisms	98
5.2.2. Mitigating Timber Harvesting's Effects on Soil	99
5.2.3. Wood Quality	99
5.3. Water Resources	. 100
5.3.1. Fish Habitat	. 100
5.3.2. Effects of Timber Harvesting on Fish Habitat	. 101
Importance of Small Streams	. 101
Effects on Structure	. 101
Effects on Streamflow	. 104
Effects on Water Quality	. 105
Effects on Sediment	105
Mass Movement	106
Soils	107
Large Woody Debris	108
5 3 3 Roads	108
Sodimenta	100
Sequinents	. 100
Mass Movements	. 108
5.3.4. Mitigating Timber Harvesting's Effects on water Quality	. 109
Best Management Practices	. 109
5.4. Wildlife	. 111
5.4.1. Management Indicator Species	. 112
5.4.2. Elk	. 112
Elk Habitat Requirements	. 117
Elk Management	. 117
Effects of Timber Harvesting on Elk	. 117
Roads	. 119
Mitigating Timber Harvesting's Effects on Elk	. 119
Elk Management Guidelines	. 120
5.4.3. Northern Goshawk	. 121
Northern Goshawk Habitat	. 121
Effects of Timber Harvesting on Northern Goshawks	. 122
Mitigating Timber Harvesting's Effects on Northern Goshawks	. 123
Northern Goshawk Management Guidelines	. 123
5.5 Scenery	123
5 5 1 Idaho's Scenery	123
5.5.2 Scenic Beauty and Forest Management Research	124
5.5.2. Scone Deauty and Forest Management Research	124
J.J.J. Ivianaging randon marvest for Seeme Deauty	. 120

5.5.4. Scenery and Ecosystem Management	5
5.6. Conclusions	7
Chapter 6 Alternative Approaches to Watershed Analysis	5
6.1 Cumulative Watershed Effects: State Programs	ś
6.1.1 What are sumulative impacts?	, 1
6.1.2 What are sumulative offects?	2 2
6.1.2. What are sumulative vistorshed affects?	, 1
6.1.4. Idaha's Cumulative Watershed Effects (CWE) Process	) n
6.1.5. Washington's Watershed Analysis Program	) 1
6.2. Wetershed Analysis by Ecderal Agencies	1 7
6.2.1 History	<u>ر</u>
$6.2.1. \text{ HIStory} \qquad 12$	) )
$6.2.2$ . Ecosystem Analysis at the watershed Scale $\ldots$ 13.	) 1
6.2.5. How big is a watersned?	+ 1
6.2.4. Implementation Issues	+
6.3. Comparing Alternative Approaches	) ~
6.3.1. Cumulative Effects Assessment Comparison	) ~
6.3.2. Adaptive Management Comparison	) ~
6.3.3. Restoration Assessment Comparison	) ~
6.3.4. Ecosystem Management Comparison 13	)
6.3.5. Time and Cost Considerations	)
6.4. The Watershed as a Unit and Scale of Analysis	)
6.5. A Private Sector Approach to Watershed Analysis	)
6.6. Conclusions	2
Chapter 7. Conclusions	3
7.1. Future Directions	5
7.1.1. Evolving Indicators of Sustainable Forest Management	5
7.1.2. A World Perspective on Idaho's Timber Resources	5
7.1.3. Consumption and "Sustainability" 140	5
7.1.4. "Sustainability" and Human Values 14	7
References Cited	)
Glossary	3

# LIST OF TABLES

Table ES-1. Net volume of growing stock on Idaho timberland by species, 1991 8
Table 3-1. Idaho timberland area by ownership, 1991. 46
Table 3-2. Most recent inventory for Idaho national forests, as of 1996 47
Table 3-3. Standard sampling error for growing stock on non-reserved timberland in Idaho
Table 3-4. Idaho timberland area by productivity class and ownership, 1991 50
Table 3-5. Idaho timberland area by age class, 199151
Table 3-6. Number of live trees on Idaho timberland by diameter class, 1991 52
Table 3-7. Idaho timberland area by stand-size, 199152
Table 3-8. Idaho timberland area by stocking class, 199153
Table 3-9. Net volume of growing stock on Idaho timberland by species, 1991 54
Table 3-10. Annual mortality of growing stock on Idaho timberland by species, 1991 56
Table 3-11. Annual mortality of growing stock on Idaho timberland by cause of death, 1991    57
Table 3-12. Net annual growth of growing stock on Idaho timberland, 1991    1000
Table 3-13. Removals of growing stock on Idaho timberland by species and ownership, 1990    59
Table 4-1. Endangered and threatened species protected in Idaho by the Endangered Species Act
Table 4-2. Impact of applying PACFISH strategy on Idaho federal lands, average annual data, 1994-2003 83
Table 4-3. Principles of ecosystem management 85
Table 4-4. Key differences between traditional forest management and forest ecosystem management.    86
Table 4-5. Relative impacts of proposed sustainable forestry policies on selected countries    90
Table 5-1. Description of ecoregion sections of Idaho 95
Table 5-2. Approximate ranges of recurrence of major disrupting events and effects of those events on
Table 5.3 Impacts of timber harvest activities on factors that influence slope stability in steep forest lands 107
Table 5-4. Comparison of Idaho forest practices rule implementation rates by ownership category as
determined by 1988–1992 and 1996 audits of BMPs 111
Table 5-5. Examples of timber management techniques that positively benefit or reduce negative effects on
wildlife
Table 5-6. Wildlife management indicator species in Idaho, what the species is an indicator of, and
associated national forest in Idaho
1 able 5-/. Factors that influence habitat selection by elk    118      T 11 5 0 E i di    i d l ICDENDE 1 i di ID
Table 5-8. Existing scenic integrity by ICBEMP Ecological Reporting Unit (ERU), for ERUs that include lands in Idaho 125
Table 6-1. Selected characteristics of watershed analysis alternatives 136
Table 6-2. Key elements of four management paradigms 138
Table 6-3. Desired characteristics of a generally applicable watershed analysis method    142
Table 7.1. World and U.S. production of timber and timber products, 1990. 1990.

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure ES-1. Idaho timberland area by ownership, 1991
Figure ES-2. Net volume of growing stock on rdano timbertand by ownersing, 1991
Figure 1-1. Sustainable forest management occurs at the conceptual intersection of ecologically sound, economically viable, and socially desirable actions
Figure 2-1. Estimated consumption of timber products in the U.S., 1965-1997, and projection of consumption, 1998-2040
Figure 2-2. Volume of lumber produced in Idaho, 1954-1996, and estimated wholesale value, 1967-1996 40 Figure 2-3. Idaho forest industry employment, 1969-1996
Figure 2-4. Recreation visitor-days on national forests in Idaho, FY 1976-1995
Figure 3-1. Idaho timberland area, 1952-1991
Figure 3-2. Idaho trends in softwood growing stock by species, 1952-1991
Figure 3-3. Idaho trends in net annual growth, removals, and mortality of growing stock, with net growth/removals ratio 1952-1996 60
Figure 3-4 Idaho softwood sawtimber harvest by species group 1996
Figure 3-5 Idaho softwood sawtimber harvest by ownership group, 1996
Figure 3-6. Idaho annual softwood sawtimber growth, 1990, and sawtimber harvest by ownership
$group, 1996 \dots $
Figure 3-7. Idano annual softwood sawtimber growth, 1990, and harvest by species group, 1996
Figure 3-8. Idano trends in softwood sawtimber harvest by ownership group, 1960-1999
with the U.S.A. for comparison, 1952-1996
Figure 3-10. Annual mortality as a percentage of gross annual growth: Inland Northwest regional range, 1952-1996, and the most recent data for 91% of Idaho timberlands, with 9 national forests
Figure 5-1. Ecoregion sections of Idaho
Figure 5-2. Linkages between timber management activities and fish production
Figure 7-1. Production, imports, exports, and consumption of timber products in the U.S., 1965-1994 147

# ABSTRACT

"Sustainability" has, in the last decade, become an increasingly popular term in discussions about environmental and resource management. The scientific literature and popular debates are filled with discussions about what sustainability is, what activities might be sustainable, and how particular resources can be managed sustainably.

Sustainable forest management is one goal of a growing list of human activities that impact the environment. This report places timber harvesting in Idaho in that context. As in other Policy Analysis Group reports, each chapter addresses a different focus question that helps guide the analysis.

**1. What is sustainable forest management?** Chapter 1 provides a framework for understanding sustainable forest management and a foundation for interpreting the information in the remainder of the report. Sustainable forest management is ecologically sound, economically viable, and socially desirable.

2. How important is the timber harvesting issue in Idaho? One of the main points of Chapter 1 is that evaluation of the sustainability of forest management depends on human values. Chapter 2 looks at the values associated with forests in Idaho from both social and economic perspectives. Timber is one of many forest values.

**3. What is the timber situation in Idaho's forests?** To get a handle on the sustainability of timber harvesting, information about the state or condition of resources is needed. Chapter 3 provides some basic statistics about Idaho's timberlands. Unfortunately, more timely and accurate estimates of timber inventories and conditions in Idaho are lacking. Nevertheless, some conclusions about forest conditions in Idaho can be drawn from existing timber resource data.

4. What policies affect timber harvesting in Idaho? Each owner of forest land operates under a different set of policies, although they have many elements in common. These policies determine what activities different owners undertake. Chapter 4 examines laws, rules, regulations, and management objectives of both public and private forest land-owners.

5. What are the effects of timber harvesting on other resources? Forests are complex systems, and management actions aimed at one element of the system have repercussions for other elements. In Chapter 5, we examine some of the linkages between elements by looking at timber harvesting's potential effects on other forest resources. Timber harvesting's effects are highly variable depending on where and how it is done and what is being measured. We look at timber, water, wildlife, and scenery and what is known about how these four forest resources are impacted by timber harvesting. We do not try to determine what levels of impacts should be considered sustainable.

6. Alternative Approaches to Watershed Analysis. Analysis of ecosystems at the watershed scale, or "watershed analysis," is one tool for attempting to assure that forest management activities are sustainable. Chapter 6 analyzes the federal and two state (Idaho and Washington) approaches to watershed analysis, and we look at a process developed for private lands that extends the usefulness of watershed analysis.

7. Conclusions. Is timber harvesting in Idaho's forests sustainable? Sustainable forest management depends on three dimensions—ecological sound-ness, economic viability, and social desirability. The reply to the question is "yes" for some of Idaho's forests, "no" for others, and "we don't know" for others. Many dynamic factors affect judgments of sustainable forest management. Timber harvesting may be either "more" or "less" sustainable in a particular forest than it would be somewhere else at a particular time. Sustainable forest management can be a goal, and progress toward the goal can be measured.

This report provides information to Idaho citizens and policymakers so that they can develop informed opinions and make prudent decisions about forest management. Conflicting values within our state, the nation, and the world, plus a high degree of uncertainty, make decisions difficult. The best way to know for sure that forest are managed sustainably is to manage a particular way for two hundred years and see what happens. Even then it would not be possible to know what might happen in the third century.

Nothing in this report is intended to be prescriptive. We are not trying to tell people what to do. We describe what is, and what may be, possible. Questions about the sustainability of forest management do not have technical answers. Nevertheless, we hope the technical information in this report will enhance peoples' understanding of forest management issues, especially timber harvesting. The balancing of social values through democratic processes determines what should and does happen in our forests.

[This page left blank intentionally.]

# **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

Peoples' interests and concerns about the condition and management of Idaho's forests are expressed in many ways, including the following questions:

- How well are Idaho's forests being managed?
- Is Idaho's timber harvest level sustainable?
- Are Idaho's forests being overcut?
- Can Idaho's forests produce more?
- What kind of place will Idaho's forests be for our children's children?

People want some assurance that the benefits they receive from the forest will continue to be available to them and to future generations. Although Idaho has a strong tradition of natural beauty and wildness, the extraction of marketable wood products from Idaho's forests is also part of the state's history. People want Idaho's forests managed *sustainably*, but what does "sustainably" mean? And how do we know if we are managing forests sustainably? Neither question has an easy answer.

Sustainability, by some definitions, has been a part of modern forest management from its beginnings. In North America, modern forestry evolved because of concerns about "timber famine" and the "unsustainability" of timber harvesting practices of the 1800s. However, like forestry, the concept of sustainability has evolved. Today, sustainability is about something much more than timber harvesting.

The purpose of this report is to examine timber harvesting in Idaho in the context of sustainable forest management. Timber harvesting is only one activity within the broad realm of natural resource management. It is impossible not to connect and relate timber harvesting to other forest management activities. People are not just concerned about timber; they are concerned about the forest. To understand timber harvesting in the context of sustainability, we provide a framework for discussion through a series of focus questions related to different forest resources. A summary of the reply to each focus question follows.

Chapter 1. What is sustainable forest management?

Sustainable forest management is

- ecologically sound,
- **\*** economically viable, and
- **\*** socially desirable.

Although there are dozens of definitions of sustainable forest management in the literature, we have adopted the concise, common definition above (from Aplet et al. 1993). This definition follows the broader idea of sustainability, a concept that is gaining visibility, acceptance, and use as a goal for societies, economies, governments, businesses, resource management activities, and a variety of other human organizations and undertakings. For example, sustainable development seeks to ensure that development meets "the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs" (WCED 1987).

The sustainability concept expresses human values, is built on concerns about equity for this and future generations, and requires that issues of spatial and temporal scales be addressed. Moving towards more sustainable actions will not be an easy task for many reasons, including:

- a lack of agreement on how to define and measure sustainability;
- conflicting societal values;
- differing beliefs about the substitutability of different types of capital—natural, human, human-created, and social;
- the dynamic nature of ecosystems, economies, and societies;
- the need for institutional change; and
- determining acceptable risk in the face of uncertainty.

Historically, forestry sought sustainability in the concept of sustained yield, especially in terms of timber. Sustained yield means that timber is harvested at no greater rate than it is growing. However, sustained yield of timber is too narrowly focused to serve as a proxy for sustainable forest management. Timber harvesting is a part of sustainable forest management for some forests, but it is not the only attribute or activity of importance. Sustainable forest management addresses the wider ecological, economic, and social functions of forests.

# Chapter 2. How important is the timber harvesting issue in Idaho?

People value forests for many reasons, and the importance they attach to those values determines, in part, whether forest management is sustainable. We summarize research that identifies and quantifies a few forest values, including timber, that are socially and economically important to the people of Idaho.

#### **Social Values**

People's views about forest management and appropriate uses of forests vary widely. Some view forests as storehouses of timber existing primarily for human use—an anthropocentric perspective. Others place less emphasis on timber for human use and more emphasis on other forest ecosystem components—a bicentric perspective. Fundamental differences in perspectives on forests and their appropriate use conflict and drive forest management issues and debates.

Idahoans, like most Americans, express positive opinions about the environment. For example, when asked what the three most important factors concerning the future of public lands in the interior Columbia River basin (including Idaho) were, a sample of basin residents reported resources for future generations, ecological health, and the quality of the place they live as the most important. However, basin residents were more likely to report timber production, livestock grazing, and economic opportunity as their top choice than were members of a national sample (McCool et al. 1997). Several studies (e.g., Shindler et al. 1993, Brunson et al. 1994) also produced results showing that Idahoans tend to express more anthropocentric values about forests than does the U.S. public overall. Such differences contribute to the debate about national forest management in Idaho because national forests are public lands belonging to all the people of the U.S., but many of the consequences from their management are felt most heavily at the local level.

This does not mean that Idahoans do not care about forest values other than timber; other survey results show they do. For example, in 1997, the Idaho Forest Products Commission surveyed Idahoans about the importance of various uses of Idaho's public forests. A source of clean water was rated most important followed by fish and wildlife habitat, jobs, recreation, source of wood products, and monies for schools and roads (IFPC 1997). The survey results also indicate that Idahoans find timber harvesting to be an appropriate activity in Idaho's forests, and most residents think the timber industry is important (IFPC 1997).

The usefulness of public opinion as a force for changing public policies is subject to question (Yankelovich 1991). How forest values, or opinions about them, can be translated into sustainable forest management ends and means remains a void for which processes allowing the "public judgment" Yankelovich (1991) desires have yet to be designed.

#### **Economic Values**

Forests provide many things people value, including wood products, non-timber forest products, and a variety of recreation opportunities. The mixture of these forest outputs and how they affect economic growth and development are key policy considerations.

*Wood products*. The forest products industry is a substantial component of Idaho's economic structure, particularly in northern Idaho. In 1995, there were 149 primary forest products manufacturing facilities (i.e., lumber, plywood, and paper mills) operating in 29 of Idaho's 44 counties (Keegan et al. 1997). Total sales in the Idaho primary forest products industry were about \$1.55 billion in 1995. Since 1954 lumber production in Idaho has ranged between 1.5 and 2.0 million board feet per year, except for three brief downturn periods. Idaho has consistently produced 5 to 6% of all softwood lumber produced in the U.S. (WWPA annual, 1963-1996).

In 1996, the forests product industry accounted for about 20,200 jobs in Idaho, or about 10% of all basic industry employment in Idaho (Keegan et al. 1997). Employment in the forest products industry in Idaho has varied over the last 25 years, with a peak at about 22,700 jobs in 1979 and lows of about 15,400 in 1970 and 16,000 in 1982. The types of jobs in Idaho's forest products industry have been changing. Primary wood processing has decreased while the conversion of lumber, plywood, and paper into other products through secondary manufacturing has increased (Keegan et al. 1997).

*Non-Timber Products*. People consume products from forests other than wood including nontimber forest "products" such as cones, boughs, wildflowers, herbs, berries, mosses, mushrooms, nuts, burls, bark, and other parts of the flora of the forest. Very little information exists on the value of non-timber forest product industries in Idaho, but it appears to be increasing (Schlosser et al. 1995).

**Recreation**. Recreation is another forest "product" that receives much attention. Determining the economic value of forest-based recreation is not an easy task. Unlike timber, which is sold in the market place and its value reflected by its price, much forest-based recreation, particularly on public lands, is provided without a direct cost to the consumer. Estimates of the economic value of recreation in Idaho generally range in the hundreds of millions of dollars, but vary considerably depending on how value is measured (e.g., see USFWS & USBOC 1993, Haynes and Horne 1997). *Growth and Development*. In addition to questions about the value of various products from forests, broader questions exist about how these values fit into the overall economic and social structure of Idaho. Much of the discussion about sustainable management of Idaho's forests centers around sustaining Idaho's communities. For communities in Idaho where wood products manufacturing facilities are located, the policies of the U.S. Forest Service have been important because national forests comprise much of the land base and timber inventory near these communities. The PAG has underway at this writing another project for analyzing the role of natural resources in economic development.

#### **Importance of Place**

It is easy to talk in generalities about people valuing forests for timber, recreation, scenery, and other attributes, but often what people really value are specific forests or areas within forests, i.e., "places." Research on "place," "place attachment," and "sense of place" has expanded considerably in the last decade (e.g., see Galliano and Loeffler 1999). Idaho has many special places, and resource managers are now recognizing the impact and importance of place attachment in forest planning and management. Perhaps by better understanding what people value about particular forests we will improve our understanding of the social and economic realms of sustainable forest management.

# Chapter 3. What is the timber situation in Idaho's forests?

One prerequisite for an analysis of the sustainability of forest management is an accurate and comprehensive inventory of the forest resources of concern. Because the focus of this report is timber harvesting, we focus on the timber resources of Idaho and have found that there are shortcomings in the timber inventory information. Three-quarters of the forested land in Idaho is managed by the U.S. Forest Service, and the inventory information currently available for many of Idaho's national forests is 10 years old or older. The lack of timely information and questions about accuracy have led some observers to question the usefulness of national forest inventory data (e.g., AFSEEE 1994, Jackson 1994). Although it has shortcomings, the Forest Inventory and Analysis (FIA) unit of the Forest Service provides the only statewide forest inventory data for all ownerships in Idaho (Brown and Chojnacky 1996). We use the

FIA data here, but urge caution in their interpretation. Some key highlights follow.

#### **Idaho Timber Statistics**

The state of Idaho consists of 53.5 million acres of land. Approximately 22.3 million acres (42%) are classified as forest land-at least 10% stocked with trees. About 21.4 million acres of the forest land in Idaho are classified as timberland-forest land where tree species traditionally used for industrial wood products make up 10% of stocking (Brown and Chojnacky 1996). Almost 4 million acres of timberland (18%) are "reserved." This means withdrawn from tree utilization by statute or administrative designation, and almost all these lands are national forest areas in the National Wilderness Preservation System. Management for tree utilization is not prevented by law on the remaining 17.6 million acres of timberland (82%). The statistics that follow relate only to this non-reserved timberland.

More than 14 million acres (81%) of timberland in Idaho is in public ownership (Figure ES-1). Almost 13 million acres (73%) of timberland is in national forests, managed by the U.S. Forest Service. Other public entities, including the state of Idaho, own about 9% of the timberlands. Forest industry owns 7%, and other private entities, including American Indian tribes, own about 12%.

Although timberland acreage has remained relatively constant since 1952, the trends in growing stock volume and the tree species that comprise it reveal major changes in Idaho's forests. Overall, growing stock volume has increased by 35% since 1952, but species composition has changed. Species decreasing since 1952 are western white pine (-86%) and ponderosa pine (-35%). Species increasing are true firs (grand fir and subalpine fir, +112%), Douglas-fir (+64%), lodgepole pine (+45%) and various other species (+50%). Changes are the result of timber harvesting history, impacts of disease and insects, and fire management policies. High value species such as western white pine and ponderosa pine are sought after and harvesting has reduced the areas they once occupied. Outbreaks of white pine blister rust and mountain pine beetle have also reduced inventories of valuable pines. Wildfire control policies and programs have encouraged Douglas-fir and spruce-fir forests to expand, as the ecological role of fire has been precluded and suppressed.

Idaho's timberlands contain almost 40 billion cubic feet of timber growing stock volume, or wood. National forests contain 76% of this volume; forest



Figure ES-1. Idaho timberland area by ownership, 1991.

Source: Brown and Chojnacky (1996).

industry has about 6%; and other public and other private owners have about 9% each (Figure ES-2). Almost one-third of the wood volume is Douglas-fir (Table ES-1). Grand fir and lodgepole pine each make up 14% of the volume. Subalpine fir, ponderosa pine, Engelmann spruce, and western redcedar each make up between 5% and 10% of the volume. No other species makes up more than 5% of the timber growing stock volume. All of these species are softwoods. Hardwoods such as aspen and cottonwood are 2% of the timber inventory (Table ES-1).

In 1996, the most recent compilation of statewide inventory (USFS 1999*a*), Idaho forests classified as timberlands added an annual increment of approximately 1.1 billion cubic feet to the timber inventory growing stock volume. From this gross annual growth, mortality factors reduced the actual increment by 288 million cubic feet to a net growth of 806 million cubic feet. The annual timber harvest at that time was 252 million cubic feet. In sum, Idaho forests added approximately 554 million cubic feet of timber to the inventory in 1996 after timber harvests and morality from insects, diseases, and wildfire were accounted for. One conventional definition for a sustainable yield of timber is that net annual growth of timber must at least equal harvest. That was the situation in 1996 when the ratio of net growth to removals was 3.2:1. Timber harvests have declined since then.

Although there are problems with the reliability of timber growth data trends, we present what can be gleaned from FIA reports from 1952 to 1996. In



Figure ES-2. Net volume of growing stock on Idaho timberland by ownership, 1991.

Source: Brown and Chojnacky (1996).

each inventory period, the net growth to removals ratio exceeded one, meaning the traditional but simplistic sustained yield criterion was met (Figure ES-3).

Softwood sawtimber is a subcategory of timber growing stock volume. Sawtimber is commonly measured in board feet. Softwood sawtimber harvest levels fell from a peak of 1.85 billion board feet in 1979 to 1.31 billion in 1999 (Keegan et al. 2000). There also has been a shift in the contribution of each ownership group to the timber harvest volume. Between 1979 and 1990, national forests accounted for between 40 and 47% of Idaho's annual softwood timber harvest volume. In 1999, this share decreased to 11%. Each of the other three ownership groups have increased their share of harvest, but overall the harvest level declined 23% between 1990 and 1999.

A survey sponsored by the PAG revealed that Idaho's 1996 sawtimber harvest was 1.56 billion board feet (Wagner et al.1997). Assuming that 1996 net annual growth was the same as in 1990—a questionable assumption due to changing conditions in Idaho's forests—the 1996 timber harvest level was 1.9 billion board feet less than net annual growth. In other words, timber harvest was 45% of net annual growth. This varied by ownership. On national forests the 1996 harvest was 14.6% of net annual growth. On other public lands 62% of net annual growth was harvested. On forest industry lands timber harvest exceeded growth by 82%, which is in

Table ES-1. Net volume of growing stock on Idaho timberland by species, 1991.			
Species	Growing stock volume		
	million cu.ft.	%	
Douglas-fir	12,406.8	31.4	
Grand fir	5,749.1	14.5	
Lodgepole pine	5,529.1	14.0	
Subalpine fir	3,727.2	9.4	
Ponderosa pine	2,734.0	6.9	
Englemann spruce	2,487.8	6.3	
Western redcedar	2,273.4	5.7	
Western larch	1,476.4	3.7	
Western hemlock	895.0	2.3	
Mountain hemlock	757.8	1.9	
Western white pine	436.8	1.1	
Other pines	284.8	0.7	
Aspen	509.7	1.3	
Cottonwood	292.5	0.7	
Total	39 560 4	100.0	

Source: Brown and Chojnacky (1	1996)	ĺ.
--------------------------------	-------	----

part of reflection of 27% of its stands being in the seedling and sapling stand-size class. On other private lands harvest exceeded net annual growth by 7%. In 1996, the level of harvests on private lands, did not meet the traditional sustained yield criterion.

In 1999, timber harvested from Idaho national forests fell to 111 million board feet, the lowest level since the 1940s. In the last decade, Idaho's overall timber harvest declined by about 30%, due almost entirely to an 85% reduction on national forests, from 746 million board feet in 1989 to current levels.

#### **Sustaining Healthy Forests**

Forest health is a multidisciplinary concept that integrates a variety of resource management concerns and relates them to something familiar to people—human health. Like sustainability, forest health is a value-based concept (SAF 1997) and explicitly includes social considerations as to what people want from forests (Atkins et al. 1999). The Society of American Foresters concluded that forest health is "an informal and technically inexact term" (SAF 1997:8), yet forest health has become a common metaphor in the forestry literature.

Assessment of forest health requires an understanding of both the condition of the forest and forest management objectives (Jenkins 1997, SAF 1997). In the past, forest condition assessment has focused on trees, particularly timber species. Some researchers have been critical of this focus (e.g., Schowalter 1994, DellaSala et al. 1995, Kolb et al. 1995), and scientists are beginning to develop a broader set of indicators to measure forest condition (see Atkins et al. 1999, USFS 2000*b*).



Figure ES-3. Idaho trends in net annual growth and removals, with growth/removals ratio, 1952-1996.

Sources: USFS (1958), USFS (1965), USFS (1973*a*), USFS (1982), Benson et al. (1987), Waddell (1992), Brown and Chojnacky (1996), Smith (1999).

One of the indicators of forest condition that has been measured for several decades, and will continue to be measured in more extensive sets of indicators, is the relationship between forest growth and mortality. According to Brown and Chojnacky (1996), annual mortality as a percent of gross annual growth for different ownerships in 1990 were: national forests (29%), other public owners (26%), forest industry (18%), and other private owners (19%). The mortality rate on national forests as a whole was 37% higher than on other ownerships combined.

Fire suppression and timber harvesting practices over the last 50 years have changed forest composition and density, and thus affected mortality rates. Firs, which are more susceptible than pines to many

insects, diseases, and fires, have become more prevalent in the forests than pines (see O'Laughlin et al. 1993). Average timber volume per acre, based on statewide totals, has increased 22% since 1952 (Brown and Chojnacky 1996). Based on the condition of Idaho's forests using available data and the criterion of tree growth efficiency, expressed as the relationship of forest growth and mortality, some forests in Idaho appear to be healthier than others. Health problems exist throughout the state, with more problems on national forests than on other ownerships. Why is the mortality rate higher on national forests? The answer lies, partially, in differences in management objectives that result in different stand densities. National forests are managed for multiple uses. State forests, private industry forests,

and some other private forests tend to have timber production as their main management objective. Stand densities are more likely to be closely monitored and controlled when timber production is a primary objective.

A fundamental problem with the forest health concept today is a lack of agreement on an appropriate "cure" to improve forest conditions. Many researchers believe that active management is the preferred health management strategy (e.g., O'Laughlin et al. 1993; Quigley et al. 1996, 1998), but other researchers disagree (e.g., DellaSala et al. 1995, Peters et al. 1996). A critical issue for resolving forest health issues is determining what the management objectives of particular forests are, particularly our national forests. Present concerns over forest health reflect a failure to define management objectives that are acceptable to society (Kolb et al. 1995). Balancing social values depends on the political process, not science.

#### Chapter 4. What policies affect timber harvesting in Idaho?

Policies are purposive courses of action or inaction that governments, businesses, groups, or individuals take to deal with particular situations or problems. Government policies are usually expressed through laws and regulations, but private companies, groups, and individuals also have policies expressed through management objectives, rules, and modes of operation. It is not possible to analyze all the policies that affect timber harvesting in Idaho because there would be almost as many policies as there are owners of timberland. Instead, we describe and analyze the most important and influential policies that affect the major categories or groups of forest landowners in Idaho.

#### **Environmental Laws**

Environmental laws are designed primarily to minimize the adverse affects of human actions on human health and the human environment. There are several federal environmental policies that passed into law within the last 25 or 30 years that affect forest management and timber harvesting.

*National Environmental Policy Act.* The National Environmental Policy Act of 1969 (NEPA) was enacted to insure that federal agencies consider the potential environmental consequences before deciding to proceed with a proposal, and it serves as an environmental full disclosure law. The environmental impact statement (EIS) is probably the most well-known provision of NEPA. Whenever a major federal action significantly affecting the quality of the human environment is proposed, an environmental assessment must be undertaken.

NEPA supports the concepts of sustainability by recognizing the interrelationship of the environment, social, and economic dimensions. Its goal is for the federal government to "fulfill the responsibilities of each generation as trustee of the environment for succeeding generations."

*Clean Air Act*. The federal Clean Air Act, first passed in 1963 but amended numerous times since, is the primary legal instrument for air resource management. Particulate matter, ozone, and carbon monoxide are the three primary criteria pollutants associated with forest management. Fire is the main activity that affects these criteria pollutants. Maintaining air quality standards under the Clean Air Act has not been a major consideration in policies concerning Idaho forest management and timber harvest. However, that may change if silvicultural prescriptions with more prescribed burning are implemented.

Clean Water Act. The Federal Water Pollution Control Act of 1972 and its subsequent amendments are commonly known as the Clean Water Act. The act established a national objective "to restore and maintain the chemical, physical, and biological integrity of the nation's waters." The act was amended in 1987 to focus more attention on nonpoint sources of pollution as well as point sources because a large portion of the nation's rivers, lakes, and streams have been affected by nonpoint pollution sources from a considerable range of activities including, but not limited to, agriculture, grazing, recreation, mining, and forestry. The Clean Water Act gives states the primary responsibility for achieving the act's goals for nonpoint source pollution (see O'Laughlin 1996b).

*Idaho Forest Practices Act*. Idaho implements the Clean Water Act for forestry activities through the Idaho Forest Practices Act, first passed in 1974. This law applies to federal, state, and private forest land. The act recognizes that "federal, state, and private forest lands make a vital contribution to Idaho by providing jobs, products, tax base, and other social and economic benefits, by helping to maintain forest tree species, soil, air and water resources, and by providing a habitat for wildlife and aquatic life." The act also says that "it is the public policy of the state to encourage forest practices on these lands that maintain and enhance those benefits and resources for the people of the state of Idaho." Forest practices include the harvesting of trees, road construction associated with harvesting, reforestation, the use of chemicals and fertilizers in forest management, the management of slashings, and the salvage of dead or dying timber that is threatened by insects, disease, windthrow, fire, or extremes of weather.

The Idaho Department of Lands (IDL) is responsible for administering the Idaho Forest Practices Act on state and private lands. A landowner, timber owner, or operator must notify the IDL before undertaking a forest practice. In order to meet the requirements of the federal Clean Water Act, Idaho law requires best management practices (BMPs) to protect water quality during timber harvesting and other forestry operations.

#### **National Forest Land-Use Policies**

Almost 39% of the land area and 73% of the timberland of Idaho is in the National Forest System managed by the U.S. Forest Service. Therefore, laws and other policies that apply to national forests are of particular importance in Idaho.

**Organic Act.** The Organic Administration Act of 1897 set out the purposes for which national forests were established, which were "to improve and protect the forest within the boundaries, or for the purpose of securing favorable conditions of water flows, and to furnish a continuous supply of timber for the use and necessities of citizens of the United States."

Multiple-Use Sustained-Yield Act. In 1960, the Multiple-Use Sustained-Yield Act codified the policy that "national forests are established and shall be administered for outdoor recreation, range, timber, watershed, and wildlife and fish purposes." Multiple use is defined as "the management of all of the various renewable surface resources of the national forests so that they are utilized in the combination that will best meet the needs of the American people." Sustained yield is defined as "the achievement and maintenance in perpetuity of a high-level annual or regular periodic output of the various renewable resources of the national forests without impairment of the productivity of the land." The Multiple-Use Sustained-Yield Act includes many concepts embodied in sustainability.

*Forest and Rangeland Renewable Resources Planning Act*. The Forest and Rangeland Renewable Resources Planning Act of 1974 (RPA) requires the Forest Service periodically to prepare three planning documents: [1] every ten years an assessment describing the renewable resources of all the nation's forest and range lands; [2] every five years a program proposing long-range objectives, with a planning horizon of at least forty-five years, for all Forest Service activities; and [3] an annual report evaluating Forest Service activities in comparison with the objectives proposed in the program.

*National Forest Management Act.* The National Forest Management Act of 1976 (NFMA) amends RPA by requiring land and resource management planning for units within the National Forest System and additional regulation of timber harvesting on national forests. The major provisions of NFMA require [a] public participation in the planning process, [b] regulations for the preparation and revisions of the management plans, [c] resource management guidelines for controversial management activities such as clearcutting, and [d] economic analysis of management alternatives.

In developing forest plans under NFMA, the Forest Service must identify areas "which are not suited for timber production, considering physical, economic, and other pertinent factors to the extent feasible." NFMA guidelines also say that forest plans should "provide for diversity of plant and animal communities based on the suitability and capability of the specific land area to meet overall multiple-use objectives" and "where appropriate, to the degree practicable for steps to be taken to preserve the diversity of tree species similar to that existing in the region."

The NFMA and its guidelines represent an ecological approach to sustainability more than any other law (Noss 1993). New regulations for implementing the NFMA emphasize ecological sustainability above all else (65 *Federal Register* 67514 [November 9, 2000]), which seems to be a new management objective for national forests.

Road Management and Roadless Area Protection Policies. Idaho's national forests contain about 14,000 miles of inventoried roads, most of which were built to access areas for timber harvest. In January 1998, the Forest Service announced that it planned to develop "an improved analysis process that assures that the ecological, social, and economic impacts of proposed construction and reconstruction of National Forest System roads are objectively evaluated" (63 Federal Register 4350 [January 28, 1998]). That analysis process was released in August 1999 (USFS 1999b), and administrative rules for implementing have been adopted (66 Federal Register 3205 [January 12, 2001]). The rule shifts the emphasis of road management from transportation development to managing environmentally sound access. The strategy includes new analytical

decision tools, aggressive decommissioning of nonbeneficial roads, and maintenance and improvement of important roads. It is not clear exactly how this strategy will affect timber harvest levels on Idaho's national forests; however, it is clear that road building associated with timber harvesting will be more closely scrutinized.

In October 1999, President Clinton directed the U.S. Forest Service to develop regulations that would "provide appropriate long-term protection" for some 40-50 million acres of roadless areas nationwide. The management of more than nine million acres of roadless areas in Idaho's national forests have long been contentious (see MacCracken et al. 1993). The final environmental impact statement for roadless area conservation nationwide was released November 9, 2000 (USFS 2000*c*). A record of decision in January 2001 made it official.

The preferred alternative in the final environmental impact statement (Alternative 3) would prohibit road construction, reconstruction, and timber harvest except for stewardship purposes within inventoried roadless areas, while excepting road reconstruction needed for road safety improvements and federal highway aid projects (USFS 2000*c*). About 5.7 million of the 9.3 million acres (61%) of inventoried roadless areas in Idaho are currently allocated to management classifications that allow road construction and reconstruction.

The final environmental impact statement (USFS 2000*c*) estimates that timber harvests planned in inventoried roadless areas from FY 2000 to FY 2004 in Idaho's national forests are almost 159 million board feet. Of that total, about 72 million board feet (45%) are in areas that will require road construction or reconstruction, and are thus subject to being eliminated. Almost 84 million board feet of the planned sales can be harvested using helicopters or cable and ground-based systems that do not require road construction or reconstruction. More than 76 million board feet of those sales (91%) are for stewardship purposes (USFS 2000*c*).

Although the policies associated with road management, roadless areas, and timber harvesting on national forests are currently in flux, it appears the results will be reductions in the amount of land where timber management activities take place and in the amount of timber harvested from national forests in Idaho.

#### Laws Protecting Wilderness and Biodiversity

Congress has enacted several statutes in recognition that development of lands and resources to meet human purposes can diminish other values. Wilderness values and the values associated with biological diversity have been recognized as important social values by Congress.

*Wilderness Act.* The Wilderness Act of 1964 authorized Congress to create the National Wilderness Preservation System from lands already administered by federal agencies. The purpose of the act is to "secure for the American people of present and future generations the benefits of an enduring resource of wilderness...to be administered for the use and enjoyment of the American people in such a manner as will leave them unimpaired." Timber harvesting in wilderness areas is generally prohibited by the Wilderness Act and U.S. Forest Service regulations.

*Wild and Scenic Rivers Act.* In 1968, Congress passed the Wild and Scenic Rivers Act, thereby creating the National Wild and Scenic Rivers System. The purpose of the system is to preserve sections of free-flowing rivers and their immediate environments for scenic, recreational, fish and wildlife, and other similar values. Idaho has 574 miles of rivers designated within the system, including portions of the Clearwater, Salmon, Snake, Rapid, and St. Joe Rivers. All rivers in the system in Idaho are managed by the U.S. Forest Service.

The act protects not only the river course, but also a corridor of land on each side along it's length. Timber harvesting practices on federal lands located within the corridor must be designed to help achieve land management objectives consistent with the protection and enhancement of the values which caused the river to be added to the system. Under the act, the only way the federal government can restrict private timber harvesting is through the purchase of timber rights or under cooperative agreement (Interagency Wild and Scenic Rivers Coordinating Council 1999).

*Endangered Species Act.* The Endangered Species Act of 1973 (ESA) is a federal law that applies to all land ownerships, public or private. The ESA provides for the protection and recovery of plant and animal species that are identified as being threatened or endangered with extinction. Presently, 22 species on the endangered and threatened species list have been identified or "listed" in Idaho. In Idaho, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) is responsible for all the listed species, except salmon and steelhead which are the responsibility of the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) because these fish are anadromous, spending a portion of their lives in the ocean. Habitat alteration and destruction are recognized as being the largest causes of endangerment for many species. "Critical habitat" is the specific geographic area essential for the conservation of a protected species and may require special management considerations or protection.

The ultimate goal of the ESA is to recover species to the point where the protections of the act are no longer necessary. The services must develop a recovery plan for each species that identifies measures that will resolve the threats to the species, the time and costs associated with those measures, and objective quantifiable criteria for determining when the species has recovered sufficiently to be delisted.

The ESA affects forest management and timber harvesting in Idaho because many protected species depend on forests as part of their habitat. U.S. Forest Service managers have identified the ESA as the single most important factor influencing declines of timber harvested from national forests in the 1990s (Haminishi et al. 1995).

*NFMA Diversity Mandate*. In developing management plans, the U.S. Forest Service is mandated by the National Forest Management Act to "provide for diversity of plant and animal communities." There is little doubt that a principal reason for the recent revisions to NFMA regulations (65 Federal *Register* 67514 [November 9, 2000]) is implementation of the species diversity mandate. Timber harvesting on national forests is affected by the mandate and its regulations.

**PACFISH**. In 1992, the Forest Service began working on strategies for managing watersheds where anadromous fish are produced. This effort is known as PACFISH. In 1993 the BLM joined PACFISH, and in February 1995 PACFISH guidelines were adopted by both agencies (USFS & BLM 1994*b*). Seven of Idaho's national forests and two BLM districts have portions of their land in anadromous fish habitat and are covered by PACFISH's provisions.

Interim buffer zones, or Riparian Habitat Conservation Areas (RHCAs), have been created because of PACFISH for all riparian areas on USFS and BLM lands in the range of anadromous fish. On fish-bearing streams, the RHCA extends for at least 300 feet on either side of the stream channel. Riparian Management Objectives (RMOs) have been established for the RHCAs and include pool frequency, water temperature, large woody debris, bank stability, lower bank angle, and width/depth ratio. Timber harvesting is prohibited in RHCAs, except salvaging of damaged trees that is consistent with RMOs.

PACFISH has had an impact on timber harvest levels on federal lands in Idaho. The Environmental Assessment for PACFISH (USFS & BLM 1994*b*) estimated its restrictions would reduce harvest by 58 million board feet in the entire action area, including Idaho, Washington, Oregon, and northern California. The Clearwater and Nez Perce National Forests and the Coeur d'Alene BLM District were expected to cancel timber sales volume, and the Clearwater National Forest accounted for about 90% of the volume lost for the entire action area.

**INFISH**. In July 1995, the U.S. Forest Service undertook the Inland Native Fish Strategy (INFISH). This effort is similar to PACFISH, but designed to protect inland native fish communities, particularly those of bull trout (*Salvelinus confluentus*). INFISH applies only to watersheds on national forests in Idaho not covered by the PACFISH agreement. INFISH uses RHCAs and RMOs similar to those in PACFISH (see USFS 1995*a*).

PACFISH and INFISH will remain in place until a record of decision is reached on implementing an ecosystem-based management strategy throughout the region (see next section). Whether or not that happens, these interim protection strategies can be modified through a process called "watershed analysis" (see **Chapter 6**).

#### **Ecosystem Management**

Since at least the late 1980s, federal land and resource management agencies have been struggling to broaden the scope of management considerations from a focus on individual resources and outputs to a more comprehensive or holistic approach to planning and managing lands. The most widely used terms for this new approach to planning and management are "ecosystem management" or "ecosystem-based management."

Ecosystem management is a management philosophy that [a] focuses on desired future conditions, rather than system outputs, and [b] recognizes the need to protect or restore ecological components, functions, and structures in order to sustain resources in perpetuity (Moote et al. 1994). Five principles characterize ecosystem management:

- socially defined goals and management objectives;
- integrated, holistic science;
- broad spatial and temporal scales;
- collaborative decision building; and
- adaptable institutions (Moote et al. 1994).

Ecosystem management has not been expressly sanctioned in any of the governing natural resource or public land management laws (Keiter 1994); however, at least 18 federal agencies and many state agencies and private entities have explored ecosystem management concepts and their implications for various activities. Managing natural resources through ecosystem-based concepts will affect timber harvesting in Idaho in both the public and private sectors.

Interior Columbia Basin Ecosystem Management Project. The Interior Columbia Basin Ecosystem Management Project (ICBEMP) is one of the first efforts attempting to apply ecosystem management at a large, regional scale. The ICBEMP project area includes all the federal lands in the Columbia River drainage east of the crest of the Cascade Mountains. This area includes all of Idaho (except the Bear Valley in southeastern corner of the state), eastern Washington and Oregon, and western Montana. The ICBEMP project area is approximately 144 million acres, of which 72 million acres are public lands administered by the Forest Service or the BLM. The ICBEMP began in 1993, and a final decision has not been reached at the time of this writing.

In December 2000, a Final EIS and proposed decision were issued for public comment. The proposed decision alternative promotes broad-scale restoration and maintenance of ecosystems. It emphasizes two additional levels of analysis prior to conducting management activities. One is subbasin review, the other is watershed analysis. The intent of additional analysis is to "minimize short-term risks from management activities or disturbance events." Timber harvesting would be expected to increase 21% more than the 300 million board feet harvested annually from Idaho national forests in 1995-1997 (ICBEMP 2000).

#### **Management Objectives**

Each owner of forest land has a unique set of management objectives or goals that, in part, determine how that land is managed, whether or not timber harvesting is an appropriate activity, and how sustainability is incorporated into management of the land.

The management objective of the U.S. Forest Service for the national forests as stated in law is the Multiple-Use Sustained-Yield Act. National forests are to be managed for outdoor recreation, range, timber, watershed, and wildlife and fish purposes in the combination that will best meet the needs of the American people. However, objectives arising from the implementation of ecosystem management also affect the national forests. The recently adopted planning regulations make sustainability the overall goal of national forest management (65 *Federal Register* 67514 [November 9, 2000]). According to the regulations, the first priority is to maintain or restore the ecological sustainability of national forests. Economic and social sustainability are secondary goals to be sought after ecological sustainability is in place.

State endowment lands in Idaho have a purpose as set forth in the Idaho constitution to be managed "in such manner as will secure the maximum long term financial return." These lands were granted to the state of Idaho by the federal government at the time of entrance into the Union. They must be managed for the benefit of the common or public schools within the state and the other specifically designated beneficiaries of the land grants.

Private industrial lands are managed for a variety of reasons, but they tend to be managed more intensively for the production of timber than lands in other ownerships. Management goals of private industrial owners are often expressed as providing to shareholders financial returns from the manufacturing of timber products. Timberlands provide a secure raw material source for company mills.

The "other" private, or nonindustrial, landowners have forest land for many reasons. Researchers found that wood for domestic use, esthetic enjoyment, and wildlife appreciation were the three major benefits people in Idaho derive from forest ownership (Force and Lee 1991). The most important reason for owning forest land was "to preserve natural beauty and wildlife." This was followed by four other nonmonetary related reasons before the sixthranked reason of "to obtain income from timber." Owners of larger forest acreages tended to place more emphasis on timber.

American Indian tribes own about 94,000 acres of timberland in Idaho. These lands are managed for a variety of objectives, including economic development and subsistence use. For example, the Coeur d'Alene Tribe manages about 27,000 acres of forests and harvests about 6.5 million board feet of timber each year (Roesler 1995).

#### **Forest Certification**

"Certification" is a new, rapidly developing aspect of forest management. It is the focal point of **Part I** of this analysis, available separately in PAG Report #18 (Cook and O'Laughlin 1999). Certification promotes sustainable forest management by assessing forest management practices and/or forest management systems based on a set of standards (SAF 1995). Most of the private industrial lands in Idaho have been certified "sustainable" or are in the process of certification.

# Chapter 5. What are the effects of timber harvesting on other resources?

Forests are complex systems in which multiple dynamic relationships exist between their various living and non-living components. Therefore, it would be impossible for us to examine all the effects of timber harvesting on all other resources. Instead, we have chosen to look at four resources that are affected by timber harvesting and provide some insight into sustainability. The first resource we examine is timber itself and the ability of a site to produce timber again after harvesting takes place. The other three resources we examine are water, wildlife, and scenery.

For several reasons, there is no simple answer to the question of what timber harvesting's effects are on other resources. Each resource is affected differently by timber harvesting. What may be beneficial for one resource may be harmful to another. The way in which harvesting is done also determines effects. Factors such as the percentage of trees removed during harvest and the mechanical means of removing the trees affect results. Lastly, and probably most importantly, the effects of timber harvesting vary because of the diversity of ecosystems in which trees and timber harvesting occur.

## Timber

A sustainable timber harvest implies that the site from which timber is harvested will be capable of producing the same amount and quality of timber again in a similar amount of time and can continue to do so into the future. This concept can be called long-term site productivity. Soil is a primary determinant of long-term site productivity.

Timber harvesting can produce a variety of changes in soil properties that affect long-term site productivity. Harvesting can result in changes to microclimate, organic matter, nutrients, erosion, compaction, and microorganisms (see Harvey et al. 1989). However, many of the effects on soil can be reduced and mitigated with appropriate management techniques that

• reduce disturbance severity (i.e., reduce intense burns, soil compaction, or erosion),

- emphasize retention of organic matter,
- emphasize rapid revegetation by indigenous host species and associated beneficial soil organisms, and
- recognize that sites with harsh environments (i.e., cold, drought) are most susceptible to productivity losses (Amaranthus et al. 1989, Harvey et al. 1989).

Another aspect of timber management that is rarely considered in discussions of sustainable forest management is wood quality. Traditionally, management decisions have been based primarily on wood quantity or volume with little analysis of the effects of wood quality. Researchers, producers, and consumers now recognize wood quality as important (e.g, Briggs and Fight 1992, Kennedy 1995, Hansen and Bush 1996).

Changes are taking place in the types of timber being harvested. Much of the slow-grown, mature timber resource has been harvested and is being replaced by harvests of younger and faster-grown trees. The primary concern is that smaller trees and fast-grown trees have a higher proportion of juvenile wood than more mature trees. Juvenile wood is not necessarily "bad" wood and it functions well in certain products, but it has different properties than mature wood (see e.g., Maeglin 1987, Barrett and Kellogg 1991).

Wood quality is very responsive to both silvicultural and genetic manipulation, but there is a general lack of information on wood strength, tree spacing and taper, and other characteristics that affect quality for many species of importance in the Inland Northwest (Kennedy 1995). Although new manufacturing techniques are enabling production of high-quality products from low quality timber, these products are markedly different from those previously available. Tomorrow's forests will supply wood products that are different from those currently being used.

## Water

Water is an essential element of ecosystems, and most organisms, including humans, depend on clean water for survival and quality of life. Timber harvesting and its associated activities can affect water quality. Our discussion focuses on moving water, i.e., streams and rivers. In Idaho, water quality policy for most streams translates into providing habitat for aquatic species, particularly for salmon, trout, and other cold-water fish (O'Laughlin 1996*b*).

The effects of timber harvesting on the stream environment include those on structure, streamflow, water chemistry, sediment, mass movement, soils, and large woody debris (see Chamberlin et al. 1991). By far the greatest concerns about timber harvesting and water quality result from roads, and sedimentation is by far the largest concern with roads (see Furniss et al. 1991). In addition, where forests occur on steep terrain, mass soil movement is often the primary mode of erosion and sediment delivery to streams from roads.

Under most circumstances, both timber and fish can be successfully managed in the same watershed if measures to protect water quality and fish habitat are carefully planned and coordinated with timber management operations. Implementation of best management practices, or BMPs, is one way to reduce and mitigate timber harvesting's effects on water quality (see Seyedbagheri 1996).

#### Wildlife

Timber harvesting can have positive, negative, and neutral effects on wildlife habitat depending on the life requirements of the species inhabiting the area. This makes general discussions of the effects of timber harvesting on wildlife difficult; therefore, our discussion focuses on two specific species: Rocky Mountain elk and northern goshawk. These species were chosen because their habitat requirements are different, and therefore, the effects of timber harvesting on them are different.

*Elk.* Rocky Mountain elk (*Cervus canadensis*) are tolerant of diverse environments; however, they exhibit preferences for specific vegetation and terrain within areas they occupy (see e.g., Edge et al. 1987). Elk habitat selection is a multidimensional concept including behavior, topography, weather, food, and cover factors as well as interactions among these factors (Skovlin 1982).

Elk management involves two separate issues: elk habitat effectiveness and elk vulnerability (Servheen 1997). Elk habitat effectiveness focuses on providing elk with areas for foraging, calving, nursing, security, and gaining body condition. Elk vulnerability focuses on elk mortality rates as a function of hunter and motorized route densities. Both issues can be affected by timber harvesting.

Timber harvesting probably has greater potential than any other land management activity for either negative or positive influences on elk populations. Timber harvesting has the potential for altering the amount and distribution of cover and forage areas and changing elk movements, distribution, and habitat utilization. In addition to vegetation changes caused by timber removal, the effects of logging slash, and the timing, pattern and duration of logging activity are important considerations. Roads can affect forage areas and travel routes due to slash, road cuts, and fill slopes. Roads substantially reduce elk use in adjacent habitat and increase vulnerability to hunters.

With proper planning, timber harvesting can often be conducted with minimal detrimental, and sometimes positive, impacts on elk habitat. However, access associated with timber harvesting often has negative consequences that are impossible to completely mitigate (Servheen 1997). The Idaho Department of Fish and Game makes several recommendations for minimizing the effects of timber harvesting on elk, including:

- using silvicultural methods that preserve hiding cover;
- maintaining slash depth at less than 1.5 ft.;
- minimizing road construction;
- timing harvesting activities to minimize disturbance to animals;
- providing nearby security areas; and
- protecting elk travel routes (Servheen 1997).

*Northern Goshawk*. The northern goshawk (*Accipiter gentilis*) is a large bird widely distributed in temperate and boreal forests throughout the higher latitudes of the northern hemisphere (USFWS 1997, 1998). Goshawks use a variety of forest types, forest ages, structural conditions, and successional stages; however, mature or old-growth forests with large trees and high canopy closure are especially important habitat in the western U.S. (Beier and Drennan 1997). Goshawks are found in most forest types in Idaho, including ponderosa pine, mixed-conifer, lodgepole pine, spruce-fir, and aspen (Hejl et al. 1995). The structure of the forest, not the species of trees, appears to be the important factor (Siders and Kennedy 1996).

There is concern that changes occurring in goshawk nesting and foraging habitat, particularly reduction, fragmentation, and deterioration of mature conifer habitat, may be adversely affecting goshawk populations in Idaho and elsewhere in the western U.S. (USFWS 1997, 1998). Habitat changes are due, in part, to the management of forests for timber production. Several factors may contribute to decreased productivity and density in goshawk populations following particular changes in forest structure and composition, including increased predation on goshawks, loss of preferred conditions at nest sites, reduced prey availability, increased competition with other predators, and increased disturbance and human-caused mortality from increased human access (Iverson et al. 1996).

Researchers attempting to develop guidelines for Idaho determined that more and better data were needed specific to Idaho forest types (Patla et al. 1995). Until such time as guidelines specific to Idaho are developed, the guidelines developed for the southwestern U.S. are recommended. They include:

- maintaining nest areas of mature or old trees and dense forest canopies;
- maintaining post-fledging and foraging areas with interspersed small openings, snags, downed logs and woody debris;
- minimizing road densities; and
- limiting timber harvesting activities to the period of October through February (Reynolds et al. 1992).

# Scenery

Although "beauty is in the eye of the beholder," over the last two decades, much research has found that there are many common elements in what people find visually attractive about landscapes. Landscapes with a high degree of natural-appearing character are most attractive (Galliano and Loeffler 1995). According to an assessment done for the ICBEMP, nearly two-thirds of the federal lands in Idaho and western Montana are currently rated as "high" or "very high" in scenic integrity, distinguishing them as some of the most scenic areas in the U.S. (Galliano and Loeffler 1995, Quigley et al. 1997).

Timber harvesting and fire probably have the greatest potential for negatively impacting scenic beauty in the short term, and may confound all other relationships between forest characteristics and scenic beauty (Rosenberger 1998). The effects of timber harvesting on scenic beauty will vary by the silvicultural and harvesting system employed. Clearcutting has the greatest negative impact in the short run. As a generalization, the more trees left standing, the higher the scenic quality of the stand. However, thinning of dense stands can increase scenic beauty by increasing visual penetration provided that logging slash is minimized. Recommendations for mitigating the effects of timber harvesting on scenic beauty include:

- leaving some live trees on site;
- designing harvest areas that are smaller with more natural appearing shapes and edges;
- reducing logging slash; and

using techniques that insure fast and adequate regeneration (Rosenberger 1998).

# Chapter 6. Alternative Approaches to Watershed Analysis

In the past decade, "watershed analysis" has emerged as a name for a type of process that may encourage sustainable forest management. Although watershed analysis approaches are still evolving and may differ in their management objectives (see Reid 1998), the intent is basically the same: to understand the ecological processes at work in a watershed and protect some resources from detrimental effects of using other resources. Watersheds are a useful unit of analysis for several reasons, including the relationship of watersheds to water quality and human activity, as well as the relative permanence of watershed boundaries. Watersheds may also be aggregated or disaggregated to different scales, from a creek to the entire Columbia River drainage system. Furthermore, watershed analysis is the direction in which federal land and resource management policy is headed. Watershed analysis is a process whereby regulatory standards, such as riparian buffer widths, can be fine-tuned to fit local conditions.

We look at four approaches to watershed analysis: two state, one federal, and one private. The two state approaches, for Idaho and Washington, are based on a management paradigm called cumulative watershed effects, which is concerned primarily about nonpoint source pollution and water quality. The federal approach extends the cumulative watershed effects model into a planning tool for ecosystem management. It considers a broader range of ecological elements, not just those related to water quality, and economic and social objectives. In the private sector, Plum Creek Timber Company's approach is a synthesis of watershed analysis and ecoclassification.

## **Cumulative Watershed Effects: State Programs**

*Idaho's Cumulative Watershed Effects (CWE) Process.* The Cumulative Watershed Effects (CWE) process of the Idaho Department of Lands consists of an assessment of erosion and mass failure hazard, canopy closure/stream temperature, hydrology, sediment delivery, channel stability, beneficial use/fine sediment, and nutrients (IDL 2000). It provides keys to determining whether cumulative watershed effects exist for all of the factors assessed along with guidance to help resource managers and landowners design best management practices to alleviate adverse conditions and prevent cumulative watershed effect problems from future forest practices.

The CWE process leads to one of three results for the forest manager:

- guidance for allowing planned forest practices to proceed;
- when the results indicate the existence of a problem, help in redesigning forest practices; or
- when a complex situation exists, guidance for completing additional analysis before proceeding with a forest practice (IDL 2000).

The CWE process is designed to be adaptive in that the decision criteria provided in the process change as new data and information become available. Not all watersheds in the state have been assessed using the CWE process, but in the last few years, increased appropriations to the Idaho Department of Lands specifically for CWE have allowed the department to increase training, assessment crews, data availability, and completion of watershed assessments.

Washington's Watershed Analysis Program. The outcomes from watershed analysis conducted by the Washington Department of Natural Resources include resource condition reports describing watershed conditions, maps locating sensitive areas requiring prescriptions (which may include all or parts of the watershed), and causal mechanism reports describing the sensitive area and the nature of potential problems to public resources supported with facts and data (WFPB 1997). Local land managers and agencies then develop a tailored management plan for the watershed that responds to the resource concerns identified by the scientific investigation. A team of field managers and analysts determine required and voluntary forest practices for each identified sensitive area. Once the watershed plan is developed, further forestry activities in the watershed must be conducted within the provisions of the watershed analysis prescriptions for each sensitive area, unless an alternative plan is approved, with compliance regulated by the Washington Department of Natural Resources.

## **Federal Watershed Analysis Process**

Federal agencies use watershed analysis procedures that build on and move beyond cumulative watershed effects analysis. For federal agencies, watershed analysis is a vehicle for implementing ecosystem management at the watershed scale. It provides a process for melding social expectations with the biophysical capabilities of specific landscapes.

The federal watershed analysis procedure manual, *Ecosystem Analysis at the Watershed Scale* (RIEC 1995), outlines a six-step analysis process:

- 1. Characterization of the watershed
- 2. Identification of key issues and key questions
- 3. Description of current conditions
- 4. Description of reference conditions
- 5. Synthesis and interpretation of information
- 6. Recommendations.

## **Comparing Watershed Analysis Alternatives**

As suggested in the literature (Collins and Pess 1997*a*), we compared the Idaho, Washington, and federal watershed analysis programs using four natural resource management paradigms: cumulative effects assessment, adaptive management, restoration assessment, and ecosystem management. All alternatives exhibited at least some elements of each paradigm. Differences between the processes are numerous, but that should be expected since the goals for each are different.

Our analysis and conclusions are general in nature because they are based only on each entity's general procedures guide for watershed analysis (i.e., IDL 2000, WFPB 1997, and RIEC 1995). Examinations of actual field procedures, reviews of completed analysis reports, and interviews with managers might have produced more detailed and different results.

# A Private Sector Approach to Watershed Analysis

Private companies, in addition to the federal and state governments, are developing methods for watershed analysis. One approach, being developed by Plum Creek Timber Company, integrates watershed analysis and ecoclassification (Watson et al. 1998). Plum Creek is in the business of manufacturing wood products from the timber grown on company lands. The company must abide by laws such as the federal Endangered Species Act and state forest practices acts that protect water quality and fish habitat. One of the primary mechanisms for controlling timber harvesting's effects on water quality and fish habitat is the use of riparian buffer zones adjacent to water bodies. The width of these buffers and the management activities allowed in them are the impetuses for Plum Creek's work as part of the company's native fish habitat conservation plan under section 10 of the Endangered Species Act (Plum Creek Timber Company 2000).

Researchers (Watson et al. 1998) tested the hypothesis that a geographic information system (GIS)-based hierarchical ecoclassification can be used to delineate groups of channel segments that exhibit similar characteristics in terms of fish habitat, fish distribution, and sensitivity to land management activities. They also tested the hypothesis that these groups can be used as a template for extrapolating results of watershed analysis from a subsample of the analysis area so as to provide for the effective protection of aquatic resources over a large area. Where the two independent approaches produce complementary results, the two approaches were integrated into a tool for the protection and management of aquatic resources.

We highlight Plum Creek's effort because one of the criticisms of watershed analysis has been that the same process must be repeated in every watershed despite similarities between them. Some view watershed analysis as redundant and overly costly. Plum Creek's approach appears to offer an answer to those criticisms. Also, Plum Creek's process appears to have wider application. The application of the approach need not be limited only to those areas where forestry is the predominant land use. The ecoclassification/watershed analysis synthesis approach may be useful in venues more comprehensive that the forest practices/fish habitat example. This methodology could be applied to other land management practices (Watson et al. 1998). This feature seems to be in line with the broad task of ecosystem management that the federal watershed analysis process was developed to undertake.

As more private companies and government agencies develop methods for watershed analysis, desired characteristics of the process are that it:

- fits the particular needs of the agency or organization instituting it;
- evaluates any potentially important impacts;
- evaluates impacts at any point downstream;
- evaluates impacts accumulating through both time and space;
- evaluates the influence of any expected kind of land-use activity;
- evaluates any lands within the analysis area;
- uses the best available analysis methods for each aspect of the analysis;
- incorporates new information as understanding grows;

- can be done for a reasonable cost over a reasonable length of time;
- produces a readable and useable product; and
- is credible and widely accepted (Reid 1998).

#### **Chapter 7. Conclusions**

"Sustainability" is about meeting the needs of the present generation without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. Sustainable forest management is the expression of "sustainability" for forests. Sustainable forest management is ecologically sound, economically viable, and socially desirable (Aplet et al. 1993).

People not only want to continue to receive the benefits they value from forests, but also ensure benefits will be available to future generations. One of the benefits that people receive from forests is timber—trees used to make products such as lumber, plywood, and paper. People have used products derived from timber for thousands of years. Some people are seriously questioning whether it is possible to continue to produce timber while simultaneously producing and protecting other forest values. People are asking if timber harvesting is a sustainable use of forests.

Is timber harvesting in Idaho's forests sustainable? Sustainable forest management must consider three dimensions—ecological soundness, economic viability, and social desirability. The reply to the question is "yes" for some of Idaho's forests, "no" for others, and "we don't know" for others. The answer depends on many factors, including:

- the ecological conditions existing in the forest;
- the way in which timber harvesting is done;
- the plans for and actions on the site after harvesting;
- market conditions for timber at the time of harvesting;
- the values of the site other than timber;
- the management goals of the forest owner;
- the laws and policies that apply to the owner, the land, and the actions taken.

We know that all these factors will change over time. Sustainable management is not absolute. It is a journey, not a destination. We can develop standards for comparison and say that timber harvesting is either "more" or "less" sustainable in a particular forest than it would be somewhere else at a particular time. We can define sustainable forest management as a goal and measure relative progress toward the goal.

## **Future Directions**

Sustainable forest management is an evolving concept that reflects the changing nature of and perceptions about our world. It is about the values and aspirations people have for their natural resource endowments and the way these resources are managed. Indicators of sustainable forest management are in their developing stages. Until such indicators and procedures for using them to evaluate management methods have been agreed upon, applied, and evaluated, we cannot say much about the sustainability of resource management approaches. Sustainability is also about our place as citizens of Idaho in a bigger world, and it is about our consumption patterns. It is about our values.

# Evolving Indicators of Sustainable Forest Man-

*agement.* Since this project was first suggested to the Policy Analysis Group, the concept of sustainable forest management and ways to measure it have evolved. One model for measurement, commonly called "criteria and indicators," or "C&I," has become a popular way to assess sustainable forest management. These efforts are examined in detail in Part I of this analysis, published separately (see PAG Report #18, Cook and O'Laughlin 1999). The Montreal Process C&I are widely accepted and consist of seven criteria and 67 indicators. If Idaho were to conduct its own evaluation of sustainable forest management on different ownerships using the Montreal Process C&I, it would be the first state to do so.

*A World Perspective on Idaho's Timber Resources.* In this report we have concentrated on Idaho as the geographic scale; however, Idaho does not exist independently in the ecological, economic, or social dimensions. How does Idaho's timber resource fit into the region's, nation's, and world's supply and demand situation?

The forests and people of the world produce billions of cubic feet of wood products each year. Idaho has about 0.2% of the world's forests and almost 3% of U.S. forests. Idaho's 1.8 billion board feet of lumber production in 1996 was about 5% of the softwood lumber produced in the U.S. (WWPA 1997).

What would happen if Idaho either stopped

producing timber or dramatically increased its production ? The answers are beyond the scope of this report, but have implications for the sustainability of forest management worldwide. Additional analyses looking at a broader geographic scale would provide insights for managing Idaho's forests to meet peoples' needs today and tomorrow without causing irreversible ecological damage.

# Consumption and "Sustainability."

The long and short of the matter is that forest conservation depends in part on intelligent consumption, as well as intelligent production of lumber (Aldo Leopold, "The Home Builder Conserves," 1928).

Sustainable forest management is not just about production of forest products and other benefits, but also their consumption. Which resources we choose, where we get them, how we use them, and how we dispose of them are all vital issues for sustainable forest management (Temperate Forest Foundation 1998).

We do not have consumption figures specific to Idaho, but on a per capita basis, the U.S. consumes timber at more than four times the world average. Recent reductions in timber harvest levels from national forests in Idaho and other regions of the U.S. have caused many people to ask, if we do not produce timber to meet our needs, are we exporting environmental problems associated with timber harvesting to other countries? The reply to the question depends on questions of fairness, ethics, and morality (Bowyer 1992, Schallau and Goetzl 1992, Brooks 1993). Perhaps further discussion and analysis of consumption patterns and our national responsibility to produce what we consume is warranted.

**"Sustainability" and Human Values.** In this report, we have only begun to scratch the surface of sustainable forest management issues because ultimately everything is related to sustainability. This includes not just decisions about forests but every decision we make in our daily lives. Sustainability is about resource allocation and social values. Professor William Burch of Yale University's School of Forestry and Environmental Studies summarizes his experience with three central "laws" of resource management (quoted in Grumbine 1997:46):

All resource allocation decisions are matters of political struggle rather than technical fact.

- Resource management decisions are about use; therefore they are decisions about manipulating human behavior rather than physical things.
- Resource managers, when confronted with social value decisions, will seek to convert them into technical decisions.

The question of whether or not timber harvesting in Idaho is sustainable does not have a technical answer. However, we hope that the technical information provided in this report contributes positively to discussions among all Idahoans and encourages them to make informed decisions about the management of Idaho's forests.

[This page left blank intentionally.]
Chapter 1. What is sustainable forest management?

Sustainable forest management is
cologically sound,
conomically viable, and

- $\bullet$  economically viable, at
- socially desirable.

There is no consensus on exactly what sustainable forest management is and what brings it about (Gale and Cordray 1991, Rivlin 1993), but in order to have a meaningful discussion about it we must establish a framework for discussion. One framework that is common in the literature, and we have adopted in the above definition, is that sustainable forest management has three essential dimensions: ecological, social, and economic (Aplet et al. 1993).

Sustainable forest management is a part of the broader idea of "sustainability," and an in-depth discussion of sustainability is warranted in order to set the stage for discussions about forest management.

## 1.1. Defining "Sustainability"

"Sustainability" is a difficult concept to define because it means different things to different people and is used in reference to a number of issues (Toman 1992, Johnson 1993, Toman 1994*a*). We hear about sustainability in relation to forests, communities, development, and so on, and what is meant is not always clear (Cocklin 1989, O'Connor 1995). Like the concepts of equality, justice, and welfare, sustainability does not have an analytically precise definition (Daly 1996). Some observers have argued that sustainability has become so overused and misused that it has lost any semblance of meaning (Viederman 1996).

Nevertheless, sustainability continues to gain visibility, acceptance, and use as a goal for societies, economies, governments, businesses, resource management activities, and a variety of other human organizations and endeavors. Three rather distinct ideas about "sustainability" are in use today: [1] sustained yield of a resource, [2] sustained abundance and diversity of species and ecosystems, and [3] sustained economic and social development, without compromising existing resources for future generations (Dixon and Fallon 1989, Gatto 1995).

The profession of forestry was founded on the first idea, with timber the primary resource of concern. The other two ideas have become increasingly important in the last two decades. Today, the third use of "sustainability" is the most popular, and it is based on the definition of sustainable development from *Our Common Future* (WCED 1987), often called the "Brundtland Report." Sustainable development "meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs" (WCED 1987:8). This definition of sustainable development has evolved into the general concept of sustainability (Munro 1995). In the U.S., the concept of sustainable development includes the recognition that neither environmental health nor economic prosperity is viable without the other (National Commission on the Environment 1993).

The concept of sustainability is often described as having three essential dimensions: ecological, social, and economic (Aplet et al. 1993, British Columbia Round Table on the Environment and the Economy 1993, Munasinghe and McNeely 1995, Munro 1995, Sheng 1995, Goodland and Daly 1996, Viederman 1996). Sustainable actions occur at the conceptual intersection of these three dimensions (Figure 1-1), or where the three dimensions are integrated. This three-part model can be traced back at least to Firey (1960), long before the term sustainability became popular.

Ecological sustainability is often stated as ecological soundness or integrity. It focuses on natural biological processes and means that ecosystems support healthy organisms, while maintaining their productivity, adaptability, and capacity for renewal (Brown et al. 1987). For forests, ecological sustainability requires that management respects, and builds on, natural processes (Upton and Bass 1996). Ecological approaches are not sustainable, however, unless they are integrated into the human context (Duffus 1993, Pfister 1993, Allen and Hoekstra 1995), which includes fairness or equity in social and economic dimensions.

Social sustainability includes the continued satisfaction of basic human needs—food, water, shelter—as well as higher-level social and cultural necessities such as security, freedom, education, employment, and recreation (Brown et al. 1987). This dimension of sustainability is sometimes called social desirability or acceptability, and reflects the relationship between actions and social norms—an activity is socially sustainable if it conforms with social norms, or does not stretch them beyond a community's tolerance for change (Munro 1995, Upton and Bass 1996). Social acceptance is fundamental to all societies, but it is especially important in humanitarian societies where freedom of expression, equal



Figure 1-1. Sustainable forest management occurs at the conceptual intersection of ecologically sound, economically viable, and socially desirable actions.

Source: Aplet et al. (1993).

opportunity, self-governance and democracy exist (Pfister 1993, Viederman 1996).

Economic sustainability, also called economic viability or feasibility, requires that benefits exceed or balance the costs incurred (Munro 1995), and that equivalent capital is handed down from one generation to the next (Goodland 1995, Upton and Bass 1996). Current economic activity should not result in disproportionate costs on future generations (Foy 1990). Fairness in the distribution of benefits and costs to the current and future generations is paramount (Goodland and Daly 1996).

### **1.2.** Sustainability Themes

Although there are many definitions of sustainability, key themes emerge consistently: the human perspective, considerations of fairness, and issues of scale. Within these dominant themes, many wideranging viewpoints are debated.

# 1.2.1. Sustainability is Based on Human Values.

At the broadest level, the [sustainability] concept rests on a certain world view and a certain value judgment: the view that our descendants' wellbeing may not be as guaranteed as we historically presumed, and the judgment that we *should* care about their well-being (Lélé and Norgaard 1996:354).

Humans created the idea of sustainability, which does not exist independent of human values (Franklin 1993, Allen and Hoekstra 1995). Humans seek to impose some constancy and dependability on the natural environment for the supply of goods and services (Carpenter 1995). People decide what is important and for how long (Allen and Hoekstra 1995).

Sustainability describes a relationship between human actions and the environment (Gonzalez-Caban et al. 1995, Munasinghe and Shearer 1995, Viederman 1996). Any discussion of sustainability is strongly conditioned by human values and objectives, whether these emphasize short-term utility, providing options for future generations, or the inherent right of species to exist (Franklin 1993).

**1.2.2. Equity or Fairness.** Equity is a question of fair or just distribution of resources, rights, and wealth amongst people and over time (Young 1992). The concept of intergenerational equity, or equity between generations, is the backbone of sustainability (Toman 1992, Meyer and Helfman 1993). Sustainability sets the economic opportunities and ecological foundations of future generations on the same ethical level as those of present generations (Paehlke 1994, Attfield 1998).

Different approaches to measuring intergenerational equity have different implications for policy (Young 1992). How one actually accounts for the responsibility to future generations is a muchdiscussed point (see, e.g., Pearce 1988, Dixon and Fallon 1989, d'Arge et al. 1991, Beckerman 1992, Young 1992, Toman 1994*b*, Toman and Ashton 1994, Norton 1996, Page 1997).

Sustainability also addresses intragenerational equity, or equity within the current generation (Pearce 1988, Young 1992, Goodland and Daly 1996, Smith 1996). Equal rights and advancement opportunities for all the world's citizens are encouraged (Young 1992). The distribution of costs and benefits of our actions is also important. Are those who benefit also paying the costs? Numerous authors (e.g., Young 1992, Lee 1993) suggest that today many of the costs of our actions are not being borne by those who benefit and movement toward sustainability will require policies that address this situation.

**1.2.3.** *Issues of Scale.* Temporal and spatial scales (i.e., time and space) are prominent issues in discussions of sustainability (Brown et al. 1987, Salwasser et al. 1993, Allen and Hoekstra 1995, Holling 1995, Levin 1995, O'Neill et al. 1995). At what physical scale should activities and resources be sustained? And over what period of time?

Defining appropriate scales for managing sustainably is difficult. Ecological systems occur at all spatial scales from the microsite to global (Aplet and Olson 1993). Social systems exist at scales from family and community to the world at large. Economic systems range from the individual to the international level. Time scales are defined from moments to eons.

Sustainability requires planning and management at multiple geographic scales (Greber and Johnson 1991, Allen and Hoekstra 1995, Toman and Ashton 1994). For example, forest ecosystems need to be seen as a nested set of structures embracing the stand, watershed, and the physiographic region (Toman and Ashton 1994). National and global scales are needed in addition to local and regional scales because in the long run it may do little good to manage sustainably in local and regional ecosystems if resultant human consumption of resources depletes the same somewhere else (Salwasser et al. 1993). Sustainability requires that we think and plan at larger spatial scales than we have in the pastlandscapes and regions (Franklin 1993, O'Neill 1996)-rather than stands and management units of aggregated stands.

The temporal scales of sustainable management must not only address those relevant to biological organisms or other parts of the biophysical system, but also time periods relevant to societal values (Dixon and Fallon 1989). Often the temporal aspects of sustainability are intertwined with spatial considerations (Allen and Hoekstra 1995).

## 1.3. Difficulties Implementing Sustainability

Sustainability is a goal, like liberty or equality: not a fixed endpoint to be reached but a direction that guides constructive change; the realist is as skeptical of claims concerning sustainability as she would be of a claim that perfect liberty had been attained (Lee 1993:563).

As an emerging goal for human activities, sustainability has not been universally accepted as something that societies should pursue. Sustainability may be appropriate in certain circumstances, but not in all situations (Robinson 1993). Sustainability, though, may be a new social paradigm, and its adoption will involve a complex and difficult process of social learning (Gatto 1995, Milbrath 1996).

Whether or not we, as a society, should pursue sustainability as a goal is not addressed herein.

However, we do point out difficulties in implementing policies to achieve sustainability. These include ambiguity, lack of agreement on values and scales, and the substitutability of capital and technology for natural endowments.

#### 1.3.1. Ambiguity in Definition.

Sustainability is invariably used to describe a goal which, superficially at least, is indisputably desirable. ... On closer examination, however, it is found that the concept is defined so broadly as to be open to widely disparate interpretations, which creates potential for misunderstanding (Dixon and Fallon 1989:73).

Because of the widespread use of "sustainability" today, concern exists that the debate over sustainability is not fruitful because people think they are addressing the same issue, when in fact they are not (Gatto 1995, Goodland 1995). The concept of sustainability can be approached either as a guiding principle or as an operational strategy (de Vries 1989). As a guiding principle in the broad sense, sustainability suggests how we should think of and act in the world. It is an ethical code for the pursuit of long-term survival and prosperity of humankind (de Vries 1989).

The other approach to sustainability is to look for an operational definition. The aim, then, is to design and implement resource management strategies which preserve those life-support systems thought to be vital to long-term survival and prosperity of mankind (de Vries 1989). Some observers feel that sustainability is not well enough defined to be put into operation (de la Jara 1994, Wiersum 1995, Daly 1996). Others observe that the rhetoric and literature of sustainability are filled with vagueness, inconsistencies, and oversimplifications, and these weaknesses impede effective policies and implementation (Lélé 1991, Mathews 1991, Toman 1994*a*).

Many discussions of sustainability lack reference to specific spatial and temporal dimensions of the systems of concern (de Vries 1989), and they lack reference to specific problems and management goals (Woodmansee 1992). Discussions of sustainability often fail to clearly answer the crucial questions: what is to be sustained, how, and for whom (Lélé 1991, Toman 1992, Johnson 1993, Romm 1993, Marshall 1995). Although there are conditions when the well-being of future generations can be safeguarded while meeting the needs and aspirations of current human communities and protecting nonhuman species, sometimes conditions are such that tradeoffs will be required (Lélé 1991). Discussions about strategies for achieving sustainability often lose sight of the complex social and economic conditions that substantially determine ecological outcomes (Lélé 1991).

1.3.2. Agreement on Values. Sustainability is based on human values, and it is difficult to reach agreement on the values that define sustainable solutions. Many of the contradictions associated with sustainability can be traced to differing fundamental beliefs and assumptions about the nature of relationships between humans and their environment (Cronon 1995, Rees 1995). For example, some people view some human activities as being unnatural or against nature, while others see humans as an integral part of nature. Each of us sees the world differently. Because we acquire a particular world view simply by living, growing up, and being educated in a particular socio-cultural environment, we are often unconscious that we even have a particular world view and that we operate from it in virtually everything we do (Rees 1995, Smith 1996). Different world views and the variety of values associated with forests are discussed more thoroughly in Chapter 2.

**1.3.3. Substitutability of Capital and the Role of Technology.** Many definitions of sustainability require that the current generation pass on to future generations equivalent capital. Capital is a resource stock that yields a flow of valuable goods and services into the future (Costanza and Daly 1992). Natural capital is the stock that yields the flow of natural resources. Human capital refers to people and the bodies of knowledge that contribute to production and to community. Human-created capital refers to products and technologies created by humans including the built environment. Social capital refers to civic involvement, participation in community, sense of place, and other social attributes of people's lives (Goodland 1995, Viederman 1996).

What defines equivalent capital for future generations is the subject of much debate (Foy 1990). A distinction is made between "strong" and "weak" sustainability (Goodland and Daly 1996). The "strong" argument is that a minimum necessary condition for sustainability is that *total natural capital* be maintained at or above the current level; "weak" sustainability requires only that *total capital* be maintained (Costanza and Daly 1992, Reid 1995, Goodland 1995, Goodland and Daly 1996). The disagreement arises from differences in beliefs about the substitutability of the different types of capital (Goodland 1995). Can human-made capital replace some forms of natural capital? The reply depends on a person's belief in the types and pace of technological advances in the future (d'Arge et al. 1991, Mathews 1991, Lee 1993, Toman 1994*b*, Toman and Ashton 1994, Goodland 1995, Reid 1995, Lélé and Norgaard 1996).

#### 1.3.4. Agreement on Scales.

In considering resource substitutability, economists and ecologists often also differ on the appropriate level of geographic scale. On the one hand, opportunities for resource tradeoffs generally are greater at the level of the nation or the globe than at the level of the individual community or regional ecosystem. On the other hand, a concern only with aggregates overlooks unique attributes of particular ecosystems or local constraints on resource substitution and systemic adaptation (Toman 1992:5).

Whether or not sustainability must always be planned for some scale-defined situation is an issue. For example, Noss (1993) argued that ecosystem sustainability must be defined in terms of time period and the proportion of ecosystem structure, function, and composition maintained. Likewise, Toman and Ashton (1994) argued that management of ecosystems cannot be considered without some sort of boundary; human actions have to be defined by both spatial and temporal limits. Allen and Hoekstra (1995) argued that temporal scales must be agreed upon because sustaining everything for all time is worse than impractical; it is meaningless. Although these seem to be reasonable propositions, not everyone agrees that they are (e.g., British Columbia Round Table on the Environment and the Economy 1993, Munro 1995, Daily and Ehrlich 1996).

There is also disagreement on what the appropriate scale for analysis is. For example, at the local level, a forest may be valued most for its wood products; in a nearby city, the same area may be valued for recreation. From the national perspective, the same forest may be important as an element in watershed protection from soil loss, while at the global level, the forest may be too small to significantly affect global climate (FAO 1994*b*). Issues of equity arise when the interests of the local community are at variance with national or international interests (FAO 1994*b*). Rather than trying to determine the correct temporal and spatial scale for sustainability,

it may be more fruitful to concentrate on how the different scales interact and how we might construct multi-scale definitions and indicators of sustainability (Costanza et al. 1991).

Herein, we focus on the state of Idaho as the geographic scale of analysis. However, while Idaho may be an appropriate geopolitical scale, it is made up of many, many smaller ecosystems, is a part of a larger bioregion, and economically and socially does not exist independent of the surrounding region, nation, or world. At what geographic scale do we evaluate and manage for sustainability? The replies depend on who is doing the management, what they are managing for, and how evaluation is structured and conducted.

#### 1.3.5. Things Change.

Sustainable development is not a fixed state of harmony, but rather a process of change in which the exploitation of resources, the direction of investments, the orientation of technological development, and institutional change are made consistent with future as well as present needs (WCED 1987:9).

Moving towards sustainability is difficult because of the dynamic nature of ecosystems, social values, and economic vitality (Bormann et al. 1994*a*, 1994*b*). Sustainability is a moving target (Salwasser 1993).

Ecological systems constantly change (Carpenter 1995, Gatto 1995); change is essential to their integrity (Kimmins 1995). Because of change, the long-term management of ecosystems and their resources must be adaptive rather than deterministic (Salwasser 1993, Bormann et al. 1994*b*, Munro 1995). Some of what we learn in one decade may not be true in the next (Hilborn and Ludwig 1993).

Social values are also dynamic. Resource management values are undergoing a major shift, and a new set of values is emerging (Bengston 1994). The old set of social values emphasized economic growth, control of nature, faith in science and technology, ample reserves of natural resources, the substitutability of resources, and a dominant role for experts in decision making. In contrast, key themes of the new set of values include sustainable development, harmony with nature, skepticism toward scientific and technological fixes, finite natural resources, limits to substitution, and a strong emphasis on public involvement in decision making (Bengston 1994). Of course, individuals may hold values from each set, or values not found in either set (Milbrath 1996). How do we evaluate sustainability in such a dynamic world of values?

Economic sustainability is more easily measured than social sustainability because it can be defined in numerical terms, primarily units of currency. However, it is at least as difficult to predict because it is affected by so many variables (Mangel et al. 1993). Economic sustainability is conditioned by the availability and costs of inputs, the costs of extraction and processing, and the demand for the product. All of these factors are highly variable over time and among the world's regions (Munro 1995).

#### 1.3.6. Institutional Change.

Moving toward sustainability will require continued purposeful self-directed learning on the part of institutions, organizations and governments. The lessons are difficult because the fundamental aspects of sustainability revolve around the integration of the sociopolitical, economic, and environmental dimensions. These dimensions do not easily mesh because sectors of government, academic training for experts, and institutional activity often take place wholly within only one of the dimensions (Larsen 1994:11).

Sustainability is fundamentally a problem of human social organization and technology, not simply management of the physical environment and its biological processes (Lee 1992:75).

Institutions, traditions, and precedents often have more to do with the way resources are managed than science or economics (Lee 1993). Institutionalization involves the development of persistent patterns of human behavior expressed as formalized rules, laws, customs or as informal rituals and patterns of social interaction or inaction with the nonhuman environment (Lee 1992). Moving towards sustainability will involve institutional change. However, some organizations and institutions upon which society is structured, both within and outside resource management professions, are not well suited to make the fundamental adaptations that sustainability requires (Sample 1993). Political institutions, in particular, will need to change if sustainability in resource management is to be realized (Woodmansee 1992, Pfister 1993, Pitelka and Pitelka 1993, Rivlin 1993, Leslie 1994, Viederman 1995). Sustainability may imply a thoroughgoing transformation of industrial society (Paehlke 1994).

### 1.3.7. Science and Sustainability.

Science can describe, with different degrees of precision, what is, and to a lesser degree, can help us to assess what can be. Science cannot tell us what should be, and that is the key issue of sustainability. Science is a form of know-how: it is a means without consideration of ends. It underlines the differences between knowing how to do something, and knowing what to do (Viederman 1995:37).

What is the role of science in sustainability? A firm foundation of scientific understanding and quantification has generally been described as an underpinning for the value-laden economic, social, political, and cultural components of sustainability (Ehrlich and Daily 1993, Rivlin 1993, Carpenter 1995). However, science has limitations (Kimmins 1993, Meyer and Helfman 1993, Salwasser 1993, Stankey 1996). Although some questions of sustainability involve questions of fact and can be stated in the language of science, they are unanswerable by science (Stankey 1996). Science cannot provide the answers to what is fundamentally a social dilemma (Pfister 1993).

Science can explain what is known about a problem and explain the consequences of different responses (Pitelka and Pitelka 1993). Science can develop estimates of risk, but it cannot say what level of risk is acceptable (Salwasser 1993). Science can provide information to the decision-making process, but, ultimately, society must decide what constitutes "good" and "bad" resource management (Aplet and Olson 1993, Kimmins 1993, Pfister 1993, Regier et al. 1995).

### 1.3.8. Uncertainty and Risk.

Nature is not only more complex than we think. It is more complex than we can think. (Egler 1970:21).

More responsible and ecologically sound decisions would probably result if scientists clearly identified the uncertainties and the possible consequences of alternative actions in the face of those uncertainties, rather than try to reach a consensus on what is true or not (Mangel et al. 1993:575).

Sustainability is an inherently uncertain concept (Carpenter 1995). It requires the ability to predict the future, an activity that is risky at best (Munro 1995).

Part of the uncertainty results from natural variation in natural systems (Carpenter 1995, Gatto 1995). A signal that change in the condition of a system is due to human actions may be hidden in the noise of natural changes in the value measured (Carpenter 1995). In many cases, short-term natural variability is necessary for the long-term sustainability of the ecosystem. By attempting to reduce this variability through technology and management, we may threaten the long-term persistence of the system (Brown et al. 1987).

The lack of rigorous scientific information that can be applied to decision-making processes also contributes to uncertainty (Pfister 1993, Salwasser 1993, Gonzalez-Caban et al. 1995, Toman and Ashton 1994). For example, much of our knowledge about ecology has not been well integrated to the large scale ecosystem and bioregion levels (Kimmins 1993, Toman and Ashton 1994, Winograd 1995). Reductionist science has not provided us with the answers we need at the temporal and spatial scales of complex ecosystems (Kimmins 1993).

Some questions are unanswerable with any exactness or certainty (Costanza 1993, Viederman 1995). People nonetheless must continue to make decisions and take actions that will affect the future. People must decide what is an acceptable risk to take. The difficulties of determining acceptable risk can be described in terms of five problems: [1] ambiguities in how to define a problem, [2] difficulties in ascertaining facts about the matter, [3] uncertainty about whose values are to be represented and how they are to be elicited, [4] the inevitable fallibility of experts, and [5] questions about how to evaluate the quality of the decision process (Brunson 1996). All five of these problems apply to sustainability. We need to recognize the limitations of human knowledge and decide what our tolerance for ignorance and uncertainty is so that we can act in a timely fashion with the highest degree of certainty possible while avoiding harm and doing good in the short and long term (Viederman 1995).

### 1.4. Sustainability and Forests

Forests cover over one-third of the world's land area. Forests play a critical role in sustaining global environmental systems and, at the same time, have a direct role in sustaining human communities by providing fuel, food, commodities, and income (Brooks 1993). Forests are not only sources of livelihoods, but also shape the institutions and customs of communities. Forests are an integral part of sustainability considerations (FAO 1994*a*). **Chapter 2** discusses more fully the roles forests play in Idaho.

**1.4.1. Forest Management.** Forests have existed and can exist without human intervention, but today all forests of the world are influenced by humans to some degree. Humans decide where to build habitations, where to clear land for agriculture, where to extract resources from the forest, and where to preserve the forest relatively untouched (Romm 1993). Humans manage all forests in some way.

Forest management can be defined as: the overall administrative, economic, legal, social, technical and scientific aspects related to natural and planted forests. It implies various degrees of deliberate human intervention, ranging from action aimed at safeguarding and maintaining the forest ecosystem and its functions, to favouring given socially or economically valuable species or groups of species for the improved production of goods and environmental services (FAO 1991).

Forest management is therefore a social process rather than a forest condition; it is a regime of actions by which people conserve, augment, modify, and replace features of the forest so as to perpetuate its desired qualities, whatever these may be (Romm 1993).

#### 1.4.2. Sustainable Forest Management.

Notwithstanding 200 years of efforts to operationalize the concept of sustainability, its exact application in forestry remains troublesome (Wiersum 1995:321).

The challenge is not to define the sustainable forest but to develop social processes that recognize, accommodate, and respond more effectively to diverse and dynamic perspectives of what the forest is and should be. The challenge is to achieve sustainable forestry (Romm 1993:281).

We repeat the definition from the opening paragraph of this chapter (Aplet et al. 1993),

- Sustainable forest management is
  - **\*** ecologically sound,
  - **\*** economically viable, and
  - **\*** socially desirable.

Sustainable forest management can viewed as management for sustainability (FAO 1994*b*). It occurs within the conceptual space defined by the intersection of goals for human communities, economic development, and environmental quality, and takes into consideration interregional, international, and intergenerational transfers of benefits and costs in addition to immediate and local needs (Salwasser et al. 1993).

Sustainable forest management depends upon which forest attributes, activities, or effects are to be sustained, at what levels and over what area and time period, by which means, and for and by which people (Romm 1993). It depends on human values, and is a regime of actions that sustains and enhances forest qualities amidst value conflicts that otherwise would weaken possibilities (FAO 1993, Romm 1993:291).

Sustainable forest management involves planning for the production of wood for commercial purposes as well as providing for the other forest products needs of local citizens and others. It includes the protection or setting aside of areas to be managed as plant or wildlife reserves or for recreational or environmental purposes. It is concerned with conversion of forest land to other uses, such as agriculture and housing developments, ensuring that such conversion is done in a properly planned and controlled way. It also covers the regeneration of wastelands and degraded forests (FAO 1993). Sustainable forest management also must define the role of the forestry sector in contributing to all aspects of the economy and society (FAO 1994*b*).

#### 1.4.3. Sustained Yield.

In its simplicity the concept [of sustained yield] offers an irresistible haven of intellectual security in a world of change, uncertainty, and doubt (Behan 1978:309).

Historically, forestry sought sustainability in the concept of sustained yield, or sustainable yield, expressed predominantly in terms of timber (Dixon and Fallon 1989, SAF 1993, FAO 1994b, Wiersum 1995). Sustained yield has been a tenet of faith among U.S. foresters since forestry emerged as a profession in the early twentieth century (Parry et al. 1983, Steen 1984, Walker 1990, Drielsma et al. 1990). In its simplest definition, sustained yield means that a resource is harvested at no greater rate than it is being created. For timber, all that needs to be done is to harvest the wood from a given forest at an average rate over a period of time that is no greater than that forest can grow it (FAO 1993). This generally translates into the idea that in a given year, the removals from a forest should not exceed

the *growth* for that year. *Removals* are the harvested volumes of timber products and conversions to other land uses. *Growth* is the increment of growth added to the forest that year, net of the mortality from insects, disease, fire, or other causes that year. (Idaho data pertinent to this discussion are analyzed in **Chapter 3**. Overall, *growth* exceeds *removals* in Idaho by a considerable margin.)

The concept of sustained yield of timber is not quite as simple as it appears, however. The technical aspects of sustained yield also are much easier to state in words than to apply in action (Brown et al. 1987, de Vries 1989, Ludwig 1993, Leslie 1994, Gatto 1995). Several observers have suggested that few demonstrated and documentable cases of sustained yield forest management exist (see Mangel et al. 1993, Botkin and Keller 1995, Carpenter 1995).

The connotations and implications of sustained vield are many (Parry et al. 1983, Walker 1990, Alston 1991). In some situations, sustained yield implies maximum sustainable yield, or that annual removals equal annual net growth. On national forests, this translates into a debate as to whether sustained yield, expressed as allowable sale quantity (ASQ), represents either a precise target or a flexible ceiling for timber harvest levels (Brown et al. 1993a). Sustained yield also may imply nondeclining even flow, or that harvest levels remain constant year-to-year. This may require achieving a "normal forest" where age or size classes are evenly distributed throughout the forest (Lee 1982, Parry et al. 1983). Deviations from a sustainable yield while achieving a normal forest (i.e., "the allowable cut effect") add to the complexity of the concept.

Sustained yield is a murky concept because how much timber is grown depends on the intensity of investment and management, which are not easy to predict (Behan 1978). The demands placed on the forest and investments in forest productivity are subject to changes in the perception of the social utility of the forest and changes in technology. A perpetual output is inconsistent with change, and physical models of sustained yield bear little relation to economic and social realities (Behan 1978).

Although sustained yield is a biological concept, it serves social functions (Parry et al. 1983). Sustained yield reveals as much about social ideas as it does about well managed forests (Lee 1982). For example, sustained yield became associated with a social function of stabilizing human systems, such as timber-dependent communities, forest-related occupations, and woodworking industries, that were thought to be economically dependent upon the flow of forest products (Wiersum 1995).

Sustained yield in U.S. forestry has a colorful history. It has been used as a mechanism to conserve forests, a social engineering tool to settle migrating woods workers, a control for keeping timber from public lands both off and on the market, a method for attempting to provide jobs and stabilize community economies, and a harvest planning tool (see Behan 1978, Lee 1982, Parry et al. 1983, Schallau and Alston 1987, Schallau 1989, Alexander 1989, Wear et al. 1989, Drielsma et al. 1990, Lee 1990, Carroll 1995, Carroll and Daniels 1995)..

# 1.4.4. From Sustained Yield to Sustainable Forest Management.

The timber primacy aspect of traditional sustained yield failed to recognize that while trees may be biologically renewable, cut over forests, in the social sense, are transformed not renewed (Alston 1991).

It is no longer enough simply to sustain timber yields if it is ultimately the forest that one wants to sustain (Johnson 1993:11).

Today, it has become increasingly apparent that this notion of sustained yield fails to fully capture what is involved in the sustainability of forest ecosystems with multiple functions and values (Xu et al. 1995:685).

Management of the forest to provide a sustained yield of timber is what some foresters may have in mind when they talk of sustainable forest management. Such a concept focuses on the production of wood and/or wood fiber as an economic commodity and may not address the wider issues of the ecological and social functions of forests, with which timber production may only incidentally be compatible or may even conflict (FAO 1993, FAO 1994*b*).

Sustained yield of timber falls short as a proxy for sustainable forest management (SAF 1993). There are at least three reasons why. Traditional sustained yield forestry [a] does not ensure that the integrity of the system is maintained, in part because the focus on individual stands is too narrow; [b] does not adequately meet the desires of people for more attention to noncommodity values; and [c] is difficult to implement, given the increased emphasis required today on noncommodity values (SAF 1993).

Sustainable forest management means more than continuous commodity production at some rate. It also addresses the social and environmental issues associated with harvesting the resource (Meyer and Helfman 1993, FAO 1994*b*). The public views forests as much more than a supply of wood products and provider of wealth and employment (Kimmins 1995). Professor Wilkinson sums it up:

[O]ur thinking has evolved; in many national forests, a broader view of sustainability is not being achieved. Only the specific resource being extracted—commercial timber—is being renewed. Other parts of the forests, which must be taken into account to achieve true sustainability, are in jeopardy. The health of certain fish and wildlife populations. Soil on steep slopes. The recreation economy. Species diversity. The ancient forests. View. Beauty. Glory. Awe. Sustainability is measured not by board feet but by the whole forest (Wilkinson 1992:299).

### 1.5. Conclusions

Sustainable forest management is an emerging paradigm that moves beyond the traditional measurement of sustainability as sustained yield of timber. Sustainable forest management includes ecological, economic, and social dimensions. Although our focus in this report is timber harvesting and forest management related to timber production, our intent is to move beyond the traditional concept of sustained yield and into the broader realm of sustainable forest management.

Timber harvesting is a part of sustainable forest management for some forests in Idaho. Timber harvesting is ecologically sound, economically viable, and socially desirable in some forests. Whether or not timber harvesting is sustainable depends on people's values, the policies that affect a particular forest, the management objectives of the owners of that forest, and ecological conditions and relationships within that forest. In subsequent chapters, we examine these factors that determine sustainability.

[This page left blank intentionally.]

## Chapter 2. How important is the timber harvesting issue in Idaho?

As **Chapter 1** indicates, sustainable forest management is a concept based on human values. Social and economic perspectives, along with ecological conditions, determine the degree to which human actions are sustainable. People value forests for many reasons, and the importance they attach to those values determines, in part, whether forest management is sustainable.

Values affect people's views about the appropriateness of timber harvesting in Idaho's forests. In this chapter, we examine some of the social and economic values that make timber harvesting and forest management important and contentious issues in Idaho.

Although we focus on Idaho as the scale of analysis for social and economic values, the boundaries of that scale do not stop at the state line. Idaho participates in a regional and global economy and is part of society that extends beyond state borders. Consider, for example, that the regional economic center for much of northern Idaho is Spokane, Washington; most of the wood products manufactured in Idaho are exported out of state; and the recreation sector of our economy is dependent to some extent on out-of-state visitors. Additionally, more than 60 percent of the land base of Idaho is managed by the federal government for the American people; therefore, social perspectives of people outside of Idaho affect the management of resources within the state

### 2.1. Forest Values

Ideally, data should allow us to quantify and value, on a comparable basis, the full range of goods produced from forests—both timber and non-timber commodities; we also should have a basis for estimating the value placed on services provided by forests. ... For the most part, this remains an ideal. ... Our ability to quantify the magnitude and value of industrial timber products should not overwhelm our recognition of other benefits and values produced by forests (Brooks 1993:9).

Forest values are relatively enduring conceptions of what is good and desirable about forests and forest ecosystems (Bengston and Xu 1995). Numerous classifications for organizing forest values exist. Some models, like the quotation above, are based on an economic perspective, which depends on either tangible market values or proxies for them. Other valuation models list specific tangible or somewhat tangible values (e.g., Driver et al. 1987, Rolston and Coufal 1991, FEMAT 1993, Bengston 1994, Munasinghe and McNeely 1995, Rogers 1996, Forest Health Science Panel 1997). For example, the Forest Ecosystem Management Assessment Team (FEMAT 1993) described the following types of forest values:

- Commodity values—timber, range, minerals
- Amenity values—life style, scenery, wildlife
- Environmental quality values—air and water quality
- Ecological values—habitat conservation, biodiversity, threatened and endangered species
- Public use values—gathering, subsistence, recreation, tourism
- Spiritual values—sacred places
- Health-medicines
- Security—sense of social continuity and heritage (FEMAT 1993).

Other models incorporate a more philosophical approach to the ways humans value the environment (e.g., Merchant 1992, Manning et al. 1999, Parker et al. 2000). We look only at a limited set of tangible values in this chapter.

Determining the relative importance of values depends upon the ability to measure them, and therein lies a problem. Techniques for measuring some types of values are more developed and widely accepted than others. Commodity values, such as timber, are traded in the market place, and their value is usually quantified in monetary terms, or prices. This monetary or material worth is one of the common uses of the term "value." Ecological and environmental values are often quantified by describing the functions they serve. Public use and spiritual values are often quantified via surveys, rankings, and other social assessment techniques.

A second problem arises if one attempts to compare different types of values using a common metric because one does not readily exist. For example, attaching a price to the spiritual value of a particular place is not only methodologically difficult, but may be offensive to the sensibilities of some citizens (Bengston 1993).

Forest management has been called a "wicked problem" (Allen and Gould 1986) because it deals with competing values and views about resource allocation and use (Carroll et al. 1989). The question of what is valued in forests is crucial in the process of choosing between values, and ultimately, through the selection of appropriate criteria to be used in defining values, in determining how resource values are distributed among potential recipients (Bradley 1984). A broad array of disciplinary perspectives and methods—both quantitative and qualitative—is required to increase our understanding of all of the values of forests (Bengston and Xu 1995).

### 2.2. Social Values

The paradox is that those social values for which our ability to define and measure is poorest, are the very ones that appear to be of increasing importance in our society (FEMAT 1993:VII-33).

Foresters can probably manage for whatever values the public wants—but the current problem lies in achieving a consensus for what those values are (Gregg 1992:17).

**2.2.1.** Value Orientations. Individuals view the world differently. A particular perspective can be called an orientation, worldview, or paradigm, but regardless of what it is called it is a dominant belief structure that organizes the way people perceive and interpret the functioning of the world around them (Brown and Harris 1992). A person's perspective on the environment is based on her or his fundamental beliefs about the relationship between nature and humanity, other species' rights, humanity's right to change or manipulate nature, and society's responsibility to future generations (Kempton et al. 1995).

Value orientations regarding the natural environment have been categorized as a continuum with two ends-an anthropocentric (or utilitarian) end and a biocentric (or ecosystem) end (Brown and Harris 1992, Shindler et al. 1993). An anthropocentric perspective is a human-centered orientation toward the nonhuman world and thus gives a central position in these relationships to humans, human needs, and human satisfaction. Moreover, it assumes the nonhuman part of the environment is material to be used by humans as they see fit, which means that the environment is defined in terms of the resources it provides to humans rather than to other species. The nonhuman world is viewed as a storehouse of resources and is considered to have instrumental value only (Steel et al. 1994).

A biocentric perspective on nature does not give primacy to human wants and desires. Instead, it is a "nature centered" or "ecocentered" orientation. The biocentric view elevates the requirements and values of all natural organisms, species, and ecosystems to center stage and, in some versions, holistic views of the earth or nature become moral considerations. The biocentric orientation does not deny that human desires and human values are important, but places them in a larger natural or ecological context. In addition, it assumes that environmental objects have an inherent as well as instrumental worth. Adherents to biocentrism value the nonhuman world for its own sake rather than for only the sake of its utility to humans (Steel et al. 1994). The biocentric view is what many people characterize as environmentalism.

Some researchers have identified an anti-environmental view that lies beyond the anthropocentric end of the spectrum. The anti-environmental view suggests that the natural world is evil and dangerous, and needs to be conquered by humans. Sometimes this view is associated with particular Judeo-Christian beliefs, however this association has been refuted in a study of religion and environmental ethics in the southern United States (Parker et al. 2000). Although a perception exists that some individuals and groups hold an anti-environmental viewpoint, there is no evidence that people inhabiting the western states are more anti-environmental than people from elsewhere (Nie 1999).

Different value orientations toward nature are reflected in different views about forest management. People with more anthropocentric orientations tend to approach forest management with a utilitarian or resource conservation perspective that forests should be used for the betterment of humankind. Economic rationales and utilitarian social benefits dominate such thinking about forests (Steel et al. 1994). People with more biocentric orientations view human economic uses and benefits as not necessarily the most important uses of forests. There are noneconomic values and inherent values in forests that are just as distinctive as, and in some cases, more significant than, economic ones. In matters of human management, these values are to be equally respected and preserved even if they conflict with human-centered values (Steel et al. 1994). People with a more biocentric orientation are more likely to oppose traditional forest management practices than those with a more anthropocentric orientation (Steel et al. 1994).

The biocentric/anthropocentric spectrum of orientations toward nature has been reflected in resource management history for more than 100 years (see, e.g., Norton 1991, Cronon 1995, Callicott and Nelson 1998). The orientations are reflected in public resource management agency culture and actions (see, e.g., Hays 1959, Wellman 1987).

Because anthropocentric and biocentric viewpoints represent ends of a spectrum of values, individuals can have values that occur anywhere along it. Individuals can hold a mix of values that conflict with each other (Hays 1988). Such people may not be readily labeled as either anthropocentric or biocentric (Shindler et al. 1993).

Different segments of the public may hold different values. Values may vary by geographic area (e.g., Manning et al. 1999, Parker et al. 2000) or by professional training. For example, professional forestry literature expresses different values than mainstream environmental group literature, and environmental group literature expresses different values than mainstream news media (Bengston and Xu 1995). Scientists, administrators, and lay people have expressed differences in their environmental values (Kempton et al. 1995).

People's views on the sustainability of timber harvesting are affected not only by values, but also by perceptions and beliefs about the existing state of the forest and the consequences of actions affecting it (Harris, review comments). For example, in a survey of U.S. Forest Service employees, Brown and Harris (1998) found that respondent's beliefs about the resiliency of ecosystems to human actions were correlated with employee's anthropocentric/ biocentric orientation.

It should be noted that the anthropocentric/ biocentric spectrum is a Euro-American construct (Carroll, review comments). Although differences exist between tribes, in general, the American Indian worldview sees the land as simply home to people and all other organisms (see, e.g., Standing Bear 1933, Callicott 1983). Some evidence exists that American Indians view the natural world in a more spiritual and holistic manner than other Americans (Jostad et al. 1996), but debate exists as to how American Indian orientation towards the environment has translated into management of resources. The icon of the "ecological Indian" is ingrained in American culture-both Euro-American and American Indian. However, some historical perspectives question this stereotype (Krech 1999).

#### 2.2.2. Values Shift.

The widespread and intense debate reflects a new public conception of the purpose of forests in America. While the old view emphasized forests as sources of commodities such as timber, water, minerals, and rangeland, the new emphasizes forests as human environments that can be managed for the enjoyment of human life. Although commodities still play an important role in that enjoyment, a new set of values, emphasizing the benefits of natural environments, now play an increasingly important role in defining the American standard of living (Hays 1988:517).

In addition to traditional forest-based commodities (timber, water, wildlife, forage), society increasingly values forests for such things as age, absence of human disturbance, biological diversity, and their role in regulating and mitigating climate change. Many of these newly emphasized values depend on an intact forest rather than on products, such as timber, that can be removed. It is important to recognize that these 'new' emphases are, at their core, still utilitarian and therefore in keeping with the traditions of forest management. But forest managers are understandably frustrated by the challenge of balancing and satisfying these diverse and often mutually exclusive expectations (Brooks and Grant 1992:25).

Since the 1960s, people in the U.S. have had an increasingly positive orientation toward environmentalism (Dunlap and Scarce 1991, Dunlap 1992, Bosso 1994). Environmentalism goes deeper than just opinion or attitude to core values and fundamental beliefs about the world (Kempton et al. 1995). Public attitudes toward natural resource use also have shifted, and research suggests that the long-dominant utilitarian and anthropocentric management paradigm is becoming more environmentally oriented and biocentric (Brown and Harris 1992, Shindler et al. 1993, Brunson and Steel 1994).

Forest values have shifted away from easily defined and measured economic or utilitarian values, and toward values that are much more difficult to measure such as "life support value" that have often been neglected or ignored (Bengston and Xu 1995). This shift in values is manifested in a new, more biocentric or holistic resource management paradigm emerging in the ranks of professionals in the U.S. Forest Service (Brown and Harris 1992). In 2000, this shift can be evidenced in new planning regulations elevating ecological sustainability and a national forest roadless area protection policy.

2.2.3. National Attitudes Towards Forest Management. The evolution in forest values involves increased diversity in the values various groups hold regarding forest resources and, therefore, increased complexity in demands placed on forest resources (Carroll et al. 1989). There is no consensus on how forests should be managed, and this is one reason why the public debate about the future of America's forest is so intense. For example, a poll by the citizen conservation group American Forests found that 52% of American voters favored managing forests, and 40% favored letting nature take her course (Smith and Clark 1994). To 47% of the respondents, managing forests includes logging on national forests, though a nearly equal number (44%) oppose timber harvests on national forests. Nationally 55% of respondents oppose more road building while 40% favor it (Smith and Clark 1994). Although a lack of consensus at the national level is evident, in 2000 new planning regulations make timber harvest in national forests more difficult, and a roadless area protection policy removes more than 50 million acres of national forests, or one-third of the system lands, from development consideration.

## 2.3. Forest Values in Idaho

What forest values are important to the people of Idaho? Unfortunately, there has not been an extensive, systematic research effort to look at forest or environmental values only for Idahoans. The research that exists either looks at a broader or more select group of people or does not probe deeply into values. Much of the research analyzes attitudes or opinions that are built upon values but may not be as deeply held (see McCool et al. 1997). Following is a summary of the limited research that has been done.

2.3.1. Environmental Protection and Economic

Development. Since 1990, the Survey Research Center at Boise State University has conducted an annual Idaho Public Policy Survey of a random sample of Idaho residents addressing various policy issues, including environmental issues. Although the survey does not specifically address forest values, opinions about environmental policy may reflect underlying values about the environment and forests. Almost half (49%) of Idahoans feel emphasis in the development and management of Idaho's natural resources should be placed on the environment rather than on making the economy grow. About one third (33%) opt for making the economy grow over the environment. About one in six respondents (17%) think the emphasis should be placed on both goals (Scudder and Willmorth 1995). This question has been asked in every Idaho Public Policy Survey, with similar results (Moncrief 1994).

Idahoans are almost evenly split on how the amount now being spent on environmental protection should be changed. One third believe it should be increased, one third favor maintaining current levels, and one third believe it should be decreased (Scudder and Willmorth 1995). Also, Idahoans are almost evenly split between agreement (43%) and disagreement (45%) that environmental protections should be continued regardless of the cost (Scudder and Willmorth 1995). With such a split in public opinion, it is no wonder that environmental issues in Idaho are contentious.

2.3.2. Recreation and Timber Harvesting. In 1997, 77% of Idahoans agreed that timber harvesting is an appropriate use of a national forest (Scudder et al. 1998). In 1992, 62% of Idahoans approved of timber harvesting on public land (Raymond 1993). The 1997 survey found that 41% of Idahoans agreed that recreation uses should take preference over resource extraction activities on federal lands in Idaho; 52% disagreed (Scudder et al. 1998). A 1998 poll by Mason-Dixon Political/Media Research found that 47% of Idahoans believed there was too much emphasis on recreation and tourism on public lands, while 28% felt that there was too much emphasis on logging, mining, and grazing (Barker 1998). Most Idahoans appear to believe that timber harvesting is an appropriate use of public forests.

2.3.3. Federal Land Management. Much of the recent work on environmental and forest values in Idaho was done as part of the federal Interior Columbia Basin Ecosystem Management Project (ICBEMP). All of Idaho, except for the Bear River Valley in the southeastern corner of the state, is included in this region-wide assessment, along with the eastern parts of Oregon and Washington, and western Montana. When asked what the three most important factors concerning the future of public lands in the interior Columbia River basin (including Idaho) were, basin residents reported: resources for future generations, ecological health, and quality place to live (McCool et al. 1997). However, more basin residents reported timber production, livestock grazing, and economic opportunity as one of their top choice than did members of a national sample (McCool et al. 1997).

A majority of interior Columbia River basin residents agreed with the following views on federal land management policies: local communities should be given highest priority in decision-making (51%), endangered species laws should be altered to maintain timber and ranching jobs (53%), and greater protection should be given to fish (54%) and wildlife habitat (54%). Forty percent or more agreed that the survival of timber workers and their families is more important than preservation of old growth forests (42%), more wilderness should be established (40%), and greater efforts should be made to protect rare plant communities (42%). Only 15% of respondents agreed that insect outbreaks should be allowed to run their natural course (Trent 1995).

In a survey of residents of 8 selected counties within the 100 county interior Columbia River basin region, Rudzitis et al. (1995) found that the four most important ways federal land should be managed were to protect water/watersheds (20% of respondents), protect ecosystems (18%), recreational uses (17%), and timber harvesting (16%). By collapsing the categories of land management into either protective or commodity-based categories, protective strategies accounted for 75% of the responses, with commodity-based strategies making up the remaining 25% (Rudzitis et al. 1995).

2.3.4. Forest Management and Timber Industry. In 1992 and 1997, the Idaho Forest Products Commission—a quasi-state agency with an education mission, funded largely by forest products manufacturing company dues—sponsored a survey of Idaho residents to find out their attitudes about forest management and the forest products industry (IFPC 1992, IFPC 1997). When asked what was the most important environmental issue facing Idaho, the most frequent response (after "don't know") was water quality (19% in 1992, 16% in 1997). Only 2% in 1992 and 6% in 1997 identified the timber industry and logging as the most important issue. Timber harvesting can affect water quality, but the most salient issue to people was water quality itself.

In 1997, respondents were asked to rate the importance of various uses of Idaho's public forests. Source of clean water was rated most important, followed by fish and wildlife habitat, jobs, recreation, source of wood products, and monies for schools and roads (IFPC 1997).

In 1997, 75% of respondents thought that the term "forest management" brought forth positive connotations, and 83% believed that public forests benefit from management (IFPC 1997). In the 1992 survey, when asked what one concern they had about forest management in Idaho, one-third of respondents had no concern or did not know. Over-cutting (12%), lack of reforestation (10%), and clear-cutting (8%) were the most frequently named

concerns (IFPC 1992). In the 1997 survey, when asked what the most negative aspect of the forest products industry was, 25% did not know and 21% answered clearcutting/stripping of trees/cutting too many trees. The most positive aspects of the forest products industry included: employment (23%), products (15%), and income (12%) (IFPC 1997).

In 1997, when asked about the current level of timber harvest, 55% of respondents believed it should be maintained, 16% believed it should be increased, and 21% believed it should be reduced (IFPC 1997). These are almost identical to the 1992 findings (IFPC 1992).

In the 1992 survey, when asked about the future role of the timber industry in Idaho, 37% of respondents believed the industry would maintain its current level of importance. Almost an equal number of respondents believed that the industry would decrease in importance (28%) and increase in importance (27%) (IFPC 1992). In the 1997 survey, when asked to rate the importance of various industries to Idaho's overall economy, 60% of respondents rated the timber industry as important, but it ranked behind tourism and recreation (IFPC 1997). (Economic values associated with recreation are addressed in section 2.4.3. Recreation.)

**2.3.5. Residential Differences in Values.** One often hears debate about whether the values of those living in rural areas are different than those in urban areas and whether newcomers are different from long-time residents (see Fortman and Kusel 1990). McBeth and Foster (1994) found that rural Idahoans care about clean and abundant water, clean air, and open spaces. Although newcomers to Idaho expressed stronger environmental attitudes than long-time residents, both groups valued the quality of their environment (McBeth and Foster 1994).

**2.3.6.** *Differences Between National and Local Values.* In Idaho, it is particularly relevant to look at differences between national and local values because of the large amount of federally administered land in Idaho. Both local and national values are supposed to be taken into account in managing Idaho's national forests.

National and regional constituencies may place differing values on forests (Shindler et al. 1993, Brunson et al. 1994, Steel et al. 1994). No studies have compared only Idaho to national values, but several studies have looked at neighboring states or included Idaho as part of a larger, regional study. Researchers used an array of statements classified into "commodity-based orientation" (anthropocentric) and "ecosystem-based orientation" (biocentric) to look at attitudes towards federal forest management in Oregon and nationwide (Shindler et al. 1993). They found that Oregonians were more supportive of commodity-based management than the public nationwide, but ecosystem-based orientation still received more support than commoditybased management. The difference was in the intensity of support rather than the direction (Shindler et al. 1993).

Although respondents to a survey in Oregon tended toward ecosystem-based orientation, a majority of respondents agreed that forest resources can be improved through human management (Steel et al. 1994). Also, respondents who depended on the timber industry for their economic livelihood were significantly less likely to have biocentric value orientations than their non-timber-dependent counterparts (Steel et al. 1994). The researchers hypothesized that Oregonians attitudes may be different from national attitudes because of the number of people employed, the visibility of forest management issues, and identification with the natural resource extraction culture and industry (Steel et al. 1994). Because both Oregon and Idaho are among the top three states in the percentage of labor income derived from forest products manufacturing (Keegan et al. 1997), the same relationship may hold in Idaho.

Brunson et al. (1994) used much the same questionnaire and techniques as Shindler et al. (1993) to assess attitudes in the Interior Columbia River Basin, including Idaho, and nationally. Again, eastside residents were slightly more likely to express anthropocentric attitudes than the national sample, but it was a matter of degree not broad philosophical disagreement (Brunson et al. 1994). In relation to federal land management, eastside respondents tended to favor economic over environmental concerns, whereas national respondents tended to favor environmental over economic concerns. "It is important to note, however, that even in the eastern Columbia Basin there are a substantial number of citizens who favor environmental protection, just as a substantial number of persons nationally lean toward economic protection" (Brunson et al. 1994:15).

**2.3.7.** *Public Opinion vs. Public Judgment.* The preceding survey results suggest that Idahoans, like most Americans, express positive opinions about

many forest values—timber products, clean water, wildlife habitat, recreation, and aesthetic beauty, among others. The percentage of the population expressing those opinions varies depending on the wording of questions and what alternatives or tradeoffs are included. Idahoans' values appear to be somewhat more commodity-oriented than the nation as a whole.

Surveys of public opinion have limitations as tools for public policymaking, however (Yankelovich 1991). Opinions may not be as deeply held as values and thus more subject to change. Surveys also do not tell us much about the salience of issues. For example, the large number of "don't know" answers in the Idaho Forest Products Commission surveys (1992, 1997) suggests that forest management may not be at the forefront of people's daily concerns. Survey questions also tend to be general and do not ask about specific places and actions. Surveys do not allow for in-depth exploration of alternative policies and their consequences.

Yankelovich (1991) has suggested that public policymaking might improve if "public judgment" were to replace public opinion. Public judgment exhibits "more thoughtfulness, more weighing of alternatives, more genuine engagement with the issue, more taking into account a wide variety of factors than ordinary public opinion as measured in opinion polls" (Yankelovich 1991:5). He suggests a three-step process to reach public judgment of "consciousness raising, working through, and resolution." If a public judgment process could be designed and implemented, perhaps the contentiousness of forest management issues could be reduced. However, processes for determining "public judgment" of sustainable forest management ends and means have not been devised.

### 2.4. Economic Values of Idaho Forests

Economics is the study of the way people, both individually and collectively, allocate resources. Economics is one way to describe how people make decisions about their well-being, or welfare. Economic theory assumes that people make allocation decisions based on the value resources have to them, and that the goal of each person is to maximize his or her welfare. Economic studies usually quantify value in terms of money and welfare in terms of income and jobs. Although these measures have their shortcomings, they nevertheless provide a common approximation of value. **2.4.1.** *Wood Products.* The term "wood products," "forest products" and "timber products" are often used synonymously. These terms describe products that are made from the wood of the boles (trunks) of trees. These products include lumber, plywood and other wood-based panels, and paper and paper products.

Estimates of the amount of wood products consumed only by people in Idaho are not available; however, estimates are available for the entire United States. Since 1965 consumption of wood has risen from about 13 billion cubic feet to 20 billion cubic feet in 1998 and is projected to continue to rise (Figure 2-1) (Haynes et al. 1995, Howard 1999). Per capita consumption of wood has risen from 68 cubic feet/person to 74 cubic feet/person over the same period. Projections for the consumption of wood products are based on population, personal income, and overall economic activity, all of which are expected to continue to increase (Haynes et al. 1995).

Idaho's consumption of wood probably will follow the pattern of consumption for the rest of the U.S., perhaps growing even more rapidly. One reason is that Idaho's population is growing faster than the rest of the nation. Between 1990 and 1996, the population of Idaho grew 17.5%, well above the national 6.4% increase (Idaho Dept. of Labor 1997).

The forest products industry manufactures wood and paper products and historically has been and continues to be a significant part of Idaho's economy. (For a complete descriptive analysis, see Keegan et al. 1997, with some updated statistics in Keegan et al. 2000). Idaho's primary and secondary



Figure 2-1. Estimated consumption of timber products in the U.S., 1965-1997, and projection of consumption, 1998-2040.

Sources: Haynes et al. (1995), Howard (1999).

forest products industry posted sales exceeding \$2.4 billion in 1995 (Keegan et al. 1997). The forest products industry contributed approximately 12% of Idaho's gross state product in 1987 (Robison et al. 1991). Only agriculture (21%) and food processing (15%) contributed a larger share. However, the forest products industry is not spread evenly throughout the state. In 1987, in northern Idaho, the forest products industry contributed almost 45% of the region's gross product, while in southern Idaho it contributed only 4% (Robison et al. 1991).

In 1995, a total of 149 primary forest products plants operated in 29 of Idaho's 44 counties. Total sales in the Idaho primary forest products industry (i.e., lumber, plywood, and paper) were about \$1.55 billion in 1995. In 1995, the 62 sawmills in Idaho used about 75% of the timber harvested in the state and produced about 1.7 billion board feet of lumber and other sawn products (Keegan et al. 1997).

Since 1954 lumber production in Idaho has ranged between 1.5 and 2.0 million board feet per year, except for three brief downturn periods (Figure 2-2). Idaho has consistently produced 5 to 6% of all softwood lumber manufactured in the U.S. (WWPA annual, 1962-1996).

In 1999, the forests product industry accounted for about 19,750 jobs in Idaho (Keegan et al. 2000). The industry provides about 10% of all basic industry employment in Idaho (Keegan et al. 1997). Employment in the forest products industry in Idaho has varied over the last 30 years, with a peak at about 22,700 jobs in 1979 and lows of about 15,400 in 1970 and 16,000 in 1982 (Figure 2-3).

The types of jobs within the forest products industry have been changing, too. The primary forest products industry, which produces products



Figure 2-2. Volume of lumber produced in Idaho, 1954-1996, and estimated wholesale value 1967-1996.



Figure 2-3. Idaho forest industry employment, 1969-1996

Source: Keegan et al. (1997).

directly from trees—lumber, plywood, pulp, paperboard, poles, etc.—experienced a decrease of 2,200 workers, or 13%, between 1990 and 1995. However, the secondary forest products industry—which uses the output of the primary industry to make items such as doors and windows, prefabricated buildings, containers, and furniture—has grown from 3,500 workers in 1990 to 5,800 workers in 1995, an increase of 66% (Keegan et al. 1997).

Forest industry labor income from 1993 through 1996 averaged \$893 million. The industry accounts for about 16% of all basic industry income in Idaho. Idaho's forest products industry is a relatively highwage industry, averaging \$43,500 per worker in annual labor income in 1996, compared to \$27,600 for all basic industries in Idaho (Keegan et al. 1997). 2.4.2. Non-timber Forest Products. People consume other products from forests besides wood. Many of the other uses of trees and forest plants have been termed "special forest products," or more recently, "non-timber forest products." Non-timber forest products include cones, boughs, wildflowers, herbs, berries, mosses, mushrooms, nuts, burls, bark, and other parts of the flora of the forest (Schnepf 1992, USFS & BLM 1994*a*, Freed 1995). These products are used for food, aromatics, basket making, decorative greenery, dyes, spices, flavorings, medicinals, and a variety of others uses (Schnepf 1992, Thomas and Schumann 1993, USFS 1993*a*).

Although people have been collecting and using non-timber forest products for thousands of years, only recently have researchers begun to gather information about the economic characteristics of these activities (Schnepf 1994, Savage 1995, Schlosser and Blatner 1995, Schlosser et al. 1995, Schlosser and Blatner 1997). The non-timber forest products industries are increasing in economic magnitude throughout the northwestern U.S. (Savage 1995). Schlosser et al. (1995) focused on the Northern Rockies, including northeastern Washington, northern Idaho, and northwestern Montana. Although non-timber forest products industries are smaller in this region than in the coastal regions of Oregon and Washington, they still provide some employment and income, and researchers believe that the potential for growth exists (Schlosser et al. 1995).

Information specific to Idaho was found in one study of the wild edible mushroom industry (Schlosser and Blatner 1995). In 1992 nearly half a million pounds of mushrooms per year were harvested from Idaho's forests, and 170,000 pounds were processed within the state (Schlosser and Blatner 1995). The total value of the mushroom industry in Idaho that year was \$1.6 million (Schlosser and Blatner 1995).

**2.4.3.** *Recreation.* Recreation is another forest "product" that receives much attention. Although not all outdoor recreation is forest-based, much of it is, and even activities that may not take place directly in the forest are dependent on forests. For example, fishing takes place in streams, rivers, and lakes, and forests help control the quantity and quality of water in forested watersheds.

A word of caution is warranted about the estimates of recreation visitation presented in this section. Several researchers have questioned the reliability of these estimates, particularly those made by the U.S. Forest Service (see Schallau et al. 1998). For example, most estimates for wilderness visitation are based on "observation and 'best guesses," and in 1989, only 13 percent of U.S. Forest Service wilderness areas used systematic counts to estimate visitation (Cole 1996). More accurate and consistent recreation visitation data are needed (see Loomis 2000).

Although no estimates for consumption of all forest-based recreation in all of Idaho exist, several sources provide useful pieces of information. The Interior Columbia Basin Ecosystem Management Project (1997) said that 80% of Idahoans reported hiking or camping in the past year and 56% reported fishing or hunting. In 1991, 77% of Idaho residents reported participating in wildlife-associated recreation (e.g., hunting, fishing, birdwatching), which often takes place or is dependent on forests (USFWS & USBOC 1993). In 1995, an estimated 14.5 million recreation visitor days took place on national forests in Idaho, up from 9 million in 1976 (Figure 2-4).

Consumption of forest-based recreation has been increasing and is expected to continue to do so (Cordell et al. 1990). One projection estimated a tripling of demand for recreation trips in the Rocky Mountain region between 1987 and 2040 (English et al. 1993).

Determining the economic value of forest-based recreation is not an easy task. Unlike timber, which is sold in the market place and its value imputed from its price, much forest-based recreation, particularly on public lands, is provided at no direct cost to the consumer. While consumers may pay taxes, incur travel expenses, and purchase equipment, for many activities entrance fees or prices that reflect the value of the activity are not charged.

Economists have taken several approaches to estimating the economic value of recreation (see, e.g., van Kooten 1995, Swanson and Loomis 1996, Loomis and Walsh 1997). It is beyond the scope of this report to debate the technical merits of these approaches, except to say they are controversial, but we will provide some examples of results.

One approach is to measure the monetary transactions (spending and income) that are related to recreation. Recreation and leisure travel ranks fourth—behind agriculture, food processing, and wood products—among natural-resource-based industries in terms of the proportion of Idaho's income produced (Harris and Robison 1992). The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service and U.S. Bureau of the Census (1993) estimate that residents and non-residents spent \$206 million in 1991 on trip-related expenditures for wildlife-related recreation in Idaho. Many species of wildlife depend on forests.

Another study found that non-resident rafters on the Middle Fork of the Salmon River spent an average of \$1,284 within the state of Idaho (English and Bowker 1996). Each 1,000 outfitted trips involving non-residents created \$2.2 million in total industrial output (the market value of goods and services produced), \$1.2 million in income, and 55 jobs. At 1992 trip levels, this accounted for \$9.7 million in industrial output, \$5.2 million in total income, \$5.8 million in value added, and 238 jobs (English and Bowker 1996). While not all of this income and spending is directly related to forests, the Middle Fork of the Salmon flows through a forested watershed that affects the water quality, aesthetic quality, and the overall recreational experience.



Figure 2-4. Recreation visitor-days on national forests in Idaho, FY 1976-1995.

Source: USFS (annual, 1976 to 1996).

Note: A recreation visitor-day (RVD) is 12 hours of visitation by one or more persons.

Another approach to determining the economic value of recreation involves determining the value of the recreation experience above the expenses incurred, or the "net" economic value. Many recreation opportunities, particularly on public lands, are provided at little or no charge to the recreationist other than the cost of getting to the recreation site. Yet, people value these experiences and would be willing to pay more for them. The difference between what they actually pay and their "willingness to pay" is the net economic value. In the mid-1980s, the U.S. Forest Service published a series of studies that valued many types of wildlife-associated recreation in Idaho (Donnelly et al. 1985, Loomis et al. 1985, Sorg et al. 1985, Sorg and Nelson 1986, Donnelly and Nelson 1986, Young et al. 1987, Sorg and Nelson 1987).

As an example, Sorg and Nelson (1986) found fishing valued at \$21 to \$27 per day. If these values remained unchanged in 1991 when more than 3 million days of fishing took place in Idaho (USFWS & USBOC 1993), the net economic value of fishing would be \$66 to \$85 million for that year.

**2.4.4. Other Economic Values.** We have barely scratched the surface of what the total economic value of forests in Idaho might be. Studies to determine the economic value of the environmental services of forests at large scales have only recently been undertaken (e.g., Randall et al. 1990, Costanza et al. 1997) and face many methodological problems. Determination of economic values and the contribution of nonmarket products of forests continues to be a ripe area for research inquiry.

2.4.5. Growth and Development. In addition to questions about the value of various products from forests, broader questions exist about how these values fit into the overall economic and social structure of Idaho. What are the roles of forests, and the various resources we get from forests, in the growth and development of Idaho? For many years, resource extraction has been a primary source of economic and social development. For example, local economies were built around sawmills and other wood product manufacturing facilities. Social structures developed around these "timber towns." But just as the array of values people expect from forests is changing, so is the array of forest values that contribute to economic growth and social development.

There seem to be two viewpoints on the role of forests in economic development. One view is based on the traditional "resource extraction" model, the other is the "quality of life" model. There are important policy debates conducted over which of these models is appropriate. The PAG has undertaken a project to report on these issues at a later date.

## 2.5. Importance of "Place"

It is easy to talk in generalities about people valuing forests for timber, wildlife, recreation, scenery, and other attributes, but often what is important to people are specific forests or areas within forests, i.e., "places." Over the last decade, research has begun to explore how and why people value, care about, and become attached to particular places. "Place," "place attachment," and "sense of place" are all terms used for concepts in this field of research (Williams and Stewart 1998, Walsh 2000).

In the research literature, a "place" is a geographic area that has meaning to people. It is through the mental construct of place that people relate to and understand a geographic area (Kaltenborn 1997, Galliano and Loeffler 1999). A place is a collection of meanings, beliefs, symbols, values, and feelings that individuals or groups associate with a particular locality (Williams and Stewart 1998). Sense of place refers to the connections people have with the land, their perceptions of the relationships between themselves and a place, and is a holistic concept that encompasses symbolic and emotional aspects (Brandenburg and Carroll 1995, Kaltenborn 1997, Galliano and Loeffler 1999, Eisenhauer et al. 2000).

Research studies that have generalized people's concerns about forest uses or focused solely on

economic considerations have not been sufficient for understanding public perceptions of forest management decisions and actions. Those approaches need to be supplemented with considerations of sense of place and other social phenomena to better comprehend factors that influence reactions to management actions (Mitchell et al. 1993, Williams and Patterson 1996, Williams and Stewart 1998, Eisenhauer et al. 2000). Policies based on substitutability will not be acceptable to users because of the nature of their connections with places regarded as special (Eisenhauer et al. 2000).

Resource managers are just beginning to recognize the importance and impact of attachment to place in forest planning and management (Williams et al. 1992). Attachments to places heighten concerns about their management (Eisenhauer et al. 2000). Exploring the concept of "place" can be useful to forest managers offering them a way to anticipate, identify, and respond to the bonds people form with places (Williams et al. 1992, Mitchell et al. 1993, Williams and Stewart 1998, Eisenhauer et al. 2000).

Idaho has many special places, and we are just beginning to understand people's attachment to them. This may be one reason arguments about timber harvesting and forest management are so passionate. Although we often use generalities in this report, as a statewide analytical scope requires, the reader should bear in mind that it is specific places in the forest that people care about upon which generalizations are built.

## 2.6. Conclusions

How important is the timber harvesting issue in Idaho? The answer depends on how importance is measured. In this chapter, we looked at social and economic values as measures of importance. People value forests in Idaho for many reasons, and timber harvesting has the potential to affect those values. Timber for wood products has value, but people also value forests for less tangible things such as recreation, scenic beauty, and solitude. Some values can be measured better than others, and some can be expressed in monetary terms. We have reported on many of those values here. However, the values that are difficult to measure and cannot be expressed monetarily may be just as important as those we can. To move towards sustainable forest management, we need to increase our understanding of all forest values and how they are affected by timber harvesting.

# Chapter 3. What is the timber situation in Idaho's forests?

As **Chapter 2** emphasizes, the forests of Idaho produce many products and services that people value, and one of those products is timber. Because a focus of this report is the sustainability of timber harvesting, this chapter provides basic information about Idaho's timber resources. Given that there are millions of acres and billions of trees, quantitative data can become numbingly abstract, especially when presented in tabular formats. We use charts and graphs to illustrate key analytical points.

Most of the statistics presented herein are based on the periodic forest inventory conducted by the U.S. Forest Service. These basic statistics have been collected at irregular intervals since 1952. With appropriate caution these data are used to describe trends in forest conditions. We summarize these trends somewhat like an earlier PAG report on forest health conditions in Idaho (PAG Report #11, O'Laughlin et al. 1993). In section **3.4. Sustaining Healthy Forests** we update the concepts and data associated with forest conditions in Idaho since the PAG's 1993 work.

## 3.1. Timberland Base

Approximately 22.3 million of the 53.5 million acres in Idaho are classified as forest land, i.e., land at least 10% stocked with trees (see Glossary). About 21.4 million acres of the forest land in Idaho are classified as timberland, i.e., forest land where at least 10% of the trees are those traditionally harvested for industrial wood products (Brown and Chojnacky 1996). Almost 4 million acres of timberland (18%) are reserved, i.e., withdrawn from timber harvesting by statute, specifically the Wilderness Act. Timber harvesting is not prevented by law on the remaining 17.6 million acres (82%) of timberland. However, administrative designation in 2000 of approximately 9 million acres of national forests in Idaho as protected roadless areas removes at least 2 million acres of undeveloped timberland from timber harvesting (from data in PAG Report #11, O'Laughlin et al. 1993, Table 1-2). Throughout the remainder of this chapter, "timberland" will be used to refer to the non-reserved timberland that existed in the last statewide inventory statistics published by the U.S. Forest Service (see Brown and Chojnacky 1996).

More than 14 million acres (81%) of timberland in Idaho are in public ownership (Table 3-1). Al-

most 13 million acres (73%) of timberland are in the National Forest System that is managed by the U.S. Forest Service. Other public agencies own 9%; much of that is state of Idaho timberlands (5%). Forest industry owns 7%, and other private entities own 11% of the timberlands (Table 3-1).

A look at the trend in timberland acreage reveals that it has remained relatively constant since 1952 (Figure 3-1), but it also illustrates a problem with looking back at previous inventories. From 1952 until 1970, timberland acreage remained at about 15 million acres. By 1977 that figure had dropped slightly, to 13.5 million acres, not because of reduced areas covered with trees, but because of administrative withdrawals, such as wilderness study areas, that reduced the amount of non-reserved land.

The increase of 3.1 million acres in timberland between 1987 (14.5 million acres) and 1991 (17.6 million acres) is more difficult to explain. One reason is that the definition of timberland was made less restrictive in the Idaho Forests, 1991 analysis by the U.S. Forest Service (see Brown and Chojnacky 1996). That analysis relaxes the requirements for timberland. The standard definition of timberland used by the U.S. Forest Service is land capable of producing 20 or more cubic feet per acre per year (see Glossary). The redefinition of timberland by the Forest Service does not entirely explain the difference because, according to Brown and Chojnacky (1996), only 382,493 acres of non-productive (<20 cu.ft./acre/year) "timberland" exist in Idaho. Most of the three million acre difference in the 1987 and 1991 Forest Service reports cannot be explained. This does not surprise us. As careful students of public lands statistics, we have previously noted that the federal government has "lost" more than one million acres of federal land in Idaho in its statistical reports. This was a result of a 1988 Forest Service reporting error that has not yet been corrected in the Public Lands Statistics reports published periodically by the U.S. Department of the Interior-Bureau of Land Management.

## 3.2. Timber Inventories

One prerequisite to determining a sustainable timber harvest level is an adequate inventory of the timberland base (AFSEEE 1994, Van Deusen et al. 1999). It is not clear, however, that such data exist for the state of Idaho as a whole. Timber inventories tend to vary in their timeliness, accuracy, and usefulness because of the variety of ownerships of the timber

Table 3-1. Idaho timberland area by ownership, 1991.						
Ownership class	1,000 acres	percent				
Public						
National forest	12,808.5	72.7				
Other public						
Bureau of Land Management	522.3	3.0				
Miscellaneous federal	39.9	0.2				
State	968.3	5.5				
County and municipal	6.6	< 0.1				
Total other public	1,537.1	8.7				
Total public	14,345.6	81.4				
Private						
Tribal trust	93.8	0.5				
Forest Industry	1,239.5	7.0				
Other private	1,934.5	11.0				
Total private	3,267.8	18.6				
Total timberland area	17,613.3	100.0				

Source: Brown and Chojnacky (1996).



Figure 3-1. Idaho timberland area, 1952-1991.

Sources: Benson et al. (1987), Waddell (1992), Brown and Chojnacky (1996).

Table 3-2. Most recent inventory for Idaho national forests, as of 1996.				
National forest	Inventory date			
Idaho Panhandle N.F.	1988			
Clearwater N.F.	1991			
Nez Perce N.F.	1991			
Boise N.F.	1983			
Caribou N.F.	1993			
Challis N.F.	1974			
Payette N.F.	1991			
Salmon N.F.	1989			
Sawtooth N.F.	1981			
Targhee N.F.	1991			

Source: Brown and Chojnacky (1996).

resource and institutional arrangements between public owners.

Timber inventories are conducted by a variety of entities, depending upon land ownership. Non-industrial private forest owners may inventory their lands, but are not required to do so. Industrial forest owners usually keep an accurate and up-to-date inventory because the success of their industrial forestry operations as a source of fiber for manufacturing facilities depends on it. Industrial and nonindustrial private owners' inventories are private records; therefore, these owners can choose how much information to share with the public.

On state timberlands the Idaho Department of Lands (IDL) uses permanent plots located throughout its lands to conduct its timber inventory. These plots have been established for more than 30 years. In the past, state lands have been inventoried on a 10-year remeasurement cycle, but IDL is currently switching to a 5-year cycle. Each of the eight IDL supervisory areas in the state is responsible for its own inventory, but there is coordination and analysis at the state level (Ron Litz, personal communication).

The timber inventories for national forest lands we report herein were conducted by each national forest; however, the responsibility for conducting such forest-wide inventories is changing (see *3.2.3. New Directions for the Forest Inventory and Analysis (FIA) Program*). National forests were supposed to conduct forest-wide inventories at least every 10 years or as planning needs dictated (USFS 1992); however, the cycle has tended to be longer (Gillespie 1999b). In Idaho, the most current forest-wide inventory information for national forests is almost 10 years old, or in some cases, older (Table 3-2).

3.2.1. The Forest Inventory and Analysis (FIA) Unit of the U.S. Forest Service. The Forest Inventory and Analysis (FIA) program is a research work unit of the U.S. Forest Service. The FIA unit is responsible for collecting, analyzing, and reporting inventory information for all forest ownerships. This information is used by a variety of public agencies and private entities for planning at many levels (Gillespie 1999a, Van Deusen et al. 1999). The FIA's work program is designed to present a broadscale picture of forest resources, useful from the national scale down to areas of about 200,000 acres (Gillespie 1999b). The FIA's analysis is public information and provides the data base for the analysis in this chapter, most of which appears in the Forest Service report by Brown and Chojnacky (1996). A

convenient feature of the FIA program is the availability of the forest inventory database on the internet (see USFS 2000*a*).

Until 1998, the FIA program used its own sampling and inventory procedure for all ownerships, except national forests (USFS 1992). In the western U.S., including Idaho, the FIA relied on the national forests' own inventories. The FIA's remeasurement cycle was 10 years, with Idaho's most recent measurements in 1990 or 1991 (Brown and Chojnacky 1996). In 1998, the FIA program became responsible for inventory on all forest ownerships, including national forests, and set new targets for the remeasurement cycle (see *3.2.3. New Directions for the Forest Inventory and Analysis (FIA) Program*). However, the data we report herein are based on pre-1998 inventories.

The FIA had been criticized because its analyses relied on inventories conducted by individual national forests (Gillespie 1999b). Another criticism was that not enough attributes of the forest ecosystem were being measured; the variables were concentrated too much on the timber resource. Additionally, the FIA was criticized because sampling design varied between regions (Frayer and Furnival 1999). Timeliness of FIA information was also a concern (Van Deusen et al. 1999). In 1992, the Blue Ribbon Panel on Forest Inventory and Analysis proposed six high priority areas for improvement of the FIA work unit, including expanded information on ecosystem and noncommodity values; more emphasis on social impacts on forest productivity; a five-year inventory cycle; uniform inventory procedures for all ownerships; consistency between different FIA units: and enhanced coordination between the FIA and other public agencies (Blue Ribbon Panel 1992). A second Blue Ribbon Panel, convened in 1997, found the U.S. Forest Service had made little progress toward the priority areas set by the first panel (Blue Ribbon Panel 1998).

#### 3.2.2. Problems With Inventories of the National

*Forests*. The lack of timeliness and questions about accuracy have led many observers to question the usefulness of any and all national forest inventory data. National forests in Idaho are administered by two regions of the U.S. Forest Service: Region 1, the Northern Region, includes national forests in northern Idaho and Montana; and Region 4, the Intermountain Region, includes national forests in southern Idaho, Wyoming, Utah, and Nevada. The following critique emphasizes problems in Region 1, particularly in Montana, and may or may not be indicative of inventory problems in the national forests of Idaho.

Accurate inventories of national forest resources are required by the National Forest Management Act (NFMA, 16 U.S.C. § 1603). Work done by Montana researchers leads one to question whether the Forest Service has such information. In 1992, a study team was convened to assess the timber supply situation in Montana. The team included representatives from the University of Montana, the Montana Department of State Lands, and the U.S. Forest Service Intermountain Research Station. The study team was unable to reach any conclusion regarding the sustainability of harvest on national forest lands in Montana because existing inventory data for the national forests were inadequate (AFSEEE 1994, Jackson 1994).

One problem appears to have been that the Forest Service was unable, or perhaps unwilling, to separate inventory data on lands identified as "suitable for timber production," a requirement of the NFMA, from information about all its lands. There were indications by regional staff that inventory data had been lost (Jackson 1994). In addition, the Montana study team was working with data based on field work that was two decades old. Although the plot data were updated in 1990, methods of updating were not documented (Jackson 1994).

Problems with national forest inventories are not confined to Region 1. In an October 1992 memo from the Washington office to regional foresters, a Forest Service official noted that "some western Regions were unable to provide adequate data to meet regional and national needs for forest growth, mortality, and forest health information" (Jackson 1994, quoting George Leonard). The memo directed regional foresters to initiate a new timber inventory that would allow the agency to examine timber trend information (Jackson 1994).

In a different study, Yanishevsky (1994) noted that the Forest Service has failed to develop comprehensive, reliable old-growth inventories. Without inventories of old-growth habitat at the landscape level, it is impossible to analyze the cumulative effects of timber management. The Forest Service typically prepares old-growth maps only for specific analysis areas, and only when a timber sale is proposed (Yanishevsky 1994). An exception is the Idaho Panhandle National Forest, which has fieldverified a substantial portion of old-growth stands;

Table 3-3. Standard sampling error for growing stock on non-reserved timberland in Idaho.						
	National forestOther ownersTotal					
Attribute	Percent standard error					
Net volume, 1991	1.8	3.5	1.6			
Annual mortality, 1990	5.3	8.5	4.5			
Net annual growth, 1990	3.3	4.6	2.7			

Source: Brown and Chojnacky (1996).

however, the proportion varies among ranger districts (Yanishevsky 1994).

3.2.3. New Directions for the Forest Inventory and Analysis (FIA) Program. In 1998, Congress recognized the shortcomings of the FIA forest inventory data and passed legislation requiring a more timely and thorough forest inventory for every state (Public Law 105-185, Agricultural Research, Extension, and Education Reform Act of 1998, § 253 (c)). Public pressure helped create this mandate for change (Van Duesen et al. 1999). The law requires the implementation of an annual forest inventory system. A wider array of data is to be collected on 20% of all plots in every state every year. Reports for each state are to be produced at five year intervals (USFS 1998, Gillespie 1999a). The U.S. Forest Service has developed a strategic plan for implementing the law and estimates the cost of the new program to be \$82 million per year (USFS 1998). For comparison, the total funding available for the FIA program in FY 1999 was \$28 million (USFS 2000a).

The revamped FIA program integrates the former FIA program with the field portion of the Forest Health Monitoring program. This will increase efficiency by eliminating duplication between these programs and will deliver a more integrated, easy-to-use database covering a wider array of ecological data about forests. The FIA program is now responsible for conducting consistent, strategic-level forest inventory on all forest lands of the U.S., including national forests (Gillespie and Smith 1998, USFS 1998).

The new FIA program will have approximately 80 core variables that are collected on all plots each year and approximately 45 extended core variables that are collected on a subsample of forested plots

each year. These variables will be documented in a national field guide and will be implemented in a consistent fashion across the country (Gillespie and Smith 1998, USFS 1998).

The transition to an annual inventory system and expanded array of forest ecosystem variables, along with other changes under the new FIA program, in the long run will be in the best interest of customers whose greatest needs are for current information and a flexible program framework (Gillespie 1999*a*). If the new program can simultaneously address the existing problems of inconsistency in methods and incompleteness in coverage and can form partnerships to make available the resources needed to increase the timing and scope of data collection and analysis, then it will be able to create a collaborative FIA program that will deliver better information for many years to come (Gillespie 1999*a*).

### 3.3. Idaho Timber Statistics

Despite the shortcomings outlined above, the FIA program provides the only statewide forest inventory data for all ownerships in Idaho. The most recent published reports are Idaho's Forests, 1991 (Brown and Chojnacky 1996) and the 1997 RPA Assessment of the Nation's Forests (draft USFS 1999a). The data and accompanying analysis in U.S. Forest Service reports are the basis for many of the statistics reported in this chapter. In addition, we computed additional statistics using the FIA program's interactive database (cited as Forest Inventory and Analysis 1997). The standard errors for sampling in Idaho as reported in Brown and Chojnacky (1996) are presented in Table 3-3. Definitions of technical forest inventory terms used in this section can be found in the Glossary.

Table 3-4. Idaho timberland area by productivity class and ownership, 1991.						
		Ownership group				
	National forest	Other public	Forest industry	Other private	All ownerships	
Productivity class (cu.ft./acre/year)	1,000 acres					
225+	8.9	0	7.1	0	16.0	
165-224	227.4	78.5	83.6	97.0	486.5	
120-164	1,535.0	298.8	280.6	416.2	2,530.6	
85-119	3,230.0	538.0	555.3	655.6	4,978.9	
50-84	4,065.0	394.5	291.8	674.1	5,425.4	
20-49	3,395.8	213.9	20.9	162.7	3,793.3	
0-19	346.4	13.4	0.0	22.7	382.5	

Source: Brown and Chojnacky (1996).

Readers may notice a difference of 382,493 acres between the 17,613,343 acres of timberland reported by Brown and Chojnacky (1996) and the 17,230,850 acres of timberland used as the basis for some of the figures we calculated. This results from Brown and Chojnacky (1996) including the lowest productivity class (0 to 19 cubic feet per acre per year) in their analysis, whereas FIA's interactive database (Forest Inventory and Analysis 1997) does not include this acreage. This illustrates part of the consistency problem described by critics of FIA (Blue Ribbon Panel 1992, 1998).

We also urge caution in interpreting values for trends and particularly those including volume measurements. We have assembled whatever trend data for timber inventory was available. Trends show what has happened to forests over a period of time. Because changes in ecological, social, and economic systems affect forests, a look at trends in timber inventory statistics seems appropriate. However, the accuracy of the trend analysis is only as good as the data on which it is based. Brown and Chojnacky (1996) warn that methods for obtaining land area data are fairly consistent over time, but volume estimation can vary due to field sample selection, data collection, and data processing methods. Although U.S. Forest Service data analysts (Brown and Chojnacky 1996) suggest restricting trend comparisons with earlier inventories only to land area data, we nevertheless present some trends in volume-related statistics. We believe the direction and magnitude of changes are accurate trends, although the exact values may be inaccurate.

**3.3.1. Productivity.** How productive a forest is depends on the product and how production is measured. For timber, productivity is measured as the potential timber yield capability of the forest, generally measured in cubic feet per acre per year, and is usually calculated as a function of site index (Brown and Chojnacky 1996). Site index is an attempt to measure the inherent productivity of the land, or the ability of the land to produce timber regardless of the type and condition of forest on the land.

In Idaho there are slightly more than 3 million acres of high productivity timberlands—producing at least 120 cubic feet per acre per year (Table 3-4). More than half of these are national forest lands. Idaho timberlands, especially those in the northern part of the state, are among the most productive in the nation (Wilson and Van Hooser 1993). Only five southern states and three western states (California, Oregon and Washington) have more acres of high productivity lands than does Idaho (data from Powell et al. 1993).

Table 3-5. Idaho timberland area by age class, 1991.					
	Ownership group				
Age class	National forest	Other public	Forest industry	Other private	All ownerships
years			1,000 acres	7	
1-10	929.8	131.5	226.5	123.2	1,411.0
21-30	272.5	50.5	38.4	66.8	428.2
31-40	324.2	59.8	76.0	106.2	566.1
41-50	802.8	86.6	70.4	246.0	1,205.8
51-60	1,124.2	174.1	111.5	207.0	1,616.8
61-70	1,198.8	179.8	153.0	393.3	1,925.0
71-80	1,474.5	192.9	148.0	308.9	2,124.3
more than 80	6,335.3	671.6	459.9	486.9	7,953.7
Total	12,462.1	1,546.7	1,283.7	1,938.3	17,230.9

Source: Forest Inventory and Analysis (1997).

**3.3.2.** *Age.* The age of trees is a key characteristic of forests. The issues of "old growth" and "ancient forests" relate to forest age; however, usually it is the increased size of trees and structure of the forest resulting from age that is important, not age itself. Large trees and complex structure are important habitat attributes for some wildlife species. Age may also play an important part in the psychological and cultural significance people attach to a forest. From a timber growing perspective, age is important because older trees grow more slowly and become more susceptible to mortality from pests and diseases.

A forest may be even-aged, where all trees growing in a particular area are basically the same age, or uneven-aged, where trees ages vary. These two types of forests develop under different ecological conditions and silvicultural treatments. Many of Idaho's dry forests developed under fire regimes that tend to result in even-aged forests. Forests that result from clearcutting and reseeding or replanting tend to be even-aged. Forests where fire has been excluded and wet forests tend to be uneven-aged. Both even- and uneven-aged forests occur without human influence. Forest inventories record stand age classes by the age of the dominant and codominant trees, so not all tree ages are recorded; therefore, it is difficult to determine from statewide forest inventory data acreages of even- and unevenaged forests.

Almost half of Idaho's timberlands are in the over 80 years age class (Table 3-5). Almost onefourth are between 60 and 80 years old. Age distribution is not even across ownerships. Over half (51%) of national forest timberlands are stands over 80 years old, but only 36% of forest industry lands and only 25% of other privately owned timberlands are that old. Forest industry has a greater percentage of timberlands (17%) in 1-10 year old stands than the other ownership categories. These data reflect different management objectives.

The median age for national forest stands is more than 85 years old; the median age of stands on other ownerships is 69 years old (Brown and Chojnacky 1996). No trend data for age class are available.

**3.3.3. Size.** Age and size of trees are related, as trees get larger as they grow older. Numerous factors, including tree species and site conditions, determine how fast and large trees may grow. From a timber products perspective, the diameter of trees is important because harvesting and manufacturing costs and potential end products and values all vary by the size of trees being removed from the forest. Large trees present lower harvesting costs per unit of wood volume than small trees. Larger trees can produce more valuable wood products. However, large trees

Table 3-6. Number of live trees on Idaho timberland by diameter class, 1991.							
		Ownership group					
Diameter class	National forest	NationalOtherForestOtherforestpublicindustryprivate					
inches at breast height			million tre	es			
1.0-4.9	2,941.2	379.1	464.1	396.0	4,180.5		
5.0-8.9	1,091.1	113.0	98.7	152.3	1,455.2		
9.0-14.9	594.7	65.7	55.7	79.2	795.4		
15.0-20.9	154.7	20.4	14.4	18.8	208.3		
21.0-28.9	53.7	6.2	3.7	4.2	67.7		
29.0 and over	15.7	1.7	0.5	0.5	18.4		
All	4,851.2	586.0	637.2	651.0	6,725.4		

Source: Forest Inventory and Analysis (1997).

also provide important habitat for some kinds of wildlife and contribute to the scenic beauty of forests.

On all Idaho timberlands, 62% of trees are 1-5 inches in diameter-at-breast-height; only 4 percent are 15 inches or greater (Table 3-6). Few differences exist in the percentages of number of trees in each diameter class by ownership.

Like age class, diameter class does not tell us much about how trees are arranged in the forest. Is a particular forest made up only of one size tree or a variety of sizes? Although not a precise measure, stand-size class is an expression of the size of trees within a particular forest tract. On Idaho timberlands, 70% of the acres are in the sawtimber stand size class (Table 3-7) with each ownership having 59% to 72% of its acres in sawtimber. Other size classes are less evenly distributed. Forest industry has a lower percentage of acreage nonstocked, a much larger percentage of its acreage in the seedling and sapling class, and much less in poletimber than other ownerships.

**3.3.4.** *Stocking.* Stocking is a term used to describe the extent to which growing space is effectively used by trees (Brown and Chojnacky 1996). Stocking is a function of the number of trees per acre and the diameter of trees. Stocking level implies a management objective (USFS 1985) and is reported in terms such as "overstocked," "fully stocked," and "poorly stocked," which do not provide a precise measure of conditions. Much has been written about

Table 3-7. Idaho timberland area by stand-size, 1991.						
		Ownership group				
Stand-size class	National forest	Other public	Forest industry	Other private	All ownerships	
	1,000 acres					
Sawtimber	9,300.0	1,046.8	788.8	1,200.3	12,335.9	
Poletimber	1,732.7	171.1	70.1	304.6	2,278.5	
Sapling &seedling	1,019.3	212.2	338.1	331.5	1,901.1	
Nonstocked	756.5	107.0	42.4	191.9	1,097.8	

Source: Brown and Chojnacky (1996).

Table 3-8. Idaho timberland area by stocking class, 1991.						
		Ownership group				
Stocking class	National forest	NationalOtherForestOtherforestpublicindustryprivate				
		1,000 acres				
Over-stocked	1,022.8	115.4	124.2	118.8	1,381.3	
Fully stocked	2,685.4	300.3	266.5	356.4	3,608.5	
Medium stocked	5,176.0	675.8	462.2	710.1	7,024.1	
Poorly stocked	3,116.1	341.4	384.6	591.4	4,433.6	
Non-stocked	461.7	113.8	46.1	161.6	783.3	

Source: Forest Inventory and Analysis (1997).

many of Idaho's forests being overcrowded; however, statewide statistics that indicate the number of trees per acre are not readily available.

Overall, 8% of Idaho's timberlands are considered to be overstocked while 21% are considered to be poorly stocked (Table 3-8). The medium stocking class is the largest with 40% of the acres. No large differences between ownerships in the percentage of acres in each stocking class exist, except that national forests and forest industry have a lower percentage of nonstocked acres than other public and other private ownerships.

*3.3.5. Net Volume.* Idaho's timberlands contain almost 40 billion cubic feet of wood (Table 3-9). National forests contain 76% of this volume; forest industry has about 6%; and other public and other private owners have about 9% each.

Almost one-third of the volume is Douglas-fir. Grand fir and lodgepole pine each make up 14% of growing stock volume. National forests have a higher percentage of growing stock volume in lodgepole pine and subalpine fir than other ownerships. Forest industry has a lower percentage of volume in Douglas-fir and a higher percentage in grand-fir and western redcedar. Other private owners have more ponderosa pine and hardwoods than other ownerships.

Trend data is available for softwood growing stock, which currently makes up 95% of growing stock volume. Softwood growing stock on Idaho's timberlands increased by 35% from almost 29 billion cubic feet in 1952 to almost 39 billion cubic feet in 1991; however, the species composition has changed considerably (Figure 3-2). White pine blister rust and other diseases and insects, preferential logging of western white pine and ponderosa pine, and the exclusion and suppression of fire have been the primary causes of the species change. Species decreasing since 1952 are western white pine (-86%) and ponderosa pine (-35%). Species increasing are true firs (grand fir and subalpine fir, +112%), Douglas-fir (+64%), lodgepole pine (+45%) and various other species (+50%).

**3.3.6.** *Annual Mortality.* Death is a normal part of the life cycle of a tree; however, the quantity of dead trees may also indicate that problems exist in the forest. Trees die for many reasons, and the death of too many trees for particular reasons may indicate that ecological problems exist. Much of the forest health debate centers around how much mortality should occur in the forest and what various causes of death mean about the condition of the forest (see O'Laughlin et al. 1993 and section **3.4. Sustaining Healthy Forests**).

From a timber harvesting perspective, live trees are more valuable for harvesting because the wood in dead trees deteriorates, lowering the value of products that can be made from them. Dead trees also, obviously, do not grow and add increments to the growing stock volume of wood in the forest. From an ecological perspective, dead trees serve important functions in the forest, including providing soil nutrients and habitat for wildlife (Bull et al. 1997).

Mortality in Idaho's forests was 290 million cubic feet in 1991, of which 76% occurs on national

Table 3-9. Net volume of growing stock on Idaho timberland by species, 1991.					
		Owne	rship group		
Species	National forest	Other public	Forest industry	Other private	All ownerships
			million cubic f	eet	
Douglas-fir	9,443.5	1,116.2	645.8	1,201.3	12,406.8
Grand fir	3,930.1	715.7	661.1	442.2	5,749.1
Lodgepole pine	4,934.5	186.2	110.2	298.2	5,529.1
Subalpine fir	3,398.8	201.2	71.7	55.5	3,727.2
Ponderosa pine	1,844.8	224.1	125.7	539.3	2,734.0
Englemann spruce	2,202.5	149.8	111.3	24.2	2,487.8
Western redcedar	1,515.7	250.2	330.6	176.9	2,273.4
Western larch	906.8	161.2	201.6	206.8	1,476.4
Western hemlock	556.2	80.3	180.5	78.0	895.0
Mountain hemlock	573.7	142.9	26.5	14.7	757.8
Western white pine	301.1	43.2	50.2	42.3	436.8
Other pines	256.9	15.5	13.0	12.4	284.8
Aspen	248.8	75.1	3.0	182.8	509.7
Cottonwood	28.6	65.4	17.6	180.9	292.5
Total	30,142.2	3,420.4	2,535.9	3,461.9	39,560.4

Source: Brown and Chojnacky (1996).



Figure 3-2. Idaho trends in softwood growing stock by species, 1952-1991.

Sources: USFS (1958), USFS (1965), USFS (1973*a*), USFS (1982), Benson et al. (1987), Waddell (1992), Brown and Chojnacky (1996).

forests (Table 3-10). This is consistent with the fact that national forests account for 73% of the timberlands and 75% of the growing stock volume. Douglas-fir accounts for the most mortality volume (22%) of any species, which is not surprising as it also accounts for the most live volume (31%). There are some notable differences between live volume percentages (Table 3-9) and mortality volume percentages (Table 3-9) and mortality volume percentages (Table 3-10). For example, Englemann spruce accounts for only 6% of live volume, but 13% of mortality. Likewise, subalpine fir accounts for almost 17% of mortality, but only 9% of live volume. Differences are also noticeable between ownerships.

Almost 39% of the mortality in Idaho's forests is caused by unknown agents, or not attributed to a specific cause (Table 3-11) and national forests have more mortality in the unknown category than any other ownership. It is unclear whether this level of unknown causes for mortality is caused by a lack of monitoring or that the causes of mortality are undeterminable. The largest known causes of mortality are insects and diseases. Insects are the largest known cause of mortality on national forests, whereas diseases cause more mortality for other ownerships. Fire causes more mortality on national forests than on other ownerships. Weather causes a higher percentage of forest industry's mortality than it does on other ownerships. Logging causes less

Table 3-10. Annual mortality of growing stock on Idaho timberland by species, 1991.					
		Ownersh	nip group		
Species	National forest	Other public	Forest industry	Other private	All ownerships
		n	nillion cubic fe	et	
Douglas-fir	47.2	6.8	3.7	5.5	63.2
Grand fir	13.4	4.5	4.8	5.2	27.9
Lodgepole pine	39.6	1.2	1.3	2.8	44.9
Subalpine fir	42.3	4.4	1.2	0.7	48.6
Ponderosa pine	7.3	1.6	0.5	3.5	12.9
Englemann spruce	33.7	1.8	0.9	0.0	36.4
Western redcedar	3.3	0.0	0.0	0.1	3.4
Western larch	10.1	0.1	1.0	0.7	11.9
Western hemlock	2.1	0.0	0.1	0.7	2.9
Mountain hemlock	2.0	0.0	0.6	0.0	2.6
Western white pine	12.8	3.4	2.4	1.0	19.6
Other pines	1.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.4
Aspen	5.3	1.7	0.0	6.3	13.3
Cottonwood	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.8	1.0
Total	220.8	25.8	16.5	27.2	290.3

Source: Brown and Chojnacky (1996).

1991.					
		Owners	ship group		
	National forest	Other public	Forest industry	Other private	All ownerships
Cause of death			million cubic f	eet	
Insect	73.9	7.4	4.1	4.6	90.0
Disease	26.6	12.2	6.5	14.6	59.9
Fire	9.0	0.2	0.0	0.3	9.5
Animal	0.6	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.8
Weather	8.3	1.2	2.7	2.2	14.4
Suppression	0.3	0.6	0.1	0.5	1.5
Unknown	101.0	3.9	3.2	4.4	112.5
Logging	0.8	0.2	0.1	0.4	1.5
All	220.6	25.7	16.8	27.0	290.0

Table 3-11 Annual mortality of growing stock on Idaho timberland by cause of death

Source: Forest Inventory and Analysis (1997).

than one percent of the mortality to residual trees on all ownerships, except other private where it causes 1.8%.

3.3.7. Net Annual Growth. Net annual growth is the annual incremental increase in forest growing stock volume minus annual mortality. Net growth in Idaho's forests was almost 816 million cubic feet per year in 1991 (Table 3-12) with national forests accounting for 68% of the total. Douglas-fir accounts for the largest amount of growth in all ownerships, except forest industry where grand fir accounts for the greatest percentage. This reflects the species distributions in each ownership's growing stocks (Table 3-9).

Negative net annual growth (indicated by parentheses, Table 3-12) means that mortality exceeded the incremental growth increase in a given year. In 1991, net annual growth was negative for western white pine in all ownerships except other private. Mountain hemlock had negative net annual growth in the forest industry ownership, and aspen had negative net annual growth in the other private ownership group (Table 3-12).

3.3.8. Net Annual Growth and Removals. This section looks at removals of growing stock and compares them to net annual growth based on 1990-1991 data. Removals include land clearing, changes in land use, timber harvesting, and silvicultural operations such as thinning (Brown and Chojnacky 1996). In section 3.3.11 we look more specifically at sawtimber harvest with more current data.

In Idaho in 1990, overall removals from the growing stock were about 309 million cubic feet (Table 3-13). Net annual growth was 816 million cubic feet, 507 million cubic feet more than removals.

The balance between growth and removals can be expressed as a ratio of growth to removals (Smith 1999). A ratio exceeding 1 means that growth exceeds removals for the year in question; a ratio of less than one indicates removals in excess of growth and-for that year-a resulting decrease in inventory volume. If the growth side of the ratio is greater than 1, the timber harvest meets the traditional physical measure of sustained yield of timber. In Idaho in 1990, the ratio was 2.6:1. Another way of saying this is that net annual growth was 2.6 times greater than harvest. Perhaps the simplest way to state this

Table 3-12. Net annual growth of growing stock on Idaho timberland, 1991.					
		Ownersh	ip group		
	National forest	Other public	Forest industry	Other private	All ownerships
Species		т	illion cubic j	feet	
Douglas-fir	166.6	25.1	17.1	41.3	250.1
Grand fir	109.5	21.2	24.5	20.3	175.5
Lodgepole pine	103.0	4.1	1.4	7.6	116.1
Subalpine fir	57.8	0.0	2.5	1.7	62.1
Ponderosa pine	31.6	4.0	4.3	17.7	57.6
Englemann spruce	6.2	1.4	4.3	0.6	12.5
Western redcedar	33.2	6.7	10.7	7.5	58.1
Western larch	10.5	3.2	3.3	7.0	24.0
Western hemlock	19.7	3.2	6.9	3.8	33.6
Mountain hemlock	10.1	2.7	(0.3)	0.6	13.1
Western white pine	(2.9)	(1.6)	(0.4)	1.2	(3.7)
Other pines	3.1	0.8	0.0	0.1	4.0
Aspen	4.0	0.6	0.1	(0.1)	4.7
Cottonwood	0.3	1.7	0.5	5.5	8.0
All	552.8	73.1	75.1	114.7	815.7

Source: Brown and Chojnacky (1996).
Table 3-13. Removals of growing stock on Idaho timberland by species and ownership, 1990.

1770.						
	Ownership group					
	National forest	Other public	Forest industry	Other private	All ownerships	
Species	million cubic feet					
Douglas-fir	29.8	9.0	11.3	17.9	68.0	
Lodgepole pine	15.8	3.0	5.2	9.8	33.8	
True firs	25.0	11.9	22.2	14.1	73.2	
Ponderosa pine	24.0	4.7	6.8	12.3	47.8	
Englemann spruce	4.1	1.1	1.8	2.1	9.2	
Western redcedar	9.1	6.4	10.8	6.6	32.9	
Western larch	7.3	2.7	3.7	4.1	17.9	
Western hemlock	3.5	1.3	2.1	3.4	10.3	
Western white pine	4.2	2.4	3.7	4.3	14.6	
Aspen	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	
Cottonwood	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.5	0.7	
Unknown	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.2	
All	122.9	42.6	67.9	75.3	308.7	

Source: Brown and Chojnacky (1996).



Figure 3-3. Idaho trends in net annual growth, removals, and mortality of growing stock, Idaho, 1952-1996.

Sources: USFS (1958), USFS (1965), USFS (1973*a*), USFS (1982), Benson et al. (1987), Waddell (1992), Brown and Chojnacky (1996), Smith (1999).

same relationship is to say that Idaho's timber harvest in 1990 was 38% of the net annual growth.

In 1990, some species were being removed at rates faster than their growth (Tables 3-12 and 3-13). Western white pine was being removed at a rate faster than it was growing on all ownerships. Ponderosa pine was being removed at a rate faster than it is growing on other public and forest industry ownerships. Lodgepole pine was being removed faster than it was growing on forest industry and other private ownerships. Both western redcedar and western larch were being removed at slightly higher rates than they were growing on forest industry lands. **3.3.9. Trends in Net Annual Growth, Removals,** *and Mortality.* Net annual growth of growing stock increased almost continuously between 1952 and 1996 (Figure 3-3). A loss in net growth measured in 1962 reflects an increase in mortality reported that year. Removals increased from almost 200 million cubic feet in 1952 to almost 400 million cubic feet in 1977. Since the 1977 measurements, removals declined to 309 million cubic feet in 1990 (Brown and Chojnacky 1996) and 252 million cubic feet in 1996 (Smith 1999).

A trend in mortality is harder to establish. Between 1952 and 1963, mortality doubled from 153 million cubic feet to 305 million cubic feet (Figure 3-3). By 1980 mortality had dropped to 112 million cubic feet, but began to rise again to 276 million



Figure 3-4. Idaho softwood sawtimber harvest by species group, 1996.

Source: Wagner et al. (1997).

cubic feet in 1990 (O'Laughlin et al. 1993), reaching 288 million cubic feet in 1996 (Smith 1999). The rising level of mortality and its causes and cures are the essence of the forest health debate. Timber inventory information relevant to that debate is presented in section **3.4. Sustaining Healthy Forests**.

**3.3.10.** Softwood Sawtimber Harvest. This section presents recent data on Idaho's softwood sawtimber harvest. Softwoods and sawtimber are only portions of growing stock, and timber harvest is only a portion of growing stock removal from the forest; therefore, these data are less inclusive than those presented above. Also, sawtimber is measured in board feet, whereas growing stock is measured in cubic feet.

Idaho's 1996 softwood sawtimber harvest was 1.56 billion board feet (Wagner et al. 1997). Douglas-fir and larch made up about one-third of the volume, western hemlock and true firs made up another third, and the remaining third was a variety of other species (Figure 3-4). Four ownership groups provided 99% of the sawtimber harvest volume: forest industry (34%), non-industrial private (30%), national forests (22%) and state of Idaho lands (13%) (Figure 3-5).

One conventional definition for a sustainable yield of timber is that net annual growth of timber must at least equal harvest. Assuming that 1996 net annual growth is the same as it was in 1990, which may not be realistic due to changing timber conditions, the 1996 timber harvest level was 1.9 billion board feet less than net annual growth (Figure 3-6).



Figure 3-5. Idaho softwood sawtimber harvest by ownership group, 1996.

Source: Wagner et al. (1997).



Figure 3-6. Idaho annual softwood sawtimber growth, 1990, and sawtimber harvest by ownership group, 1996.

Sources: Brown and Chojnacky (1996), Wagner et al. (1997).



Figure 3-7. Idaho annual softwood sawtimber growth, 1990, and harvest by species group, 1996.

Sources: Brown and Chojnacky (1996), Wagner et al. (1997).

In other words, sawtimber harvest was 45% of net annual growth of sawtimber (Wagner et al. 1997). However, the results vary by ownership. On national forests, harvest in 1996 was 15% of net annual growth. On other public lands 62% of net annual growth was harvested in 1996. On forest industry lands timber harvest exceeded growth by 82%, which is in part a reflection of 27% of the acres in this ownership class being in the seedling and sapling stand-size class (Wagner, review comments). On other private lands harvest exceeded net annual growth by 7%. Results by species group show that for all species, except western white pine, net annual growth exceeded harvest (Figure 3-7).



Figure 3-8. Idaho trends in softwood sawtimber harvest by ownership group, 1960-1999.

Source: Keegan et al. (2000).

Recent softwood timber harvest trends tend to reflect the changing species composition of the growing stock. Western white pine decreased from 19% of harvest in 1969 to 3% in 1995. Douglas-fir increased from 18% of harvest in 1969 to 27% in 1995 (Keegan et al. 1997). Although ponderosa pine growing stock has declined, it has remained between 12 and 17% of harvest volume.

Timber harvest levels peaked at 1.9 billion board feet in 1976 and except for an economic recession in the early 1980s remained above 1.5 billion board feet through the early 1990s. The current level is about 1.3 billion board feet. There has been a shift in the contribution of each ownership group to timber harvest levels (Figure 3-8). In the years between 1979 and 1990, national forests accounted for between 40 and 47% of Idaho's softwood timber harvest volume. By 1999, this share decreased to 11%. Each of the other ownership groups have increased their share of harvest, but the harvest level overall has declined 23% since 1990.

#### 3.4. Sustaining Healthy Forests

Sustainable forest management includes concerns about the health of forests. The concept of forest health and its application to forest resource management in Idaho were the focal points of a study of *Forest Health Conditions in Idaho* published in 1993 as PAG Report #11 (O'Laughlin et al. 1993). The analysis generated replies to two questions. First, is there a forest health problem in Idaho? Second, if so, what can be done about it; if not, what can be done to prevent it? These were controversial questions when the project was undertaken in 1992 and remain so today.

#### 3.4.1. What is forest health?

Forest health is a condition of forest ecosystems that sustains their complexity while providing for human needs (O'Laughlin et al. 1993, O'Laughlin 1994, Sampson et al. 1994, O'Laughlin 1996*a*).

Forest health is a way for people to express and understand ideas about the condition of a particular forest place composed of definable elements; what changes are likely to affect it; how they feel about those possibilities; and what, if anything, they want to do to affect that condition or those changes. While it can be greatly assisted by good science and improved by technical understanding, facts, and data, people's ultimate appraisal of the health of the forest is based on the values they hold (Sampson 1996).

Forest health is a multidisciplinary concept that integrates a variety of resource management concerns and relates them to something familiar to people—human health. Like sustainability, forest health is a value-based concept (Allen 1993, SAF 1997, Hirvonen 2000) and explicitly includes social considerations as to what people want from forests (Kolb et al. 1994, Oliver et al. 1997, Atkins et al. 1999). Judgments about forest health are therefore subjective because different perspectives and values are involved.

There is no widely accepted definition of forest health (Riitters et al. 1990, Allen 1993, Dahms and Geils 1997), and it means different things to different people (SAF 1997, Hirvonen 2000). Part of the reason is semantic. "Health" has two common definitions: one is a neutral description of overall condition; the other implies an optimal or "good" condition. The definition at the beginning of this section is based on the latter definition of health, but not all definitions are. It is essential that a common definition and conceptual understanding of forest health be agreed upon each time it is introduced into discussion (Kolb et al. 1995). The Society of American Foresters concluded that forest health is "an informal and technically inexact term" (SAF 1997:8).

Forest health nevertheless has two primary uses. First, it is used as an ecological framework for integrated resource management, the desired outcome being sustainable forest ecosystems. Second, it is a device to facilitate communications among forest researchers of different disciplines, between researchers and managers, and between foresters and their clients. As it does in the human health context, forest health can motivate individuals towards management action to alleviate unhealthy situations.

Both uses of forest health can be problematic. The concept of forest health is based on an analogy with human health (O'Laughlin et al. 1993, SAF 1997). Human health can be described by the absence of disease, but in ecosystems, diseases are essential members of the biotic community with important roles in determining ecosystem structure and function (Dahms and Geils 1997). The health status of a particular forest assumes that there is a baseline or normal state with which to compare (Allen 1993), yet ecosystems tend to be chaotic in behavior and not "in balance" especially when viewed over long periods of time (Kolb et al. 1995, Hirvonen 2000). The difficulties of defining an optimal condition for ecosystem health and the lack of universally accepted indicators to measure ecosystem health have led some researchers to conclude that the concept of ecosystem health is ecologically inappropriate (Ehrenfeld 1992, Wicklum and Davies 1995).

As a communications device, the concept of forest health offers some potential for miscommunication (Kolb et al. 1995). There are some problems due to the lack of a widely accepted definition, as outlined above. There is also a paradox created by circular logic whereby a desired state of forest health depends on the occurrence of a healthy forest (Wagner 1994, Kolb et al. 1995). For this reason, forest health is not appropriate as a management objective.

People approach forest health from at least two different perspectives: the utilitarian and the ecosystem (Allen 1993, Kolb et al. 1995, Jenkins 1997, Edmonds 2000, see also **2.2.1**. Value Orientations). The perspective of the beholder determines, in part, whether or not a forest is healthy or unhealthy.

From the utilitarian perspective, forest health is a condition where biotic and abiotic influences on forests do not threaten management objectives now or in the future (Kolb et al. 1995, Edmonds 2000). Utilitarian management objectives for forests are usually related to timber production, but do not have to be (Kolb et al. 1995). From the utilitarian perspective, if the primary objective of a forest is timber production, large numbers of dying trees–or the potential for dying trees–indicate forest health problems (Peters et al. 1996, Jenkins 1997). From this perspective insects, diseases, and other non-timber elements of forest ecosystems are seen as good or bad based on how they affect the growth rates of commercial tree species (Peters et al. 1996, Hirvonen 2000). This perspective has tended to focus only on the trees within forest ecosystems (DellaSala et al. 1995, Peters et al. 1996).

The utilitarian perspective of forest health is especially appropriate for those situations where management objectives are unambiguous and consist of a small number of complementary human uses (Kolb et al. 1995). Some researchers suggest this situation is largely restricted to private industrial forest lands. Application of the utilitarian definition of forest health to forest lands managed for multiple objectives, such as most of the National Forest System, is problematic because management for multiple uses complicates the prioritization of management objectives and thus judgments about health status (Wagner 1994, Kolb et al. 1995, Edmonds 2000).

For those with an ecosystem perspective, forest health focuses on the whole ecosystem (Peters et al. 1996, Hirvonen 2000). Forests satisfy a range of diverse objectives and forest health is defined in terms like resiliency, balance, and function. Ill health is associated with declines in biodiversity, loss of primary productivity, reversal of successional patterns, widespread and severe disease, and loss of nutrient capital. A sick forest is not simply a matter of tree mortality (Jenkins 1997). Insect herbivores and disease-causing pathogens are not viewed strictly as "pests" but recognized as important facilitators of natural processes contributing to compositional, structural, and functional diversity (Mason 1993, Schowalter 1994, Ostry and Nicholls 1998).

Despite problems with the analogy, definitions, and perspectives, forest health has become a common metaphor not only in the forestry literature, but also in discussions about forest management. The definition of forest health that opened this section is from earlier PAG work (PAG Report #11, O'Laughlin et al. 1993) and was purposely designed to draw people into discussion about what forest ecosystem complexity is all about, and how forests can contribute to meeting peoples' expectations. The definition was developed to be concise yet broad in scope. It incorporates concerns for ecosystem structure, function, and process. Spatial and temporal scale complexity is included, as is sustainability. The definition also incorporates the idea of sustaining a wide variety of human uses. These are to be determined according to the various dimensions of forest location, ownership objectives, and other forest policies (see Chapter 4).

**3.4.2.** *Measuring Forest Health.* Assessment of forest health requires an understanding of both the condition of the forest and forest management objectives (Jenkins 1997, SAF 1997). Scientists can measure forest condition objectively, but assessments of forest health involve subjectivity because forest condition is evaluated against management objectives (O'Laughlin et al. 1993, SAF 1997).

In the past forest condition assessment has focused on trees, particularly timber species. Some researchers have been critical of this focus (e.g., Schowalter 1994, DellaSala et al. 1995, Kolb et al. 1995, DellaSala and Olson 1996), and scientists are beginning to develop a broader set of indicators to measure forest condition.

For example, the national Forest Health Monitoring (FHM) Program, established in 1990, is a cooperative program between numerous federal and state agencies, and several universities (USFS 2000b). Idaho joined the program in 1996. To assess forest condition, the FHM program has established permanent plots that will be remeasured on a fouryear cycle. The program currently measures indicators such as lichen communities, ozone bioindicator plants, tree damage, tree mortality, vegetation structure, plant diversity, tree crown condition, tree growth, and tree regeneration (USFS 2000b), and as the program develops, new indicators, such as soil conditions and understory vegetation, will be added to supplement current measurements (Atkins et al. 1999).

Until a more extensive set of forest condition indicators is measured, monitored, and interpreted, timber-dominated indicators are one of the few ways to assess condition. However, the limitations of what has been measured and the implications of the findings must be recognized.

One of the indicators of forest condition that has been measured for several decades, and will continue to be measured in the more extensive sets of indicators, is relationship between forest growth and mortality. Many researchers have recognized that forest growth and mortality is a fundamental part of forest condition assessment (Riitters et al. 1990, Smith 1990, Innes 1993, Norris et al. 1993).

3.4.3 Idaho Trends in Mortality as a Percent of Growth. One way scientists have assessed forest condition is by comparing current conditions with the historic range of dynamics the system has experienced through the past. This is generally called the historic range of variability (Morgan et al. 1994, Atkins et al. 1999).



Figure 3-9. Annual mortality rate as a percentage of gross annual growth: Inland Northwest trends, with the U.S.A. for comparison, 1952-1996.

Source: Data compiled from various U.S. Forest Service reports.

Timber inventory data for the inland northwest region show that mortality as a percent of gross growth ranged between 25-38% in 1952, with a downward trend to 15-24% until the early 1980s and then increasing to 21-24% more recently (Figure 3-9). The trends reflect increasing gross growth more than declining mortality. A regional range was developed from the high and low data points at each time interval in Figure 3-9 and is portrayed as a baseline for comparing Idaho data (Figure 3-10).

The most current data available for Idaho individual national forests and other forest ownership groups were plotted in Figure 3-10 for comparison with the regional range. Specific data for southern Idaho timberlands outside national forests after 1991 were unavailable, which account for 9% of the timberlands in the state.

Two national forests—Payette and Boise represent approximately 15% of the timberlands in the state, and both forests were in a situation in the early 1990s where mortality exceeded gross annual growth. On suitable timberlands during 1987-1992, the mortality rate in the Boise National Forest was 105% of growth annual growth; it was 140% on the Payette National Forest (Figure 3-10). Three national forests in northern Idaho—Panhandle, Clearwater, and Nez Perce—have approximately 29% of the timberlands in the state, including 1.5 million acress of some of the most productive timberlands in the nation, and 43% of the growing stock volume in all Idaho forests (Waddell 1992). U.S. Forest Service disease surveys initiated in 1985



Figure 3-10. Annual mortality as a percentage of gross annual growth: Inland Northwest regional range, 1952-1996, and the most recent data for 91% of Idaho timberlands, with 9 national forests.

Source: Data compiled from various U.S. Forest Service reports.

reveal that these northern Idaho national forests are suffering from chronic root disease, as evidenced by reduced canopies, unstocked areas, and declines in productivity (Hagle and Byler 1993, Byler et al. 1994). More recent data from the Clearwater National Forest (1997) indicates annual mortality is 95% of the gross annual growth.

Also displayed in Figure 3-10 is recent inventory data for private and other public forests (i.e., non-national forests) in northern Idaho (Wilson and Van Hooser 1993). These forests represent 24% of the timberland and a like amount of the timber growing stock volume in Idaho. Mortality rates are within the regional range.

In summary, the most recent timber inventory data in Idaho indicate higher mortality rates in na-

tional forests than on state and private forests. The three national forests in northern Idaho are losing productive potential to root diseases. The two national forests in southwestern Idaho had substantial declines in gross annual growth from the 1970s to the early 1990s. Mortality in these two forests exceeded gross annual growth, meaning there was a net loss of growing stock from mortality in these forests.

This analysis presents a different picture than does examination of data presented by Brown and Chojnacky (1996). According to that data, mortality as a percent of gross growth for national forests, other public owners, forest industry, and other private owners are 29%, 26%, 18%, and 19%, respectively. While mortality rates on national forests as a whole are 37% higher than on other ownerships, the rates do not approach those reported on the Payette, Boise, and Clearwater National Forests reported above. The difference may have to do with the amount of time that has elapsed since the inventories on national forests reported in Brown and Chojnacky (1996) were done (Table 3-2). More than half of Idaho's timberlands are national forests that have not been inventoried in a decade or longer.

More recent inventory data for these national forests may reveal much higher mortality rates, especially in southern Idaho due to prolonged drought conditions that began in 1987. Stress induced by competition for limited moisture in densely-stocked stands invites insect and disease outbreaks.

# 3.4.4. Changes in Idaho's Forest Structure and

*Composition.* In addition to the trend in mortality rates outlined above, the structure and species composition of Idaho's forests changed between 1952 and 1991. Firs increased from 42% of the growing stock volume to 57% and pines declined from 39% to 22%. In 1991 Idaho forests had 35% more growing stock volume than in 1952, and they are now different kinds of forests. Firs are more susceptible than pines to many insects, diseases, and fires, especially in dense stands.

A principal cause of the shift from pines to firs is fire exclusion, and one consequence is reduced productivity of timber species. Fire exclusion has increased the incidence of root disease in northern Idaho (Hagle and Byler 1993, Hagle et al. 1994, Byler et al. 1994). Fuel loads in many such forests have increased to levels that threaten fire control efforts and place many forest ecosystem values at risk (Harvey 1994; Harvey et al. 1994, 1995).

Stand densities have also been affected by fire exclusion and the shift in species composition. Stand density is a likely causal factor affecting forest health, but definitive research studies have not been done (O'Laughlin et al. 1993). Many researchers agree that stand densities have increased, but the relationship is difficult to verify because the measurement of stand density is a function of both number and size of trees, and old reports do not provide the information needed to understand that relationship. Volume per acre is one measure of stand density, but the same volume can be created by many small trees or a few large trees. Old reports include volume and acreage figures, but not data on tree size and numbers. In 1952, average volume per acre based on statewide totals was about 1845 cu.ft./acre in Idaho (Waddell 1992). By 1991, that had increased to 2246 cu.ft./acre, a 22% increase (Brown and Chojnacky 1996). Between 1952 and 1991, average volume per acre on national forests increased 38% from 1710 cu.ft./acre to 2353 cu.ft./acre.

Currently, public and private resource managers agree that a major difference between national forests and private ownerships in Idaho is that national forests have higher densities of trees (O'Laughlin et al. 1993, Blatner et al. 1994, Morelan et al. 1994). National forests average 20% more volume per acre than other ownerships combined (2353 cu.ft./acre versus 1960 cu.ft./acre) (Brown and Chojnacky 1996); however, differences in tree sizes and numbers on different ownerships may account for some of the difference.

It is not possible to overemphasize the role of wildfire in creating and maintaining forests in Idaho. By effectively suppressing fire and excluding it from performing its ecological role for more than 80 years, the composition and structure of Idaho's forests have been altered. Timber harvesting practices have acted together with fire suppression to create more dense forests with tree species poorly suited to sites affected by drought or root disease.

Fire exclusion has altered the composition and structure of Idaho's national forests, which in turn has resulted in increased mortality, creating stand conditions that place all forest values at risk from the likelihood of high-intensity wildfires. Conditions on federal lands in Idaho make it three times more likely that stand-replacing or lethal fires will occur (Quigley et al. 1996). These fires pose threats to ecological integrity, water quality, endangered species recovery, and rural homes (Quigley and Cole 1997).

**3.4.5.** Are Idaho's forests healthy? The reply to the question are Idaho's forests healthy is a matter of opinion. Our reply takes a utilitarian perspective. Although the Society of American Foresters suggested forests can be considered healthy when there is an *appropriate balance* between growth and mortality (Norris et al. 1993), it did not indicate what an *appropriate balance* might be. Guidance from other published sources is elusive. Some people may call the conditions in Idaho's national forests unhealthy (e.g., Harvey et al. 1995). Others suggest that all this is just one more change in ecosystem dynamics.

Based on the condition of Idaho's forests using available data and the criterion of tree growth effi-

ciency, expressed as the relationship of forest growth and mortality, some forests in Idaho appear to be healthier than others. Health problems exist throughout the state, with more problems in national forests than on other ownerships. Part of the cause of the health problems is fire suppression and timber harvesting that have changed forest composition and density. This has resulted in elevated levels of timber mortality (O'Laughlin et al. 1993).

In 1991, national forests had 37% more mortality (expressed as a percentage of growth) than other forests (Brown and Chojnacky 1996). Why is the mortality rate higher on national forests? In part, because differences in management objectives result in different stand densities. National forests are managed for multiple use, although the manifestations of this objective are changing (see **Chapter 4**). Other public forests, private industry forests, and some nonindustrial private forests tend to have timber production as their main management objective. Stand densities are more likely to be closely monitored and controlled when timber production is a primary objective.

#### 3.4.6. Health Management Strategy.

[A]ctive management appears to have the greatest chance of producing the mix of goods and services that people want from ecosystems, as well as maintaining or enhancing the long-term ecological integrity of the [interior Columbia River] Basin (Quigley et al. 1996, 1998).

A fundamental problem with the forest health concept today is a lack of agreement on an appropriate "cure" if a forest is found to be unhealthy. As the above quotation indicates, many researchers believe that active management is the preferred health management strategy (e.g., O'Laughlin et al. 1993; Quigley et al. 1996, 1998). Actively managed forests are those receiving intensive applications of labor and capital to land. The alternative is passive management, which means extensive or custodial management involving little expenditure of labor or capital.

Two key words in a forest health management strategy are restoration and prevention. **Restore** the tree species best suited to individual sites. In many Idaho forests those are ponderosa pine, western larch, and western white pine (blister rust-resistant, of course). **Prevent** unhealthy conditions. This involves reducing stand density and favoring the species best adapted to site conditions by using practices that replicate the beneficial effects of low-intensity fires.

If forest stand conditions are unhealthy, practices such as thinning dense stands, the use of prescribed fire where fuel loads are not hazardous, and regeneration of more resistant and resilient tree species can help restore healthy conditions on lands suitable for timber production. Thinning is the most important part of an active forest health management strategy, because it can be designed to alter species composition and reduce stand density. The strategy for root-diseased areas is different, but simple: reforest affected sites with species resistant to root diseases.

Not all researchers are in agreement about active management strategies. Some, not all, types of forests can benefit from active restoration, and caution must be exercised in every case (Peters et al. 1996). Some effects of active management may not be desirable. The effects of intensive management on the behavior of wildfires are not known, particularly at the landscape level (DellaSala et al. 1995, MacCracken 1996).

**3.4.7.** *Policy Issues.* Public policy and public trust are two interrelated and seemingly formidable barriers to active management strategies for addressing forest health. Today's public policies for managing the national forests were developed in the 1960s and 1970s, and resulted from public distrust of the way managers were caring for the national forests (Cubbage et al. 1993).

Forest health is ultimately a policy question, not a science question, because healthy conditions can only be judged in the context of what the purpose of a forest is, and that is a policy matter. How can the words "maintaining healthy and sustainable forest ecosystems" be translated through resource management policy to forestry activities on the ground? Scientists and managers have begun to consider forest health only recently.

Forest health is difficult to translate into a policy objective. Instead it is a component of ecosystem-based management strategies. This is now the operational philosophy for federal land and resource management. Indeed, some scientists have defined ecosystem health as sustainable ecosystems (see Aplet 1992, Everett et al. 1994, Maser 1994). Policy for maintaining and restoring forest ecosystem health is now called policy for sustaining ecosystems. This is the subject matter of **Chapter 4**. **3.4.8.** Conclusion on Forest Health. These conclusions represent the PAG's several years of experience attempting to provide some useful perspectives on the concept of forest health, and are summarized by O'Laughlin (1996*a*). The value of the forest health concept is to relate complex ecological and managerial issues to something people think they understand. Forest health has served as a useful catalyst, causing resource managers, researchers, policy makers, and the public to take a critical look at past management practices and their results. Ecosystem processes that were not previously considered now are beginning to drive strategies and policies.

In the end, the beginning of the solution to forest health problems is to channel the diverse interests now evidently concerned about forest health into an interdisciplinary approach. A suggested first task is seeking agreement on measurement methods and standards for identifying ecosystem health problems. That will help the concept of forest health become more useful as a communication device. Atkins et al. (1999) have begun to do that in Idaho, noting that forest health issues include exotic species introductions, watershed health, wildland interface development, forest growth, insects and diseases, fire, and biological diversity.

Because the science associated with forest health is only beginning to emerge and monitoring of non-timber resources has not been seriously undertaken, at present forest health assessments include only the condition of trees. Because other ecosystem components are related to the condition of trees and therefore affected by forestry practices, forest health monitoring activities should be continued, redirected from pest assessment to an integrated vegetation inventory and monitoring project, and expanded to include information about how other ecosystem components are related to the condition of trees. While trees are being measured and tree data compiled and analyzed, perhaps other measurements can be taken and additional analyses performed. Forest scientists of different disciplines will need to work together, and work with other disciplinary specialists. Forest health assessments currently confine their focus to the action of causal agents (or "stressors") and their effects on the condition of vegetation. That alone is a large research and monitoring agenda. Until forest health reports include more than trends in tree conditions, forestry professionals will have to plead nolo contendere

("no contest") to the charge that they can't see the forest for the trees.

The other vital forest health issue is determining what the management objectives of particular forests are, particularly our national forests. Present concerns over forest health reflect a failure to define management objectives that are acceptable to society (Kolb et al. 1994, Kolb et al. 1995). Resolving this issue is a political process not a scientific one.

#### 3.5. Conclusions

To even the most casual observer it is apparent that Idaho has lots of trees. Almost 42% of our state is forested, and most of that is capable of growing timber, i.e., trees used for commercial forest products. One facet of understanding whether management of Idaho's timber resource is sustainable involves collecting and analyzing information about the amount of timber in Idaho's forests and how much it is growing, dying, and harvested. We presented that information in this chapter.

Is our information perfect? No. Information about timber resources—and other forest resources—is not as good as we would like. Many inventories are outdated, and the accuracy of others is questionable. Procedures for measuring some forest characteristics and conditions have changed over the years, so trends are not as accurate as we would like. Some attributes of forests have not been measured in the past that we now think are important and wish had been measured so we could estimate trends. Despite its flaws, we have to work with the information that is available, and although not completely accurate, we believe it is in the neighborhood of reality.

Idaho's timberlands contain almost 40 billion cubic feet of wood, 35% more than in 1952. The wood in these forests is growing about 816 million cubic feet per year; about 290 million cubic feet per year are dying; and about 250 million cubic feet are being removed, mostly from timber harvesting. Each year more wood is being added to Idaho's timber inventory than is being removed.

Does a growth-removal balance of 2.6:1 mean that Idaho's forests are being managed sustainably? As other chapters of this report indicate, timber statistics alone can't answer the sustainability question. Although the timber inventory and harvest data meet the traditional definition of sustainable yield, other forest values must be accounted for.

# Chapter 4. What policies affect timber harvesting in Idaho?

Policies are purposive courses of action or inaction that governments, businesses, groups, or individuals take to deal with particular situations or problems (Cubbage et al. 1993). Government policies are usually expressed through laws and regulations, but private companies, groups, and individuals also have policies expressed through management objectives, rules, and modes of operation. We examine both types in this chapter. It is not possible to analyze all the policies that affect timber harvesting in Idaho because there would be almost as many policies as there are owners of timberland. We describe and analyze the most important and influential policies that affect the major categories or groups of forest landowners in Idaho.

Citizens of the U.S. have become increasingly pluralistic in their views and participative in their actions over the past three decades (Maxwell and Randall 1989). Policies and actions of federal land and resource managers are now deliberated by wideranging publics who view forests in non-traditional ways, through lenses ground by opticians outside the resource management professions (Allen and Gould 1986). Pluralism, along with major advances in our scientific understanding of ecosystem dynamics, has led to the widespread call for new perspectives and new approaches to achieve sustainable forest management (Behan 1990, Alston 1991, Castle 1993, Iverson and Alston 1993).

Some government policies that directly affect resource management apply only to federal lands. Other public policies apply to both public and private lands. Some policies, such as federal income tax and local property taxes, may have an indirect influence over the amount and timing of timber harvesting from private lands. Although tax effects may be substantial, they are beyond the scope of this report.

During the 1990s ensuring sustainable patterns of resource use became one of three core values of an environmental perspective (Paehlke 2000). Policies related to the other two core values provide the organizing framework for this chapter. They are, first, the minimization of adverse impacts on human health, which is the purpose of our environmental laws. Second is the protection of wilderness and biological diversity, which is the purpose of another set of laws. These policies affect federal lands more than non-federal, so between these two sets of policies we have inserted a section on the many laws governing the use and management of federal lands. Because of their importance in Idaho relative to other forest landownerships, we focus on the National Forest System. Policies for managing and sustaining ecosystems on these lands are analyzed in some detail.

# 4.1. Environmental Laws

There are several federal environmental policies that passed into law within the past 25 or 30 years that affect land and resource management. These include the federal Clean Air and Clean Water Acts, and the Idaho Forest Practices Act which is part of the state's program to implement the federal Clean Water Act. The cornerstone for the nation's environmental laws is the National Environmental Policy Act.

*4.1.1. National Environmental Policy Act*. The National Environmental Policy Act of 1969 (NEPA) created and codified

a national policy which will encourage productive and enjoyable harmony between man and his environment; to promote efforts which will prevent or eliminate damage to the environment and biosphere and stimulate the health and welfare of man; to enrich the understanding of the ecological systems and natural resources important to the Nation (42 U.S.C. § 4231).

NEPA declares that the federal government is responsible for

- [a] coordinating programs and plans regarding environmental protection,
- [b] using an interdisciplinary approach to decision making,
- [c] developing methods to ensure that nonquantifiable amenity values are included in economic analyses, and
- [d] including in every recommendation, report on proposals for legislation, or other major federal actions significantly affecting the quality of the environment a detailed statement on the environmental impacts of the proposed action (Cubbage et al. 1993).

This last provision, the environmental impact statement (EIS), is probably the most well-known feature of NEPA. The Council on Environmental Quality (CEQ) was created by NEPA in part to develop implementing regulations for the act. Regulations require that whenever a federal action is proposed, an environmental assessment (EA) must be undertaken. The EA must include a brief discussion of the need for the proposed action, alternatives to the action, and their environmental impacts (Cubbage et al. 1993). If the EA finds that there will be significant impact on the human environment from the proposed action, then a more detailed and thorough EIS is required. An EIS includes a summary, a statement of purpose and need, alternatives including the proposed action, environmental consequences, cost-benefit analyses, invitations for comments, and a schedule for agency actions (Cubbage et al. 1993). At the time of its passage, no one envisioned the thousands of lawsuits NEPA has launched (Rodgers 1994).

The purpose of NEPA is to insure that federal agencies consider the potential environmental consequences before deciding to proceed with a proposal, and it serves as an environmental full disclosure law (Coggins and Glicksman 1996). The NEPA statute requires the responsible federal agency to obtain and publish the comments of various federal, state and local agencies, and to make the impact statement available to the public through the Freedom of Information Act (42 U.S.C. § 4332(c)(v)). Through the CEQ regulations, the agency proposing the activity is to obtain comments from the public and interested and affected persons and organizations (40 C.F.R. § 1503.1(a)(3)(4)). NEPA allows those who disagree with an agency's decision to seek a remedy in court, but oversight by the courts is limited almost exclusively to the procedural requirements of NEPA (Coggins and Glicksman 1996). All forest management plans and activities on federal lands must meet the requirements of the NEPA statute and CEQ regulations.

Sustainability concepts are supported by NEPA. The statute recognizes the interrelationship of the environment, social, and economic dimensions (42 U.S.C. § 4331(a)). Furthermore, NEPA sets for the federal government goals to "fulfill the responsibilities of each generation as trustee of the environment for succeeding generations" (42 U.S.C. § 4331(b)(1)), "attain the widest range of beneficial uses of the environment without degradation" (42 U.S.C. § 4331(b)(3)), and "enhance the quality of renewable resources and approach the maximum attainable recycling of depletable resources" (42 U.S.C. § 4331(b)(6)).

Congress recognized individual responsibility for sustainability in NEPA and wrote "that each person has a responsibility to contribute to the preservation and enhancement of the environment" (42 U.S.C. § 4331(c)). However, the courts could not enforce the personal nor the intergenerational responsibilities even if they were willing to do so (Coggins and Glicksman 1996).

4.1.2. Clean Air Act. The federal Clean Air Act, first passed in 1963 but amended numerous times since, is the primary legal instrument for air resource management. Among other things, the act requires the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) to identify and publish a list of "criteria pollutants," or common air pollutants that could endanger public health or welfare. For each criteria pollutant the EPA designates a concentration above which the pollutant would be a danger. These levels are called the National Ambient Air Quality Standards. The act requires each state to develop and implement a state plan to ensure that the standards are attained and maintained for each criteria pollutant (see Idaho Code § 39-118B, § 39-118C and IDAPA § 16.01.01). Federal agencies must comply with all federal, state, and local air pollution requirements (ICBEMP 1997). The act also requires that more stringent air quality standards be maintained in Class I federal areas, which are primarily wilderness areas.

Particulate matter, ozone, and carbon monoxide are the three primary criteria pollutants associated with forest management (Rolston and Coufal 1991, ICBEMP 1997). Fire is the main activity that affects these criteria pollutants.

The Clean Air Act requirement to maintain air quality standards has not been a major consideration in policies concerning forest management and timber harvest; however, they may become so, particularly if silvicultural prescriptions involving more prescribed burning are implemented. Although increased levels of prescribed burning can have temporary negative effects on air quality, the more acute effects to air quality from wildfires can be reduced in the long term (ICBEMP 1997). Prescribed fires can be used when fuel moisture and weather conditions are optimal for minimizing the impacts on air quality, whereas wildfires may occur when conditions are at their worst, such as in the summer during inversion conditions that tend to keep smoke nearer to the ground.

**4.1.3.** *Clean Water Act.* In 1977, the Federal Water Pollution Control Act was amended under the name the Clean Water Act. The Clean Water Act established a national objective "to restore and maintain the chemical, physical, and biological integrity of

the nation's waters." The act called for all of the Nation's waters to be "fishable and swimmable" and the elimination of pollutant discharge into navigable waters. The act was amended in 1987 to include increased attention on nonpoint sources of pollution as well as point sources because a large portion of the nation's rivers, lakes, and streams have experienced some amount of impairment due to nonpoint pollution sources (EPA 1991).

The Clean Water Act gives states the primary responsibility for achieving the act's goals. The federal government provides minimum standards for water quality management programs and provides some funding to implement those programs. If states do not maintain a program that meets minimum standards for water quality, then the federal government has the authority to assume responsibility for water quality management in that state.

The Clean Water Act requires states to identify nonpoint sources of water pollution from a considerable range of activities including, but not limited to, agriculture, grazing, recreation, mining, and forestry. States are required to develop management programs for controlling nonpoint sources of pollution.

Through the federal regulations implementing the Clean Water Act, states are also required to adopt an "antidegradation policy." This means that states must adopt as part of their water quality standards a policy stating that existing water quality shall be maintained and protected (O'Laughlin 1996*b*).

Idaho implements the Clean Water Act for forestry activities through the **Idaho Forest Practices Act**, described below. A more complete analysis of the nonpoint source pollution provisions of the federal Clean Water Act and its implications for Idaho was completed by the Policy Analysis Group in 1996 (see PAG Report #14, O'Laughlin 1996*b*).

**4.1.4. Idaho Forest Practices Act.** The Idaho Forest Practices Act applies to state and private forest land, and, through a Memorandum of Agreement, to federal forest lands in Idaho. The act recognizes that "federal, state, and private forest lands make a vital contribution to Idaho by providing jobs, products, tax base, and other social and economic benefits, by helping to maintain forest tree species, soil, air and water resources, and by providing a habitat for wild-life and aquatic life" (Idaho Code § 38-1302(1)). The act also says that "it is the public policy of the state to encourage forest practices on these lands that maintain and enhance those benefits and re-

sources for the people of the state of Idaho" (Idaho Code § 38-1302(1)).

Forest practices include the harvesting of trees, road construction associated with harvesting, reforestation, the use of chemicals and fertilizers in forest management, the management of slashings, and the salvage of dead or dying timber that is threatened by insects, disease, windthrow, fire or extremes of weather (Idaho Code § 38-1303(1)).

The act instructs the Idaho State Board of Land Commissioners to establish standards for the conduct of forest practices that will:

- (a) Provide for harvesting that will maintain the productivity of the forest land, minimize soil and debris entering streams and protect wildlife and fish habitat.
- (b) Provide for road construction that will insure protection and maintenance of forest productivity, water quality and fish and wildlife habitat during construction and maintenance.
- (c) Provide for reforestation that will maintain a continuous growing and harvesting of trees, and requiring stabilization of soils which have become exposed as a result of harvesting;
- (d) Provide for the use of chemicals or fertilizers in such a manner that the public health and aquatic and wildlife habitat will not be endangered from their handling, storage and application.
- (e) Provide for management of slashings in that manner necessary to protect reproduction and residual stands, to reduce risk from fire and insects and disease, to optimize the conditions for future regeneration of forest tree species, and to maintain air and water quality and fish and wildlife habitat.
- (f) Provide for the timely salvage logging on all forest lands of dead or dying timber or timber that is threatened by various physical elements (Idaho Code 38-1304).

The Idaho Department of Lands (IDL) is responsible for administering the forest practices act on state and private lands. A landowner, timber owner, or operator must notify the IDL before undertaking a forest practice (Idaho Code § 38-1306).

Idaho requires best management practices (BMPs) to protect water quality during timber harvesting and other forestry operations in order to meet the requirements of the federal Clean Water Act (O'Laughlin 1996b). BMPs are discussed in more detail in **Chapter 5**.

# 4.2. National Forest Land-Use Policies

National forests in Idaho are almost 39 percent of the land area in the state and 73 percent of the timberland base. The National Forest System lands are managed by the U.S. Forest Service (USFS), an agency within the U.S. Department of Agriculture. It would be difficult to cover all of the policies that affect national forest management. The most recent version of *The Principal Laws Relating to Forest Service Activities* (USFS 1993*b*) describes 200 laws. There are also regulations and management guidelines that the Forest Service has adopted as policies. Only the major laws and policies are described here.

**4.2.1. Organic** Act. The authority for the president to create forest reserves, now called national forests, was granted in 1891, but no management direction for these lands was provided until 1897, when a law now referred to as the Organic Administration Act, or Organic Act, set out the purposes for which this system of national lands were established. The purposes are "to improve and protect the forest within the boundaries, or for the purpose of securing favorable conditions of water flows, and to furnish a continuous supply of timber for the use and necessities of citizens of the United States" (16 U.S.C. § 475).

**4.2.2.** *Multiple-Use Sustained-Yield Act*. The secretary of agriculture is directed to "develop and administer the renewable surface resources of the national forests for multiple-use and sustained-yield" according to the Multiple-Use Sustained-Yield Act of 1960 (16 U.S.C. § 529). This statute codified the policy that "national forests are established and shall be administered for outdoor recreation, range, timber, watershed, and wildlife and fish purposes" (16 U.S.C. § 528). Congress declared these purposes were "supplemental to, but not in derogation of" the purposes listed in the 1897 Organic Act; however, they have come to be considered the primary purposes for which national forests are managed.

Although Congress' definition of "multiple use" is long, it is worth repeating in its entirety. Multiple use is defined as

the management of all of the various renewable surface resources of the national forests so that they are utilized in the combination that will best meet the needs of the American people; making the most judicious use of the land for some or all of these resources or related services over areas large enough to provide sufficient latitude for periodic adjustments in use to conform to changing needs and conditions; that some land will be used for less than all of the resources; and harmonious and coordinated management of the various resources, each with the other, without impairment of the productivity of the land, with consideration being given to the relative values of the various resources, and not necessarily the combination of uses that will give the greatest dollar return or the greatest unit output (16 U.S.C. § 531(a)).

This definition allows for wide management latitude, but it also lays down three somewhat concrete guidelines (Coggins and Glicksman 1996). First, by cautioning the Forest Service to consider the relative values of the resources and not necessarily the greatest economic return, Congress rejected economic optimality as the governing criteria. Congress' second guideline is in the form of a substantive provision against any of the multiple uses that would permanently impair land productivity. Third, the statute clearly contemplates a mix of uses. Turning a large area over to a single dominant use arguably would run counter to the basic multiple-use philosophy embodied in the statute (Coggins and Glicksman 1996).

"Sustained yield" is defined as "the achievement and maintenance in perpetuity of a high-level annual or regular periodic output of the various renewable resources of the national forests without impairment of the productivity of the land" (16 U.S.C. § 531(b)). Congress did not define "high-level," a term that continues to spur much debate.

Although this law was passed many years before the term "sustainability" became popular, it includes many of the concepts embodied in "sustainability." As we discussed in **Chapter 1**, sustainability is a much broader concept than sustained yield, but the explicit recognition that the use of resources should not impair productivity now, because of subsequent effects on outputs in the future, is fundamental to the concept of sustainability. Congress also recognized that changes in resource uses over time and area would be necessary as peoples' needs and resource conditions changed.

**4.2.3.** Forest and Rangeland Renewable Resources *Planning Act.* The Forest and Rangeland Renewable Resources Planning Act of 1974 (RPA) requires the Forest Service periodically to prepare three planning documents: (1) every ten years an

assessment describing the renewable resources of all the nation's forest and range lands; (2) every five years a program proposing long-range objectives, with a planning horizon of at least forty-five years, for all Forest Service activities; and (3) an annual report evaluating Forest Service activities in comparison with the objectives proposed in the program (Wilkinson and Anderson 1985). The minimum content of the assessment includes (a) an analysis of present and anticipated demand and supply of renewable resources, (b) an inventory of present and potential renewable resources, (c) a description of Forest Service programs and responsibilities, and (d) a discussion of policy considerations, laws, and regulations affecting forest management. The program document includes alternatives for the protection, management, and development of the national forest system (Cubbage et al. 1993). In addition, the RPA requires the President to submit two documents: (1) every five years a statement of policy to be used in framing budget requests for Forest Service activities; and (2) an explanation accompanying each budget that does not request funds necessary to achieve the objectives of the statement of policy (Wilkinson and Anderson 1985).

4.2.4. National Forest Management Act. The National Forest Management Act of 1976 (NFMA) amends RPA by requiring land and resource management planning for units within the National Forest System and additional regulation of timber harvesting on national forests. The major provisions of NFMA require (a) public participation in the planning process, (b) regulations for the preparation and revisions of the management plans, (c) resource management guidelines for controversial management activities such as clearcutting, and (d) economic analysis of management alternatives. A primary focus of NFMA and the implementing regulations is on where timber may be harvested, how much may be cut, and how harvesting is to be carried out (Coggins and Glicksman 1996).

The NFMA and its guidelines represent an ecological approach to sustainability more than any other law (Noss 1993). New regulations for implementing the NFMA emphasize ecological sustainability above all else (65 *Federal Register* 67514 [November 9, 2000]), which seems to be a new management objective for national forests (see **4.4. Ecosystem Management**).

The NFMA is a comprehensive land-use planning law for the National Forest System, and requires the development of a management plan for each national forest. Regulations governing the planning process attempt to insure that forest plans comply with NEPA and conform to multiple-use and sustained-yield principles (Coggins and Glicksman 1996). The regulations provide guidelines for classifying land suitability, inventorying resources, and identifying hazards to resources. Like the Multiple-Use Sustained-Yield Act, the NFMA states that management plans must consider outdoor recreation (including wilderness), range, timber, watershed, wildlife, and fish. Monitoring and evaluation of planning effects to avoid impairment of land productivity is required.

Public participation is required at all stages of planning and management. Administrative appeal processes are included in regulations implementing NFMA, and challengers to forest plans must exhaust the administrative appeal processes before courts will entertain their lawsuits (Coggins and Glicksman 1996).

The NFMA requires that forest plans be updated when there has been significant change in the conditions on a forest, but at least every 15 years. Regulations allow local personnel to amend plans without going through all the procedures in NFMA if the change to the plan is not significant (Coggins and Glicksman 1996).

The NFMA explicitly addresses a number of timber management issues, including which national forest lands are "suitable" for timber harvesting, clearcutting, forest maturity, and departures from sustained yield.

*Timber Suitability*. In developing forest plans under NFMA, the Forest Service must identify areas "which are not suited for timber production, considering physical, economic, and other pertinent factors to the extent feasible" (15 U.S.C. § 1604(k)). Lands unsuitable for timber production are to continue to be treated for reforestation purposes and other multiple-use values are to be protected. The classification of lands as not suited for timber production is to be reviewed at least every 10 years to see if conditions have changed such that they have become suitable for timber production.

NFMA provides guidelines for forest management plans that address the physical suitability of lands for timber harvesting. Timber is supposed to be harvested only where

(i) soil, slope, or other watershed conditions will not be irreversibly damaged; (ii) there is assurance that such lands can be adequately restocked within five years after harvest; (iii) protection is provided for streams, streambanks, shorelines, lakes, wetlands, and other bodies of water from detrimental changes in water temperatures, blockages of water courses, and deposits of sediment, where harvests are likely to seriously and adversely affect water conditions or fish habitat; and (iv) the harvesting system to be used is not selected primarily because it will give the greatest dollar return or the greatest unit output of timber (16 U.S.C. § 1604(g)(3)(E)).

Forest plans also must examine the economic suitability of management for timber production (16 U.S.C. § 1604 (g)(3)(A)). The NFMA implementation regulations state that "the formulation and evaluation of each alternative shall consider the costs and benefits of alternative management intensities for timber production" (C.F.R. § 219.14(c)). The NFMA does not explicitly require the Forest Service to realize a profit on any individual timber sale or on its annual sales overall (Coggins and Glicksman 1996).

*Clearcutting.* NFMA sets out conditions that must be met before the Forest Service can authorize clearcutting on a tract of timber (16 U.S.C. § 1604(g)(3)(F)). Clearcutting cannot be selected as a harvesting method solely because it may produce the greatest amount of timber or monetary return. To authorize a clearcut, the Forest Service must determine, after an interdisciplinary review of effects, that clearcutting is the "optimum method" as judged by the standards in the land use plan. Clearcuts must be limited in size, shaped to blend with the terrain, and carried out in a manner that protects all other resources and allows timber regeneration (Coggins and Glicksman 1996).

*Maturity*. NFMA requires that standards are established to ensure that timber "shall generally have reached the culmination of mean annual increment of growth" before harvest (16 U.S.C. § 1604(m)). However, salvage, thinning, and other timber stand improvement techniques are allowed. Exceptions to these standards are also allowed "for the harvest of particular species of trees in management units after consideration has been given to the multiple use of the forest."

*Sustained Yield and Departures*. NFMA reaffirms that timber is to be managed on a sustained yield basis; however, departures are allowed under certain conditions. Departures must be consistent with the multiple-use objectives of the forest plan, must be made with public participation, and sale quantities averaged over a decade cannot exceed the quantity determined to be sustained yield (16 U.S.C. § 1611(a)). Increases in harvest levels based on intensified management practices, such as reforestation, thinning, and tree improvement are allowed provided that funds are available to continue such practices (16 U.S.C. § 1604 (g)(2)(D)). Salvage of dead timber does not have to be included in the sustained yield volume (16 U.S.C. § 1611(b)).

**Problems with NFMA**. Numerous analysts have identified problems with NFMA and its planning processes (e.g., Wilkinson and Anderson 1985; Baltic et al. 1989; Larsen et al. 1990; Sample 1990; Office of Technology Assessment 1992; O'Laughlin 1993; Coggins and Glicksman 1996; Jenkins 1996; Floyd 1999). It is beyond the scope of this report to enumerate the findings of all of these analysts; however, a brief summary follows.

The Office of Technology Assessment (1992) identified four major findings on forest planning:

- 1. Plan development emphasized timber and other physical outputs,
- 2. Monitoring of forest management activities was inadequate,
- 3. Budget decisions overwhelmed planning decisions,
- 4. National targets could nullify local decisions.

A team from the Forest Service (Larsen et al. 1990), with help from other organizations, concluded that adjustments were needed in the following areas:

- 1. The expectations of planning on the part of citizens, lawmakers, and the Forest Service,
- 2. The Forest Service's attitude toward and conduct of public involvement,
- 3. How the Forest Service conducts planning,
- 4. The simplification and clarification of planning procedures,
- 5. The implementation of plans, particularly to ensure that they are followed and used.
- 6. The connection between appropriations and forest plans.

4.2.5. Road Management and Roadless Area Protection Policies. Idaho's national forests contain about 14,000 miles of inventoried roads, most of which were built to access areas for timber harvest. In January 1998, the Forest Service announced its intention to revamp its policies on road development (63 Federal Register 4349 [January 28, 1998]). Some existing roads have unintended negative ecological impacts such as causing increased frequency of flooding and landslides, increased stream sedimentation, and associated reductions in fish habitat productivity. There are also concerns associated with fragmentation and degradation of habitat for some wildlife species and the introduction of exotic plant species. The Forest Service is also concerned because as federal budgets and timber harvest levels have decreased so has funding for road maintenance.

The Forest Service was to develop "an improved analysis process that assures that the ecological, social, and economic impacts of proposed construction and reconstruction of National Forest System roads are objectively evaluated" (63 Federal Register 4350 [January 28, 1998]). That analysis process was released in August 1999 (USFS 1999b). Administrative rules for implementing it were finalized in January 2001(66 Federal Register 3205 [January 12, 2001]). The rule shifts the emphasis of road management from transportation development to managing environmentally sound access. The strategy includes new analytical decision tools, aggressive decommissioning of nonbeneficial roads, and maintenance and improvement of important roads. It is not clear exactly how this strategy will affect timber harvest levels on Idaho's national forests; however, it is clear that road building associated with timber harvesting will be more closely scrutinized.

Also in January 1998, the U.S. Forest Service proposed a moratorium on building new roads into roadless areas of national forests for 18 months or until the new process for analysis of roading was completed and adopted (63 *Fed. Reg.* 4352). This moratorium went into effect in February 1999 and has affected timber harvesting on national forests in Idaho.

In October 1999, President Clinton directed the U.S. Forest Service to develop regulations that would "provide appropriate long-term protection" for some 40-50 million acres of roadless areas nationwide. The management of over nine million acres of roadless areas in Idaho's national forests have long been contentious (see MacCracken et al. 1993). The final environmental impact statement for roadless area conservation nationwide was released November 9, 2000 (USFS 2000*c*), and the record of decision was published in January 2001(66 *Federal Register* 3243 [January 12, 2001]).

The preferred alternative in the final environmental impact statement (Alternative 3) would prohibit road construction, reconstruction, and timber harvest except for stewardship purposes within inventoried roadless areas, while excepting road reconstruction needed for road safety improvements and federal highway aid projects (USFS 2000*c*). About 5.7 million of the 9.3 million acres (61%) of inventoried roadless areas in Idaho are currently allocated to management that allows road construction and reconstruction.

The final environmental impact statement (USFS 2000*c*) estimates that timber harvests planned in inventoried roadless areas from FY 2000 to FY 2004 in Idaho's national forests are almost 159 million board feet. About 72 million board feet of that total (45%) are in areas that will require road construction or reconstruction and thus subject to reduction. Almost 84 million board feet of the planned sales can be harvested using helicopters, cable and ground-based systems that do not require road construction or reconstruction. More than 76 million board feet of those sales (91%) are for stewardship purposes (USFS 2000*c*).

Although the policies associated with road management, roadless areas, and timber harvesting on national forests are in flux, it appears the results will be reductions in the amount of land where timber management activities take place and in the amount of timber harvested from national forests in Idaho.

#### 4.3. Laws Protecting Wilderness and Biodiversity

Congress has enacted several statutes in the recognition that development of lands and resources to meet human purposes can diminish other values. Wilderness values and the values associated with biological diversity have been recognized as important by Congress. These two areas of the law have impacts on timber harvesting because the Wilderness Act reserves federal land from timber harvesting, and biodiversity protection law, especially the Endangered Species Act (ESA), tempers the use of land and resources for economic purposes by requiring adequate concern and conservation of threatened and endangered species. The "diversity" mandate of the National Forest Management Act (NFMA) also protects biodiversity on National Forest System lands.

**4.3.1. Wilderness Act.** The Wilderness Act of 1964 creates statutory wilderness. Congress gave itself the authority to create the National Wilderness Preservation System from lands already administered by federal agencies. The purpose of the act is to "secure for the American people of present and future generations the benefits of an enduring resource of wilderness...to be administered for the use and enjoyment of the American people in such a manner as will leave them unimpaired." The act defines wilderness as "an area where the earth and its community

of life are untrammeled by man, where man himself is a visitor and does not remain." Idaho has about 4 million acres in the National Wilderness Preservation System.

Congress defined the purposes of wilderness as recreational, scenic, scientific, educational, conservation, and historic use. Timber harvesting in wilderness areas is generally prohibited by the act and Forest Service regulations.

**4.3.2.** Wild and Scenic Rivers Act. In 1968, Congress passed the Wild and Scenic Rivers Act, creating the National Wild and Scenic Rivers System. The purpose of the system is to preserve sections of free-flowing rivers and their immediate environments for scenic, recreational, fish and wildlife, and other similar values (16 U.S.C. § 1271). Idaho has 574 miles of rivers designated within the system, including portions of the Clearwater, Salmon, Snake, Rapid, and St. Joe Rivers. All rivers in the system in Idaho are managed by the Forest Service.

The act protects not only the river course, but also a corridor of land on each side along it's length. The corridor for designated rivers cannot exceed 320 acres per mile without Congressional approval (16 U.S.C. § 1274(b)). If applied uniformly along a designated stretch, the corridor cannot exceed onequarter mile on each side of the river; however, corridors are not usually uniform in width.

Timber harvesting practices on federal lands located within the corridor must be designed to help achieve land management objectives consistent with the protection and enhancement of the values which caused the river to be added to the system. Designation is not likely to significantly affect timber harvesting beyond existing limitations to protect riparian zones and wetlands which are guided by other legal mandates and planning directions (see, e.g., 4.3.3. Endangered Species Act) (Interagency Wild and Scenic Rivers Coordinating Council 1999). Federal timber harvesting activities outside the corridor cannot adversely affect the values which caused the river to be designated. Under the act, the only way the federal government can restrict private timber harvesting is through the purchase of timber rights or under cooperative agreement (Interagency Wild and Scenic Rivers Coordinating Council 1999).

**4.3.3. Endangered Species** Act. The Endangered Species Act (ESA) is a federal law that applies to all land ownerships, public or private. The ESA provides for the protection and recovery of plant and

animal species that are identified as being threatened or endangered with extinction (see PAG Report #13, O'Laughlin and Cook 1995).

*Identification of Imperiled Species.* The ESA gives two agencies, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) and the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS), the responsibility for identifying, protecting, and recovering threatened or endangered species. The identification process is called "listing." Idaho has 22 listed species (Table 4-1). In Idaho, the USFWS is responsible for all the listed species, except salmon and steelhead which are the responsibility of the NMFS because these fish are anadromous, spending a portion of their lives in the ocean.

Habitat alteration and destruction are recognized as being the largest causes of endangerment for many species. "Critical habitat" is the specific geographic area essential for the conservation of a protected species and may require special management considerations or protection.

*ESA Protection: Section 7*. The ESA protects species through several different mechanisms. The first group of protections are in section 7 of the ESA. Even though these provisions apply only to federal actions by federal agencies, they can affect private interests as well, particularly in Idaho. Because these restrictions apply to any action that involves federal authorization, private individuals may be involved because of leases, permits, or costsharing funds from federal agencies. Also, in Idaho over 60 percent of the land base is managed by the federal government, so the potential for federal actions to affect private individuals is large.

Section 7 says an agency's actions cannot "jeopardize" a listed species. "Jeopardize" is defined by federal regulation as "actions that reasonably would be expected, directly or indirectly, to reduce appreciably the likelihood of both the survival and recovery of a listed species in the wild by reducing the reproduction, number, or distribution of the species." Section 7 also says that an agency's actions cannot "result in the destruction or adverse modification of the species critical habitat."

Federal land management agencies (e.g., the Forest Service and the Bureau of Land Management) must consult with the USFWS or the NMFS to determine whether their proposed actions will jeopardize a listed species. Few proposed projects are terminated because of consultation; however, projects often must be modified to avoid jeopardizing listed species, and many projects are delayed by

Table 4-1. Endangered and threatened species protected in Idaho by the Endangered Species Act.					
	Endangered	Threatened			
Mammals	Gray wolf Woodland caribou	Grizzly bear Canada lynx Northern Idaho ground squirrel			
Birds	Whooping crane	Bald eagle			
Fishes	Kootenai River white sturgeon Snake River sockeye salmon	Snake River chinook salmon (spring/summer & fall runs) Snake River steelhead Bull trout			
Snails	Utah valvata snail Idaho springsnail Snake River physa snail Banbury Springs limpet Bruneau Hot Springsnail	Bliss Rapids snail			
Plants		MacFarlane's four-o'clock Water howellia Ute ladies'-tresses			
Total	10	12			

the consultation process (O'Laughlin and Cook 1995).

*ESA Protection: Section 9*. The second set of protections are in Section 9 of the ESA and apply to any individual. Section 9 prevents the "take" of endangered animals. "Take" is defined in the ESA as "harass, harm, pursue, hunt, shoot, kill, trap, capture, or collect, or attempt to engage in any such conduct." This definition has been interpreted broadly to include not only actions towards individual animals, but significant modification or degradation of their habitats (O'Laughlin and Cook 1995).

**Recovery of Imperiled Species**. The ultimate goal of the ESA is to recover species to the point where the protections of the act are no longer necessary. The services must develop a recovery plan for each species that identifies measures that will resolve the threats to the species, the time and costs associated with those measures, and objective quantifiable criteria for determining when the species has recovered sufficiently to be delisted, or removed from the list of protected species.

**ESA and Forest Management**. The ESA affects forest management and timber harvesting in Idaho

because many listed species depend on forests as part of their habitat. For example, grizzly bears require large areas of forested habitat where the incidence of human contact is low. Timber harvesting and other activities continue to occur in grizzly bear habitat in Idaho, but the levels of these activities are probably lower than if grizzlies were not present or not managed under the mandates of the ESA (PAG Report #12, MacCracken et al. 1994). However, it is extremely difficult to differentiate the impacts of grizzly bear conservation from those associated with dispersed recreation goals, maintaining old-growth forests, the needs of other wildlife species, and maintaining water quality (MacCracken et al. 1994).

The listed runs of Snake River salmon and steelhead also have impacts on forest management (see *PACFISH* and *INFISH* sections below). Forest managers in Idaho foresaw the largest impacts on decreased levels of timber harvest in the state from restrictions under the ESA (Haminishi et al. 1995).

The ESA is a straightforward law in design, but quite difficult to implement. The law has several other provisions and consequences not described here. A complete analysis of the ESA by the Policy Analysis Group was completed in 1995 (see PAG Report #13, O'Laughlin and Cook 1995).

4.3.4. NFMA Diversity Mandate. The National Forest Management Act (NFMA) says that guidelines in individual forest plans for national forests should "provide for diversity of plant and animal communities based on the suitability and capability of the specific land area to meet overall multiple-use objectives" and "where appropriate, to the degree practicable for steps to be taken to preserve the diversity of tree species similar to that existing in the region" (16 U.S.C. § 1604(g)(2)(B)). The wording in this section of NFMA incorporates fudge factors not found in other sections and thus is likely less of a restriction on Forest Service discretion to sell timber than other sections. Most of the court decisions interpreting the diversity requirement have exhibited considerable deference to Forest Service choices (Coggins and Glicksman 1996). However, there is little doubt that a principal reason for the recent revisions to NFMA regulations is implementation of the species diversity mandate (see further discussion in 4.5.1. National Forest Lands).

**4.3.5. PACFISH**. In 1991, three runs of Snake River salmon in Idaho were listed under the ESA. In 1992, the Forest Service began working on conservation strategies for managing anadromous fish-producing watersheds, an effort known as PACFISH, for Pacific Anadromous Fish Strategy (USFS & BLM 1994b). In 1993 the BLM joined the PACFISH effort, and in February 1995 PACFISH was adopted by both agencies. Seven of ten national forests in Idaho and two of three BLM districts have portions of their land in anadromous fish habitat and thus are covered by PACFISH provisions.

Under PACFISH, interim buffer zones, or Riparian Habitat Conservation Areas (RHCAs), have been created for all riparian areas on Forest Service and BLM lands in the range of anadromous fish. On fish-bearing streams, the RHCA extends for at least 300 feet on either side of the stream channel. On permanently flowing non-fish-bearing streams, the RHCA extends for at least 150 feet on either side of the stream channel. For seasonally flowing or intermittent streams the RHCA extends for at least 100 feet on either side of the stream channel in Key Watersheds and 50 feet in non-Key Watersheds. Key Watersheds are a) those identified as having stocks of fish listed under ESA, b) watersheds that contain excellent habitat for mixed salmonid assemblages, and c) degraded watersheds with a high restoration potential. Interim Riparian Management Objectives (RMOs) have been established for the RHCAs and include pool frequency, water temperature, large woody debris, bank stability, lower bank angle, and width/depth ratio.

Timber harvest, including fuelwood cutting, is prohibited in RHCAs except for salvaging of trees in riparian areas that are degraded by catastrophic events such as fire, flooding, wind, and insects, and where salvaging impacts are consistent with RMOs. Other silvicultural practices that are consistent with RMOs also can take place in RHCAs.

PACFISH interim standards for RHCAs and RMOs apply until a more site-specific, watershed analysis is completed. **Chapter 6** of this report examines watershed analysis in detail.

PACFISH was developed as a temporary strategy until more long-term direction is provided in the Upper Columbia River Basin Environmental Impact Statement (UCRB EIS) (see *4.4.2. Interior Columbia Basin Ecosystem Management Project*). PACFISH was originally supposed to last 18 months, ending in September 1996. However, because of delays in the development and release of the UCRB EIS, PACFISH standards are still in force. The draft of UCRB EIS was released in May 1997, a supplemental UCRB EIS was released in April 2000, and a final EIS and Record of Decision in December 2000.

Impact of PACFISH on Timber Harvest Levels. PACFISH has had an impact on timber harvest levels on federal lands in Idaho. The Environmental Assessment for PACFISH estimated its restrictions would reduce harvest in the entire action area, including Idaho, Washington, Oregon, and northern California, by 58 million board feet. The Clearwater and Nez Perce National Forests and the Coeur d'Alene BLM District were expected to cancel some timber sales, with the Clearwater National Forest accounting for about 90 percent of the volume lost for the entire action area (USFS & BLM 1994b).

However, in a subsequent analysis, Forest Service analysts found the Environmental Assessment's estimates to be low (Bolon et al. 1995). Most national forests and BLM districts within Idaho reported that timber harvest volumes would decline due to PACFISH (Table 4-2). ESA consultation, other special management considerations, and underfunding had already dropped timber harvest levels 38% from planned national forest and BLM timber sales volumes. PACFISH was estimated to drop timber harvest levels 11% from the 1993 levels

Table 4-2. Impac	Table 4-2. Impact of applying PACFISH strategy on Idaho federal lands, average annual data, 1994-2003.							
Forest or district	Percent of area within the range of anadro- mous fish	Allowable timber harvest* from plan (level 1) [mmbf]	Actual allowable timber harvest with constraints (level 2) [mmbf]	Change from level 1 to level 2	Allowable timber harvest with PACFISH strategy mitigation (level 3) [mmbf]	Change from level 1 to level 3	Change from level 2 to level 3	Cost to apply the PACFISH strategy (with mitigation)
BLM district								
Salmon	83%	1.85	1.54	-17%	1.47	-21%	-5%	\$19,000
Coeur d'Alene	52%	5.70	5.70	0%	5.40	-5%	-5%	\$47,360
Total BLM		7.55	7.24	-4%	6.87	-9%	-5%	\$66,360
National forest								
Boise	17%	85.00	83.90	-1%	83.40	-2%	-1%	\$292,800
Challis	83%	3.00	0.00	-100%	82.30	-100%	0%	\$25,000
Payette	77%	86.00	86.00	0%	82.30	-4%	-4%	\$228,000
Salmon	98%	21.10	17.70	-16%	17.70	-16%	-0%	\$18,600
Sawtooth	80%	1.50	1.50	0%	0.75	-50%	-50%	\$27,560
Nez Perce	100%	108.00	45.00	-59%	38.00	-65%	-16%	\$173,000
Clearwater	45%	173.30	60.00	-65%	40.00	-77%	-33%	\$108,000
Total national forest		477.90	294.10	-38%	262.15	-45%	-11%	\$872,960
Total BLM and national forest		485.45	301.34	-38%	269.02	-45%	-11%	\$939,320

\* Allowable timber harvest for national forests is the average annual ASQ, or allowable sale quantity; for BLM lands it is the average annual DSHL, or decadal sustainable harvest level.

Source: Bolon et al. (1995).

(Bolon et al. 1995). Actual timber harvest levels from Idaho's national forests dropped 60% between 1990 and 1995 (Keegan et al. 1997).

**4.3.6.** *INFISH.* In July 1995, the Forest Service undertook the Inland Native Fish Strategy (INFISH) in an effort similar to PACFISH, but designed to protect inland native fish communities, particularly those of bull trout (*Salvelinus confluentus*). INFISH applies to all watersheds on national forests in Idaho not covered by the PACFISH agreement. INFISH uses RHCAs and RMOs similar to those in PACFISH (USFS 1995*a*). INFISH is also a temporary strategy that will remain in place until a record of decision is reached on the UCRB EIS.

# 4.4. Ecosystem Management

Since the late 1980s, federal land and resource management agencies have been struggling to broaden the scope of management considerations from a focus on individual resources and outputs to a more comprehensive or holistic approach to planning and managing lands. The driving forces behind this are environmental laws, and especially the laws protecting biodiversity. The most widely used term for this new approach to planning and management is "ecosystem management" (see Agee and Johnson 1988). We will call it EM for short. The term "ecosystembased management" is also used herein to mean the same thing. EM has been described as a "fuzzy" concept (More 1996) and has not been expressly sanctioned in any of the governing natural resource or public land management laws (Keiter 1994). However, because of its increasing use as a means of managing natural resources in both the public and private sector, EM affects timber harvesting in Idaho.

**4.4.1. Ecosystem Management as Policy**. In June 1992, Dale Robertson was Chief of the Forest Service. He sent a memo to agency officials stating "that the U.S. Forest Service is committed to using an ecological approach in the future management of the National Forests and Grasslands." This approach has become known as ecosystem management, or EM. Since Chief Robertson's 1992 announcement, EM has become one of the most widely used terms in resource management. Literally hundreds of articles, books, symposia, and other written materials have been devoted to defining and implementing it. It would be impossible to review all the literature here, but we provide a short discussion.

There is no widely accepted definition of EM, but Moote et al. (1994) provide an overview of five principles common to many views of the concept (Table 4-3). Some have criticized the concept because it lacks precise definition (e.g., More 1996, Christensen et al. 1996, Fitzsimmons 1996). The U.S. Congress has yet to create a statutory definition for EM. Some observers feel a statutory definition would add legitimacy to the EM concept as a federal land management direction (Keiter 1994, Keiter 1996). Other observers, including Yaffee (1996), insist that there is ample statutory authority already in place for federal agencies to undertake EM. Different and opposing interests are competing to give EM a substantive content consistent with their particular view of appropriate natural resource policy (CRS 1994). Although unsettling, this process may actually reflect a familiar evolutionary pattern for the transformation of a new experimental policy into a legal imperative (Keiter 1996).

Despite lack of statutory definition, EM is setting the agenda for environmental policy (Haeuber 1996). At least 18 federal agencies have explored the EM concept and its implications for their various activities (Haeuber and Franklin 1996). Each of the land and resource management agencies has drafted policy guidance for EM approaches to their missions. Other agencies have created partnerships to launch EM projects around the country. Similar activities are occurring at state and local government levels, and in the non-governmental sector (Haeuber and Franklin 1996).

Why has the use of EM grown despite lacking a statutory definition? One explanation is that management at an ecosystem scale makes scientific sense and offers some hope of improving today's complex natural resource controversies (Keiter 1996).

Some EM concepts can be traced back to the 1930s (Grumbine 1994). Aldo Leopold's (1949) classic *A Sand County Almanac* is given credit by many, including former Chief Robertson, for many of the concepts embodied in EM.

Two basic EM concepts or viewpoints are in use today (Stanley 1995). One view entails a fundamental reframing of how humans value nature and represents a shift from anthropocentric values toward biocentric values (see **Chapter 2**). The other view retains anthropocentric values—focusing on forest outputs—but gives more attention to ecological and social values (Stanley 1995).

To some people EM is a profoundly new approach to land and resource management; to others, it is simply a new term for what resource managers have always been doing (Irland 1994). To others, EM is a green codeword, emphasizing the protection and restoration of ecological structure, function, and process while de-emphasizing the development of economic resources (see Grumbine 1994).

Ecosystem management involves key differences from traditional forest management (Table 4-4). Although there is not yet consensus on how to implement ecosystem management (Montgomery et al. 1995), implementing it will require adjustments to policies and institutions that affect forests (Cortner et al. 1996). Timber harvesting methods and levels are likely to change as ecosystem management policies are implemented on the national forests.

4.4.2. Interior Columbia Basin Ecosystem Management Project. One of the first efforts that attempts to apply ecosystem management at a large, regional scale is the Interior Columbia Basin Ecosystem Management Project (ICBEMP). The definition of ecosystem-based management use in the ICBEMP (1997) is: "Scientifically based land and resource management that integrates ecological capabilities with social values and economic relationships, to produce, restore, or sustain ecosystem integrity and desired conditions, uses, products, values, and services over the long term." Table 4-3. Principles of ecosystem management.

**Ecosystem management** is a management philosophy that [a] focuses on desired conditions, rather than system outputs, and [b] recognizes the need to protect or restore critical ecological components, functions, and structures in order to sustain resources in perpetuity.

Five principles characterize ecosystem management:

*1. Socially Defined Goals and Management Objectives*. Desired conditions and the means by which we choose to achieve these conditions are social values. Therefore, ecosystem management, like all forms of management, is a socially defined process. Nevertheless, human society needs to adapt its activities to protect crucial ecological processes.

2. Integrated, Holistic Science. Ecosystem management uses a holistic approach, rather than focusing on specific system outputs. It attempts to conserve biodiversity from the genetic to the community level. Ecosystems are recognized as open, changing, complex systems. Ecosystem management focuses on the dynamic interrelations of system components—including social, political, economic, biological, and physical features—and requires a better understanding of each of these components and their interrelations. Humans are recognized as a part of ecosystems.

**3.** Broad Spatial and Temporal Scales. Specific scales of management will be determined individually for each system, based on societal values and goals. In general, however, ecosystem management must work over larger spatial and longer temporal scales than has been the norm in resource management. It requires management across ecological, political, generational, and ownership boundaries.

4. Collaborative Decision Building. Successful planning for ecosystem management must be sensitive to the different mandates, objectives, and constituencies of agencies and landowners. Therefore, there is a need for cooperative, integrated data collection and planning, characterized by open communication among scientists, resource management agencies, and private interests. Participants should strive for joint organizational and community learning that acknowledges the values and expertise each participant brings to the planning process.

**5.** *Adaptable institutions*. Institutions for ecosystem management must reflect its experimental nature. Organizations, laws, policies, and management practices need to be flexible, so that they may adapt to changes in social values, environmental conditions, political pressures, available data, and knowledge. Adaptable institutions treat management as a learning process in which decisions are continuously reviewed and revised, and therefore allow planning and decision-making to go forward in the face of uncertainty. At the same time, it is recognized that institutional decision-making is bounded by the currently defined limits of planning and management and by socio-political factors.

Source: Moote et al. (1994).

The ICBEMP project area includes all the land area in the Columbia River drainage east of the crest of the Cascade Mountains. This area includes all of Idaho, except the Bear Valley in southeastern corner of the state, eastern Washington and Oregon, and western Montana. The ICBEMP project area is approximately 144 million acres, of which 72 million acres are public lands administered by the U.S. Forest Service or the BLM. The ICBEMP was initiated for the following reasons:

 To identify existing or emerging resource problems that transcend jurisdictional boundaries, such as forest health problems and declining salmon populations, and to propose potential solutions that can best be addressed on a large scale;

Table 4-4. Key differences between traditional forest management and forest ecosystem management.						
	Traditional forest management	Forest ecosystem management				
Philosophical base	• Utilitarian	• Environmental ethic, based on Aldo Leopold (1949)				
Objectives	Maximize commodity production	• Maintain the forest ecosystem as an interconnected whole, while allowing for sustainable commodity production				
	Maximize net present value	Maintain future options				
Constraints	• Sustained yield—periodic harvest or use of outputs must be less than or equal to their periodic growth or capacity (e.g., allowable timber cut, or recreation carrying capacity)	<ul> <li>Long-term ecosystem sustainability</li> <li>Maintain forest aesthetics</li> <li>Social acceptability of management practices</li> </ul>				
Role of science	• View of forest management as applied science	• View of forest management as combining scientific and social considerations				
Value	• Forest valued as a resource— instrumental value only	• Forest valued instrumentally and intrinsically				
	Singular-focused valuation	Pluralistic valuation				
Major themes	• Focuses on outputs—goods and services demanded by people (e.g., timber, recreation, wildlife, and forage)	• Focuses on inputs and processes (e.g., soil, natural capital, biological diversity, and ecological processes)				
	• Management that fits industrial production processes (the "regulated forest")	• Management that mimics natural processes				
	• Timber is the most important forest output ("timber primacy")	• All species—plant and animal—are important				
	• Impending timber shortage/famine	Biodiversity loss				
	• Mechanistic, reductionist view of forests	• Systems view of forests—the forest is more than the sum of its individual parts				
	Scale—typically stand-level	Scale—ecosystem- and landscape-level				
	• Planning/management unit— political or ownership boundaries	• Planning/management unit— ecosystems				
	Economic efficiency	Cost-effectiveness, social acceptability				

Source: Bengston (1994).

- [2] To develop management strategies using a comprehensive, "big picture" approach, and disclose interrelated actions and cumulative effects using scientific methods in an open public process;
- [3] To address certain large-scale issues, such as species viability and biodiversity, from a larger context using an interagency team. This method is more cost-effective than each Bureau of Land Management (BLM) District and National Forest conducting independent efforts;
- [4] To respond to President Clinton's July 1993 direction to develop a scientifically sound, ecosystem-based management strategy for lands administered by the BLM or U.S. Forest Service in the upper Columbia River Basin; and
- [5] To replace interim management strategies (PACFISH and Inland Native Fish Strategy) with a consistent long-term management strategy (ICBEMP 1997).

The design of the management strategies proposed as a result of the ICBEMP were driven by the need to: (1) "restore and maintain long-term ecosystem health and integrity," and (2) "support, within the capacity of the land, the economic and/or social needs of people, cultures, and communities, and provide sustainable and predictable levels of products and services from U.S. Forest Service and BLM-administered lands" (ICBEMP 1997).

Work on the ICBEMP project was divided into two major efforts: the scientific assessment (Quigley et al. 1997) and the management strategy (ICBEMP 1997). The management strategy is contained in two environmental impact statements (EIS), one for the east side of Oregon and Washington and one for the Upper Columbia River Basin, which includes Idaho and western Montana. Drafts of these EISs were released in May 1997. They were subjected to constructive criticism by professional foresters (see Hill 1998, O'Laughlin et al. 1998). The two analysis areas were combined into one, called the Interior Columbia Basin, and in December 2000, Final Environmental Impact Statement and Proposed Decision documents were released for public review (ICBEMP 2000). If the Record of Decision is signed, all land-use plans currently in effect on Forest Service and BLM lands in the region will be amended. Two additional levels of analysis will be required before management activities can be conducted. One of them is subbasin review, the other is watershed analysis. Interim Riparian Conservation Areas (RCAs) and Riparian Management Objectives (RMOs) similar to PACFISH apply until watershed analysis is performed. We discuss watershed analysis thoroughly in **Chapter 6**.

The proposed decision alternative promotes broad-scale restoration and maintenance of ecosystems. Timber harvesting would increase by 21% over what a continuation of current PACFISH/ INFISH guidelines would allow. The size and quality of logs produced would decrease because thinning and harvest activities would be guided by objectives to restore stands to conditions within the historic range of variability. It is expected that employment levels within the basin would increase by 3,900 jobs; 35-40% of them in stewardship timber harvesting and 60-65% associated with prescribed fire and fuels management (ICBEMP 2000). In the ICBEMP final EIS document, it is not possible to separate out projected effects on Idaho from those in Washington, Oregon, and Montana. However, from responses to comments in the document, it appears that Idaho harvest levels were pegged at the 1995-1997 average of 300 million board feet per year, and a 21% increase can be expected if the proposed alternative is adopted in the final Record of Decision.

# 4.5. Management Objectives

Each owner of forest land has a unique set of management objectives or goals that, in part, are policies for determining how that land is managed. Within the sideboards or constraints of federal and state laws, the management objectives of Idaho landowners will determine whether or not timber harvesting is an appropriate activity and will determine how sustainability is incorporated into management of the land.

**4.5.1.** National Forest Lands. As previously indicated, the basic management objective for the national forests as stated in law is found in the Multiple-Use Sustained-Yield Act. The U.S. Forest Service is to manage national forests for outdoor recreation, range, timber, watershed, and wildlife and fish purposes in the combination that will best meet the needs of the American people. However, management objectives arising from the implementation of ecosystem management also affect the national forests.

National Forest Management Act planning regulations make sustainability the overall goal of national forest management (65 *Federal Register* 67514 [November 9, 2000]. According to these new regulations, the first priority is to maintain or restore ecological sustainability of national forests. Economic and social sustainability are secondary goals after ecological sustainability. Although some people feel that the regulations have changed the management objectives of national forests without the necessary changes in laws, the planning regulations are now final. Whether they will be challenged in the court system remains to be seen.

4.5.2. State Endowment Lands. The purpose of Idaho's endowment lands as set forth in the Idaho Constitution is to manage the lands "in such manner as will secure the maximum long term financial return to the beneficiary." These lands were granted to the state of Idaho by the federal government at the time statehood in 1890. These lands include almost one million acres of timberlands that are managed as a trust for the benefit of the beneficiary, which are common or public schools within the state and the other specifically designated beneficiaries of the land grants. The land was given only for specific purposes defined in statutory law and the state constitution and is now firmly supported by case law (see O'Laughlin 1990). In FY 1997, timber sales contributed \$55.2 million to the state endowment fund.

**4.5.3.** Forest Industry Lands. Forest lands owned by forest industry companies are managed for a variety of reasons. The primary reason is to ensure that the manufacturing facilities of the firm have a continuous supply of wood. These lands have been an insurance policy more than a profit center (O'Laughlin and Ellefson 1982).

These lands tend to be managed more intensively for the production of timber than lands in other ownerships. The mission of these companies is often expressed as providing financial return to shareholders. For example, two of the largest forest products firms operating in Idaho are Boise-Cascade Corporation and Potlatch Corporation. Boise Cascade states its mission as

to continuously improve the company's longterm value to customers, employees, shareholders and society... Our goal is to achieve a return on invested capital over the course of each business cycle that exceeds the company's cost of capital.

#### Potlatch Corporation says its

business philosophy is committed to increased earnings and superior rate of return, achieved by talented, well-trained and highly motivated people who are properly support by a sound financial structure and a keen sense of responsibility for the environment and to all the publics with whom the company has contact...Our goal at Potlatch is to earn a superior rate of return for our shareholders over the long term. In the end we should not measure ourselves in any other way.

These overall corporate objectives do not imply that private industrial forest landowners do not care about the land that they manage. The long-term financial health of private companies partially depends on the ability of lands to continue to produce timber in the future. Boise Cascade states: "We manage our forests to provide the wood fiber our mills need and to ensure that supply is always available."

#### 4.5.4. Non-Industrial Private Forest (NIPF)

*Lands*. Non-industrial private landowners own forest land for many reasons. Their management objectives influence their forest management and timber harvesting decisions. In a survey of non-industrial private forest (NIPF) owners in Idaho, Force and Lee (1991) found that wood for domestic use, esthetic enjoyment, and wildlife appreciation were the three major benefits from forest ownership. The most important reason for owning forest land was "to preserve natural beauty and wildlife." This was followed by four other nonmonetary related reasons before the sixth-ranked reason of "to obtain income from timber." Owners of larger forest acreages tended to place more emphasis on timber.

Fifty-six percent of all Idaho NIPF owners reported that they had harvested timber in the past (Force and Lee 1991). One-fourth said they would not harvest timber in the future, one-fifth said they would do so in the next five years, one-tenth in the next 6-10 years, and the remaining 45% were uncertain about harvest plans. Small landowners were more likely to say they would not harvest timber, and timber prices were more important in the decision of when to harvest for large landowners.

**4.5.5.** American Indian Tribal Lands. Timber inventory statistics compiled by the U.S. Forest Service (e.g., Brown and Chojnacky 1996) include tribal lands with non-industrial private forests. In-

dian tribes are sovereign nations. In Idaho, Indian nations own about 94,000 acres of timberland. Many tribal issues related to resource management in Idaho are described and discussed further in ICBEMP (1997). Tribes tend to have different management objectives for their lands than other owners. Their objectives are based on their worldview (see **Chapter 2**).

Today, American Indians continue to actively manage their forest resources for economic development and subsistence use. In Idaho, for example, the Coeur d'Alene Tribe manages about 27,000 acres of forest. The tribal council approves logging of about 6.5 million board feet from tribal forests each year. However, inherent in this timber management program is an attempt to balance economic gain and conservation for future generations. The Coeur d'Alene logging operations rarely use clearcutting methods, have an extensive replanting and restoration program and follow best management practices (BMPs) when harvesting (Roesler 1995).

# 4.6. Forest Certification

"Certification" is a new, rapidly developing area of forest management policy. It is the focal point of **Part I** of this analysis, available separately (PAG Report #18, Cook and O'Laughlin 1999). Certification promotes sustainable forest management by assessing forest management practices and/or forest management systems based on a set of standards (SAF 1995). Most of the industrial forest lands in Idaho are either in the process of being certified, or have been certified by a third party.

Our discussion of policies affecting timber harvesting has concentrated on only domestic policies. However, certification provides an opportunity to broaden the discussion to issues that cross national boundaries. The following review raises a few of the global issues that emerge with a movement towards certification of sustainable forest management.

In most temperate forest countries and in many tropical countries, forest policies have been changing to address forest sustainability issues (Sedjo et al. 1998). Certification may play a role in such policy changes. Even if a forestry management policy such as certification cannot by itself assure sustainability, it can be argued that certification could be a catalyst for management changes (Viana 1997). There are several dimensions of these potential policy changes that need to be addressed in the context of certification programs. They are forest management, costs, and wood supplies. **4.6.1.** Forest Management Changes. Individual countries have responded to international and domestic concerns with changes in their domestic laws and policies to improve water quality, protect biological diversity, and implement silvicultural treatments that are more sensitive to public acceptance. Some of these policies are regulatory in nature, while others rely on tax or other incentives (Sedjo et al. 1998).

A great deal of the willingness of firms to change land management procedures appears to be driven by concerns about the acceptability of their product today and in the future in foreign markets, especially some European markets that are expected to become increasingly "green" in the future, such as the United Kingdom and Germany. The Canadians, in particular, seem to be very sensitive to this issue (Sedjo et al. 1998).

Of the eight temperate forest countries selected for analysis by the Resources for the Future study team of Sedjo et al. (1998), all but the United States have instituted major new forest laws or national policies within the past few years, mostly since the 1992 Earth Summit. These countries-Canada, Chile, Finland, Sweden, France, Germany, and New Zealand—appear to have anticipated the evolving reality that includes sustainable forestry and have attempted to update their laws and policies accordingly. In the U.S., although new laws have not been enacted, forest management has been affected by recent litigation and court interpretations of existing statutes. For example, the Endangered Species Act, as now interpreted, provides substantial protection for threatened and endangered species and includes provisions regarding habitat that affect both private and public lands (Sedjo et al. 1998).

The impacts of proposed sustainable forestry policies varies greatly among different countries. For example, the potential impacts of proposed changes in the U.S., Canada, and Sweden would be quite different (Table 4-5). Because of land ownership patterns and other factors, the U.S. faces higher impacts in more categories than do other countries. In general, a low impact rating implies that a policy is likely to have little disruptive effect on forest production and that the costs of accommodating this policy would be modest. A high rating implies just the opposite: the disruption of harvests would likely be large as would be the cost of implementing the policy. (See Sedjo et al. 1998, pp.54-57, for specific examples, and for analyses of 5 other countries not illustrated in Table 4-5.)

Table 4-5. Relative impacts of proposed sustainable forestry policies on selected countries.					
Sustainable Forestry Approach	Canada	Sweden	United States		
Placing limits on harvests from primary or old-growth forests Discouraging conversion of natural	High	Low	Low		
forests to plantations	Low	Low	High		
Restricting conversion of forests to other land uses	Low	Low	Low		
improved stock or exotic species	Low	Medium	High		
Restricting clear cutting	High	High	High		
Restricting use of chemical					
treatments	Low	Medium	High		
Requiring chain-of-custody tracking	Low	Medium	High		

NOTE: These impacts are based on existing practices, land ownership patterns, and forest conditions.

Source: Sedjo et al. (1998)

**4.6.2.** Costs of Certification. Forest products firms have concerns about higher costs of adapting to changes in forest policies and industry practices and about their ability to compete internationally (Sedjo et al. 1998). Most studies suggest cost increases associated with new on-the-ground sustainable practices of at least 5% and often 20%. This does not include the costs of maintaining a "chain-of-custody" control. Increases in management costs will vary widely depending on the conditions of the site (Sedjo et al. 1998).

In general, other things being equal, the types of sustainability criteria that are emerging appear to make it easier and less costly (per unit of output) for large ownerships to adapt than for small ownerships, and less costly for government-owned forests to adapt than for privately owned forests. For example, it would almost certainly be easier for Canada, with the vast majority of its lands in public ownership, to implement uniform sustainability standards and chain-of-custody tracking than for the U.S., with its millions of forest owners. The chain-of-custody issue is likely to be difficult and costly where small ownerships prevail and if many in the area choose not to undertake the new practices. This situation could occur in the U.S. South (Sedjo et al. 1998).

**4.6.3.** World Markets: Where will the wood come from? The market for certified wood products is currently modest and limited, but is growing (see

Cook and O'Laughlin 1999). However, there will almost certainly be a very large market for noncertified wood-based products into the foreseeable future, especially if noncertified wood is less expensive. It would not be surprising if much of the world's industrial roundwood continued to be produced by firms practicing "traditional" forestry that does not incur the higher costs associated with certification (Sedjo et al. 1998). The relationship between the markets for certified and non-certified timber in world trade is yet unclear.

As Figure 2-1 illustrates, demand for wood products in the U.S. is expected to continue to increase, yet policies, particularly for publicly-owned forests, are tending to restrict timber production to protect other forest values. Certification represents a policy that may lower the amount of timber coming from a forest. If forest policies are tending toward reducing timber production, then how will the increasing demand for wood products be met?

Some authors suggest that tree plantations following an agricultural model offer great promise for fulfilling the world's demand for wood (see Sedjo and Botkin 1997, Binkley 1999), but plantations are at odds with some forest certification programs. For example, the Forest Stewardship Council (FSC) administers one of the major forest certification programs. FSC certification promotes natural and native forests and discourages intensively managed forests that utilize fertilization, genetically improved stock, and biotechnically improved pesticides (Sedjo et al. 1998). The end result of certification that rejects intensive management may bestow a comparative timber production advantage on countries with low forest productivity potential, while leaving at a competitive disadvantage the countries blessed with a high productivity potential (Sedjo et al. 1998). The upshot may be that more native and natural forests will be subjected to industrial exploitation than would be if tree plantations were used more extensively for wood production (Binkley 1999). When examined across the globe, two to five fold increases in specific timber yields appear generally to be technically feasible and economically attractive with tree plantations (Binkley 1999). More widespread plantation forestry has a large capacity to free natural forests from intensive exploitation for industrial purposes (see Sedjo and Botkin 1997).

4.7. Conclusions. Many policies affect timber harvesting in Idaho. These range from federal environmental laws to the state Idaho Forest Practices Act to individual landowner's management objectives. Most federal and state policies affecting private lands have been in effect for several decades and their impacts are well known or predictable. Policies affecting federal lands, however, are in flux, and the future of national forest timber harvesting is uncertain. New planning guidelines, new roadless area policy, new road management policy, and perhaps a forthcoming record of decision from the Interior Columbia Basin Ecosystem Management Project have the potential to dramatically alter the national forest policy landscape. Other policies such as voluntary certification of sustainable forest management have the potential to further change the timber harvesting picture in Idaho.

[This page left blank intentionally.]

# Chapter 5. What are timber harvesting's effects on other resources?

Forests are complex systems in which multiple dynamic relationships exist between their various living and non-living components. Therefore, it would be impossible for us to examine all the effects of timber harvesting on all other resources. Instead, we have chosen to look at four resources that are affected by timber harvesting and provide some insight into sustainability. The first resource we examine is timber itself and the ability of a site to produce timber again after harvesting takes place. The other three resources we examine are water, wildlife, and scenery.

Obviously, timber is the primary resource obtained directly from the harvesting of trees. Will the land from which timber is harvested be able to produce the same quantity of timber in the future? Will the quality of timber be the same? Will it take the same amount of time to grow? These questions address long-term site productivity, and the replies depend on many factors. Soil is a key determinant, and the focus of the discussion herein.

Water is a resource we cannot live without. Forests contribute significantly to the quantity and quality of water that flows through them. Water quality is important for fish habitat within forested watersheds as well as for human uses downstream. Timber harvesting can affect water quality, but the effects can be reduced and mitigated through a variety of best management practices.

Some types of wildlife are dependent on forests. How does timber harvesting affect the wildlife that inhabit forests? The answer depends on the type of wildlife. We examine two species—elk and northern goshawk—for which the effects of timber harvesting are not the same.

Scenery, or visual quality, is a resource that many people value from forested watersheds. While scenic beauty may be a less tangible resource than others, changes to it may be what people notice most when timber harvesting occurs.

In this chapter, we concentrate on the physical relationships between timber harvesting and other resources. For three of the resources—timber, water, and wildlife—this puts our discussion primarily in the dimension of ecological sustainability. Scenery and its management, however, falls within the realm of social sustainability.

# 5.1. Variability of Harvesting's Effects

For several reasons, there is no simple answer to the question of what timber harvesting's effects are on other resources. Each resource is affected differently by timber harvesting. What may be beneficial for one resource may be harmful to another.

Timber harvesting is a part of forest management as a whole, so it is difficult to talk about only those effects that are related to timber harvesting. For example, roads are built for a variety of management activities, including accessing timber, and road building activity may affect other resources. The secondary effects of roads and road building can affect site conditions more than the cutting and removal of trees.

The effects of timber harvesting vary by the way in which harvesting is done. Factors such as the percentage of trees removed during harvest and the mechanical means of removing the trees affect results. Lastly, and probably most importantly, the effects of timber harvesting vary because of the diversity of ecosystems in which trees and timber harvesting occur.

5.1.1. Diversity of Ecosystems. The effects of timber harvesting on other resources vary depending on the ecological conditions of the site where harvesting takes place. Ecological conditions are described by the biological and physical ("biophysical") characteristics of an area. These components include such things as climate, landforms, geologic materials, vegetation, land use, and soils (Jensen et al. 1997). An ecological region ("ecoregion") is one way of describing a contiguous area with similar characteristics. Ecoregions can be further subdivided as the scale and similarity of characteristics become more refined. Idaho has been classified into 13 sections of ecoregions, each with a distinct set of biophysical characteristics (Figure 5-1 and Table 5-1). Some of these ecoregion sections support extensive forests, and others do not.

Idaho's climatic and physical features are diverse. Broad-scale landforms present in Idaho include foothills, mountains, glaciated mountains, breaks, plateaus, intermontane basins, till plains, plains, and valleys (Hann et al. 1997). Elevations range from less than 1,000 feet above sea level to almost 13,000 feet. Mean annual temperatures range from 28°F to 58°F (McNab and Avers 1994). Precipitation ranges from about 8 inches per year with very little snow along the Snake River south of



Figure 5-1. Ecoregion sections of Idaho.

Source: Adapted from Hann et al. (1997).

Boise, to over 60 inches with many feet of snowfall in the higher elevations of northern Idaho (Barker et al. 1983). In some places the climate changes dramatically within very short distances. This is especially true with an abrupt rise in elevation in the mountains. Aspect, or the direction a land surface faces, also affects climate; climates of north-facing slopes tend to be more moist and cooler than southfacing slopes.

Idaho also has diverse soil types. Geologic events over millions of years have created many different types of parent material—granite, gneiss, schist, limestone, basalt, volcanic ash—which separately or in combination contribute different physical and chemical characteristics to soil. The variety of soils found across the landscape has been affected by the variety of climates that affect soil formation processes (see Barker et al. 1983).

All of the diversity in the physical environment, particularly topography, leads to diversity in the types of trees and other vegetation that are present. Steele et al. (1981) identified 51 different "habitat types" for the forests of central Idaho. Cooper et al. (1991) identified 46 habitat types for northern Idaho forests.

Habitat types can be aggregated into three potential vegetation groups (PVGs) for forests—either cold, dry, or moist—and two PVGs for woodlands—riparian and other (Hann et al. 1997). Dry forests are typical on lower elevation sites with low levels of precipitation and are generally more dominant in southern Idaho. Moist forests are
Table 5-1. Description of ecoregion sections of Idaho.							
Section	Geo- morphology	Potential natural vegetation	Elev. (ft.)	Precip. (in.)	Temp. (°F)	Disturbance	
Okanogan Highlands	Glaciated mountains with moraines	Douglas-fir forest, Cedar-hemlock- pine forest	2500 to 7000	30 to 80	36 to 46	Fire	
Flathead Valley	Glaciated mountains with moraines	Douglas-fir forest, W. ponderosa forest	2000 to 7000	18 to 100	36 to 45	Fire	
Bitterroot Mountains	Steep, dissected mountains	Cedar-hemlock- pine forest	1200 to 7000	40 to 80	36 to 45	Fire	
Palouse Prairie	Loess plains and hills	Fescue-wheatgrass, W. ponderosa forest	1200 to 6000	10 to 30	45 to 54	Wind	
Blue Mountains	Mountains and lava plains	Grand fir, Lodgepole pine, Ponderosa pine series	2700 to 10000	12 to 50	28 to 52	Fire, insects	
Idaho Batholith	Glaciated mountains with ridges, cirques	Grand fir-Douglas- fir, W. spruce-fir, W. ponderosa forests	3000 to 10000	20 to 80	35 to 46	Fire, insects	
Challis Volcanic	Mountains and valleys	W. spruce-fir, Sagebrush steppe	4000 to 1000	11 to 45	34 to 50	Insects, fire	
Beaverhead Mountains	Complex of mountainous landforms	Sagebrush steppe, Douglas-fir forest	2500 to 6500	10 to 50	36 to 46	Fire, insects	
Owyhee Uplands	Intermontane plateau, mountains	Sagebrush steppe, Artemisia- agropyron	4000 to 8000	7 to 15	35 to 45	Fire	
Snake River Basalts	Plateau and plains	Sagebrush steppe, Artemisia- agropyron	3000 to 6000	5 to 12	40 to 58	Fire	
Yellowstone Highlands	Glaciated volcanic mountains, plateaus	Douglas-fir forest, Wheatgrass- needle-grass shrubsteppe	6000 to 13000	20 to 45	35 to 47	Fire	
Northwestern Basin & Range	Sert plain with isolated mountains	Big sagebrush, Low sagebrush, Shadscale	4000 to 7200	4 to 20	41 to 50	Fire	
Overthrust Mountain	Mountain ranges and valleys	Lodgepole pine- Subalpline fir, Sagebrush steppe	5000 to 13000	16 to 40	35 to 45	Fire	

Elev.—Mean range of land heights above sea level; Precip.—Mean annual precipitation range; Temp.—Mean annual temperature range.

Source: McNab and Avers (1994).

typical of mid-elevation areas with higher levels of precipitation. Moist forests are more typical of northern Idaho. Cold forest types are typical of higher elevation areas throughout Idaho.

This diversity in forest vegetation, along with the diversity in the other elements of the biophysical environment, create variation in the effects of timber harvesting on other resources. Due to such diversity, for every generalization we make about timber harvesting's effects on another resource, there will be cases where the generalization does not apply. This diversity, along with our incomplete understanding of the ways in which forests work, suggests that forest resource management should be approached cautiously (Kavanaugh, review comments).

#### 5.1.2. Variability in Harvesting Methods and Ma-

*chinery*. Timber harvesting's effects on other resources also will vary by how the harvesting is done; i.e., the proportion of trees removed from a site, and the machinery that is used. The choice of harvesting method and machinery often depends on land management objectives, site characteristics, and financial considerations (Helms and Lotan 1987).

Timber can be harvested under even-aged or uneven-aged silvicultural systems. Three types of even-aged management systems prevail: clearcutting, seed-tree cutting, and shelterwood cutting. Clearcutting removes all trees; seed-tree cutting leaves a few vigorous trees to provide seeds for regenerating the new stand; shelterwood cutting leaves more overstory trees after the initial harvest to prevent extremes of heat and cold on the regeneration. Residual trees can be removed in seed-tree systems, and are generally removed in shelterwood systems to prevent their shade from reducing growth and vigor of the regenerating stand (Oliver et al. 1994).

In general, even-aged systems are chosen to regenerate shade-intolerant species, to reduce costs, and to lower administrative overhead. These systems raise concerns about the potential for exposure, soil erosion, logging slash, and windthrow, and are subject to criticism for being unsightly during the regeneration phase (Helms and Lotan 1987).

Uneven-aged systems leave many living trees within the harvested area while allowing regeneration of a new stand. Appropriate uneven-aged systems promote vigorous trees of a variety of ages and species by removing weakened trees—as opposed to "high grading" which removes the most vigorous or largest, highest value trees and leaves small, weak, scarred and/or diseased trees (Oliver et al. 1994). Uneven-aged management has not been practiced widely in the northern Rocky Mountain region so we do not have the knowledge base to evaluate the effectiveness of uneven-aged systems in Idaho (Helms and Lotan 1987, Naumann 1987). One exception is industrial forest management in southwestern Idaho, which allows Boise Cascade Corporation to meet its goals through uneven-aged management (O'Laughlin et al. 1993, Blatner et al. 1994).

Group selection is another alternative that generally leaves larger openings than traditional uneven-aged systems and leaves a mosaic of stands of many species and structures (Oliver et al. 1994).

Thinning is an intermediate stand treatment that removes some trees—either from upper canopy layers (high thinning) or lower canopy layers (low thinning). Thinning can be done in conjunction with both even-aged and uneven-aged systems (Oliver et al. 1994). Thinning is cutting trees and removing them from the site in order to obtain one or more of a variety of forest management objectives.

Thinning in fire-prone national forests received some attention following the extensive wildfires that affected 7.3 million acres in 2000, when more than 1 million acres of Idaho national forests burned. Congress has provided additional funds for hazardous fuel reduction in national forests. We expect implementation will include an emphasis on thinning of dense stands and prescribed burning.

A variety of machinery can be used to remove trees from the forest. The most common type of logging machinery is tractor logging in which tractors are used to drag (yard) logs from where they are cut (felled) to a road. Cable systems yard logs to a road usually by suspending part or all of the log in the air. Helicopters are also used to yard wood, but are expensive to operate. At the other end of the technology spectrum are horses or oxen that can be used for yarding.

Different yarding systems result in differing effects on other resources. For example, there is generally less disturbance to soils by yarding systems capable of suspending logs in the air (Cromack et al. 1978); therefore, in general, cable and helicopter logging result in less soil disturbance than tractor logging. Different tractor logging systems affect soil differently; tractors with treads compact soil less than tractors with round tires, such as rubber-tired skidders (Oliver et al. 1994).

# 5.2. Timber

A sustainable timber harvest implies that the site from which timber is harvested will be capable of producing the same amount and quality of timber again, over a similar amount of time, and can continue to do so into the future. This concept can be called long-term site productivity. Timber harvesting involves several sets of long-term productivity issues.

**5.2.1. Effects of Timber Harvesting on Soil**. Soil is a primary determinant of long-term site productivity, and timber harvesting can produce a variety of changes in soil properties that affect long-term site productivity. These are outlined below.

*Microclimate*. Timber harvesting and subsequent site preparation usually result in microclimate changes that influence subsequent biological processes. The most important of these changes include changes in light, temperature, and moisture. Soil chemistry and microbial processes can be affected in either a beneficial or detrimental manner (Harvey et al. 1989).

**Organic Matter**. Soil organic matter is key to maintaining site productivity because of its roles in soil water availability and nutrient cycling (Childs et al. 1989, Harvey et al. 1989). Organic matter influences soil physical properties such as water-holding capacity, aeration, drainage, and cation exchange (Jurgensen et al. 1990, Page-Dumroese et al. 1991). Organic matter also is essential to the soil microflora and microfauna that are active in nutrient cycling, soil aggregation, and disease incidence or prevention (Jurgensen et al. 1990).

Timber harvesting can cause extensive losses and disturbances of surface organic matter. This has important implications for soil chemical, biological, and physical properties (Harvey et al. 1987, Jurgensen et al. 1990). Timber harvesting reduces soil organic matter both by physical loss at time of harvesting and by increasing microbial activity caused by soil disturbance (Jurgensen et al. 1990). Site preparation techniques, particularly slash piling and windrowing, can cause productivity problems related to organic matter because of the disturbance of large areas of the forest floor (Harvey et al. 1987, 1989). Substantive losses of surface organic matter lead to declines in productivity (Powers 1991).

Although not a soil component, the quantity, quality, and disposition of woody residue, also called woody debris, can influence soils greatly (Jurgensen et al. 1990, Graham et al. 1991). Physically, woody residue protects soil from erosion, displacement, and compaction. As woody residue decays and becomes incorporated into the litter, humus, and mineral soil horizons, it releases nutrients that are vital for forest growth. Woody residue also provides a substrate for micorhizzae that cycle nutrients (Dechert, review comments). In addition, woody residue also protects regenerating forests by providing shade and protection from wind and snow.

The quantity of woody residue can vary dramatically, depending on site, forest conditions, and forest treatments. The quantity and kind of residue on a site can affect site productivity (Graham et al. 1991). Too much woody residue and organic matter can increase the risk of wildfire (Harvey et al. 1987, Jurgensen et al. 1990). The quantity of organic matter may also favor some types of diseases. The situation presents a trade-off for forest managers.

*Nutrients.* Many nutrients—including nitrogen, phosphorus, calcium, magnesium, potassium, and sulfur—are required for tree growth and vigor (Cole and Gessel 1992, Mandzak and Moore 1994). The relationships between nutrients and tree growth are complex. Forests derive their nutritional supply from several potential sources, including weathering of minerals, nitrogen fixation, atmospheric deposition, and decomposition of organic matter (Cole and Gessel 1992).

The cycling of nutrients between soil and tree is a key forest ecosystem process (Cole and Gessel 1992). The soil surface is rich in nutrients because it is the site of the most active nutrient cycling, and thus is particularly vulnerable to disturbance and dislocation processes that can result in outright loss or reduced capacity for replacement. Different harvesting and site preparation methods affect stand nutrient balances differently (see Brockley et al. 1992). For example, broadcast burning of slash maintains more nitrogen, phosphorus, and cations in the organic horizons of soil than does bulldozer piling (Page-Dumroese et al. 1991).

It is beyond the scope of this report to fully discuss nutrient cycling in forest ecosystems (see, e.g., Pritchett and Fisher 1987). Despite increasing knowledge about nutrient cycling in forest ecosystems, it is difficult to predict how trees on any given site will react to nutrient limitations, losses, and additions. However, most sites and soils in the Inland Northwest will experience reduced productivity if nutrient losses and associated soil degradation occur (Harvey et al. 1989). *Erosion*. Erosion is a geomorphic process that is a natural component of any forest ecosystem; however, erosion rates can be accelerated by human disturbances (Megahan 1991). The relationship between soil surface horizons and tree growth leaves little doubt that removing the soil surface can significantly reduce stand productivity (Harvey et al. 1989, Megahan et al. 1995). Soil loss from erosion affects site productivity by changing soil depth. This reduces the nutrient pool and water-holding capacity of the soil and by direct damage to vegetation (Megahan 1991).

The actual impacts of different erosion processes on site productivity are influenced by several factors, including a) the depth of erosion, which determines the amount of soil components that are lost from the site; b) the areal extent of the erosion, which determines the area over which the losses occur; c) the downslope rate of movement of eroded material; and d) the probability of redeposition of the eroded material at downslope locations. Evaluation of the total effects of erosion on site productivity must consider the net effects of all these factors. Erosion can increase productivity of a site downslope, if eroded material is deposited there (Megahan 1991).

Forest management activities, especially timber harvest and road construction, have been shown to increase erosion rates on forest lands (Megahan 1991). Skid trails and other high traffic areas are particularly susceptible to erosion (Cullen et al. 1991). Debris landslides and gullying cause serious and long-term reductions in site productivity, but the areas affected are small. Surface erosion occurs over much larger areas and reduces site productivity, but the magnitude of the reduction is poorly defined because of the compounding effects of compaction on logged areas and water repellency of burned areas (Megahan 1991).

Depending on the rate of soil formation, it may take centuries to restore soils lost through erosion (Page-Dumroese et al. 1991). Caution to prevent physical losses of surface soil horizons by erosion pays large dividends in retaining forest productivity (Harvey et al. 1989).

*Compaction.* Forest productivity problems associated with soil compaction are well known (Cromack et al. 1978, Harvey et al. 1989, Jurgensen et al. 1990). The extent of damage from compaction due to timber harvesting is highly variable, depending on the timber type and volume, soil type, equip-

ment type and use, and moisture conditions (Harvey et al. 1989).

Compaction alters pore size and distribution in the soil. This can affect plant-water relations, aeration, and depth of freezing, and thus may create an environment less favorable to tree growth and survival (Harvey et al. 1989). Compaction generally reduces the available water-holding capacity of soils (Cullen et al. 1991). Decreased soil-water storage is particularly important for sites with little growingseason precipitation, shallow soil profiles, or coarsetextured soils where water limitations already control productivity (Childs et al. 1989). Compaction also affects the ability of roots to penetrate the soil (Cullen et al. 1991). Possible indirect effects of soil compaction include increases in root pathogens and increases in host stress, predisposing trees to insect and disease attack (McDonald 1991).

Soil factors such as texture, water content, structure, and organic matter control, in part, the process of soil compaction (Cullen et al. 1991). Volcanic ash-influenced soils with low bulk densities and rock content, such as many of those in northern Idaho, are particularly susceptible to compaction (Page-Dumroese 1993).

The persistence and long-term impact of compaction depend on the severity of contact by harvesting vehicles, the ability of various species to cope with compacted soils, and rates of processes tending to decompact the soil (Cromack et al. 1978). Compaction can occur not only on the surface, but also at greater soil depths (Graham et al. 1991). The effects of compaction can persist for decades or longer (Page-Dumroese 1993). Natural recovery from compaction may take more than 40 years on many Inland Northwest soils (Harvey et al. 1989).

*Microorganisms*. A myriad of soil organisms and their interactions profoundly affect forest productivity through capture and uptake of nutrients, nitrogen fixation, protection against pathogens, maintenance of soil structure, and buffering against moisture stress. The balance of forest-soil organisms can shift dramatically in response to fluctuations of chemical, environmental, and biotic factors caused by natural disturbance or management-related activities such as timber harvest, site preparation, and fertilization. Some organisms thrive with disturbance while others are harmed. The final equilibrium of soil organisms may or may not facilitate the same productive conditions that existed previously (Amaranthus et al. 1989).

Soil nutrient status, moisture, temperature, pH, and organic matter content, litter inputs, disturbance, and species composition affect the growth and occurrence of soil organisms (Amaranthus et al. 1989). Some forest practices can reduce or eliminate beneficial soil organisms. For example, pore space is essential for movement of oxygen and water into soil and the flushing of carbon dioxide out; therefore, timber harvesting activities that compact soil may harm healthy populations of soil organisms. Also, the harvesting of host trees can eliminate the photosynthate source for dependent ectomycorrhizal fungi and associated microbes. The diversity of organisms within soil tends to buffer the impacts of disturbance on forest sites, but the proportion of each type of organism is affected (Amaranthus et al. 1989). It can take years for microbial communities to recover from disturbances due to timber harvesting (Dechert, review comments).

#### 5.2.2. Mitigating Timber Harvesting's Effects on

*Soil*. Many of the effects of timber harvesting on soil can be minimized or mitigated with appropriate management techniques. In most cases, appropriate mitigation of extreme changes in microclimate above and below the soil surface can be accomplished by leaving sufficient overstory, low shrub and herb layers, or surface debris to provide shade, soil organic matter, or both, to act as an environmental buffer (Harvey et al. 1989). Mitigating microclimate changes along roads is more problematic and may require closure and revegetation (Dechert, review comments).

In the past, timber removal was not considered detrimental to organic matter because of long stand rotation ages and the large amount of residue left after harvest. However, recent trends towards short stand rotations, total tree harvesting, and increased residue removal raise concerns about how such management impacts soil processes, organic matter, and site productivity (Harvey et al. 1987, Jurgensen et al. 1990, Graham et al. 1991). As a result of harvesting methods that leave branches, limbs, and other slashing in the woods, many stands in Idaho contain adequate organic reserves and wood, and may not be considered highly sensitive to soil organic matter depletion following harvest (Harvey et al. 1987, Jurgensen et al. 1990).

Site preparation techniques that cause problems related to organic matter are more difficult to deal with. Safe, effective, and economical methods for removing unwanted slash are limited. Careful prescribed burning and mechanical site preparation and spot use of herbicides are site preparation techniques that can be done with low impact on soil organic matter (Harvey et al. 1989, Jurgensen et al. 1990).

Most compaction in timber harvesting operations is a result of the vehicles used for harvesting (Cullen et al. 1991). Several techniques are available for minimizing the extent of area compacted during timber harvest and site preparation. One of the most common techniques is to designate skid trails and confine equipment to those trails. Directional felling and line pulling also can reduce the area affected. Skyline and helicopter harvesting systems also helps minimize soil compaction. Cable yarding over snowpacks during winter also helps minimize disturbance (Graham et al. 1991). In some locations during site preparation, the use of a grapple-skidder to pile logs can reduce compaction because grapplepilers apply less pressure on the ground than crawler-tractors used for bulldozer-piling. Leaving the tops of trees and surface organic matter on site also may reduce the amount of compaction (Page-Dumroese 1993). Avoiding logging on wet soils through careful planning is also important for reducing compaction (Dechert, review comments).

To minimize long-term impacts on beneficial organisms forest managers should [1] minimize disturbance severity (i.e., intense burns, soil compaction, or erosion), [2] emphasize retention of organic matter, [3] emphasize rapid revegetation by indigenous host species and associated beneficial soil organisms, and [4] recognize that sites with harsh environments (i.e., cold or drought) are most susceptible to productivity losses (Amaranthus et al. 1989, Harvey et al. 1989).

**5.2.3.** *Wood Quality*. One aspect of timber management that is rarely considered in discussions of sustainability is wood quality. Are we managing forests so that they will produce the same quality of wood that they have previously? Traditionally, management decisions have been based primarily on wood volume with little analysis of the effects of wood quality (Fight et al. 1995, Hansen et al. 1996). Neither the conceptualization nor the measurement of quality has been adequately studied (Hansen et al. 1996).

Growing wood in quantity without regard to quality is based upon a philosophy that one need not worry about quality; that somehow whatever is grown can be converted to usable products. We, in effect, lay any problems that may arise on the altar of forest-products technology. Technology can contribute a great deal to the problem of processing wood of lower quality, but usually this is done at the sacrifice of increased energy inputs, reduced yield, increased cost, or loss of quality of the final product (Kellogg 1982:254).

Numerous authors have expressed concerns about changes in the qualities of wood and wood products (e.g., Zobel 1984, Senft et al. 1985, Maeglin 1987, Briggs and Fight 1992, Briggs and Bialozynski 1995, Fight et al. 1995, Hansen and Bush 1996). Producers and consumers of wood products have recognized a decrease in quality (Willits 1994, Hansen and Bush 1996).

The types of timber being harvested are changing. Much of the slow-grown, mature timber resource has been harvested and is being replaced by harvests of younger and faster-grown trees. The current emphasis on forest health in the interior western U.S., with an emphasis on thinning dense forest stands, seems likely to increase the proportion of total timber harvest that is made up of smaller trees. Harvesting reductions from federal lands also may make it more difficult to obtain wood of desired quality (Briggs and Bialozynski 1995).

The primary quality concern is that smaller trees and fast-grown trees have a higher proportion of juvenile wood than more mature trees (Briggs 1996). Juvenile wood is not necessarily "bad wood" and functions well in certain products (Zobel 1984), but it has different properties than mature wood. Juvenile wood has lower strength and stiffness compared to mature wood (Barrett and Kellogg 1991, Fight et al. 1995). Lumber quality problems result from a higher proportion of juvenile wood in a tree, leading to less strength overall and drying problems (Fahey and Starostovic 1979, Maeglin 1987, Barrett and Kellogg 1991, Kennedy 1995). Lumber quality problems also result from younger trees and fastgrown trees, which tend to have more knots because of the way tree crowns develop (Zobel 1984, Briggs 1996).

Wood quality is very responsive to both silvicultural and genetic manipulation (Zobel 1984, Jozsa and Middleton 1994), but there is a general lack of information on wood strength, tree spacing and taper, and other characteristics that affect quality for many species of importance in the Inland Northwest (Kennedy 1995, DeBell and Gartner 1997). Although new manufacturing techniques are enabling production of high-quality products from low quality timber, these products are markedly different from those previously available (Zobel 1984). Tomorrow's forests will supply wood products different from those currently being used (Fahey and Starostovic 1979).

# 5.3. Water Resources

Water is an essential forest ecosystem element. Many organisms, including humans, depend on clean water for survival and quality of life. Timber harvesting and its associated activities can affect water quantity and quality. This section focuses only on the impacts of timber harvesting on water quality.

The extent of water quality effects depends on where timber harvesting is done and how it is managed. Policies that seek to protect water quality are a large part of the policies that affect timber harvesting (see **Chapter 4**). Our discussion focuses on moving water—streams and rivers—and in Idaho, water quality policy for most streams translates into providing habitat for aquatic species, particularly for salmon, trout, and other cold-water fish.

Like other natural systems, rivers and streams are complex and diverse. Our understanding of the hydrologic and geomorphic process and stream morphology itself, continues to advance rapidly (Moore, review comments). Reviews of the science are available (e.g., Leopold 1994). The effects of a management action on a particular stream will vary, in part, with the characteristics of the stream. Scientists have developed classification systems for streams based on similar characteristics observed across many different streams. An understanding of stream classification will help in determining the effects of management actions on fish habitat and related concerns (see Rosgen 1996).

**5.3.1. Fish Habitat.** Fish habitat results from a complex interaction among water, sediment, and channel structure (Chamberlin et al. 1991). Biologists describe stream habitats in terms such as pools, riffles, spawning gravel, obstructions, and side channels. Pools are areas of high water velocity during peak flows, but at low flow their depth creates a place where fine sediments are deposited. Pools are the result of the scouring action or impoundment of water and are caused by structural controls in the channel or streambank (Chamberlin et al. 1991).

Riffles are bars (sediment deposits) with water flowing over them. Because riffles represent the first material deposited after high flows, they usually contain larger particles (gravel, cobbles, and boulders) than are found elsewhere in the stream. Riffles are food producing areas, but offer few habitats to small fish (Chamberlin et al. 1991).

Spawning gravel is the sorted product of streambed scouring and redeposition from which sand and finer material has been removed and transported downstream. Abundance of potential spawning gravel is a key factor influencing redd (or nest) density of cutthroat trout (MaGee and McMahon 1996). Good fish spawning habitat also requires that the stream's normal sediment supply contain relatively low amounts of fine material, and that flow be sufficiently high to sort out the fines and keep them from accumulating in the gravel. Spawning areas are often associated with the hydraulic transition zones between pools and riffles; the more transition zones, the more spawning gravels there will be (Chamberlin et al. 1991).

Obstructions of various types are barriers to fish migration. They can be either natural, such as debris accumulations, or a dry stretch of streambed during low flow, or man-made, such as culverts and dams. Side channels occur in the stream's margin, or where water is forced out of the channel into the floodplain. Side channels have a direct hydrologic relationship to runoff from the valley walls and to the valley groundwater table and will remain stable only if their structural controls (usually tree root systems) remain intact (Chamberlin et al. 1991).

Because different species of fish have different habitat requirements throughout their changing life stages, streams that have a varied complex of structural (geomorphic) and water flow (hydrologic) conditions along their lengths provide the best habitat (Chamberlin et al. 1991).

## 5.3.2. Effects of Timber Harvesting on Fish Habi-

*tat.* Numerous reviews of the scientific literature about the effects of timber management activities on water quality and fish habitat exist (e.g., Salo and Cundy 1987, Chamberlin et al. 1991, Meehan 1991, Lee et al. 1997). Following is a brief summary.

Timber harvesting can affect both the processes and structures that result in fish habitat (Figure 5-2). Habitat alterations can adversely affect all lifestages of fishes, including migration, spawning, incubation, emergence, and rearing (Lee et al. 1997). The effects of timber harvesting on fish habitat are likely to be varied and dynamic. The episodic nature of climatic events also makes time an important factor in the analysis of forest practices (Chamberlin et al. 1991, Lee et al. 1997). Many of the events that occur as a result of timber harvesting would occur without timber harvesting, but timber harvesting affects the frequency, timing, or severity of their occurrence (Table 5-2). The mechanical processes involved in timber harvesting and associated road construction, in conjunction with natural conditions, influence the level of disruption or disturbance within watersheds (Lee et al. 1997).

Importance of Small Streams. Most spawning and rearing of salmonids in forested watersheds takes place in small streams (Chamberlin et al. 1991, MaGee and McMahon 1996). Small streams are also the streams most easily altered by forest management activities. Because small streams depend largely on litter fall for organic energy input, any manipulation of the canopy or streambank vegetation will influence the stream's energy supply. Small streams are particularly vulnerable to temperature changes resulting from timber harvesting activities (Dechert, review comments). Likewise road building and other activities that increase sediment supplies or modify local runoff have greater effects on smaller streams than they would on larger systems (Chamberlin et al. 1991).

Even small streams that are not accessible to migrating fish because of barriers or steep gradients are important to the quality of downstream habitats. The channels of these streams carry water, sediment, nutrients, and wood debris from upper portions of the watershed. The quality of downstream habitats is determined, in part, by how fast and at what time these organic and inorganic materials are transported (Chamberlin et al. 1991).

*Effects on Structure*. Four major effects of timber harvesting on stream structures can be summarized as follows (Chamberlin et al. 1991):

- Increases in peak flows or the frequency of channel-modifying flows from increased snowmelt or rain-on-snow events can increase bed scour or accelerate bank erosion.
- Increases in sediment supply from mass movements or surface erosion, bank destabilization, or instream storage losses can cause aggradation, pool filling, and a reduction in gravel quality.



Figure 5-2. Linkages between timber management activities and fish production.

Source: Chamberlin et al. (1991).

- Streambank destabilization from vegetation removal, physical breakdown, or channel aggradation adds to sediment supply and generally results in a loss of the channel structures that confine flow and promote the habitat diversity required by fish populations.
- Loss of stable instream woody debris by direct removal, debris torrents, or gradual attrition as streamside forests are converted to managed stands of smaller trees will contribute to loss of sediment storage sites, fewer and shallower scour pools, and less effective cover for rearing fish (Chamberlain et al. 1991).

The structural features of fish habitat are selectively influenced by different harvesting activities. For example, if timber harvesting increases the supply of fine sediments, these sediments settle preferentially in pools, which become less useful to fish. Similarly, if the structural element causing the pool to exist (such as a log or tree root) is removed, the pool will disappear after the next flood flow. Pools are thus susceptible to falling and yarding operations that influence the availability of large woody debris in or near stream channel margins (Chamberlin et al. 1991).

Harvesting activities can increase sediment supplies that in turn increase the extent and number of riffles. Removal of instream woody structure steepens the gradient and hence increases the average size of particles in the substrate (Chamberlin et al. 1991). Harvesting activities that maximize the

Table 5-2. Approximate ranges of recurrence of major disrupting events and the effects of those events on channel and habitat conditions in streams.					
Event	Range of recurrence (years)	Channel changes	Habitat effects		
Daily to weekly pre- cipitation and dis- charge	0.01-0.1	Channel width and depth; move- ment and deposition of fine woody debris; fine sediment transport and deposition	Minor siltation of spawning gravels; mi- nor variation in spawning and rearing habitat; increased temperature during summer low flows		
Seasonal precipita- tion and discharge; moderate storms; freezing and ice for- mation	0.1-1.0	Increased flow to bank-full width; moderate channel erosion; high base-flow erosion; increased mobil- ity of in-channel sediment and de- bris; local damming and flooding; sediment transport by anchor ice; gouging of channel bed; reduced winter flows	Changes in pool:riffle ratio; siltation of spawning gravels; increased channel area; increased access to spawning sites; flood- ing of side-channel areas; amelioration of temperatures at high flows; decreased temperatures during freezing; dewatering of gravels during freezing; gravel distur- bance by gouging and anchor ice		
Major storms; floods; rain-on- snow events	1.0-10	Increased movement of sediment and woody debris of channels; flood flows; local channel scour; move- ment and redistribution of coarse sediments; flushing of fine sedi- ments; movement and redistribution of large woody debris	Changes in pool:riffle ratio; shifting of spawning gravels; increased large woody debris jams; siltation of spawning grav- els; disturbance of side-channel rearing areas; increased rearing and overwintering habitat; local blockage of fish access; filling and scouring of pools and riffles		
Debris avalanches and debris torrents	5.0-100	Large, short-term increases in sedi- ment and large woody debris contri- butions to channel; channel scour; large-scale movement and redistri- bution of bed-load gravels and large woody debris; damming and obstruction of channels; accelerated bank erosion and undercutting; al- teration of channel shape by flow obstruction; flooding	Changes in pool:riffle ratio; shifting of spawning gravels; siltation of spawning gravels; disturbance of side-channel rear- ing areas; blockage of fish access; filling and scouring of pools and riffles; forma- tion of new rearing and overwintering habitat		
Activities of beavers	5.0-100	Channel damming; obstruction and redirection of channel flow; flood- ing of bank and side channels; ponding of streamflow; siltation of gravels behind dams	Improved rearing and overwintering habi- tat; increased water volumes during low flows; slack-water and back-water refuge areas during floods; refuge from reduced habitat quality in adjoining areas; limita- tion on fish migration; elevated water temperatures; local reductions in dis- solved oxygen		

(continued)

Table 5-2. (continued)					
Event	Range of recurrence (years)	Channel changes	Habitat effects		
Major disturbances to vegetation	10-100				
Windthrow		Increased sediment delivery to channels; decreased litterfall; in- creased large woody debris in channel; loss of riparian cover	Increased sedimentation of spawning and rearing habitat; increased summer tem- peratures; decreased winter temperatures; increased rearing and overwintering hab- itat; decreased fine organic debris		
Wildfire		Increased sediment delivery to channels; increased large woody debris in channels; loss of riparian vegetation cover; decreased litterfall; increased channel flows; increased nutrient levels in streams	Increased sedimentation of spawning and rearing habitat; increased summer tem- peratures; decreased winter temperatures; increased rearing and overwintering hab- itat; decreased availability of fine woody debris; increased availability of food or- ganisms		
Insects and disease		Increased sediment delivery to channels; loss of riparian vegeta- tion cover; increased large woody debris in channels; decreased litterfall	Increased sedimentation of spawning and rearing habitat; increased summer tem- peratures; decreased winter temperatures; increased rearing and overwintering hab- itat		
Slumps and earth- flows	100-1,000	Low-level, long-term contributions of sediment and large woody de- bris to stream channels; partial blockage of channel; local baselevel constriction below point of entry; shifts on channel configu- ration	Siltation of spawning gravels; scour of channel below point of entry; accumulation of gravels behind obstruc- tions; partial blockage of fish passage; local flooding and disturbance of side- channel rearing areas		
Climatic change	1,000- 100,000	Major changes in channel direc- tion; major changes in channel grade and configuration; valley broadening or downcutting; alter- ation of flow regime	Changes in type and distribution of spawning gravels; changes in frequency and timing of disturbing events; shifts in species composition and diversity		

Source: Swanston (1991).

number of pool-forming structural elements and minimize the influx of fine sediments will favor the maintenance of spawning gravel (Chamberlin et al. 1991).

Obstructions are most often associated with roads that accompany timber harvesting. Culverts or bridges can cause water velocities to be greater than the swimming ability of fish. Side channels are vulnerable to effects from timber harvesting in the riparian zone because they can easily be isolated without adequate culverts (Chamberlin et al. 1991). *Effects on Streamflow*. The hydrologic effects of timber management activities vary with many environmental factors, but Chamberlin (1991) suggests the following broad generalizations apply:

- Harvesting activities such as roadbuilding, falling, yarding, and burning can affect watershed hydrology and streamflow much more than can other management activities such as planting and thinning.
- Clearcutting causes increased snow deposition in the openings and advances the timing and rate

of snowmelt. The effect lasts several decades until stand aerodynamics approach those of the surrounding forest. Snowmelt can be accelerated by large wind-borne energy inputs of warm rain falling on snow.

- Harvested areas contain wetter soils than unlogged areas during periods of evapotranspiration and hence higher groundwater levels and more potential late-summer runoff. The effects last 3-5 years until new root systems occupy the soil.
- Road systems, skid trails, and landings accelerate slope runoff, concentrate drainage below them, and can increase soil water content (Chamberlain et al. 1991).

Water defines fish habitat more than any other factor, so changes in the quantity, quality, or timing of streamflow caused by timber harvesting and other silvicultural activities are a primary focus for timber-fish interaction (Chamberlin et al. 1991). Timber management activities do not normally change the total amount of precipitation entering a watershed; however, timber management activities can affect streamflow by altering the water balance or by affecting the rate at which water moves from hillsides to stream channels. The more severe the alteration of the hydrologic cycle is, the greater the effects on streamflow and fish habitats will be. Harvesting may substantially alter the spatial distribution of water and snow on the ground, the amount intercepted or evaporated by foliage, the rate of snowmelt or evaporation of snow, the amount of water that can be stored in soil or transpired from the soil by vegetation, and the physical structure of the soil that governs the rate and pathways by which water moves to stream channels (Chamberlin et al. 1991).

Not all of the effects of timber harvesting on streamflow negatively affect fish habitat. For example, higher groundwater levels after harvesting may expand the area of floodplain habitats accessible to fish, particularly during summer low-flow periods, and may moderate the increases in stream temperature that result from removal of shade vegetation (Chamberlin et al. 1991).

*Effects on Water Quality*. Water temperature, dissolved oxygen, and nutrient concentrations can be altered by timber harvest activities (Chamberlin et al. 1991, Lee et al. 1997). Stream temperature is affected by eliminating stream-side shading, disrupted subsurface flows, reduced stream flows, elevated sediments, and morphological shifts toward

wider and shallower channels with fewer deep pools (Lee et al. 1997). When streamside vegetation is removed, summer water temperatures usually increase in direct proportion to the increase in sunlight that reaches the water surface. Water has a high heat capacity, so a stream's volume, depth, and turbulence affect the actual temperature at any point in the water column. Timber harvesting can cause stream temperatures to increase, but specific stream and watershed conditions cause wide variation in the processes affecting temperature increases (Chamberlin et al. 1991).

Dissolved oxygen can be reduced by low stream flows, elevated temperatures, and increased fine inorganic and organic materials that have infiltrated into stream gravels slowing intergravel flows (Chamberlin et al. 1991, Lee et al. 1997). In summer, high temperatures both accelerate respiration and lower the solubility of oxygen. In winter, ice cover may prevent diffusion of oxygen from air to water. Harvest activities that impose large oxygen demands on streams exacerbate the normal stresses that low flows place on fish (Chamberlin et al. 1991).

The high chemical and biological oxygen demands of organic debris and the bacteria on it may persist for long periods until the bottom material is removed by high flows. Clogging of surface gravels by fine inorganic sediments enough to lower dissolved oxygen concentrations usually occurs only when large or persistent volumes of sediment emanate from active road systems, mass soil movements, bank slumps, or destabilized upstream channels (Chamberlin et al. 1991).

Concentrations of nutrients (e.g., N, P, K, Ca) in streams may increase after logging, but usually by moderate amounts and for short periods (Chamberlin et al. 1991, Lee et al. 1997). Likewise, increases in nutrient releases after slash burning can be expected to return to earlier levels (DeByle and Packer 1972). The mobilization of nutrients is tempered by their adsorption onto soil particles and by their uptake by microorganisms that decompose stream detritus (Chamberlin et al. 1991).

*Effects on Sediment*. Sediments entering stream channels can affect channel shape and form, stream substrates, the structure of fish habitats, and the structure and abundance of fish populations (Chamberlin et al. 1991). Increased deposition of fine sediments in salmonid spawning habitat increases mortality of embryos, alevins, and fry (Chamberlin et al. 1991, MaGee and McMahon

1996, Lee et al. 1997). Winter survival is reduced by fine sediments because juvenile fish can survive harsh icing conditions by entering substrate crevices, but refuges are lost if filled with sediment (MaGee and McMahon 1996, Hillman et al. 1987). Fine sediments affect the rearing potential of streams by altering substrate particle-size composition, riffle-pool ratios, macroinvertebrate production, and pool area (Hillman et al. 1987, Chamberlin et al. 1991).

The chief variables that affect sedimentation through surface erosion are the inherent erodibility of the soil, slope steepness, surface runoff, slope length, and ground cover (Furniss et al. 1991, Lee et al. 1997). Erosion potential is greatly increased by reduction in vegetation, compaction of soils, and disruption of natural surface and subsurface drainage patterns (Chamberlin et al. 1991, Lee et al. 1997). Accelerated surface erosion and increased levels of sedimentation can decrease after initial disturbance but may remain above historic levels for many years (Lee et al. 1997).

The degree of influence timber harvesting has on sediment in streams varies with geology, climate, vegetation, dominant geomorphic processes, and land uses. Timber harvesting can influence both upland erosional processes and the way that forest streams process sediment in their channels. Forest management activities that substantially change the magnitude, timing, or duration of sediment transport and overwhelm the ability of fish to cope with or avoid resulting stress are of most concern (Chamberlin et al. 1991).

Roads and mass movements associated with roads are the largest sources of sediment production associated with timber harvesting activities (Dechert, review comments); each is addressed specifically in subsequent sections. However, other silvicultural activities that require scarifying the ground or burning can increase sediment production if buffer strips are not left between treated areas and stream channels. Even when burns do not expose mineral soil, a water-repellent layer can form and reduce the ability of water to infiltrate into the soil, increasing runoff available for surface erosion (Chamberlin et al. 1991). However, the degree of water repellency and its return to normal levels is dependent on soil texture, parent material, and intensity of the burn (McNabb et al. 1989). An indirect effect of burning is loss of the insulating layer of organic matter. In areas where soils freeze, modifying the freeze-thaw relationship can have serious

and long-lasting effects on soil structure and sediment production (Chamberlin et al. 1991).

Concern for soil erosion on granitic soils is especially high in the Idaho Batholith, where serious sedimentation damage to valuable salmon and steelhead fishery resources has been documented (Megahan and Ketcheson 1996). To illustrate, Megahan et al. (1995) found that streamflow parameters showed little change in response to clearcutting using helicopter logging followed by broadcast burning on a south-facing slope in the Idaho Batholith. However, total annual sediment yields increased an average of 97% in the 10 years following logging, with the largest increases occurring in years of highest sediment yields. Increased sediment yields did not appear to result from accelerated channel erosion; rather, about 94% was attributed to accelerated surface erosion on cutting units, and 6% was contributed by a single mass erosion site. The accelerated surface erosion occurred primarily as a result of the prescribed burning (rather than the helicopter logging); surface erosion rates on the burned areas were about 66 times greater than those on undisturbed slopes. Accelerated sedimentation showed no signs of abating 10 years after disturbance (Megahan et al. 1995).

*Mass Movement*. The frequency of mass erosion events in forested watersheds is strongly linked to the type and intensity of land treatment (Rice et al. 1972). Although most mass movements are associated with roads and their drainage systems, increases in mass soil movement can occur after harvesting due to many factors (Table 5-3) (Swanston 1978, Chamberlin et al. 1991).

When soils from mass movements are deposited into stream channels, effects on fish habitats depend on the sediment-processing capability of the stream. Sediment transport in forest streams involves the detachment and entrainment of sediment particles, their transport, and their deposition. The process repeats whenever flow velocities are high enough to move the stream's available material. Forest harvesting directly affects these processes when it increases or decreases the supply of sediment, when it alters the peak flow or the frequency of high flows, and when it changes structure of the channel by removing the supply of large woody debris that forms sediment storage sites. Bank erosion and lateral channel migration also contribute sediments if protective vegetation and living root systems are removed (Chamberlin et al. 1991).

Table 5-3. Impacts of timber harvest activities on factors that influence slope stability in steep forest lands.					
	Activities (and impacts) <sup>1</sup>				
Factors	Tree removal	Roading			
I. Hydrologic influences					
A. Water movement by vegetation	Reduce evapotranspiration (-)	Eliminate evapotranspiration (-)			
B. Surface movement by vegetation	Alter snowmelt hydrology (- or +)	Alter snowmelt hydrology (- or +)			
	Alter concentration of unstable	Alter surface drainage network (-)			
	debris in channels (-)	Intercept subsurface water at bank cuts and alter subsurface drainage (-)			
II. Physical influences					
A. Vegetation					
1. Roots	Reduce rooting strength (-)	Eliminate rooting strength (-)			
2. Bole and crown	Reduce medium for transfer of wind stress to soil mantle (+)	Eliminate medium for transfer of wind stress to soil mantle (+)			
B. Slope					
1. Slope angle		Increase slope angle at cut and fill slopes (-)			
2. Mass on slope	Reduce mass of vegetation on slope	Eliminate mass of vegetation on slope (+)			
	(+)	Cut and fill construction redistributes mass of soil and rock on slope (- or +)			
C. Soil properties		Reduce compaction and apparent cohesion of soil used as road fill (-)			

<sup>1</sup>Influence that usually increases slope stability denoted by (+) impact; influence that usually decreases stability denoted by (-) impact.

Source: adapted from Swanston (1978).

Mass movements may be beneficial if they bring stable rubble and woody debris complexes to "sediment-poor" channels. Many mass movements bring soil to higher-gradient reaches, however, and the sediment is carried downstream to a deposition zone where it severely impairs the stream's ability to support fish rearing and spawning (Chamberlin et al. 1991).

*Soils*. Much of the information about soils was reviewed in the preceding section on timber. When surface soils are exposed, their pores can be clogged by fine sediment and their structure can be broken

down by the energy of falling raindrops. If the infiltration capacity of the soil is sufficiently reduced, water runs off over rather than through the soil. Higher peak flows and increased sediment transport result. Internal changes in soil structure also take place after logging. As tree roots die, sediment fills soil pores, and compaction occurs. The collapse or blockage of these "macropores" forces water to flow over the surface, which may accelerate erosion. Soils can be compacted by logging equipment or by logs dragged over the ground during yarding and site preparation (Chamberlin et al. 1991). In general, yarding exposes the least amount of soil when it is done with balloons or helicopters, and the most when logs are skidded with tractors. Snow cover and flat terrain tend to lessen impacts of tractor skidding. Soil disturbance will be minimized when the harvesting system is well matched to particular site characteristics (Chamberlin et al. 1991).

Large Woody Debris. It should be noted that the term "large woody debris" is being replaced in some recent literature by terms such as "large wood" (Kavanaugh, review comments). This is because of the negative connotations associated with "debris." We use the terminology in the literature reviewed. In both alluvial and bedrock-controlled channels, large woody debris and tree roots can be secondary controlling structures (Chamberlin et al. 1991). Because the supply of large woody debris to stream channels is typically a function of the size and number of trees in riparian areas, it can be profoundly affected by timber harvest. Shifts in the composition and size of trees within the riparian area affect recruitment potential and longevity of large woody debris within the stream channel. Large woody debris influences channel morphology, especially in forming pools and instream cover, retention of nutrients, and storage and buffering of sediment. Any reduction in the amount of large woody debris within streams, or within the distance equal to one site-potential tree height from the stream, can reduce instream complexity. Large woody debris increases the quality of pools by providing hiding cover, slow water refuges, shade, and deep water areas (Maser et al. 1988). The size of large woody debris in a logged watershed in Idaho was smaller than that found in a relatively undisturbed watershed (Lee et al. 1997).

**5.3.3.** *Roads*. By far the greatest concerns about timber harvesting and water quality result from the issue of roads. Serious degradation of fish habitat can result from poorly planned, designed, located, constructed, or maintained roads. Roads directly affect natural sediment and hydrologic regimes by altering streamflow, sediment loading, sediment transport and deposition, channel morphology, channel stability, substrate composition, stream temperatures, water quality, and riparian conditions within a watershed (Chamberlin et al. 1991, Furniss et al. 1991, Lee et al. 1997).

It is beyond the scope of this report to provide a complete review of the large body of literature that exists on the relationship between forest roads and water quality. For example, the scientific bases for many of Idaho's best management practices for forestry are related to roads and water quality and are well known (see Seyedbagheri 1996). We briefly discuss the two major issues associated with roads and water quality: sediments and mass movements.

*Sediments*. Sedimentation is by far the largest concern with roads. The sediment contribution per unit area of roads is often much greater and longer-lasting than that from all other land management activities combined, including log skidding and yarding (Furniss et al. 1991, Megahan and Ketcheson 1996, Lee et al. 1997). For example, 91 percent of the annual sediment production by land use activities in the South Fork of the Salmon River has been attributed to roads and skid trails (Lee et al. 1997).

Sediment loss from road surfaces is partially a function of traffic, surface composition, and road maintenance (Reid and Dunne 1984, Furniss et al. 1991). In granitic landtypes common in central Idaho, sedimentation tends to be directly proportional to the amount of road mileage (Lee et al. 1997). However, sediment production is likely to increase with increasing volumes of traffic (Reid and Dunne 1984). Sediment production is likely to be greater from gravel surfaces than from paved surfaces. Erosion of gravel road surfaces is of particular concern both because a high proportion of the eroded sediment is introduced directly to streams and because most sediment from this source is finer than 2mm; this fine-grained material is the size most harmful to fish and water quality (Reid and Dunne 1984).

*Mass Movements.* Erosion in the form of landslides is called mass movement or mass wasting. Roads can cause mass movements. Where forests occur on steep terrain, mass soil movement is often the primary mode of erosion and sediment delivery to streams from roads (Furniss et al. 1991, Lee et al. 1997). The increase in frequency of slope failures due to road construction depends on such variables as soil type, slope steepness, bedrock type and structure, and presence of subsurface water. Road location is the most important factor because it affects how much all of these variables will contribute to surface failure (Furniss et al. 1991).

The most common causes of road-related mass movements are improper placement and construction of road fills, inadequate road maintenance, insufficient culvert sizes, very steep hillslope gradient, placement or sidecast of excess materials, poor road location, removal of slope support by undercutting, and alteration of slope drainage by interception and concentration of surface and subsurface water (Furniss et al. 1991). Road-related mass soil movements can continue for decades after the roads have been constructed (Furniss et al. 1991, Lee et al. 1997).

On Idaho's Clearwater National Forest 58% of landslides that occurred during winter of 1995-96 were associated with roads (McClelland et al. 1997). Fillslope failures were the dominant cause of road failures both in numbers of landslides and volume of material produced.

## 5.3.4. Mitigating Timber Harvesting's Effects on

*Water Quality*. Under most circumstances, timber and fish can be successfully managed together in the same watershed if measures to protect water quality and fish habitat are carefully planned and coordinated with timber management operations (Chamberlin et al. 1991). Forest practices that affect water quality have improved over the last 30 years (Rice 1992), and present day practices, properly implemented, have the potential of reducing detrimental effects (Megahan et al. 1992). However, some effects are unavoidable even using the most cautious logging and roading methods (Furniss et al. 1991).

**Best Management Practices.** Implementation of best management practices, or BMPs, is one way to reduce timber harvesting's effects on water quality. BMPs are specifically related to nonpoint sources of water pollution, or the polluted runoff that comes not from one specific location, but is discharged over a wide land area from activities such as timber harvesting (O'Laughlin 1996b). The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's water quality management regulations define BMPs as

methods, measures or practices selected by an agency to meet its nonpoint source control needs. BMPs include but are not limited to structural and non-structural controls and operation and maintenance procedures. BMPs can be applied before, during and after pollution-producing activities to reduce or eliminate the introduction of pollutants into receiving waters (40 C.F.R. 130.6(c)(4)).

Specific to forestry, the Idaho Forest Practices Act defines a BMP as

a practice or combination of practices determined by the [Idaho Land Board], in consultation with the [Idaho Department of Lands] and the forest practices advisory committee, to be the most effective and practical means of preventing or reducing the amount of nonpoint pollution generated by forest practices (Idaho Code 38-1303(15)).

Idaho law requires BMPs for all forest practices on all forests. All forest landowners are required by the Idaho Forest Practice Act to implement BMPs. Forestry BMPs in Idaho include: road design, construction, and maintenance; streamside protection zones; logging unit design; slash treatment and site preparation; winter harvesting; hazardous substances; and stream crossings. These individual forestry BMPs in Idaho have been described elsewhere (see Almas et al. 1996). The effectiveness of BMPs at controlling nonpoint source pollution and improving water quality is discussed below.

The effectiveness of BMPs at reducing nonpoint source pollution and protecting water quality is a subject of continuing debate. The question of effectiveness has at least two dimensions: [1] effectiveness of individual BMPs on site, and [2] effectiveness of BMPs programs at protecting water quality over an entire watershed. Research has found that BMPs for forestry reduce nonpoint source pollution on individual sites to acceptable levels (Lynch and Corbett 1990; Binkley and Brown 1993*a*, 1993*b*; Ice et al. 1997). However, the record for program effectiveness at the watershed scale is mixed (Brown et al. 1993*b*, Floyd and MacLeod 1993, Ice et al. 1997).

The effectiveness of individual BMPs can vary considerably. Differences in climatic and hydrologic conditions can cause a BMP to be effective at one site but not at another (Novotny and Olem 1994). To be effective, BMPs must be tailored for specific sites (Mosley et al. 1997). Individual BMP effectiveness also varies because of differences in operator's motivation, understanding of regulations and practices, monitoring, and maintenance (Rice 1992, Mosley et al. 1997).

Determinations of BMP effectiveness can be inferred from scientific data. Seyedbagheri (1996) compiled an extensive review of literature specifically related in Idaho forestry BMPs. While most BMPs had at least some supporting scientific literature, there were some that did not. Scientific evidence can be inconclusive. For example, the protection of watercourses from sediment is the objective of some BMPs, specifically buffer zones, which are designated setback distances from streams where special management activities are specified. There is widespread recognition of the need for buffer zones but little agreement regarding the designated setback distance and activities allowed therein (Belt et al. 1992, Megahan and Ketcheson 1996).

Effectiveness of BMP programs over entire watersheds tends to be a function of operator participation, monitoring, and enforcement. Regulatory approaches, such as Idaho's, tend to be more effective than voluntary programs (Floyd and MacLeod 1993).

The 1988 Forest Practices Water Quality Management Plan for Idaho requires that an audit of forest practice BMP implementation be conducted every fourth year by the Idaho Department of Environmental Quality (IDEQ) and by the Idaho Department of Lands in intervening years. Results from the 2000 audit by IDEQ are not yet available. During the 1996 audit by the IDEQ, the audit team inspected 42 timber sales where over 1900 rules were applicable (1996 Forest Practices Audit Team 1997).

In 1996, the implementation rate of Idaho forest practices rules ranged from 93% to 100% across the four land ownership categories (federal, state, industrial, non-industrial) and the rate of implementation in each land ownership category improved from the 1988 and 1992 audit results (Table 5-4). Road maintenance and construction accounted for 67% of the incidences where BMPs were not implemented fully. Where BMP rules were implemented, they were determined to be 98 to 99% effective across all ownerships (1996 Forest Practices Audit Team 1997).

The most recent audit by the Idaho Department of Lands was completed in 1999 (Colla and DuPont 2000). The audit team inspected 26 timber sales, including 11 on industry-owned lands, 8 on private non-industrial lands, and 7 on state lands. The team did not calculate overall compliance rates. Rather they evaluated compliance by noting deficiencies, describing the qualitative impacts, and determining what actions could be taken to prevent a similar problem from occurring elsewhere. The team found 20 of the 26 (77%) inspected timber sales to be in full compliance with the Idaho Forest Practices Act (Colla and DuPont 2000).

BMPs are designed to be technically and economically feasible and socially acceptable; as such, they result from political compromises (Rice 1992). Some researchers feel these compromises lead to ineffectiveness in protecting some aspects of water quality in Idaho. For example, BMPs have been criticized on the Clearwater National Forest for not adequately protecting salmon habitat because they "are habitually diluted or dropped" in order to be economically feasible (Espinosa et al. 1997). Furthermore, these critics say BMPs do not adequately consider past and cumulative impacts of land management activities, and characterize BMPs as "merely a means to reduce level of impact given a decision to proceed with development" (Espinosa et al. 1997:225).

Criticism has also been levied at the way in which BMP effectiveness is measured. One approach used by many states, including Idaho, is to assemble groups of professional hydrologists, biologists, engineers, silviculturalists, and foresters to audit BMPs as they relate to observed, but not empirically quantified, impacts on water quality. Specific sites are visited, each person provides his or her qualitative judgment as to whether the BMP is effective, and an effectiveness rating is assigned via team consensus (Stanford and Ward 1992). Such methods have been criticized as "subjective, qualitative, and cryptic" (Espinosa et al. 1997)

In Idaho, the 1996 audit team was made up of representatives of the Idaho Division of Environmental Quality, Idaho Department of Lands, U.S. Forest Service, Idaho Department of Fish and Game, U.S. Bureau of Land Management, Plum Creek Timber Company, Lukens Tree Farm, and the Idaho Forest Owners Association. All audit assessments were strictly visual with the exception of gradient, where hand-held clinometers were used to estimate stream, road, and skid trail gradients. The conclusions and recommendations of the audit report represent consensus opinion of the audit team (1996 Forest Practices Audit Team 1997).

Critics of BMPs say that subjective assessment methods are often never verified in terms of actual impact measured *in situ* (e.g., increase in fine sediments, decrease in fish production), and inferences and recommendations can be misleading (Stanford and Ward 1992). Furthermore, they say these methods will identify pervasive effects, such as severe sedimentation resulting from roads collapsed into streams or skid crossings that are not bridged, but it is virtually impossible to detect chronic effects (e.g., accelerated water yield and bank erosion, slow reduction in woody debris accumulation, changes in water chemistry and bioproduction, fish habitat alteration) via non-empirical audits. The value of the judgment is lost in formalization of the approach

٦

Table 5-4. Comparison of Idaho forest practices rule implementation rates by ownership categories, as determined by 1988, 1992, and 1996 audits of BMPs.							
Ownership	Ownership 1988 Audit 1992 Audit 1996 Audit						
Federal	94%	93%	100%	(529/530)			
State	97%	96%	98%	(548/560)			
Industrial	95%	94%	95%	(427/450)			
Non-industrial	86%	89%	93%	(336/360)			

Source: 1996 Forest Practice Audit Team (1997).

F

unless the audit result can be verified by temporal and spatial ecological measures obtained with appropriate experimental designs (Stanford and Ward 1992).

The methods for measuring BMP effectiveness in Idaho are changing and may address many of these criticisms. The 1999 Idaho Department of Lands audit was designed to be "more objective and statistical in nature" than previous audits (Colla and DuPont 2000). Although the field procedures and assessment remained basically the same as in 1996 for addressing Forest Practices Act rule implementation and effectiveness, a new objective was added to assess whether the Forest Practices Act protects bull trout spawning and early rearing habitat. New data collection included quantity of organic debris, substrate composition, canopy cover, pool frequency, percent occurrence of raw banks, and potential for recruitment of large organic debris. Data were collected on 26 stream reaches within timber sales areas and 36 reference stream reaches outside timber sale areas.

The 1999 audit findings suggest that the quality of bull trout habitat in logged stream reaches is less than that on reference reaches; however, it is not apparent that Forest Practice Act rules are responsible for the differences. Most of the logged reaches that had low quantities of large woody debris and pools and a high occurrence of raw banks had been previously logged. Many were logged prior to passage of the Forest Practices Act in 1974, and many were influenced by factors beyond control of the Forest Practices Act, including urbanization, loss of beaver, and the long-abandoned practice of driving logs down stream and river channels through a series of splash dams (Colla and DuPont 2000).

In addition to moving BMP audits toward more quantitative measures, the Idaho Department of Lands now administers a cumulative watershed effects (CWE) program (see 6.1.1. Idaho's Cumulative Watershed Effects (CWE) Process). CWE assessment has been completed on approximately 150 watersheds across the state, resulting in a significant increase in the amount of data that can be used to evaluate BMP effectiveness (Dechert, review comments). Information about BMP effectiveness, both from CWE and audits, is fed back to the Forest Practices Act Advisory Committee, which recommends changes to BMPs. New issues associated with BMP effectiveness are continually being brought to the table and addressed through this feedback process (Dechert, review comments).

#### 5.4. Wildlife

Wildlife are an integral part of any forest. Forests are not static, and changes in forest structure and vegetative species composition will favor certain species of wildlife and deprive others of some elements necessary for reproduction and survival. Timber harvesting can have positive, negative, and neutral effects on wildlife habitat depending on the life requirements of the species inhabiting the area. This makes general discussions of the effects of timber harvesting on wildlife difficult (Patton 1992, O'Connell et al. 1993); therefore, after a brief introduction, we focus our discussion on two species: Rocky Mountain elk and northern goshawk.

Plant succession determines animal succession (Patton 1992). While the species might differ in any particular geographic area the process is the same in every forest ecosystem. Successive seral stages occurring during the process of ecological succession. At different stages, wildlife food and cover change, accompanied by a change in wildlife species able to use that tract of land. In the forest ecosystem, timber harvesting sets back succession to early seral stages. Theoretically, present forest conditions can be duplicated in the future if the appropriate silviculture prescriptions are applied when harvesting and regenerating a stand of trees (Patton 1992).

One important aspect of the relationship between wildlife and timber harvesting is not how many trees are removed, but how much vegetation remains for food and cover for the species inhabiting the area. Populations of animals of low mobility and specific habitat requirements—amphibians, reptiles, small birds, and small mammals—can be adversely affected at the time of a timber harvest even if the cut is limited to a small area or to a single tree. Highly mobile animals—large birds and mammals—are less affected. The age and size classes of trees that remain after harvesting and their spatial relationship is important (Patton 1992).

The literature provides some general guidelines for benefitting or minimizing the negative effects of timber harvesting on wildlife (Table 5-5). More specific guidelines depend on which species inhabit an area and are the objective of management activity.

5.4.1. Management Indicator Species. Forest Service regulations for implementing the mandates of the National Forest Management Act of 1976 directed that individual national forests identify management indicator species (MIS) to facilitate forest planning and management (Wilkinson and Anderson 1985). The indicator species concept is a transitional phase from single-species to multiple-species approaches to wildlife management. Although a single species is emphasized, this species is used to index or represent specific environmental conditions or the population status of other ecologically similar species (Block et al. 1995). Each national forest in Idaho has identified a set of MIS (wildlife, fish, and plants) with descriptions of what the species are supposed to indicate (Table 5-6).

Four broad categories of MIS are commonly used: [1] recovery species, [2] featured species, [3] specific habitat indicators, and [4] ecological indicators. Recovery species are those that are managed to increase their populations because they are recognized as threatened or endangered. Featured species are those managed for consumptive purposes or those that are valued for nonconsumptive recreational use. Specific habitat indicator species are those with potentially limited habitat needs that might be affected adversely by land management practices. Ecological indicators are those whose populations can be used to index habitat quality and population status of other species (Block et al. 1995).

There is considerable debate concerning the validity and usefulness of the indicator species concept (Landres et al. 1988, O'Laughlin et al. 1993, Block et al. 1995). Many of the criticisms of the indicator species concept are evident in Table 5-6, including: [1] vague definitions of what the species are supposed to indicate, including such things as population trends in other wildlife species or habitat abundance and quality; [2] selection of species that are too general; and [3] the inclusion of threatened and endangered species based only on that special protected status. The major problems with the use of indicator species are the lack of rigorous and consistent selection criteria, the failure to address management goals as related to MIS and the lack of empirical data supporting the assumptions concerning MIS (Landres et al. 1988). In most instances, there is no evidence that a particular MIS actually reflects trends in the populations of other species or habitat quality and abundance. In addition to conceptual questions, the MIS program on national forests may not be working because of programmatic problems, particularly the lack of monitoring (Yanishevsky 1994, Knowles and Knowles 1994).

Although the application of the MIS concept has problems, managing for wildlife habitat diversity by maintaining well distributed, viable populations of wildlife is a formidable task. Given the complexity of wildlife habitat relationships and population dynamics, and the richness of wildlife species on the national forests, the MIS concept was deemed the only feasible alternative (O'Laughlin et al. 1993). The following sections focus on two management indicator species used in the national forests of Idaho: elk and northern goshawk.

**5.4.2. Elk.** Rocky Mountain elk (*Cervus elephus*) is a wildlife species familiar to most Idahoans. Whether it is the personal enjoyment to residents that comes from the opportunity to view or hunt these large ungulates, or the economic impacts of out-of-state hunters, the people of Idaho treasure the state's elk populations.

Table 5-5. Examples of timber management techniques that positively benefit or reduce negative effects on wildlife.

- 1. Locate timber roads and skid trails to eliminate or minimize siltation of streams.
- 2. Reserve, in connection with tree planting and regeneration, natural openings, access ways, and brush areas for food and cover.
- 3. Plant or reserve groups of trees for cover (thermal, escape, hiding, etc.).
- 4. Reserve and release fruit and nut trees and shrubs to increase food production.
- 5. Retain den and roost trees.
- 6. Create openings by harvesting in dense timber stands. One of the most common techniques to benefit deer, elk, and turkey as well as many species of small mammals and birds.
- 7. Retain tree buffer areas or riparian vegetation along streams and lakeshores.
- 8. Adjust slash disposal plans to include requirements of wildlife species; slash piles benefit small mammals and birds.
- 9. Prevent logging skidding across meadows, along streambanks or through food, escape, nesting, or roosting cover. Areas must be identified before timber sale.
- 10. Reserve cover adjacent to seeps and stringer meadows in cut areas. Areas must be identified before timber sale.
- 11. Withhold from tree planting special areas needed for food and cover plantings.
- 12. In releasing coniferous timber species, leave hardwoods in strips or patches to provide a mast crop.
- 13. Scatter the location of small timber sales to break up large areas of a single age class. Provides diversity of food and cover for many species.
- 14. In large clearcuts, leave small scattered plots uncut for cover.
- 15. Seed skidways, roadsides, and landings on sale areas with wildlife food mixtures of forbs, grasses, and shrubs. Provides food for many species.
- 16. Burn slash away from water so ash will not enter streams or lakes.
- 17. Provide for juxtaposition of stands in different vegetation types.
- 18. Provide for interspersion of habitat units throughout the vegetation type.
- 19. Thin dense stands of trees to stimulate understory growth.
- 20. Close permanent and seasonal logging roads when necessary to protect a species during all or part of a year.
- 21. Mark and save a given number of snags per acre for cavity nesting birds.

Source: Patton (1992).

Table 5-6. Wildlife management indicator species in Idaho, what the species is an indicator of, and associated national forest in Idaho.					
Species Indicator of <sup>1</sup>		National Forest			
Birds					
Bald eagle <sup>2</sup>	Large rivers and lakes	Panhandle, Clearwater, Payette, Nez Perce, Caribou, Targhee			
Goshawk	Old-growth, multi-layered mature stands on north slopes for nests, seral habitats for foraging	Panhandle, Clearwater, Nez Perce, Caribou, Targhee			
Peregrine falcon <sup>3</sup>	N/A	Payette, Nez Perce, Clearwater			
Great gray owl	Mature sub-alpine fir and Douglas-fir forests	Salmon			
Sage grouse	Sagebrush habitats, range condition	Sawtooth, Caribou			
Sharp-tailed grouse	Grass-shrub habitats, range condition	Sawtooth			
Pileated woodpecker	Large snags, old-growth forests, old-growth species, cavity nesters	Panhandle, Clearwater, Nez Perce, Payette, Sawtooth, Boise, Salmon			
Hairy woodpecker	Snags	Caribou			
Lewis woodpecker	Riparian woodlands, large snags	Sawtooth			
Williamson's sapsucker	Cavity dependent species, mature forest snags	Payette, Targhee			
Yellow-bellied sapsucker	Cavity nesters, aspen	Caribou, Salmon			
Belted kingfisher	Riparian habitat	Clearwater			
Vesper sparrow	Non-forests, early succession species, sagebrush habitat	Payette, Salmon			
Brewer's sparrow	Sagebrush habitats, mid-seral sagebrush	Sawtooth, Targhee			
Yellow warbler	Riparian willow habitat	Challis, Boise			
Pygmy warbler	Cavity nesters, old-growth ponderosa pine forests	Salmon			

(continued)

Table 5-6. (continued).						
Species	Indicator of <sup>1</sup>	National Forest				
Birds (continued)						
Brown creeper	Cavity nesters, mature sub-alpine fir and lodgepole forests	Salmon				
Mountain bluebird	Cavity nesters, ecotones	Salmon				
Mountain chickadee	Smaller snags and insects	Boise				
Mammals						
Grizzly bear <sup>2</sup>	Large undisturbed areas	Panhandle, Clearwater, Nez Perce, Payette, Targhee				
Gray wolf <sup>2</sup>	Human disturbance	Clearwater, Payette, Nez Perce				
Woodland caribou <sup>2</sup>	Climax forest vegetation	Panhandle				
Elk	General forest seral species, habitat interspersion, coniferous forests, riparian forests, wet meadows, sagebrush-grass habitats, savanna forests, spruce-fir forest, sub-alpine fir-Douglas fir forest, summer range	Panhandle, Clearwater, Nez Perce, Payette, Sawtooth, Challis, Salmon, Boise, Targhee				
Moose	Mature timber stands, pacific yew	Panhandle, Clearwater, Nez Perce				
White-tailed deer	Interspersion of cover and forage, mature and old-growth, winter range	Panhandle, Clearwater				
Bighorn sheep	Alpine, subalpine, rock-scree, open timber, rock outcrop habitats	Nez Perce, Challis, Targhee				
Antelope	Sagebrush habitats	Targhee				
Mule deer	Conifer forest, mountain brush, sagebrush-grass, savanna forest, riparian subalpine, Douglas-fir habitats, successional summer and winter range	Sawtooth, Challis, Salmon, Boise, Caribou				
Mountain goat	High elevation, alpine, subalpine, rock-scree, open-timber, cliff habitats	Sawtooth, Challis, Salmon, Targhee				

(continued)

Table 5-6. (continued).						
Species	<b>Indicator of</b> <sup>1</sup>	National Forest				
Mammals (continued)						
Pine marten	Mid-to high-elevation mature forests, ecosystem health, old-growth sub-alpine fir and lodgepole forests	Clearwater, Salmon				
Beaver	Riparian habitat	Targhee				
Pika	Alpine, talus habitats	Targhee				
Red squirrel	Climax or mature conifer forests	Challis				
Red-backed vole	Old-growth forests	Boise				
Aquatic insects	Water quality, litterfall and sedimentation	Challis, Targhee				
Fish						
Cutthroat and rainbow trout; Bull trout <sup>2</sup>	Water quality: cool, clear, sediment free, streamside cover, instream flows	Panhandle, Clearwater, Challis, Salmon, Caribou, Targhee, Boise				
Steelhead <sup>2</sup>	Open channels, spawning gravels	Clearwater, Challis, Salmon, Boise				
Chinook salmon <sup>2</sup>	Same as steelhead	Clearwater, Challis, Salmon, Boise				

<sup>1</sup> Many of the National Forests have the same species listed as an MIS. However, that species may indicate different things on different forests. This column lists those indicator attributes as identified in the forest plans, but does not associate each attribute with each individual forest.

<sup>2</sup> Designated a threatened or endangered species under the Endangered Species Act. NFMA regulations automatically make threatened and endangered species MIS's.

<sup>3</sup> Removed from federal endangered species list in 1999.

Source: O'Laughlin et al. (1993).

Historically, elk populations in northern and central Idaho were small and widely dispersed. In 1805 and 1806, the Lewis and Clark expedition crossed Idaho through the Clearwater River drainage and did not report seeing elk. In the early 1900s, wildfires burned much of northern Idaho, and as a consequence vegetation that favored elk became more abundant. Because of increased forage, hunting restrictions, predator control, and supplementing native herds with elk from Yellowstone Park, elk populations in the Clearwater and Spokane River drainages increased to high levels between 1935 and 1965 (Servheen 1997). Elk populations peaked in the late 1950s and generally have declined since that time. Increased access brought about by roads built for timber harvest activities, lenient hunting seasons and bag limits, increased hunter numbers, increased numbers of predators, and natural plant succession in forage and cover areas are all suggested as factors causing the decline (Lyon and Ward 1982, Leege 1984, O'Neil and Witmer 1991, IDFG 1998b).

Many wildlife and land management agencies are working to better understand factors affecting elk populations. For example, the Idaho Department of Fish and Game is currently conducting a project in two contrasting areas in north-central Idaho. The area in the Lochsa River drainage was subjected to large wildfires in the early 1900s and is characterized by bull ratios that are satisfactory, poor calf recruitment, and apparently high predator densities. The South Fork of the Clearwater River area, on the other hand, has less fire influence but more logging, has poor bull ratios, satisfactory calf recruitment, good access, and relatively lower predator densities (IDFG 1998b). The department hopes to determine more precisely the causes of elk decline and implement management strategies that will help maintain populations at acceptable levels. This is just one of many efforts aimed at managing Idaho's elk populations.

*Elk Habitat Requirements.* Elk are tolerant of diverse environments; however, they exhibit preferences for specific vegetation and terrain within areas they occupy (Servheen 1997). Elk habitat selection and use have been studied extensively in forested ecosystems of the northern Rocky Mountains (Edge et al. 1987). Elk habitat selection is a multidimensional concept including behavior, topography, weather, food, and cover factors as well as interactions among those factors (Table 5-7).

Elk use a variety of habitats daily, seasonally, and from year to year (Irwin and Peek 1983,

Pedersen 1985, Edge et al. 1988, O'Connell et al. 1993). Elk habitat requirements in Idaho are well known (Servheen 1997).

*Elk Management*. Elk management focuses on two separate issues: elk habitat effectiveness and elk vulnerability (Servheen 1997). Elk habitat effectiveness focuses on providing elk with areas for foraging, calving, nursing, security, and "gaining body condition." Elk vulnerability focuses on elk mortality rates as a function of hunter and motorized route densities (Servheen 1997). Timber harvesting can affect both issues of elk management.

Effects of Timber Harvesting on Elk. The relationship between elk and timber harvesting activities in the northern Rocky Mountains has been studied extensively (e.g., Hieb 1976). Forest management, including timber harvesting, probably has the greatest potential for either negative or positive influences on elk populations than does any other land management activity (Lyon and Ward 1982). Timber harvesting activities have the potential for altering the amount and distribution of cover and forage areas and changing elk movements, distribution, and habitat utilization. In addition to vegetation changes caused by timber removal, the effects of logging slash, and the timing, pattern, and duration of logging activity are important considerations (Servheen 1997).

Timber harvesting activities have two general effects on elk: [1] during the logging operation there is a direct and substantial disturbance of animals and their habitat; and [2] in the long term there is a modification of habitat structure than can either improve or downgrade conditions for elk (Lyon and Ward 1982).

Elk reaction to the noise and activity of timber harvesting varies widely, depending on season of year, cover, topography, the kinds of equipment used, and the type and duration of activity (Lyon and Ward 1982). Displaced elk often remain within undisturbed portions of their home ranges, moving only as far as necessary to place a topographic barrier between themselves and the disturbance (Lyon and Ward 1982, Servheen 1997).

The long term effects of timber harvesting on elk habitat are varied. Prior to the late 1960s, it was widely presumed that timber harvest might be a logical alternative to fire-created seral habitats that favored elk, but successful improvement of a productive elk range following timber harvest has been harder to document than some of the concurrent, apparently adverse effects (Lyon and Ward 1982).

Table 5-7. Factors that influence habitat selection by elk. <sup>1</sup>				
Topographic	Food			
A. Elevation	A. Availability			
B. Slope	B. Quality			
1. gradient	Cover			
2. position on slope	A. Cover type			
3. aspect	1. thermal			
C. Land features	2. hiding			
Meteorologic	B. Density			
A. Precipitation—snow	C. Composition			
1. depth	D. Site productivity			
2. condition	E. Structure			
B. Temperature	F. Successional stage			
1. solar radiation	G. Configuration			
a. radiation	Space			
b. convection	Water and salt			
C. Humidity	Specialized habitats			
D. Barometric pressure	A. Calving			
E. Wind	B. Wallows			
1. velocity	C. Trails			
2. direction				

<sup>1</sup>Escape from predators, insects, and humans may override elk use of suitable habitat in a given situation.

Source: Skovlin (1982).

Elk response to habitat manipulation is more complex than is indicated by the uncritical assumption that food is a limiting factor (Lyon and Ward 1982). Forests commonly have micro-openings in the canopy that allow sunlight needed for growth of elk forage. In these situations, creation of additional openings through timber harvesting may not provide forage benefits to elk. However, beneficial forage can result from timber harvesting in elk home ranges that have dense canopies and limited understory of shrubs, grasses, and forbs (Leege 1984).

Different types of silvicultural and harvesting systems produce different effects on elk habitat. Disturbance by clearcutting has three major effects on forage plants in the forest: a change in plant species composition, an increase in forage production, and changes in nutrient quality. Although the composition of the plant community growing within a clearcut area depends on the composition of the understory before disturbance, it is also affected by soil disturbance during logging, methods of slash disposal, fire, and herbicide treatment (O'Connell et al. 1993).

Cover, forage quality, and roads also have been found to determine elk use of clearcuts (Lyon and Ward 1982). Forest edges between early and late seral stage forest communities can be used heavily by elk (O'Connell et al. 1993), so the size and shape of a clearcut unit affects its use (Leege 1984). Partial cuts tend to be less optimal for both forage and cover and are further disadvantaged because they require multiple logging entries that cause more disturbance (Leege 1984, O'Connell et al. 1993). Selective cutting, if it involves more roads and systems that cause repeated disturbance, also will have more detrimental effects on elk habitat than clearcutting (Lyon and Ward 1982).

Thinnings may have favorable results for elk, as long as slash is removed or is not large enough to be a barrier. If thinning increases the structural diversity of an otherwise homogenous forest it may benefit elk. However, thinning to densities often recommended for timber growth may increase forage, but produce neither security nor thermal cover (Lyon and Ward 1982). A literature review concluded that thinning practices produce only negligible forage benefits for elk (O'Connell et al. 1993).

Logging slash has the potential to affect elk behavior and movement in both the cut area and adjoining uncut area. Slash, when piled, may provide cover (Lyon and Wood 1982), but if slash is deeper than 1.5 feet, elk use the area less. Broadcast burning of slash encourages forage used by elk (Leege 1984).

Although Lyon and Ward (1982) concluded that it seems unlikely that any one silvicultural system is intrinsically more desirable than any other for management of elk habitat, they did express concern that the shift in timber management from clearcutting toward partial cutting, and the increasing emphasis on intensive management of more productive timber sites, could produce negative changes to elk habitat and populations.

*Roads*. The development and use of roads has the potential to affect elk behavior adversely, reduce habitat effectiveness, and increase elk vulnerability (O'Neil and Witmer 1991, Servheen 1997). In the short term, road construction results in disturbances that may result in temporary abandonment of portions of previously secure habitat. In the long term, roads that are not closed and re-contoured forever alter the terrain, with fills blocking historic travel routes, and road grades establishing new routes across the landscape. The area of the road bed is removed from the portion of the landscape that can provide elk forage (Toweill, review comments; Skovlin 1982; Lyon and Ward 1982; Leege 1984; Pederson 1985; Servheen 1997). Roads substantially reduce elk use in adjacent habitat (Edge et al. 1987).

Roads used by elk increase elk vulnerability to hunters, because hunters typically use the same

roads to access hunting areas. Roads increase the ability of hunters to access formerly remote portions of habitat, and to do so at relatively high rates of speed in either motorized or non-motorized vehicles. (Toweill, review comments; Lyon and Ward 1982; Leege 1984; Edge et al. 1987; Unsworth et al. 1993).

*Mitigating Timber Harvesting's Effects on Elk.* Managing elk involves managing both habitat effectiveness and vulnerability (Marcot et al. 1994, Servheen 1997). With proper planning, timber harvest can often be conducted with minimal detrimental, and sometimes positive, impacts on elk habitat. However, access associated with timber harvest often has negative impacts that are impossible to completely mitigate (Leege 1984, Servheen 1997).

Timber harvesting and associated road construction on elk range initiates a long period of elk responses to immediate environmental changes, to successional changes as the forest returns to maturity, and to any intermediate cuttings required. Also, habitat quality for elk is influenced by the relationship of various forest stands at any one time (Lyon and Ward 1982). The amount and juxtaposition of habitat types required to maintain elk populations are usually found in a landscape matrix or patchwork (O'Connell et al. 1993).

Elk are considered generalist herbivores and their distribution and success in a variety of habitats supports this notion. This variability makes site- or area-specific recommendations for habitat modification difficult (Lyon and Ward 1982, Edge et al. 1988). This variation also suggests that concern over forage production should be secondary to reducing disturbance and providing secure habitat during fall hunting season (Unsworth et al. 1998). In Idaho, elk are more likely limited by hunting than lack of appropriate habitat (Unsworth et al. 1993).

Advancing forest succession can produce declines in habitat quality in terms of both forage and cover (Irwin and Peek 1983). As discussed previously, removal of the overstory promotes growth of many herbaceous forage species, resulting in excellent forage opportunities for elk; however, the value of any increase in forage production depends on whether food is limiting and whether additional forage actually is available (Lyon and Ward 1982).

Hiding cover is particularly important when there is motor vehicle access to an area, and timber harvesting reduces the amount of cover available to elk in the short term, but can eventually lead to beneficial results. Young stands are used for hiding cover by elk (O'Connell et al. 1993). One study in Idaho found that pole timber stands provide better escape cover than mature/old-growth due to the presence of lower limbs and greater tree density (Irwin and Peek 1983). However, the relationship between tree size and hiding cover is complicated by topography. The same height or density of trees on flat terrain does not provide the same amount of hiding cover in steep terrain because of the viewing angles. Habitat management guidelines need to take topography into account (Canfield et al. 1986).

The appropriate management of timber harvesting and elk habitat depends on what the limiting factors are and achieving a balance between habitat elements (Lyon and Ward 1982). To reduce stress on elk, timber harvesting activities need to be designed and scheduled so that elk are provided adequate security and feeding areas protected from disturbance during active logging. For migratory elk herds, logging activity might be scheduled during seasons when elk are on other ranges. Another option is to plan timber harvest activities that can be completed in short time periods, with a minimum amount and time of disturbance. The size of the harvest area may not be as important as the proportion of the total habitat being disturbed at any one time (Lyon and Ward 1982).

A study by the Idaho Department of Fish and Game stated that premier summer elk habitat would consist of a roadless area, with no cattle use, at least 40% cover, and with adequate forage areas that are less than 1000 feet wide (Leege 1984, Unsworth et al. 1998). Researchers have recommended that at least 50% of roaded habitats be maintained in vegetation that meets requirements of cover (Unsworth et al. 1998). Maintenance of early to mid-seral stage habitat will provide long term benefits for elk on winter ranges by providing more forage, but reductions in cover and the increased access associated with timber harvest on summer and fall ranges will likely be more detrimental in terms of security than beneficial in terms of forage production (Unsworth et al. 1993). Researchers have recommended large portions of managed areas be maintained in cover and more aggressive access management than was being practice on most national forests (Unsworth et al. 1998).

*Elk Management Guidelines*. The Idaho Department of Fish and Game published guidelines for forest managers in north-central Idaho to assess and mitigate the effects of roads and logging activities (Servheen 1997). They were designed to: [1] iden-

tify existing elk summer habitat quality, [2] evaluate the effects (improvement or degradation) a proposed activity might have on habitat quality, [3] specify which factor(s) are the primary agents affecting summer habitat quality, and [4] provide recommendations and methods for minimizing negative effects on elk summer habitat (Servheen 1997). The Idaho Department of Fish and Game's recommendations for minimizing the adverse effects of timber harvesting on elk are:

- 1. Silvicultural methods that change the vegetation so that it no longer meets the definition of hiding cover (see **Glossary**) should be confined to an area with a maximum width of 1,000 ft. and should be bordered on all sides by cover of not less than 800 ft. width.
- 2. Maintain slash depth at less than 1.5 ft. to minimize impact on elk movements, distribution and habitat use.
- 3. When promoting increases in shrub cover and/or forage using burning and silviculture methods, do so without new road construction.
- 4. Plan timber sales so maximum duration of disturbance in any one are is two years in succession and the period of non-disturbance after post-sale activities is at least 3 years. Eliminate random logging and disturbance over the entire sale area. Use smaller sales or sequencing of larger sales through contract stipulations.
- 5. When feasible, refrain from road construction and logging in areas when elk would normally be using them. For example, do not log important summer habitat during summer if a viable option is to log during the winter.
- 6. If summer logging is planned on elk summer range, provide adjacent security areas at least as large as the areas being disturbed to provide elk security during periods of timber harvest and/or road building activity. This may be accomplished by scheduling of sale subdivisions so that one or more subdivisions are closed to all human activity including log hauling at one time. Try to provide a ridge line between the disturbed area and security area. It is preferred to have more than one security area adjacent to the sale area.

- When feasible, utilize alternative logging systems such as log forwarders, helicopters, or long span skyline to reduce the amount of road construction and reconstruction required.
- Protect major elk travel routes with buffer strips on either side for at least two sight distances (see Glossary)(Servheen 1997).

The Idaho Department of Fish and Game provides additional recommendations for managing access roads that influence elk habitat effectiveness and vulnerability (see Servheen 1997).

**5.4.3.** Northern Goshawk. The northern goshawk (*Accipiter gentilis*) is a bird widely distributed in temperate and boreal forests throughout the higher latitudes of the northern hemisphere (USFWS 1997, 1998). It inhabits coniferous, deciduous, and mixed forests, and shows morphological adaptations (short, rounded wings and long tails) for maneuverability in forest habitats (Patla et al. 1995). It preys on small-to medium-sized birds and mammals, which it captures on the ground, in trees, or in the air (Reynolds et al. 1992).

There is concern that changes occurring in goshawk nesting and foraging habitat, particularly reduction, fragmentation, and deterioration of mature conifer habitat, may be adversely affecting goshawk populations in Idaho and elsewhere in the western states. Habitat changes are due, in part, to the management of forests for timber production (Reynolds et al. 1992, Patla et al. 1995).

On several occasions the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service has been petitioned to protect the northern goshawk under the Endangered Species Act (see Peck 2000). The most recent finding was that listing is unwarranted because recent survey efforts have resulted in discovery of more goshawks and habitat does not appear to be limiting (USFWS 1998). However, this does not mean that goshawks are not affected by forest conditions and harvesting activities or that there is no reason for concern. Goshawks remain classified as a "species of special concern" by the Idaho Department of Fish and Game (IDFG 1998*a*) and as a "sensitive species" by the U.S. Forest Service Region 4 (south and central Idaho).

Because they occur in fairly low densities in areas remote from human habitation, goshawks are rarely encountered by the casual observer (Patla et al. 1995). Due to concern about their status, monitoring efforts in Idaho have increased, and researchers are attempting to gain a better understanding of goshawk habitat characteristics and how land management activities affect them (IDFG 1998*a*).

*Northern Goshawk Habitat*. Goshawks use a variety of forest types, forest ages, structural conditions, and successional stages (Reynolds et al. 1992); however, mature or old-growth forests with large trees and high canopy closure are especially important habitat in the western states (Iverson et al. 1996, Beier and Drennan 1997, Daw et al. 1998). Goshawks are found in most types of forests in Idaho (Hejl et al. 1995). The structure of the forest, not the species of trees, appears to be the important factor (Siders and Kennedy 1996).

The nesting home range of goshawks contains three components: the nest area, the post-fledging family area, and the foraging area, each with specific characteristics and management requirements (Graham et al. 1994). The nest area includes one or more forest stands, several nests, and several landform characteristics. The size and shape of nest areas depend on topography and the availability of dense patches of large trees. Nest areas range in size from 20 to 30 acres (Graham et al. 1994).

The critical characteristics of nest sites are structural features associated with the successional stage of the nesting stands (Moore and Henny 1983). Most studies have found that goshawks prefer to nest in stands with older, larger trees and high canopy closure (Reynolds et al. 1982, Moore and Henny 1983, Reynolds 1983, Hayward and Escano 1989, Crocker-Bedford 1990, Siders and Kennedy 1996, Squires and Ruggiero 1996, Beier and Drennan 1997, Daw et al. 1998).

Within a given forest type, characteristics of nest areas can vary depending on forest productivity. Nest areas within highly productive forests have more trees and denser canopies than nest areas in less productive forests. Similarly, tree ages in a nest area can be highly variable, depending on forest type (Graham et al. 1994).

There has been debate over the accuracy of nest site descriptions for northern goshawks. In some cases search methods have not been documented and many nest sites have been discovered either opportunistically or by use of a priori knowledge of habitat structure to direct decisions on where to search for nests (Siders and Kennedy 1996, Squires and Ruggiero 1996, Daw et al. 1998).

The post-fledgling family area is the area surrounding the nest that is used by fledglings until they are no longer dependent on the adults for food. It is a 300 to 600 acre mosaic of large trees, large snags, mid-aged forests, and small openings with a herbaceous understory, and large, downed logs (Graham et al. 1994).

The foraging area is 5,000 to 6,000 acres of forest that provides the food base for nesting goshawks. This area contains the habitat for larger birds and mammals that serve as prey. More than 50 species of goshawk prey have been identified, but few studies have examined the structure and composition of habitats preferred by foraging goshawks (Patla et al. 1995, Beier and Drennan 1997). Some studies have shown that goshawks use closed canopy forests more than open woodlands or meadows (Crocker-Bedford 1990, Patla et al. 1995), but goshawks have been observed hunting in many forest types and other habitats (Reynolds 1983, Graham et al. 1994, Patla et al. 1995, Iverson et al. 1996). Several studies suggest that foraging habitat may be as closely tied to prey availability as to particular habitat composition or structure (Reynold et al. 1992, Graham et al. 1994, Brier and Drennan 1997).

Hayward and Escano (1989) described typical northern goshawk habitat in northern Idaho. They found preferred nesting habitat to be mature to overmature conifer forest with a closed canopy (75-85% cover) on a moderate (15-35%) slope, facing north at or near the bottom of the hillside. Nest sites often occupied one of the older stands in the area. Relatively large diameter trees and wide spacing of trees and foliage allowed flight beneath the upper canopy. The typical nest was placed next to the bole of a live conifer in the lower one-third of the living crown. The nest tree had a whirl of large branches supporting the nest and an open canopy structure to allow nest access. Water and large forest openings were both generally within three-tenths of a mile of the nest (Hayward and Escano 1989).

*Effects of Timber Harvesting on Northern Goshawks*. Many authors who have studied goshawks in the western states have suggested that timber harvesting may result in reductions in goshawk abundance (e.g., Reynolds 1983, Patla et al. 1995). However, the mechanisms for inferred impacts of timber harvest on goshawks have not been well established (USFWS 1998). Several factors may contribute to decreased productivity and density in goshawk populations following particular changes in forest structure and composition, including: [1] increased predation on adults and young goshawks as hiding cover is reduced and potential predator populations increase; [2] loss of cool thermal conditions at nest sites; [3] reduced prey abundance or availability or both; [4] increased competition as predators that are adapted to more open forests become abundant; and [5] increased disturbance and human-caused mortality due to increased access from timber harvest road network (Iverson et al. 1996).

Effects of timber harvesting are difficult to quantify, as reoccupancy of nest sites is not guaranteed even at undisturbed sites. If other suitable sites were available, harvesting may only cause a relocation of nest sites. However, if nesting sites are limited, harvesting could result in local reduction in the breeding population (Moore and Henny 1983). Structure, age, and patch size of remaining forest habitat may be a factor in determining whether goshawks continue to use modified nesting territories over time. Prey abundance, diversity, and accessibility are also affected by changes in the composition and structure (Reynolds et al. 1992, Patla et al. 1995).

Effects of timber harvesting on northern goshawks vary by the silvicultural system and harvesting techniques employed. Direct disturbance during harvest operations does not appear to be a problem (Crocker-Bedford 1990, Grubb et al. 1998).

Clearcutting eliminates a preferred habitat type for northern goshawks and creates one that goshawks avoid (Iverson et al. 1996). One study found that goshawks appeared to be negatively affected by clearcuts in some studies but not in others (Hejl et al. 1995). A researcher speculates that such results are observed because goshawks are more easily seen in open areas, such as clearcuts (Crocker-Bedford 1990). Shelterwood treatment, even with reserve trees, is considered among the least valuable for nesting or foraging because of inadequate forest structure remaining in the stand (Iverson et al. 1996).

Uneven-aged silviculture that emulates natural disturbance patterns has a high likelihood of sustaining suitable goshawk habitat (Reynolds et al. 1992, Iverson et al. 1996). Group selection may not provide nesting habitat equivalent to mature/old-growth forest because of the degree of increased patchiness that will result over time; however, the value for nesting likely would remain adequate over the entire area throughout the rotation. Light, single-tree selection can retain high-value nesting habitat as long as large, old trees remain on the site through time. Group selection or single-tree selection also maintains relatively high-value foraging habitat throughout the management cycle (Iverson et al. 1996).

Intermediate silvicultural treatments, such as precommercial and commercial thinnings that open the canopy, can theoretically enhance stand suitability for goshawk use. The greatest benefits would not be in direct habitat improvement, but rather in reducing the time to develop stand structural characteristics necessary to provide suitable goshawk nesting and foraging habitat (Iverson et al. 1996).

Mitigating Timber Harvesting's Effects on Northern Goshawks. Numerous sets of recommendations and guidelines for management of timber harvesting and northern goshawk habitat have been developed (e.g, Jones 1974, Reynolds et al. 1992, Lilieholm et al. 1993, Patla et al. 1995, Iverson et al. 1996, Graham et al. 1999), but they tend to be regional in nature. In attempting to develop guidelines for Idaho, Patla et al. (1995) determined that more and better data were needed specific to the forest types of Idaho. They suggested that historical data be searched more thoroughly, monitoring of nest sites be increased, and survey methods be standardized. They suggested that until such time as guidelines specific to Idaho are developed, the guidelines developed for the southwestern states by Reynolds et al. (1992) should be used (Patla et al. 1995).

*Northern Goshawk Management Guidelines.* Forest structure influences the abundance and accessibility of prey, and in the long term, vegetation condition at the landscape scale will influence goshawk populations (Reynolds et al. 1992). Guidelines based on these accepted concepts focus on desired forest conditions and the link between forest structure and prey availability (Iverson et al. 1996). The guidelines are summarized in the following paragraphs.

*Nest areas (30 acres each).* Three suitable nest areas should be maintained per home range. In addition, three replacement nest areas per home range should be in a development phase, using intermediate treatment and prescribed fire. Nest areas are typified by one or more stands of mature or old trees and dense forest canopies. No adverse management activities should occur at any time in suitable nest areas (Reynolds et al. 1992).

Post Fledging-Family Areas (PFA) (420 acres). The PFA contains a variety of forest conditions and prey habitat attributes. Interspersed small openings, snags, downed logs, and woody debris are critical PFA attributes. To sustain desired canopy cover, size of trees, and the specified portions of different forest ages within the PFA, regeneration of 10 percent of the PFA may be required every 20 years. Other management tools, such as prescribed fire and removing understory trees, are suggested for sustaining other critical elements of goshawk habitat.

All management activities in the PFA should be limited to the period from October through February. Prescribed burning is the preferred method for management of woody debris. Thinning from below (removing understory trees) is preferred for maintaining desired forest structures, and a variable spacing is preferred for developing groups of trees with interlocking crowns. Road densities should be minimized, and permanent skid trails should be used in lieu of permanent roads (Reynolds et al. 1992).

*Foraging Area (5,400 acres).* Both the desired conditions and the management recommendations for the foraging area are similar to the PFA. The distribution and proportion of vegetative structural stages and the requirements for habitat attributes such as reserve trees, snags, and downed logs are the same as the PFA (Reynolds et al. 1992).

#### 5.5. Scenery

Scenery may be one of the most common, yet often under-appreciated, resources that humans obtain from forests. High scenic quality fosters psychological and physiological benefits to individuals, and thus benefits communities and society at large (Galliano and Loeffler 1995). Beautiful scenery can attract people to visit and live in an area, which can encourage economic and social development (Power 1996).

Many people may believe the old adage that "beauty is in the eye of the beholder," but over the last two decades, much research has found that there are many common elements in what people find visually attractive about landscapes (McCool et al. 1997). Landscapes with a high degree of natural appearing character are most attractive (Galliano and Loeffler 1995). Timber harvesting and other timber management activities influence the scenic character of landscapes, and the scenic impacts of timber management influence public perceptions of forestry (Brunson and Reiter 1996).

Scenery is defined as the general appearance of a place and the features of its views or landscapes—the arrangement of predominantly natural features of the landscapes we see. Scenery consists of two components. First, are biophysical elements such as landforms, water, and vegetation. Second are cultural elements, which are positive features resulting from human activities in the landscape. The adjective "scenic" is defined as having to do with natural scenery that affords beautiful views (Galliano and Loeffler 1995).

Methods for studying and inventorying scenic beauty in forested areas have focused on either "near-view" or "vista" scenes. Near-view scenes focus on forest characteristics generally within 100 yards of the viewer and do not include distant elements. Near-view forest scenes are incurred when the viewer is "in the forest" as opposed to viewing the forest from afar. The near view is important for hikers, campers, and other recreationists (Schroeder and Daniel 1981). Vista scenes emphasize more distant landscape features, although they may include some near-view features (Brown and Daniel 1986).

During the 1970s public land management agencies, particularly the U.S. Forest Service, led the research and planning effort into visual resource management. Although their methods were somewhat dissimilar, each agency developed a systematic approach to inventorying, evaluating, and predicting scenic values. For example, the U.S. Forest Service developed the Visual Management System, which has evolved into the Scenery Management System (Galliano and Loeffler 1995). The basic premise of these models is that on public lands people expect natural appearing scenery to visually dominate cultural or human activities, especially in forested landscapes (Galliano and Loeffler 1995).

5.5.1. Idaho's Scenery. The most recent scenic assessment for all of Idaho was conducted as part of the Interior Columbia Basin Ecosystem Management Project (ICBEMP). The visual environment, particularly that on public lands, is important to people of the basin (McCool et al. 1997). Galliano and Loeffler (1995) used a large-scale "vista" approach for assessing the entire basin. They used a concept called "landscape character" to describe ecoregion-based areas, defining landscape character as the overall impression created by scenery resulting from both natural processes and positive human influences. They described landscape character using four primary attributes: landforms, vegetation, water forms, and cultural forms. These attributes served as a frame of reference for inventorying "scenic integrity."

Galliano and Loeffler (1995) define scenic integrity as the present condition or level of visual

wholeness or intactness of landscape. Landscapes with high scenic integrity have virtually no discordant elements and contain only positive human alterations. In ICBEMP, scenic integrity was evaluated for all Ecological Reporting Units (ERUs). (Eight ERUs lie entirely or partially within Idaho.) Four ERUs in Idaho (Central Idaho Mountains, Snake Headwaters, Owyhee Uplands, and Upper Snake) have more than half their total lands within the Very High and High scenic integrity categories (Table 5-8). In total, nearly two-thirds of the federal lands in Idaho and western Montana are currently rated within the Very High and High scenic integrity categories, distinguishing them as some of the most scenic areas in the U.S. (Galliano and Loeffler 1995, Quigley et al. 1997).

**5.5.2. Scenic Beauty and Forest Management Re***search.* Literally dozens of research efforts have focused on evaluating scenic beauty and forest management. Rosenberger (1998) provided an up-to-date review of the literature, and we rely heavily on his work here. (For another review see Ribe 1989).

Much of the work on forest management and scenic beauty has focused on the near view of forest stands. Researchers have found that scenic beauty, particularly for the near view, can be evaluated using the same management units (i.e., timber stands) and variables (e.g., tree diameter, tree age, stand density) that are used for timber management (Arthur 1977, Brown and Daniel 1986). Therefore, data is usually readily available for evaluating the effects of timber management practices on scenic beauty.

Certain forest characteristics have produced consistent results across many forest types and geographic regions. Tree size is a significant variable of scenic beauty explanation in most models (Rosenberger 1998). The presence and dominance of larger diameter trees in a forest stand has a strong, positive effect on scenic beauty (Arthur 1977; Brown and Daniel 1984, 1986; Ribe 1989; Rosenberger 1998). The presence of large trees is most important in stands with fewer trees per acre (Rosenberger 1998). Scenic beauty increases with decreases in the presence of sapling- and pole-sized trees (Brown and Daniel 1984, Brown 1987).

Tree density effects on scenic beauty are more complex. For instance, at the sapling stage, more trees per acre has a negative effect (Brown 1987), whereas with large trees, as tree density increases per acre, the effect grows more positive (Rosenberger 1998). However, more open and park-

that include lands in Idaho.							
	Percent of acres in category						
ERU	Very High	High	Moderately High	Moderately Low	Low		
Columbia Plateau	2	19	42	37	0		
Blue Mountains	10	21	55	14	0		
N. Glaciated Mtns.	25	9	63	3	0		
Lower Clark Fork	14	8	75	3	0		
Owyhee Uplands	2	50	44	4	0		
Upper Snake	3	64	17	16	0		
Snake Headwaters	37	41	18	5	0		
Central Idaho Mtns.	34	31	31	4	0		

Table 5-8. Existing scenic integrity by ICBEMP Ecological Reporting Unit (ERU), for ERUs that include lands in Idaho.

Source: Galliano and Loeffler (1995).

like stands, typical for ponderosa pine in western landscapes, are preferred over dense forest stands, whether the stand contains saplings and young trees or large trees (Rosenberger 1998). Overstory stocking affects scenic beauty with lower densities that allow more light penetration preferred (Brown and Daniel 1984, Brown 1987). Dense clumps of trees also tend to decrease scenic beauty (Brown and Daniel 1984, 1986).

Stand age has a strong, positive effect on perceived scenic beauty. This is evident from and consistent with the positive effect of large trees, and the negative effect of dense forests, small trees on scenic beauty. In some cases, mature, even-aged stands are preferred over uneven-aged stands. However, in other cases the vertical diversity in uneven-aged stands is preferred over homogenous stands (Rosenberger 1998).

A mix of tree species has a strong, positive effect on perceived scenic beauty (Ribe 1989). Several studies on ponderosa pine forests show improved scenic beauty when other species are present, including oaks, junipers, aspen, birch, and firs (Rosenberger 1998).

Understory, including seedlings and shrubs, has a varied effect on perceived scenic beauty of forest stands. It can have a negative effect on scenic beauty by reducing visual penetration when open, park-like stands are preferred. Dense shrubs can detract from scenic beauty (Ribe 1989). However, the diversity of the understory can improve the scenic beauty of some western forests. In some studies, understory is not significant in explaining scenic beauty (Rosenberger 1998).

Vegetative groundcover (grasses, forbs, and seedlings) has a positive effect on scenic beauty, especially in western forests (Brown and Daniel 1986, Brown 1987, Ribe 1989). Typically, the benefits of groundcover for increasing scenic beauty are greatest with the first few increments of groundcover, with additional increments exhibiting smaller marginal benefits (Rosenberger 1998).

Downed wood, including slash from harvesting operations, is a consistent predictor of scenic beauty. Downed wood has a negative impact on scenic beauty, but the degree of impact depends on the forest type, the size and amount of downed wood, and the vertical height of the wood (Arthur 1977; Brown and Daniel 1984, 1986; Ribe 1989; Schroeder et al. 1993; Rosenberger 1998). People do not distinguish between naturally-downed wood and logging slash in their judgments of scenic beauty (Brown 1987). Fire damage to forest stands immediately reduces the scenic beauty of an area (Ribe 1989). The magnitude of the impact depends on the severity of the fire and the level and timing of recovery. Prescribed burns have been found to negatively impact scenic beauty in the short term, but with ground vegetation recovery, prescribed burns can enhance scenic beauty after a few years. This is primarily due to the elimination of slash after harvest or increasing visual penetration by reducing understory density. More severe prescribed burns may decrease scenic beauty, since they may leave visible scars on mature trees (Rosenberger 1998).

# 5.5.3. Managing Timber Harvest for Scenic

*Beauty*. All of the relationships between perceived scenic beauty of forest stands and forest stand component variables have implications for timber management. Timber harvesting probably has the greatest potential for negatively impacting scenic beauty in the short term, and may confound all other relationships between forest characteristics and scenic beauty (Rosenberger 1998).

The effects of timber harvesting on scenic beauty will vary by the silvicultural and harvesting system employed. Clearcutting has the greatest negative impact on scenic beauty in the short run (Rosenberger 1998). The visual evidence of disturbance associated with the removal of all trees as well as the obvious presence of stumps and slash creates negative perceptions of scenic quality. Seedtree cuts produce similar results because so few trees are left after harvest (USFS 1973b). The visual quality of the initial entry on a shelterwood cut varies considerably with each timber type, but the appearance after the final entry is similar to that of a clearcut because of the small size of young trees in the newly regenerated stand. Uneven-aged management and selective cutting keep visual evidence of disturbance to a minimum and create stands that have more structural diversity, thus partially mitigating overall impacts of harvesting on scenic beauty (USFS 1973b, Rosenberger 1998). As a generalization, the more trees per acre left standing, the higher the scenic quality of the stand (Brunson and Reiter 1996, Rosenberger 1998).

Thinning of dense stands can increase scenic beauty by increasing visual penetration, provided that slash is minimized (Ribe 1989, Rosenberger 1998). Thinning to remove dead, diseased, and damaged trees also can increase scenic beauty (Buhyoff et al. 1982, Rosenberger 1998). The size and shape of harvested areas also affect scenic beauty at both the near-view and vista scales. Smaller clearcuts are preferred to larger ones (Schroeder et al. 1993, Gobster 1996), and straight, unnatural-appearing edges between harvested and unharvested areas decrease scenic quality (USFS 1973*b*, Ribe 1989). Harvest units can be designed with feathered edges, islands of "leave" trees, and variety in shape and size, all giving harvested stands a more natural-appearing character (USFS 1973*b*, Walters 1992).

The duration of timber harvest activity's visual impact to a landscape depends greatly on the regenerative capabilities of specific forest types, climate, management techniques, and degree or severity of impacts. The reduction of slash left after harvest leads to the quickest and most significant improvement in scenic quality (Brown and Daniel 1984, Ribe 1989). Burning, removal, lopping, and chipping and spreading are all management techniques for slash that mitigate its effects on visual quality (Rosenberger 1998). The use of fire to prepare a recently logged site for replanting has negative immediate scenic impacts, although the longer-term effect may be positive if the new stand regenerates more quickly (Brunson and Reiter 1996). Planting of new seedlings decreases the time until regeneration appears, thus reducing recovery time.

**5.5.4.** Scenery and Ecosystem Management. Ecosystem management is a relatively new paradigm for forest management (see Chapter 4), and is based on maintaining ecosystem composition, structure, and processes. It is not yet clear how compatible these goals are with scenic beauty in forested landscapes. High scenic quality may sometimes equate with high ecosystem integrity, but one does not necessarily ensure the other (Galliano and Loeffler 1995). What looks good now may be at high risk for change in the future. Rosenberger (1998) concluded that, in general, preferred characteristics for scenic beauty are not at high risk for fire or insects, but other changes that affect ecosystem integrity may occur.

Ecosystem management forestry techniques often entail leaving behind "ecological legacies"—clumps of live trees, standing dead snags, downed logs, and woody residues. Although most scenic beauty research was not done in the context of ecosystem management, the existing research tends to suggest that people may find these techniques unattractive, which may reduce support for ecosystem management overall (Brunson and Reiter 1996).

Some ecosystem management techniques may produce negative scenic beauty effects. Brunson and Reiter (1996) evaluated the scenic impacts of several ecosystem management techniques on forest stands in Oregon. Despite the presence of downed wood, people in their study rated old growth scenes highest in scenic beauty, followed by group selection, thinning, and shelterwood after the first entry. Snag retention and clearcutting ranked lowest. Topping trees to create snags also had a slight negative effect (Brunson and Reiter 1996).

By providing information about the reasons ecosystem management techniques were undertaken, Brunson and Reiter (1996) attempted to influence people's preferences. Although in other studies increased information has been shown to affect scenic beauty judgments (Anderson 1981, Buhyoff et al. 1982), in this case increased information had mixed effects on scenic evaluations (Brunson and Reiter 1996).

Biodiversity is a focus of ecosystem management, and some practices that enhance biodiversity may conflict with those that promote visual quality (Gobster 1996). For example, slash left from harvesting operations has one of the biggest impacts on near-view scenic quality. Naturally occurring downed wood is often indistinguishable from downed wood caused by logging practices, and thus natural decline in mature and old-growth stands may have similar scenic impacts. To reduce these impacts harvest prescriptions for visually scenic areas often call for removing, chipping, burning, or pulling slash from the areas. From a forest biodiversity perspective, however, downed wood can be important for maintaining site quality and sustaining soil productivity, the diversity of insects, microfauna and microflora, wildlife food and cover, and tree and groundcover regeneration. Practices that affect abundance and distribution of slash and natural downed wood thus can hinder biodiversity goals (Gobster 1996).

Visual preferences are often thought of as coinciding with the perceived degree of disruption; i.e., unmanaged forests are most preferred, and clearcuts are least preferred (Gobster 1996). Several studies, however, have shown that lightly managed stands in which dead material and low tree and shrub cover are reduced, and visual penetration increased, are often preferred over unmanaged stands. From a biodiversity standpoint, even- and uneven-aged techniques that promote a varied vertical structure may encourage higher biodiversity. In this light, techniques that reduce structural heterogeneity such as those that produce park-like stands of mature trees with herbaceous groundcover but little midstory vegetation—may be scenically popular but compromise biodiversity goals (Gobster 1996).

#### 5.6. Conclusions

Timber harvesting affects other forest resources, but the direction and magnitude of those effects is highly variable. The effects vary because the biotic and abiotic conditions that exist on each timber harvesting site differ. The effects also vary depending on the method of timber harvesting employed, including the proportion of stems removed, the size of trees removed, and the machinery used for removal.

Timber harvesting activities affect the soil on the timber harvesting site, and thus can affect the ability of the site to produce timber in the future. Negative effects on long-term site productivity can be mitigated by reducing minimizing soil disturbance, leaving plenty of organic matter behind, and ensuring prompt regeneration.

Water quantity and quality are also affected by timber harvesting activities. Streamflow, water temperature, dissolved oxygen, nutrient concentrations, and sediment loads can all be affected. More negative effects are associated with roads for accessing timber than with the sites where trees are removed. Best management practices (BMPs) developed under the Idaho Forest Practices Act are designed to mitigate the effects of timber harvesting on water quality by reducing impacts to acceptable levels. BMPs are mandatory for timber harvesting activities in the state of Idaho.

The responses of wildlife to timber harvesting depend on the type of wildlife, the ecological conditions on and off site before and after harvesting, the type of logging system used, and when harvesting is done. The two species we examined, Rocky Mountain elk and Northern goshawk, have varied and somewhat different responses to timber harvesting. Generalizing about effects of timber harvesting on these two species, or wildlife in general, is tenuous because of the variety of habitats used and the conditions of any particular site. Actions that affect one species positively may affect another negatively.

Timber harvesting can affect scenic beauty. The social acceptability of timber harvesting in particu-

lar areas may be dependent on people's impressions of its scenic impacts. Timber harvesting's impacts on scenic beauty can be reduced by leaving some live trees on site and providing visual penetration. Questions remain about whether ecological goals for forest management are compatible with scenic goals.

It is difficult to reach one definitive conclusion about the effects of timber harvesting on other re sources, particularly at a statewide scale. Conditions vary across the state and the combinations of factors are almost endless. The importance placed on the effects of timber harvesting on other resources, and how those effects are managed will vary, too, because forests are managed under different policies and management objectives (see **Chapter 4**).

# Chapter 6. Alternative Approaches to Watershed Analysis

One of the criticisms that arises in discussions of sustainable forest management is that links from policy to implementation are missing. What on-theground planning and management processes are available that encourage sustainable forest management? What tools can help managers ensure that timber harvesting is sustainable?

In the past decade, "watershed analysis" has emerged as a name for a type of process that may encourage sustainable forest management. Although watershed analysis approaches are still evolving and may differ in their management objectives, the intent is basically the same: to understand the ecological processes at work in a watershed and protect some resources from detrimental effects of using other resources, including timber. The differences lie in which processes and resources are included in the analysis (Grant et al. 1994, Montgomery et al. 1995, Reid 1998).

In this chapter we look at three governmental approaches to watershed analysis. Two are state level and one is federal. The two state approaches, for Idaho and Washington, are based on a management paradigm called cumulative watershed effects (Reid 1993, Collins and Press 1997*a*), which is concerned primarily about water quality and nonpoint source pollution. The federal approach extends the cumulative watershed effects model into a planning tool for ecosystem management (USFS 1995*b*, Grant et al. 1994, Montgomery et al. 1995). It considers not only a broader range of ecological elements than those related to water quality, but also economic and social objectives.

After describing the three approaches to watershed analysis, we compare them using four resource management paradigms: cumulative effects assessment, adaptive management, restoration assessment, and ecosystem management. We then look at a methodology being developed and tested by a private timber company that builds on the Washington process for watershed analysis by developing methods for extrapolating results to a broader range of watersheds.

# 6.1. Cumulative Watershed Effects: State Programs

Before analyzing Idaho and Washington programs for cumulative watershed effects analysis, it is necessary to define what the term means. **6.1.1. What are cumulative impacts?** In the regulations for implementing the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) the Council on Environmental Quality (CEQ) defines cumulative impact as:

the impact on the environment which results from the incremental impact of the action when added to other past, present, and reasonably foreseeable future actions regardless of what agency (federal or nonfederal) or persons undertake such actions. Cumulative impacts can result from individually minor but collectively significant actions taking place over time (40 C.F.R. § 1508.7).

In other words, the concept of cumulative impacts, or effects, encompasses those environmental changes caused by the interaction of natural ecosystem processes with the effects of land-use activities distributed through time, space, or both (Sidle and Hornbeck 1991, Reid 1993).

6.1.2. What are cumulative effects? Cumulative effects can be caused by repeated, progressive, sequential, and coexisting land-use activities (Reid 1993). They can occur because of a single type of influence on an environmental parameter. For example, many types of land use can compact soils. Effects can result from complementary influences. For example, both increased snow compaction and altered snow accumulation can affect flood peaks. Cascading influences can accumulate. For example, one type of land use can influence a second to cause an impact, as when urbanization increases recreational pressure, thus increasing trail erosion. Cumulative effects can arise from interdependent influences. For example, two introduced chemicals can react to produce a third (Reid 1993).

Cumulative effects may result from the accumulation of small effects of many forest practices that are insignificant at any one site, or they may result from a change in dominant watershed processes, even when activities triggering effects are limited (WFPB 1997). For example, sedimentation from surface erosion is incremental, whereas landslides or mass wasting are usually considered to be episodic. The manifestation of cumulative effects is complicated by lags in system response to change, geographic decoupling between cause and effect, sitespecific variations in impact expression, accumulation of innocuous changes to the point that a catastrophic change is triggered, the ability of high-magnitude events to trigger delayed impacts, and interaction between changes that modify their expression (Reid 1993, Reid 1998).

Analysis of the cumulative effects of land management activities has received increasing attention in recent decades. The primary difference between research on cumulative effects and research on individual land-use effects is that research on cumulative effects focuses specifically on the interaction of processes and treatments (Sidle and Hornbeck 1991, Reid 1998). Cumulative effects analysis is likely to involve interdisciplinary work and larger temporal and spatial scales compared to analysis of individual resources (Sidle and Hornbeck 1991, Reid 1993, Reid 1998).

The legal impetus for cumulative effects analysis in forest management has come from the Multiple-Use Sustained-Yield Act, the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA), the National Forest Management Act, and the Clean Water Act (Cobourn 1989, Sidle and Hornbeck 1991). Specifically, in addressing the proper scope of an environmental impact statement under NEPA, the CEQ regulations require that such statements consider direct impacts, indirect impacts, and cumulative impacts (Cobourn 1989). The Clean Water Act requires a process to identify silviculturally related nonpoint sources of pollution and their cumulative impacts (33 U.S.C. 1288(b)(2)(F)). Also, federal courts have set down mandates regarding cumulative effects in several cases (Cobourn 1989).

## 6.1.3. What are cumulative watershed effects?

Much of the cumulative effects analysis in land management is done in relation to watersheds, or cumulative watershed effects (CWE). There is some disagreement about the meaning of "watershed" in the CWE context. Broad interpretations include any changes occurring within the boundaries of a drainage basin, where the watershed is simply the location of impacts and does not necessarily play a role in its generation. A narrower interpretation is that "watershed effects" include only those changes occurring to resources influenced directly or indirectly by processes affecting water quality, with water and sediment transport processes functionally linked to expression of impacts (Reid 1993). This distinction also is apparent in the interpretation of "watershed analysis." The federal process tends toward the first interpretation of the watershed as an ecological whole, whereas the state processes reflect the latter interpretation of the watershed as a fluvial system.

In the context of state water quality programs, CWE analysis is basically an advanced means of controlling nonpoint source pollution. It is a safety net for water quality, predicting impacts that might be missed if planning were carried out only at the project proposal level. By recognizing that a watershed is a fluvial system and an ecological whole, cumulative watershed effects analysis assures that hydrologic effects, erosion processes, and biologic responses are considered from the outset (Cobourn 1989). In Idaho, CWE is focused primarily on timber management practices and has wide implications for soil resources and long-term productivity (Dechert, review comments).

## 6.1.4. Idaho's Cumulative Watershed Effects (CWE) Process. In 1991, the Idaho Forest Practices Act was amended to include provisions to reduce the impacts of cumulative effects of multiple forest practices. The amendment defined cumulative watershed effects as:

... the impact on water quality and/or beneficial uses which result from the incremental impact of two (2) or more forest practices. Cumulative effects can result from individually minor but collectively significant actions taking place over a period of time (Idaho Code § 38-1308(17)).

A task force composed of representatives of large private forest owners, state and federal resource management agencies, and environmental interest groups worked to develop a cumulative watershed effects (CWE) analysis and control process to ensure that watersheds are managed to protect water quality so that beneficial uses of water bodies are supported. The *Forest Practices Cumulative Watershed Effects Process for Idaho* (IDL 1995) was the result of the task's force work. A revised process manual was released in March 2000 (IDL 2000).

The Idaho CWE process sets up a framework in which trained evaluators combine field observations and measurements with professional judgment to examine important watershed processes (see IDL 2000). With minimal specialized guidance, trained resource managers can use the procedure to determine the hazards inherent in, and the current condition of, streams and watersheds. That allows them to estimate the risks associated with planned forest practices. With this information they can determine whether a CWE problem exists. If it does, they can design prescriptions needed to control it (IDL 2000).

The CWE process consists of two basic parts: the Watershed Condition Assessment Process and the Impact Control Process (IDL 2000). First, the Watershed Condition Assessment includes modules
for erosion and mass failure hazard, canopy closure/ stream temperature, hydrology, sediment delivery, channel stability, beneficial use/fine sediment, and nutrients. These factors are assessed to determine if adverse conditions exist. Second, the Impact Control Process guides the resource manager to prescribe solutions to adverse CWE conditions (IDL 2000).

The CWE process leads to one of three courses of action for the forest manager:

- 1. Guidance for making decisions that will allow a planned forest practice to proceed without unacceptable risk of adverse CWE.
- 2. When the results of the evaluation indicate the existence of a CWE problem, help in redesigning forest practices, and/or correcting the identified watershed problems.
- 3. When the evaluation process suggests the existence of a complex CWE situation, guidance for completing additional analysis before proceeding with a forest practice. If necessary, IDL will facilitate convening an interdisciplinary team of qualified technical specialists to complete the analyses of complex situations (IDL 2000).

Resource managers and the Idaho Department of Lands, the agency responsible for implementing the Idaho Forest Practices Act (IDL) have three ways of monitoring the effectiveness of CWE management prescriptions. Those are forest practice inspections, forest practice audits, and CWE reassessments. Regular inspections of forest practices are conducted by IDL while forest operations are taking place. Annual forest practice audits by the Idaho Department of Environmental Quality (every fourth year) and IDL (in interim years) are required. (See results in 5.3.4. Mitigating Timber Harvesting's Effects on Water Quality.) Reassessment of watersheds is to be done on a regular basis (IDL 2000).

Landowners responsibilities are highlighted in the CWE process. A watershed committee consisting of forest landowners within a watershed has the opportunity to oversee application of the process in the watershed. The committee can select evaluators from IDL's approved list, and the committee and individual landowners can develop management prescriptions based on the assessment report (IDL 2000). In practice, IDL has taken a lead role in initiating and conducting the CWE process, and it is currently being driven by the TMDL process under the federal Clean Water Act (see O'Laughlin 1996*b*) (Dechert, review comments). The CWE process is designed to be adaptive in that the decision criteria provided in the process change as new data and information become available (IDL 1995). The differences in the assessment modules between the 1995 and 2000 editions of the CWE manual reflect this adaptive trait (see IDL 1995, 2000). IDL has developed an extensive GIS database from CWE assessments (Dechert, review comments).

Not all watersheds in the state have been assessed using the CWE process, but analyses are targeted toward the most vulnerable watersheds. In the last few years, increased appropriations to IDL specifically for CWE have allowed the department to increase training, assessment crews, data availability, and completion of watershed assessments (Dechert, review comments).

6.1.5. Washington's Watershed Analysis Program. The state of Washington's watershed analysis program grew out of concern over the cumulative effects of forest management activities. Until cumulative effects rules were adopted, forest practices were considered one activity at a time, and although the regulations provided protection on a site-by-site basis, there were concerns that the watershed as a whole might be affected by the cumulative effects of all the activities in the basin. Washington state defines cumulative effects as "the changes to the environment caused by the interaction of natural ecosystem processes with the effects of two or more forest practices." These changes include effects on water quality, wildlife, fish habitat, and other public resources (WFPB 1997).

A fundamental assumption of Washington's approach to watershed analysis is that by applying standard forest practices in less sensitive areas and managing sensitive areas appropriately, the overall watershed condition will be protected and cumulative effects will not occur (WFPB 1997). Watershed analysis is a structured approach to developing a forest practice plan for a watershed based on a biological and physical inventory. During the startup and resource assessment phases, an interdisciplinary team of scientists develops information and interpretations of resource conditions and sensitivities at a watershed scale guided by a series of key questions. The products produced by the scientists include resource condition reports describing watershed conditions, maps locating sensitive areas requiring prescriptions (which may include all or parts of the watershed), and causal mechanism reports describing the sensitive area and the nature of potential

problems to public resources supported with facts and data. This information is then fed into the prescription process where local land managers and agencies develop a tailored management plan for the watershed that responds to the resource concerns identified by the scientific investigation. A team of field managers and analysts determine required and voluntary forest practices for each identified sensitive area. Once the watershed plan is developed, further forestry activities in the watershed must be conducted within the provisions of the watershed analysis prescriptions for each sensitive area, unless an alternative plan is approved, with compliance regulated by the Washington Department of Natural Resources (WFPB 1997).

In the wrap-up phase of Washington's watershed analysis, the analysis team may develop a plan to measure effectiveness of prescriptions, but this step is optional. The team can identify monitoring variables and protocols and pass on a monitoring plan to stakeholders for implementation. Monitoring is implemented as an option by landowners, agencies, tribes, and others interested in the watershed (WFPB 1997).

Washington's watershed analysis assumes that management plans should be developed by those with the skills and experience to conduct forest management activities; however, it also relies on stakeholders within each watershed to make it work (WFPB 1997). It is a collaborative process involving resource scientists and managers representing landowners, tribes, and other interested publics. A fundamental philosophy of the process is that the best solutions will result when the scientists that develop information for an area work collaboratively with the resource managers responsible for developing and implementing the plan for the area. Resource specialists provide resource condition reports, maps of sensitive areas, causal mechanism reports, and rules for standards of performance. Field managers provide prescriptions with justification for each mapped sensitive unit (WFPB 1997).

Provisions are made for public review of the findings of the watershed study and management prescriptions before final acceptance of the plan. The Washington Department of Natural Resources manages the public review (WFPB 1997).

The state of Washington has been divided into approximately 800 watersheds ranging in size from 10,000 to 50,000 acres. Total time for completion of a watershed analysis is two to five months depending on the size and complexity of the watershed and the chosen level of assessment. Products of the watershed analysis are assumed to be valid for a period of five years, at which time the process may be repeated if necessary (WFPB 1997).

The Washington watershed analysis program is designed to be adaptive. The application of the process is expected to evolve as scientific knowledge and experience with the process grows. The watershed analysis process can best be viewed as a work in progress (WFPB 1997).

#### 6.2. Watershed Analysis by Federal Agencies

Watershed analysis as it is done by federal agencies builds on and moves beyond cumulative watershed effects analysis (USFS & BLM 1993, Grant et al. 1994, Montgomery et al. 1995). For federal agencies, watershed analysis is a vehicle for implementing ecosystem management at the watershed scale (Grant et al. 1994, RIEC 1995, Tuchmann et al. 1996, Reid 1998). It provides a process for melding social expectations with the biophysical capabilities of specific landscapes (FEMAT 1993, Fight et al. 2000).

Watershed analysis originated from a recognition that planning directed at single issues by individual agencies does not work. For example, a management plan focused only on harvesting timber may meet the silvicultural and economic objectives of one landowner, but that plan may not adequately consider the effect of that activity on other owners, values, or activities within the watershed. Watershed analysis identifies conflicting values and expectations and the social, biological, and physical processes that are important when viewed at the watershed scale (Ziemer 1997). Watershed analysis is designed to allow federal agencies to shift their focus from species and sites to the ecosystems that support them in order to understand the consequences of management actions before implementation (Montgomery et al. 1995, RIEC 1995).

Watershed analysis is designed to be an iterative, incremental process (USFS & BLM 1994*b*). Its methods and procedures are flexible and designed to be updated and revised as new information or understanding of ecosystem processes is either developed or becomes available (RIEC 1995).

Federal watershed analysis is not a decision making process; it is a stage-setting process. Watershed analysis can support any decision-making priorities; it is intended only to generate the information required to make informed choices about potential land management impacts in a spatially-distributed context. The results of watershed analyses establish the context for subsequent decision making processes, including planning, project development, and regulatory compliance (Grant et al. 1994, RIEC 1995).

Montgomery et al. (1995) suggest that incorporation of watershed analysis into land use planning offers at least five distinct advantages over more traditional approaches to land use decision-making:

- 1. Incorporating scientific input at the front end of the planning process can help avoid crisis management through more effective and complete use of such information in decision-making. Watershed analysis provides a framework within which to explicitly address the ecological impacts of land management decisions. This should generate the structure necessary to avoid policies inconsistent with resource-management objectives.
- 2. Incorporating available scientific information and theories should decrease the probability of unanticipated conflicts arising from real or perceived incompatibilities between management activity and resource objectives or laws. Decisions are likely to be more defensible if potential impacts are realistically addressed based on current knowledge. Involvement of all interested parties during the watershed analysis process also provides a more productive forum for addressing basic disputes about watershed conditions and processes.
- By synthesizing available data on landscape history, condition, and potential future conditions, watershed analysis helps focus land use disputes on policy and prescriptions. While ecosystem response may be dauntingly complex, adversaries may be compelled to agree on basic data, thus narrowing the scope of potential differences.
- 4. Watershed analysis provides a framework for incorporating interdisciplinary, interagency, and multi-owner considerations and input necessary to either prevent ecosystem deterioration or restore degraded areas. Present planning procedures often provide little opportunity for interdisciplinary (as opposed to multi-disciplinary) or holistic assessments of landscape conditions and potential management options.
- 5. Provides a public and accountable assessment of the degree to which societal expec-

tations are met by land managers (Montgomery et al. 1995:383).

**6.2.1.** *History*. The federal impetus for watershed analysis came out of the spotted-owl controversy in the Pacific Northwest. The Forest Ecosystem Management Team report (FEMAT 1993) and related documents (USFS & BLM 1993) first proposed the use of watershed analysis as a systematic procedure for characterizing watershed and ecological processes to meet specific management and social objectives. PACFISH (USFS & BLM 1994*b*) and INFISH (USFS 1995*a*) followed suit.

Watershed analysis was first introduced in 1994 in the Pacific Northwest forests (USFS 1995b). In 1994 and 1995, the USFS and BLM completed 15 pilot watershed analyses and additional watershed analyses on more than 8 million acres, which represents more than 51% of the land matrix, adaptive management areas, and late-successional reserves (including riparian reserves) in the spotted owl forests of the region. Federal agencies completed analyses on another 3.2 million acres in 1996 and planned to complete 2.5 million acres in 1997 (Tuchmann et al. 1996). Examples of early federal approaches include the Applegate Watershed Analysis in southwestern Oregon (BLM 1995) and the Nestucca Watershed Analysis on the north coast of Oregon (USFS et al. 1994).

**6.2.2. Ecosystem Analysis at the Watershed Scale**. The most recent federal guide for watershed analysis, *Ecosystem Analysis at the Watershed Scale* (RIEC 1995), outlines the following six-step analysis process:

- 1. *Characterization of the watershed* Identify the dominant physical, biological, and human processes or features of the watershed that affect ecosystem functions or conditions. Establish the relations between these functions. Identify the important land allocations, plan objectives, and regulatory constraints that influence resource management.
- 2. *Identification of issues and key questions*—Focus the analysis on the key elements of the ecosystem that are most relevant to the management questions and objectives, human values, or resource conditions with the watershed.
- 3. *Description of current conditions* Develop information relevant to the issues and key questions identified in step 2. Document

current range, distribution, and condition of the relevant ecosystem elements.

- 4. Description of reference conditions —Explain how ecological conditions have hanged over time as a result of human influence and natural disturbances.
- Synthesis and interpretation of information—Compare existing and reference conditions of specific ecosystem elements and explain significant differences, similarities, or trends and their causes. Evaluate the capacity of the system to achieve key management-plan objectives.
- Recommendations—Bring the results of steps 1 to 5 to conclusion; focus on management recommendations that are responsive to watershed processes identified in the analysis. Link issues and key questions with synthesis and interpretation of ecosystem understanding. Identify monitoring activities. (Tuchmann et al. 1996:85).

The guide proposes seven core topics that each watershed analysis should address: erosion processes, hydrology, vegetation, stream channel, water quality, species and habitats, and human uses. These represent the major and common ecological elements, and their interrelations, in all watersheds. They are purposely broad and general, to encourage a watershed-scale perspective of the system as opposed to site- or project-scale perspectives. They help ensure that analyses are sufficiently comprehensive to develop a basic understanding of ecological conditions, processes, and interactions in the watershed (RIEC 1995, Tuchmann et al. 1996).

A series of questions serves as a guide to watershed analysis teams through the core topics and six step process (RIEC 1995). For example, the core questions for water quality are:

- What beneficial uses dependent on aquatic resources occur in the watershed? Which water quality parameters are critical to these uses? (Step 1: *Characterization*)
- What are the current conditions and trends of beneficial uses and associated water quality parameters? (Step 3: *Current Conditions*)
- What were the historical water quality characteristics of the watershed? (Step 4: *Reference Conditions*)
- What are the natural and human causes of change between historical and current water quality conditions? What are the influences and

relationships between water quality and other ecosystem processes in the watershed (e.g., mass wasting, fish habitat, stream reach vulnerability)? (Step 5: *Synthesis and Interpretation*) (RIEC 1995).

**6.2.3.** How big is a watershed? The guide does not specify the size of watersheds that should be analyzed. It suggests that the size of the area chosen for analysis depends on the purpose of the analysis, the topics to be analyzed, and the physical, biological, and social complexity of the area. With watershed analysis, the challenge is to select an area such that the data and information are useful for deciding what management activities are compatible with ecosystem goals—not so broad that the conclusions are not directly helpful to managers and not so refined or detailed that the information does not show broader ecosystem needs (RIEC 1995).

Watershed analysis guides site-level project planning and decision making by providing the watershed context. As watershed size increases, it becomes more difficult to provide meaningful information for this use (RIEC 1995). FEMAT (1993) suggested that watershed analysis applied to watersheds of approximately 20-200 square miles. This size is small enough to provide a useful level of precision, while being large enough to exhibit any of the interactions important to environmental issues (Ziemer 1997).

6.2.4 Implementation Issues. To provide accountability, watershed analysis includes a certification process through which the responsible line officer certifies that the analysis has been conducted and completed according to the expected scientific standards (USFS & BLM 1994*b*). The guide states that a qualified interagency and interdisciplinary team should be used for the analysis, and involving other agencies, tribes, state and local governments, and the public throughout the analysis is encouraged (RIEC 1995).

The federal guide does not provide a time frame for completing the analysis nor an estimate of costs. INFISH estimated that initial assessment of conditions would cost \$17,000 to \$25,000 per assessment, and comprehensive assessment to evaluate watershed response and recommend adjustments would cost \$38,000 to \$100,000 per assessment (USFS 1995*a*). However, INFISH (USFS 1995*a*) cautions that the cost estimates are speculative.

### 6.3. Comparing Alternative Approaches

Table 6-1 summarizes selected characteristics of the Idaho, Washington, and federal watershed analysis processes. Differences between the processes are numerous, but given that the goals for each are different, that should be expected.

We compared these processes in light of four natural resource management paradigms used by Collins and Pess (1997*a*) to critique Washington's watershed analysis program. The four paradigms are: [1] cumulative effects assessment (from Reid 1993), [2] adaptive management (from Halbert 1993), [3] restoration assessment (from Beechie et al. 1996), and [4] ecosystem management (from Grumbine 1994). The key elements of each paradigm are listed in Table 6-2.

Our analysis is general in nature because it is based only on each entity's general procedures guide for watershed analysis (i.e., IDL 2000, WFPB 1997, and RIEC 1995). Examinations of actual field procedures, reviews of completed analysis reports, and interviews with managers might have produced more detailed and different results.

### 6.3.1. Cumulative Effects Assessment Comparison.

All three watershed analysis processes include most elements of the cumulative effects management paradigm (Table 6-2). However, none of the three processes appears to require that monitored impacts be compared to predicted impacts using statistically sound methods, nor do they address ways to assess impacts at downstream sites outside the delineated watershed.

There appears to be disparity between the processes in evaluating effects of many types of landuse activities. Idaho's and Washington's processes were designed to apply only to forest practices; the federal process was designed to apply to many types of land uses and associated activities and impacts. However, Idaho's CWE process is now being used in conjunction with TMDL development, which might address each land use in a watershed that is a pollution source (Dechert, review comments).

**6.3.2.** Adaptive Management Comparison. Three of the four elements of the adaptive management paradigm are included in each process. The missing element, which is one of the keys to adaptive management, is that management actions and monitoring are viewed as experiments (Table 6-2). Washington's assessment and monitoring processes are designed somewhat like experiments, but development

of the monitoring component is optional and implemented at the discretion of landowners. Monitoring tends to be a weakness of many watershed analysis programs (Montgomery et al. 1995). To remain credible, however, comprehensive monitoring is required (Reid 1993).

The goals of the federal process are less clear and specific than those of the two state processes, but the federal process is designed to accomplish a broad range of tasks. Part of the federal process is to determine the issues that will make the goals of any particular watershed analysis more clear and specific.

All three processes link science and management; however, the strength of the linkage can vary. Some Idaho forestry BMPs do not have well-documented supporting scientific evidence (see Seyedbagheri 1996). In Washington, teams must document their technical rationale for selecting prescriptions, but prescriptions without an adequate scientific basis still exist (Collins and Pess 1997*b*).

**6.3.3. Restoration Assessment Comparison.** None of the three processes has clearly defined restoration goals, which are a component of such an assessment (Table 6-2). Restoration goals may be one of many types of management recommendations made in the federal process, but they are not required. Although restoration goals are not emphasized, each process does look at past activities to assess the causes and persistence of degraded conditions. The factors that will limit restoration, if it is set as a goal for a watershed, are identified in each process.

**6.3.4. Ecosystem Management Comparison.** Most of the ten elements of the ecosystem management paradigm (Table 6-2) are present in each of the three alternatives. However, those elements that focus on biological diversity tend not to be emphasized in the Idaho and Washington programs. Concerns about life forms are expressed through beneficial uses (e.g., cold water biota, warm water biota, salmonid spawning, and wildlife habitat) in the Idaho process. The Washington process similarly addresses effects on wildlife, fish habitat, and other public resources, but biodiversity is not specifically mentioned. Idaho's process does not contain an assessment of wildlife habitat, and Washington has yet to implement a wildlife habitat module.

Interagency cooperation appears to take place in all three alternatives. As previously mentioned, the Idaho Department of Lands is now cooperating with the Idaho Department of Environmental Quality to

Table 6-1. Selected characteristics of watershed analysis alternatives.							
	Idaho	Washington	Federal				
Objective	Develop management prescriptions for forest practices to protect water quality so that beneficial uses are supported.	Develop forest practices plan to protect public resources including water quality, wildlife, and fish habitat.	Characterize the human, aquatic, riparian and terrestrial features, conditions, processes, and interactions.				
Assessment team	Evaluator(s) authorized by IDL.	Analysts and resource specialists with qualifications outlined in Washington Administrative Code § 222- 22-030.	Interagency and interdisciplinary team of professionally qualified resource specialists.				
Required inventories/ assessments	Erosion and mass failure hazard Canopy closure/stream temperature Hydrologic Sediment delivery Channel stability Beneficial use/fine sediment Nutrient Adverse condition	Mass wasting Surface erosion Hydrology Riparian function Fish habitat Water quality Public capital improvements	Erosion processes Hydrology Vegetation Stream channel Water quality Species and habitats Human uses				
Management prescriptions	Watershed Committee, individual landowners, and IDL may develop proposed management prescriptions.	Field managers develop prescription with assistance and review of resource specialists.	No prescriptions. Not a decision-making process. General recommendations made.				
Public involvement	All forest landowners within watershed are given opportunity to participate on Watershed Committee. Watershed Committee may allow ex-officio participation of others, including specialists or interest groups.	Landowners and tribes may participate on teams through qualified individuals. Observers may work under supervision of specialists. Public review of assessment and management prescriptions before acceptance of plan.	Tribes, state and local governments, and public stakeholders are encouraged to participate frequently throughout process.				

(continued)

Table 6-1. (continued).						
	Idaho	Washington	Federal			
Approval	Idaho Department of Lands (IDL) reviews assessment and prescriptions for consistency, completeness, and compliance with Forest Practices Act.	Full report forwarded to Department of Natural Resources for review and approval as specified in Washington statute.	Responsible USFS or BLM line officers certify analysis has been conducted and completed according to expected scientific standards.			
Monitoring	Through forest practices inspections and audits, and reassessments. IDL or Watershed Committee may specify additional monitoring in a watershed.	Optional monitoring module available. Recommendations passed on to watershed stakeholders.	Monitoring activities identified and recommended, but implementation is not part of process.			
Reassessment period	Generally 5 to 10 years depending on planned activities in watershed	5 years	None specified.			
Priority for conducting analysis	IDL, Watershed Advisory Groups, or an individual or group representing at least 25% of the forested land in a watershed may initiate the process. IDL prioritizes based on soil, hydrologic and vegetative conditions, the state of water quality and/or beneficial uses, critical habitat for sensitive species, and planned forest practice activity levels.	Department of Natural Resources regions determine priority subject to Washington Administrative Code § 222- 22-040.	Under PACFISH/INFISH, Key/Priority Watersheds receive priority for analysis. PACFISH/INFISH standards for Riparian Habitat Conservation Areas and Riparian Management Objectives can be adjusted only after analysis is completed.			
Time frame for completion	None specified	2 to 5 months	None specified			
Size of watersheds	Up to 20,000 acres	10,000 to 50,000 acres	12,800 to 128,000 acres (20 to 200 sq.mi.)			

Sources: RIEC (1995), WFPB (1997), IDL (2000).

Table 6-2. Key elements of four management paradigms.				
(I) Cumulative Effects Assessment				
(1) Appreciation that cumulative effects are generated by complexly interacting mechanisms.				
(2) Evaluate effects from many types of land use.				
(3) Address range of impacts likely at all sites downstream.				
(4) Flexible methods for allowing site-specific prescriptions.				
(5) Evaluate effects of past impacts.				
(6) Use best available technology.				
(7) Technology for tracking spatial distribution of activities, impacts, and land-use histories.				
(8) Verification by statistically sound comparisons between predicted and monitored impacts.				
(II) Adaptive Management				
(1) Links science with management.				
(2) Clear and specific goals.				
(3) Implements management as an experiment, including monitoring designed as scientific experiments.				
(4) Institutional learning.				
(III) Restoration Assessment				
(1) Clearly defined restoration goals.				
(2) Assess causes and persistence of degraded conditions.				
(3) Assess factors limiting restoration.				
(IV) Ecosystem Management				
(1) A hierarchical context that focuses on multiple levels of biodiversity.				
(2) Management units having ecological boundaries.				
(3) Management for ecological integrity, as variously measured by native diversity and ecological patterns and processes that maintain that diversity.				
(4) Data collection, and the improved use of existing data.				
(5) Monitoring of management activities.				
(6) Adaptive management which focuses on continuos experimentation and learning.				
(7) Interagency cooperation.				
(8) Organizational change in land management agencies.				
(9) A view of humans embedded in nature.				
(10) A key priority placed on human values.				
Source: Collins and Pess (1997 <i>a</i> ).				

incorporate CWE information into the TMDL development process (Dechert, review comments). Washington's process encourages interagency appointments to the assessment team, and the federal process was created by an interagency team, requires an interagency analysis team, and encourages interagency cooperation throughout the process. While organizational change is not specified as a goal any of the watershed analysis alternatives, the encouragement of interagency and interdisciplinary cooperation and institutional learning may encourage organizational change.

All alternatives realize that human actions affect watersheds, but the ecosystem management view of "human embeddedness" (Table 6-2) is difficult to evaluate. Neither the Idaho or Washington processes have a separate assessment module for human activities. Instead, they are driven by human-defined beneficial uses of water bodies, as required by the federal Clean Water Act. The federal process explicitly recognizes human uses as a core topic and attempts to identify "natural" and "human" causes of all other core topics. This does not seem to support the view that humans are embedded in nature.

Implementation of ecosystem management requires recognizing and considering not only physical and biological processes but also the social context within which decisions will be made and managed (Montgomery et al. 1995). All three processes place priority on human values; the differences lie in defining what those values are. Idaho and Washington are focused on a predefined set of values (i.e., beneficial uses of water); the federal process attempts to identify watershed-specific values through the issues and key questions step in the process.

6.3.5. Time and Cost Considerations. Another way to compare the alternative approaches to watershed analysis is using practical considerations such as time and costs of completion. The Washington process is the only alternative to identify a time line for completion-two to five months. Although no time frame is specified, completion of the Idaho process would seem to take a similar amount of time. The federal process would seem to take the longest of the alternatives. A brief examination of some completed federal watershed analyses in Oregon (see BLM 2000) indicates a completion time of 18 to 48 months. The federal process is the most data intensive alternative, requires the most public involvement, and requires peer review. INFISH (USFS 1995a) suggests that peer review of watershed analysis requires an additional 20% time commitment.

The federal process is the only alternative for which an estimate of cost was found. INFISH (USFS 1995*a*) estimates the cost of watershed analysis at \$38,000 to \$100,000 per watershed, but cautions that this estimate is highly speculative.

# 6.4. The Watershed as a Unit and Scale of Analysis

Is the watershed an appropriate scale and unit of analysis? Researchers are not of one opinion. It depends on what is being analyzed. Watersheds are a useful unit of analysis because there is little disagreement about the definition of watersheds. A typical definition for a watershed is a topographic area within which apparent surface water runoff drains to a specific point on a stream or to a water body such as a lake. Much of the apparent usefulness of watersheds as study units comes from the general understanding that the quantity and quality of water at a point on a stream reflects the aggregate of the characteristics of the topographic area up gradient from that point (Omernik and Bailey 1997).

Many analysts (e.g., FEMAT 1993, Montgomery et al. 1995, RIEC 1995) argue that watersheds define ecologically and geomorphically relevant management units for spatially-explicit, processoriented scientific assessment that provides information relevant to guiding management decisions. At finer scales, it becomes difficult to represent relevant processes and connect upstream causes to downstream effects; at broader scales, data interpretation and assimilation become impractical (Montgomery et al. 1995). The watershed scale makes sense because the watershed is a well-defined land area having a set of unique features, a system of recurring processes, and a collection of dependent plants and animals (RIEC 1995). FEMAT (1993) argued that watersheds also provide a rational and effective spatial scale for citizens to participate in natural resource decision making.

However, the watershed may not be the appropriate scale for every ecosystem component, and it must be placed in the hierarchical context of other scales (RIEC 1995). Regardless of the physical area selected, one analysis draws context from largerscale analyses and provides the context for analyses at smaller scales (Montgomery et al. 1995, RIEC 1995). This relationship between scales is important. The results of watershed analyses vary depending on the scale at which it is performed, and the tools used at one scale may not be appropriate at another scale (Moore, review comments).

Some researchers (e.g., Omernik and Bailey 1997, Griffith et al. 1999) argue that watersheds are not necessarily the best units for organizing ecosystem management or water quality management. First, they note that the areas within which there is similarity in the aggregate of geographic characteristics related to the quality and quantity of environmental resources seldom if ever correspond to patterns of topographic watersheds. Second, the processes that control movement of water across drier landscapes, as in much of the western U.S., are different than those in wetter landscapes. Third, in many areas watersheds are difficult or impossible to define. Continental glaciation, deep sand, karst topography, flat plains, and dry climates all create difficulties in delineating watersheds, and more than one of these conditions occurs in many areas making the problem more complex (Omernik and Bailey 1997).

Omernik and Bailey (1997) found the watershed scale appropriate for resource management agencies to assess the relative contribution of human activities to the quality and quantity of water at specific points on streams and on particular water bodies; however, use of the framework in a socialscience context is not self evident. The physical and economic conditions relative to watershed functions have little correlation with patterns of consumption or with distributions of most geographic phenomena that affect or reflect spatial differences in ecosystem health, integrity, and quality (Omernik and Bailey 1997).

These researchers also argue that watershed approaches are inappropriate to use as an extrapolation tool for assessing resource and management needs (Omernik and Bailey 1997, Griffith et al. 1999). States, regional, and national level management strategies, particularly those involving ecosystem management, require a spatial framework that considers the regional tolerances and capacities of the landscape. They argue for the use of ecological regions, or ecoregions. (See 5.1.1. Diversity of Ecosystems for a description of ecoregions.) Whereas watersheds serve as the study units, ecological regions, rather than watersheds, provide the extrapolation mechanism. Ecoregions were designed to fill that need and identify areas with similarity in the combination of geographic phenomena that cause and reflect regional differences in the quality of ecosystems and ecosystem components (Omernik and Bailey 1997, Griffith et al. 1999).

# 6.5. A Private Sector Approach to Watershed Analysis

Private companies, in addition to the federal and state governments, are developing methods for watershed analysis. Here we briefly discuss an approach being developed by Plum Creek Timber Company. We are also aware that other forest industry companies operating in Idaho are working independently to develop analysis methods for watersheds in which they operate.

Plum Creek developed a new methodology that integrates watershed analysis and ecoclassification (Watson et al. 1998). The effort was in support of a native fish habitat conservation plan for Plum Creek's lands (Plum Creek Timber Company 2000). The company is in the business of producing timber, but must abide by laws such as the federal Endangered Species Act and state forest practices acts that protect water quality and fish habitat. One of the primary mechanisms for controlling timber harvesting's effects on water quality and fish habitat is the use of buffer zones adjacent to water bodies. The width of these buffers and the management activities allowed in them were the impetuses for the company developing the new watershed analysis methodology (Watson et al. 1998).

State and federal strategies tend to rely on fixed buffer widths that may not account for the full range of dynamic factors that vary for different stream segments. Relatively wide buffer widths are likely to account for more variability, but buffers that are larger than necessary can deprive landowners and resource dependent communities of economic benefits that could be realized through active management of the surplus buffer area unnecessary for maintaining the integrity of the aquatic ecosystem (Watson et al. 1998). Overly large and restrictive buffers also may preclude management for insect and disease control and reduction of the risk of fire. By the same token, fixed-width buffers that are too narrow may not account for enough variability in ecosystem processes and not protect water quality and fish habitat from the effects of timber management. Although regulatory targets are relatively easy to administer for regulatory compliance, they vastly over-simplify the structure and variability of streams, and are likely to prove inadequate from a scientific perspective (Watson et al. 1998).

As described in earlier sections of this chapter, watershed analysis is the process by which buffer widths and other regulatory standards can be finetuned to fit local conditions (USFS & BLM 1994*b*, USFS 1995*a*, WFPB 1997). Currently under both state and federal processes, watershed analysis must be completed on each watershed before site-specific buffer widths and management prescriptions can be implemented. The process that Plum Creek developed attempts to identify and classify watersheds by ecosystem characteristics so that results from one watershed analysis can be extrapolated to similar watersheds. The process attempts to maintain the scientific rigor of individual watershed analysis while lowering the costs by allowing extrapolation to other watersheds (Watson et al. 1998).

When performed repeatedly across similar landscapes, watershed analyses begin to produce some common themes that likely can be applied beyond the specific analysis areas with a high level of confidence. A cost effective strategy will apply resources to additional implementation on-the-ground, rather than additional analyses, once investigations have produced sufficient confidence. The Plum Creek approach attempts to minimize risks through analytical procedures of watershed analysis, while at the same time, minimizing the financial commitment necessary to confidently protect fish habitat over a large area exhibiting a diversity of channel types, landforms, and vegetative communities (Watson et al. 1998).

We should reiterate that Plum Creek's approach is new and has been tested only in the Swan River Basin of western Montana. Our summary here is based on the report from that test (see Watson et al. 1998).

The procedures are based on the premise that geomorphic processes are the primary determinants of stream channel structure and function. Geomorphic processes and elements are predicted by patterns of larger-scale physiographic variables, such as parent geology, erosional processes, drainage area, and climate patterns. These same elements are the basis for ecological classification systems (ecoregions). The distribution of aquatic organisms is associated with those patterns of geomorphic elements (Watson et al. 1998).

Researchers (Watson et al. 1998) tested the hypothesis that a geographic information system (GIS)-based hierarchical ecoclassification can be used to delineate groups of channel segments that exhibit similar characteristics in terms of fish habitat, fish distribution, and sensitivity to land management activities. They also tested the hypothesis that these groups can be used as a template for extrapolation of results of watershed analysis (from a subsample of the analysis area) so as to provide for the effective protection of aquatic resources over a large area (Watson et al. 1998). They conducted two separate but complementary analytical procedures to segregate, and then combine, stream channel segments into functionally similar groups exhibiting similar fish habitat attributes, fish population assemblages, and sensitivities to fluxes of upland inputs (from both natural and human-caused disturbances) (Watson et al. 1998).

Where the two independent approaches produce complementary results, the two approaches were integrated into a tool for the protection and management of aquatic resources (Watson et al. 1998). It is beyond the scope of our report to describe the integration process in detail; however, Watson et al. (1998) summarized the results of their experiment as follows:

By coupling knowledge gained through intensive watershed analysis with ecological classification of larger areas, we believe we have a powerful approach to make preliminary determinations of locations where moderate to high hazards exist with regard to upland processes. With regard to mass wasting, hazards are typically associated with specific landforms. In many cases, these landforms are directly mapped in the ecological classification. In other cases ... ecological classification provides information that expedites hazard mapping. ...

With regard to road and hillslope erosion, completion of watershed analysis not only determined that low hazards existed, but identified the actual circumstances that resulted in the low hazard. This knowledge can be used to screen other watersheds, grouping them into those that likely don't have road erosion and those that likely do. Any such determinations would have to be validated by additional assessments. This same approach could be used to address issues relating to watershed hydrology. Although peak flow changes due to timber harvesting were not found to be significant...the watershed analysis also revealed the reasons why it was not an issue. Other watersheds can be screened for these characteristics to provide an initial hypothesis of their status that can be validated through further assessments (Watson et al. 1998:37-38).

To summarize, Plum Creek Timber Company is attempting to pursue a dual set of management objectives: to maximize both commodity production and aquatic resource protection. Intensive watershed analysis across an entire landscape is likely to provide optimal resource protection through the acquisition of site-specific knowledge, thus minimizing risk of impacts. Watershed analysis, however, can be an expensive and time-consuming process. Hence, the cost of acquisition of comprehensive knowledge is likely to be cost prohibitive. Conversely, relatively little knowledge is required to apply state-mandated protection programs. Since bythe-book regulatory scenarios do not account for all of the inherent variation across a landscape, risk of impact to aquatic resources may be relatively high in some areas, while in others the regulatory standards impose management restrictions in excess of what is needed to protect habitat. The approach that Plum Creek is developing, ecoclassification and extrapolation, is intended to optimize the balance between objectives (Watson et al. 1998).

# 6.6. Conclusions

Watershed analysis is a relatively new tool that expands the range of factors that managers examine before undertaking land management activities. The hope is that negative consequences of those activities and the risks of unintended consequences can be reduced to acceptable levels. Watershed analysis may help ensure that timber harvesting contributes positively towards sustainable management of a forest.

Methods for conducting watershed analysis are still being developed by various government entities and private companies. It is not possible to declare one method better than others because each is designed with somewhat different objectives in mind. However, while the specific objectives are somewhat different, most of them are complementary, and the overall goal—to reduce the negative effects of land management activities in a watershed—is similar for all watershed analysis processes.

As watershed analysis develops, any effort to design new methods will require decisions about the intended uses of results, the range of topics to be considered, the spatial scale of analysis, and the level of oversight and review to be sought (Reid 1998). Desired characteristics of every watershed analysis method are presented in Table 6-3.

- 1. Fits the particular needs of the agency or organization instituting it.
- 2. Evaluates any potentially important impacts.
- 3. Evaluates impacts at any point downstream.
- 4. Evaluates impacts accumulating through both time and space.
- 5. Evaluates the influence of any expected kind of land-use activity.
- 6. Evaluates any lands within the analysis area.
- 7. Uses the best available analysis methods for each aspect of the analysis.
- 8. Incorporates new information as understanding grows.
- 9. Can be done for a reasonable cost over a reasonable length of time.
- 10. Produces a readable and useable product.
- 11. Is credible and widely accepted.

Source: Reid (1998).

### **Chapter 7. Conclusions**

Sustainability has become a watchword for many human endeavors. Sustainability as it relates to forests is expressed through the concept of sustainable forest management, which is forest management that is ecologically sound, economically viable, and socially desirable (Aplet et al. 1993). People want to be sure that they continue to receive the benefits that they value from forests and that those benefits will be available to future generations.

One of the benefits that people receive from forests is timber, i.e., trees used to make products such as lumber, plywood, and paper. People have harvested timber and used timber products for thousands of years. People's attentiveness to other forest values has increased recently, and some people are questioning our ability to continue to produce timber while simultaneously producing and protecting other forest values.

Timber harvesting is one management activity within the broad realm of forest management and is not necessarily a part of management for every forest. Timber harvesting's place in the management scheme of any particular forest depends on the management goals of the owner of that forest. Not all forest owners have timber harvesting as a goal.

To assess role of timber harvesting in the sustainable management of Idaho's forests, we looked at the three perspectives from our definition of sustainable forest management—ecological soundness, economic viability, and social desirability.

Is timber harvesting in Idaho's forests ecologically sound? In some forests it may be; in others it may not be. There is no widely accepted, technical definition of soundness, and whatever definition is used reflects people's values.

To some people, the traditional forester's measure of sustainable management—sustained yield serves as a proxy for ecological soundness. If we are harvesting no more timber each year than is being added by growth, then it seems we are managing within the realm of ecological soundness. In 1990, about 38% of net annual growth in Idaho's forests was removed, well within this sustained yield definition. Timber harvests statewide across all ownerships have not increased since then.

Sustained yield, however, is limited in its usefulness as a proxy for ecological soundness. Among sustained yield's deficiencies are that it only looks at trees and does not examine other forest components and the processes that contribute to tree growth. Sustained yield may be partial measure of ecological soundness, but it is incomplete.

Current concepts of ecological soundness are based on the idea of resiliency—the ability to recover from disturbance. Each component of an ecological system contributes to the system as a whole. Management activities, such as timber harvesting, can affect many of these components. Sound management keeps vital components intact or within ranges where their contributions to the system can be maintained. Ecological processes are complex, and while our knowledge is incomplete now, we are learning more about individual ecosystem components and entire ecosystems every day. Given our incomplete understanding, caution in all forest management activities, including timber harvesting, seems prudent.

Ecological soundness also involves some measure of baseline or "natural" conditions. Any measure of such involves human judgment. Should the baseline be conditions or processes that existed one hundred, one thousand, or ten thousand years ago? The answer is a value judgment. Even if a range of historic variability is used as a baseline, that range is bounded by a time period set by people.

The tree species composition in the forests of Idaho has changed over the last half century. White pine and ponderosa pine make up less of the forest than they did fifty years ago; Douglas-fir and true firs are more prevalent. Diseases, such as white pine blister rust, timber harvesting practices that favored pines and large trees, and exclusion of fire have all contributed to the changes in composition. The changes in species composition have also led to changes in the prevalence of insects, diseases, and fire in existing forests. If the goal of managing a particular forest is to return it to a species composition that existed historically, then timber management practices, such as harvesting and thinning, may contribute to ecological soundness. In other forests, where continued change without active management is an objective, timber harvesting may not contribute to ecological soundness. Changes in forest conditions, whether they are managed by humans or not, are inevitable.

In this report, we attempted to look at ecological soundness in several ways. Timber inventory information (**Chapter 3**) provides some information about tree growing stock, growth, and removal. A look at other resources (**Chapter 5**) provides a glimpse of how a few other components of the forest ecosystem are affected by timber harvesting. Watershed analysis (**Chapter 6**) is a tool that attempts to ensure ecological soundness by integrating knowledge about many ecosystem components so that negative effects of land management activities, including timber harvesting, can be minimized and mitigated. The evidence indicates that timber harvesting in some Idaho forests can be ecologically sound, but prudence is warranted.

Is timber harvesting in Idaho economically viable? Measuring economic viability involves measuring and comparing benefits and costs. Viability usually means that benefits at least equal costs. Some benefits and costs are measured monetarily through markets, but others are not easily measured. Which benefits and which costs are included in an analysis determines its outcome. There is not always agreement as to what the benefits and costs of timber harvesting are, nor in the ways they should be handled in analyses. For example, some people suggest that some traditional economic techniques such as discounting should be adjusted because of the long time horizons for forests and the concern of sustainability about future generations.

Among the monetary benefits that timber harvesting from Idaho's forests provide is income to landowners, woods workers, and forest product manufacturers. One can assume that if income from harvesting and selling timber did not exceed the costs of doing so, then most private owners, operators, and manufacturers would not be in business in Idaho. It would appear that most timber harvesting on private lands is economically viable; otherwise, it would not be done. Some people may argue, however, that private owners do not bear the full costs of their actions, particularly the environmental costs that may occur away from the harvested site.

On publicly owned forests, including Idaho's national forests, determining economic viability is difficult. Because management objectives are broader, there is more disagreement about which costs and benefits should be attributed to timber harvesting. Some people argue that the costs of timber harvesting on national forests outweigh the benefits; others argue that the opposite is true. Again, the answer depends on which costs and benefits are included and how they are treated in an analysis.

We did not provide an in-depth analysis of the economic viability of timber harvesting in Idaho in this report. Such a task would be extremely difficult, and much necessary information is unavailable. However, in **Chapter 2** we provided discussion of the economic value of timber harvesting in Idaho. Timber harvesting provides income and jobs, but economic viability will vary depending on changes in benefits and costs, particularly as markets change. Economic viability for some forests and for some people may depend on not harvesting trees in particular areas.

Is timber harvesting in Idaho socially desirable? There are no widely used measures of social desirability, but one definition is that activities must conform with social norms or not stretch them beyond society's tolerance for change. Public opinion and lawfulness may provide some indication of social norms. In **Chapter 2** we examined public opinions toward timber harvesting in the context of forest values. Most Idahoans find timber harvesting an appropriate activity in many of Idaho's forests. Timber harvesting has been a part of the culture of Idaho and has provided economic and personal benefits to some people. However, like ecosystems, societies change, and it is unclear what social roles timber harvesting will play in the future.

**Chapter 4** examined laws and other policies that affect timber harvesting. Timber harvesting is lawful and embodied in the management goals for many of Idaho's forests. Environmental laws attempt to reduce and mitigate negative consequences of timber harvesting.

One reason that timber harvesting is a contentious issue in Idaho is that not all segments of society agree about the desirability of timber harvesting in Idaho's forests. Because three-fourths of Idaho's forests are national forests, national opinions, norms, politics, and policies determine many of the management actions in national forests. Much of the current debate about national forest management reflects differences in opinion about the influence of different interests—local or national—in management decisions. It is a political question whose values and whose tolerance for change are considered in determining the social desirability of timber harvesting.

Is timber harvesting in Idaho's forests sustainable? Remember, sustainable forest management must consider three dimensions—ecological soundness, economic viability, and social desirability. The reply is "yes" for some of Idaho's forests, "no" for others, and "we don't know"for others. The reply depends on many factors including:

- the ecological conditions existing in the forest;
- the way in which timber harvesting is done; the plans for and actions on the site after harvesting;

- market conditions for timber at the time of harvesting;
- the values of the site other than timber;
- the management goals of the forest owner;
- the laws and policies that apply to the owner, the land, and the actions taken.

These factors will change over time. Sustainable management is not immutable and absolute. Although we can never answer definitively for all forests or for all time, we can say that timber harvesting is "more" or "less" sustainable in a particular forest than it would be somewhere else at a particular time. Progress toward sustainable forest management is measurable in this relative sense.

#### 7.1. Future Directions

Sustainable forest management is an evolving concept that reflects the changing nature of and perceptions about our world. It is about the values and aspirations people have for their natural resource endowments and the way these resources are managed. Indicators of sustainable forest management are in their developing stages. Until such indicators and procedures for using them to evaluate management methods have been agreed upon, applied, and evaluated, we cannot say much about the sustainability of resource management approaches. Sustainability is also about our place as citizens of Idaho in a bigger world, and it is about our consumption patterns. It is about our values.

#### 7.1.1. Evolving Indicators of Sustainable Forest

*Management.* Since this project was first suggested to the Policy Analysis Group in 1993, the concept of sustainable forest management and ways to measure it have evolved. One model for measurement, commonly called "criteria and indicators" or "C&I," has become a popular way to assess sustainable forest management. Sets of C&I have been developed at several scales—from international to local— by governments as well as private entities. These efforts are examined in detail in Part I of this analysis, published separately (see PAG Report #18, Cook and O'Laughlin 1999).

No set of C&I has been developed specifically for the state level, the geographic scale we were asked to examine. However, some states, including Oregon, have attempted to use the C&I developed for the national scale in the Montreal Process. The Montreal Process C&I are widely accepted and consist of seven criteria and 67 indicators. The Oregon Department of Forestry (2000) has produced a report providing a "first approximation" of the availability of data for each of the indicators and outlining data needs for the future. Their report provides a baseline for monitoring progress towards sustainable forest management at the state level. If Idaho were to follow suit and conduct its own analyses on different ownerships using the Montreal Process C&I, it would be the first state to do so.

# 7.1.2. A World Perspective on Idaho's Timber

**Resources.** As stated earlier, the scale at which we look at timber harvesting is crucial to assessing it's sustainability. In this report we have looked at the state or smaller levels; however, Idaho is part of the larger world as a whole. Idaho does not exist independently ecologically, economically, or socially. The amount of timber harvesting in Idaho is determined, in part, by outside forces, including world markets for its resources. How does Idaho's timber resource fit into the region's, nation's, and world's supply? We take a brief look at some statistics here.

The forests and people of the world produce billions of cubic feet of wood products each year (Table 7-1), and the United States and Idaho are significant contributors to that supply. The amount of forest land worldwide is somewhere around 10 billion acres, or about 30% of the land area (Brooks 1993). In the United States, there are about 737 million acres of forest land, or about 33% of the land area (Powell et al. 1993). In Idaho, there are about 21 million acres of timberland, or about 40% of the land area. Idaho has about 0.2% of the world's forests and almost 3% of U.S. forests.

Idaho has over 3 million acres of high productivity timberlands (i.e., lands that could produce >120 cu.ft./ac./yr.), or about 18% of its timberlands (see **Chapter 3**). In the United States, only the coastal Pacific Northwest (Oregon and Washington) and the south-central states (Arkansas, Alabama, Louisiana, and Mississippi) have more high productivity timberlands (Powell et al. 1993, FIA 1997).

Idaho's 39 billion cubic feet of softwood growing stock represents about 7% of the softwood growing stock in the U.S. (Powell et al. 1993, Brown and Chojnacky 1996). Only Oregon, Washington, and California have more softwood growing stock than Idaho (Powell et al. 1993).

Idaho's 1.8 billion board feet of lumber production in 1996 was about 5% of the softwood lumber produced in the U.S. (WWPA 1997). Idaho ranked ninth among states for lumber production. Again, the leaders are the Pacific northwest, south-central, and southeastern states. Nineteen percent of the

Table 7-1. World and U.S. production of timber and timber products, 1990.						
	World U		nited States			
Timber or product group	million cubic feet		% of world's production			
Fuelwood	63,432	3,034	4.8			
Industrial roundwood	58,417	14,659	25.1			
Sawn wood	17,159	3,669	21.4			
Wood-based panels	4,411	1,134	25.7			
	million tons					
Paper and paper board	263	79	30.2			

Source: Brooks (1993).

forest products produced from Idaho's forests remain in Idaho, one percent are exported to other countries, and the rest are used throughout the U.S., primarily in the surrounding (Keegan et al. 1997).

What would happen if Idaho either stopped producing timber or dramatically increased its production? The answers are beyond the scope of this report, but have implications for the sustainability of forest management worldwide. Additional analyses looking at a broader geographic scale would provide insights for managing Idaho forests to meet peoples' needs today and tomorrow without causing irreversible ecological damage.

### 7.1.3. Consumption and "Sustainability"

Espousing environmental values is easy, crafting both personal lifestyles and national policies consistent with those values is not (Carroll and Daniels 1995:20).

U.S. accomplishments in managing and producing forest products are exceeded only by its consumption of forest products (Brooks 1993).

The long and short of the matter is that forest conservation depends in part on intelligent consumption, as well as intelligent production of lumber (Leopold 1928).

Sustainable forest management is not just about production of forest products and other benefits, but also about consumption of them. The sustainability of forest management does not start with the forest; it starts with consumers. Consumers create the demands for resources, which are then met by the producing industries. As consumers we must evaluate our options and make choices. Which resources we choose, where we get them, how we use them, and how we dispose of them are all critical issues for sustainable forest management (Temperate Forest Foundation 1998).

We do not have consumption figures specific to Idaho, but on a per capita basis, the U.S. consumes timber at more than four times the world average. The U.S. consumes nearly 30% of the world's production of industrial timber and is both a net importer and the world's leading importer of forest products (Figure 7-1). At the same time, however, the U.S. is also one of the leading exporters of forest products (Brooks 1993).

Recent reductions in timber harvest levels from national forests in Idaho and other regions of the U.S. have caused many people to ask, if we do not produce timber to meet our needs, are we exporting environmental problems to other countries? Schallau and Goetzl (1992) argued that incremental decisions about restricting harvests from particular regions of the U.S. eventually will have global consequences. Bowyer (1992) argued that examination of the issues related to this question suggests that restrictive protection of local resources without considering global consequences can translate to irresponsible and unethical regional environmentalism. Brooks (1993) said to argue that international environmental impacts should influence domestic timber supply policies, one must conclude [1] that international



Figure 7-1. Production, imports, exports, and consumption of timber products in the U.S., 1965-1994.

Source: Howard (1997).

environmental impacts of timber harvesting are significant; [2] that these impacts are greater than domestic environmental impacts and are attributable to U.S. policies; and [3] that other countries will not make environmentally acceptable choices in the management and use of their resources. The truth of these conclusions depends upon the value set by which they are judged (Brooks 1993). Replies to the question of our responsibility to meet our own timber needs depends on viewpoints towards fairness, ethics, and morality (Bowyer 1992, Schallau and Goetzl 1992, Brooks 1993). As the human population continues to increase, analysis of consumption patterns and the responsibility of nations to produce what they consume will become more important. 7.1.4. "Sustainability" and Human Values. In this report, we have only begun to scratch the surface of sustainable forest management issues because ultimately everything is related to sustainability. This includes not just decisions about forests but every decision we make in our daily lives. Sustainability is about resource allocation and social values. Professor William Burch of Yale University's School of Forestry and Environmental Studies summarizes his experience with three central "laws" of resource management (quoted in Grumbine 1997:46):

• All resource allocation decisions are matters of political struggle rather than technical fact.

- Resource management decisions are about use; therefore they are decisions about manipulating human behavior rather than physical things.
- Resource managers, when confronted with social value decisions, will seek to convert them into technical decisions.

The question of whether or not timber harvesting in Idaho is sustainable does not have a technical answer. However, we hope that the technical information provided in this report contributes positively to discussions among all Idahoans and encourages them to make informed decisions about the management of Idaho's forests.

# **REFERENCES CITED**

- 1996 Forest Practices Audit Team. 1997. Forest Practices Water Quality Audit, 1996. Idaho Department of Health and Welfare, Division of Environmental Quality, Boise.
- Agee, J.K., and D.R. Johnson. 1988. A direction for ecosystem management. In, *Ecosystem Management for Parks and Wildlife*, J.K. Agee and D.R. Johnson, eds. University of Washington Press, Seattle. Pp. 226-232.
- Alexander, T.G. 1989. Timber management, traditional forestry, and multiple-use stewardship: The case of the intermountain region, 1950-85. *Journal of Forest History* 33:21-34.
- Allen, D.C. 1993. Forest health and productivity: An introduction. Paper presented at the Forest Health and Productivity Session at the Society of American Foresters National Convention, Indianapolis, IN, September 7-10, 1993.
- Allen, G.M., and E.M. Gould, Jr. 1986. Complexity, wickedness, and public forests. *Journal of Forestry* 84(4):20-23.
- Allen, T.F.H., and T.W. Hoekstra. 1995. Sustainability: A matter of human values in a material setting. In, *Partnerships for Sustainable Forest Ecosystem Management: Fifth Mexico/U.S. Biennial Symposium*, C. Aguirre-Bravo, L. Eskew, C.E. Gonzalez-Vicente, and A.B. Villa-Salas, tech. eds./comp. USDA Forest Service RM-GTR-266, Ft. Collins, CO. Pp. 5-10.
- Almas, D., J. Colla, K. David, and C. Schnepf. 1996. Forestry in Idaho BMP's: Forest Stewardship Guidelines for Water Quality. Idaho Department of Lands, Coeur d'Alene. 33pp.
- Alston, R.M. 1991. Are sustained yield and sustainable forests equivalent? In, *Proceedings Society* of American Foresters National Convention, San Francisco, CA, August 4-7. Pp. 310-315.
- Amaranthus, M.P., J.M. Trappe, and R.J. Molina. 1989. Long-term forest productivity and the living soil. In, *Maintaining the Long-Term Productivity of Pacific Northwest Forest Ecosystems*, D.A. Perry, R. Meurisse, B. Thomas, R. Miller, J. Boyle, C.R. Perry, and R.F. Powers, eds. Timber Press, Portland, OR. Pp. 36-52.
- Anderson, L.M. 1981. Land use designations affect perception of scenic beauty in forest landscapes. *Forest Science* 27:392-400.
- Aplet, G.H. 1992. Forest health: Ecological crisis or timber driven hype? *Forest Watch* 13(2):19-22. Cascade Holistic Economic Consultants, Oak Grove, OR.

- \_\_\_\_\_, and J.T. Olson. 1993. Introduction. In, *Defining Sustainable Forestry*, G.H. Aplet, N. Johnson, J.T. Olson, and V.A. Sample, eds. Island Press, Covelo, CA. Pp.123-126.
- \_\_\_\_\_, N. Johnson, J.T. Olson, and V.A. Sample. 1993. Conclusion: Prospects for a sustainable future. In, *Defining Sustainable Forestry*, G.H. Aplet, N. Johnson, J.T. Olson, and V.A. Sample, eds. Island Press, Covelo, CA. Pp. 309-314.
- Arthur, L.M. 1977. Predicting scenic beauty of forest environments: Some empirical tests. *Forest Science* 23:151-160.
- Association of Forest Service Employees for Environmental Ethics (AFSEEE). 1994. Summary: Rocky Mountain challenge. In, *Rocky Mountain Challenge: Fulfilling a New Mission in the* U.S. Forest Service, Association of Forest Service Employees for Environmental Ethics, Eugene, OR. Pp. 1-6.
- Atkins, D., J. Byler, L. Livingston, P. Rogers, and D. Bennett. 1999. *Health of Idaho's Forests: A Summary of Conditions, Issues and Implications.* Report No. 99-4, USDA Forest Service, Northern Region Forest Health Protection, Missoula, MT. 33pp.
- Attfield, R. 1998. Environmental ethics and intergenerational equity. *Inquiry* 41:207-22.
- Baltic, T.J., J.G. Hof, and B.M. Kent1989. *Review* of Critiques of the USDA Forest Service Land Management Planning Process. USDA Forest Service, GTR-RM-170, Fort Collins, CO. 15pp.
- Barker, R. 1998. Idahoans are still in love with land, its resources. *Idaho Statesman*, Boise, May 5. Pp. 1A, 4A.
- Barker, R.J., R.E. McDole, and G.H. Logan. 1983. *Idaho Soils Atlas*. University Press of Idaho, Idaho Research Foundation, Inc., Boise.
- Barrett, J.D., and R.M. Kellogg. 1991. Bending strength and stiffness of second-growth Douglas-fir dimension lumber. *Forest Products Journal* 41(10):35-43.
- Beckerman, W. 1992. Economic growth and the environment: Whose growth? Whose environment? *World Development* 20(4):481-496.
- Beechie, T., E. Beamer, B. Collins, and L. Benda.
  1996. Restoration of habitat-forming process in Pacific Northwest watersheds: A locally adaptable approach to aquatic ecosystem restoration.
  In, *The Role of Restoration in Ecosystem Management*, D.L. Peterson and C.V. Klimas, eds.
  Society for Ecological Restoration, Madison, WI. Pp. 48-67.

- Behan, R.W. 1978. Political popularity and conceptual nonsense: The strange case of sustained yield forestry. *Environmental Law* 8:309-342.
  - \_\_\_\_\_. 1990. Multiresource forest management: A paradigmatic challenge to professional forestry. *Journal of Forestry* 88(4):12-18.
- Beier, P., and J.E. Drennan. 1997. Forest structure and prey abundance in foraging areas of northern goshawks. *Ecological Applications* 7:564-571.
- Belt, G.H., J. O'Laughlin, and T. Merrill. 1992.
  Design of Forest Riparian Buffer Strips for the Protection of Water Quality: Analysis of Scientific Literature. Report No. 8, Idaho Forest, Wildlife, and Range Policy Analysis Group, University of Idaho, Moscow. 35pp.
- Bengston, D.N. 1993. The nature of value and the value of nature. A paper presented at the concurrent technical session on People and Forests: Meeting the Challenge of Tomorrow at the SAF National Convention, Indianapolis, IN, November 7-10.
  - \_\_\_\_. 1994. Changing forest values and ecosystem management. *Society and Natural Resources* 7:515-533.
  - \_\_\_\_\_ and Z. Xu. 1995. *Changing National Forest Values: A Content Analysis*. USDA Forest Service NC-RP-323, St. Paul, MN. 29pp.
- Benson, R.E., A.W. Green, and D.D. Van Hooser. 1987. *Idaho's Forest Resources*. USDA Forest Service INT-RB-39, Ogden, UT. 114pp.
- Binkley, C.S. 1999. Forestry in the Next Millennium: Challenges and Opportunities for the USDA Forest Service. Discussion Paper 99-15. Resources for the Future, Washington, DC. Available [online]: <http://www.rff.org/ nat\_resources/forests.htm> [15 December 1999].
- Binkley, D., and T.C. Brown. 1993*a*. Forest practices as nonpoint sources of pollution in North America. *Water Resources Bulletin* 29:729-740.
- and \_\_\_\_\_. 1993b. Management Impacts on Water Quality of Forests and Rangelands. USDA-Forest Service GTR-RM-239, Ft. Collins, CO. 113pp.
- Blatner, K.A., C.E. Keegan III, O'Laughlin, and D.L.
  Adams. 1994. Forest health management policy case study in southwestern Idaho. *Journal of Sustainable Forestry* 2:317-337. Also in, *Assessing Forest Health in the Inland West*, R.N.
  Sampson and D.L. Adams, eds. Haworth Press, Binghamton, NY. Pp. 317-337.

- Block, W.M., D.M. Finch, and L.A. Brennan. 1995.
  Single-species versus multiple-species approaches for management. In, *Ecology and Management of Neotropical Migrtory Birds: A Synthesis and Review of Critical Issues*, T.M. Martin and D.M. Finch, eds. Oxford University Press, New York, NY. Pp. 461-476.
- Blue Ribbon Panel. 1992. Report of the Blue Ribbon Panel on Forest Inventory and Analysis. Available [Online]: <a href="http://srsfia.usfs.msstate.edu/bluerib.pdf">http://srsfia.usfs.msstate.edu/ bluerib.pdf</a>> [18 August 1998].
- \_\_\_\_. 1998. Report of the Second Blue Ribbon Panel on Forest Inventory and Analysis. Available [Online]: <http://srsfia.usfs.msstate.edu/ wo/BRP2.HTM> [31 August 1998].
- Bolon, N.A., C.S. Hansen-Murray, R.W. Haynes. 1995. Estimated Economic Impacts on the Timber, Range, and Recreation Programs on NFS and BLM Public Lands from Adopting the Proposed Interim PACFISH Strategy. USDA Forest Service PNW-GTR-344, Portland, OR. 80pp.
- Bormann, B.T., M.H. Brookes, E.D. Ford, A.R. Kiester, C.D. Oliver, and J.F. Weigand. 1994a. Volume V: A Framework for Sustainable-Ecosystem Management. USDA Forest Service PNW-GTR-331, Portland, OR.
- \_\_\_\_\_, P.G. Cunningham, M.H. Brookes, V.W. Manning, and M.W. Collopy. 1994b. Adaptive Ecosystem Management in the Pacific Northwest. USDA Forest Service PNW-GTR-341, Portland, OR. 22pp.
- Bosso, C.J. 1994. After the movement: Environmental activism in the 1990s. In, *Environmental Policy in the 1990s: Toward a New Agenda*, N.J. Vig and M.E. Kraft, eds. Congressional Quarterly, Inc., Washington, DC. Pp. 31-50.
- Botkin, D.B., and E.A. Keller. 1995. *Environmental Science: Earth as a Living Planet. Second Edi tion.* John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, NY. 649pp.
- Bowyer, J.L. 1992. Responsible environmentalism: The ethical features of forest harvest and wood use on a global scale. *Forest Perspectives* 1(4):12-14.
- Bradley, G.A. 1984. The urban/forest interface. In, Land Use and Forest Resources in a Changing Environment, G.A. Bradley, ed. University of Washington Press, Seattle. Pp. 3-16.
- Brandenburg, A.M., and M.S. Carroll. 1995. Your place or mine?: The effect of place creation on environmental values and landscape meanings. *Society and Natural Resources* 8:381-398.

- Briggs, D. 1996. Modeling crown development and wood quality. *Journal of Forestry* 94(12):24-25.
  - \_\_\_\_\_ and L. Bialozynski. 1995. Use of wood raw materials by the U.S. millwork industry in 1990. *Forest Products Journal* 45(2):27-34.
  - and R.D. Fight. 1992. Assessing the effects of silvicultural practices on product quality and value of coast Douglas-fir trees. *Forest Products Journal* 42(1):40-46.
- British Columbia Round Table on the Environment and the Economy. 1993. *Sustainability: From Ideas to Action.* British Columbia Round Table on the Environment and the Economy, Victoria, BC, Canada. 71pp.

Brockley, R.P., R.L. Trowbridge, T.M. Ballard, and A.M. Macadam. 1992. Nutrient management in Interior forest types. In, *Forest Fertilization: Sustaining and Improving Nutrition and Growth in Western Forests*, H.N. Chappell, G.F. Weetman, and R.E. Miller, eds. Institute of Forest Resources Contribution 73, College of Forest Resources, University of Washington, Seattle. Pp. 43-64.

Brooks, D.J. 1993. U.S. Forests in a Global Context. USDA Forest Service RM-GTR-228, Ft. Collins, CO. 24pp.

- \_\_\_\_\_ and G.E. Grant. 1992. New approaches to forest management: Background, science issues, and research agenda. *Journal of Forestry* 90(1):25-28.
- Brown, B.J., M.E. Hanson, D.M. Liverman, and R.W. Meredith, Jr. 1987. Global sustainability: Toward definition. *Environmental Management* 11(6):713-719.
- Brown, G., and C. Harris. 1992. The U.S. Forest Service: Toward the new resource management paradigm? *Society and Natural Resources* 5:231-245.
  - \_\_\_\_, and \_\_\_\_\_. 1998. Professional foresters and the land ethic, revisited. *Journal of Forestry* 96(1):4-12.
  - \_\_\_\_, J. O'Laughlin, and C.C. Harris. 1993*a*. Allowable Sale Quantity (ASQ) of timber as a focal point in national forest management. *Natural Resources Journal* 33:569-594.
- Brown, M., and D.C. Chojnacky. 1996. *Idaho's Forests, 1991.* USDA Forest Service INT-RB-88, Ogden, UT. 63pp.
- Brown, T.C. 1987. Production and cost of scenic beauty: Examples for a ponderosa pine forest. *Forest Science* 33:394-410.

- and T.C. Daniel. 1984. *Modeling Forest Scenic Beauty: Concepts and Application to Ponderosa Pine.* USDA Forest Service RM-RP-256, Ft. Collins, CO. 35pp.
- \_\_\_\_\_ and \_\_\_\_\_. 1986. Predicting scenic beauty of timber stands. *Forest Science* 32:471-487.
- \_\_\_\_\_, D. Brown, and D. Binkley. 1993b. Laws and programs for controlling nonpoint source pollution in forest areas. *Water Resources Bulletin* 29:1-13.
- Brunson, M.W. 1996. The social context of ecosystem management: Unanswered questions and unresolved issues. In, *Defining Social Acceptability in Ecosystem Management: A Workshop Proceedings*, M.W. Brunson, L.E. Kruger, C.B. Tyler, and S.A. Schroeder, tech. eds. USDA Forest Service PNW-GTR-369, Portland, OR. Pp. 113-126.
- and D.K. Reiter. 1996. Effects of ecological information on judgments about scenic beauty impacts of timber harvest. *Journal of Environmental Management* 46:31-41.
- and B.S. Steel. 1994. National attitudes toward federal rangeland management. *Rangelands* 16(2):77-81.
- \_\_\_\_\_, B. Shindler, W.D. Schreckhise, B.S. Steel, and J.R. Tennert. 1994. *Mail Survey of Natural Resource Issues on Public Lands in the West.* Report prepared for the Eastside Ecosystem Management Team. Interior Columbia Basin Ecosystem Management Project, Walla Walla, WA. 260pp.
- Buhyoff, G.J., J. D. Wellman, and T.C. Daniel. 1982. Predicting scenic quality for mountain pine beetle and western spruce budworm damaged forest vistas. *Forest Science* 28:827-838.
- Bull, E.L., C.G. Parks, and T.R. Torgersen. 1997. Trees and Logs Important to Wildlife in the Interior Columbia River Basin. USDA Forest Service PNW-GTR-391, Portland, OR. 55pp.
- Byler, J.W., Krebill, R.G., Hagle, S.K., and S.J.
  Kegley. 1994. Health of the cedar-hemlockwestern white pine forests of Idaho. In, *Interior Cedar-Hemlock-White Pine Forests: Ecology and Management, Symposium Proceedings*, D.M. Baumgartner, J.E. Lotan, and J.R. Tonn , eds. Cooperative Extension, Washington State University, Pullman, WA. Pp. 107-116.

- Callicott, J.B. 1983. Traditional American Indian and traditional western European attitudes towards nature: An overview. In, *Environmental Philosophy*, R. Elliot and A. Gare, eds. Pennsylvania State University Press, University Park. Pp. 231-259.
  - \_\_\_\_, and M.P. Nelson, eds. 1998. *The Great New Wilderness Debate*. University of Georgia Press, Athens.
- Canfield, J.E., L.J. Lyon, J. M. Hillis. 1986. *The Influence of Viewing Angle on Elk Hiding Cover in Young Timber Stands*. USDA Forest Service RP-INT-371, Ogden, UT. 5pp.
- Carpenter, R.A. 1995. Limitations in measuring ecosystem sustainability. In, A Sustainable World: Defining and Measuring Sustainable Development, T.C. Trzyna, ed. International Center for the Environment and Public Policy, Sacramento, CA. Pp. 175-197.
- Carroll, M.S. 1995. Community and the Northwestern Logger: Continuities and Changes in the Era of the Spotted Owl. Westview Press, Boulder, CO.
  - and S.E. Daniels. 1995. Setting the context: Forest communities and historical change. In, *Frameworks for Sustainable Forests and Communities: American Community Responses to the Globalization of the Timber Industry*, M. Hibbard, ed. Northwest Policy Center, University of Washington, Seattle. Pp. 3-28
  - \_\_\_\_, J.H. Bassman, K.A. Blatner, and D.W. Breuer. 1989. Forest resource management in the Northwest: A period of dynamic change. *Journal of Forestry* 87(6):10-14.
- Castle, E.N. 1993. A pluralistic, pragmatic and evolutionary approach to natural resource management. *Forest Ecology and Management* 56:279-295.
- Chamberlin, T.W., R.D. Harr, and F.H. Everest. 1991. Timber harvesting, silviculture, and watershed processes. In, *Influences of Forest and Rangeland Management on Salmonid Fishes and Their Habitats*, American Fisheries Society Special Publication 19:181-205.
- Childs, S.W., S.P. Shade, D.W.R. Miles, E. Shepard, and H.A. Froehlich. 1989. Soil physical properties: Importance to long-term forest productivity. In, *Maintaining the Long-Term Productivity of Pacific Northwest Forest Ecosystems*, D.A. Perry, R. Meurisse, B. Thomas, R. Miller, J. Boyle, C.R. Perry, and R.F. Powers, eds. Timber Press, Portland, OR. Pp. 53-66.

- Christensen, N.L. (Chair), A.M. Bartuska, J.H.
  Brown, S. Carpenter, C. D'Antonio, R. Francis,
  J.F. Franklin, J.A. MacMahon, R.F. Noss, D.J.
  Parsons, C.H. Peterson, M.G. Turner, and R.G.
  Woodmansee. 1996. The report of the Ecological Society of America Committee on the Scientific Basis for Ecosystem Management. *Ecological Applications* 6:665-691.
- Clearwater National Forest. 1997. Clearwater National Forest Briefing Book: Forest Facts and Forest Accomplishments. Presentation to the Idaho Federal Lands Task Force. USDA Forest Service, Orofino, ID.
- Cobourn, J. 1989. Is cumulative watershed effects analysis coming of age? *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation* 44:267-270.
- Cocklin, C.R. 1989. Methodological problems in evaluating sustainability. *Environmental Conservation* 16(4):343-351.
- Coggins, G.C., and R.L. Glicksman. 1996. *Public Natural Resources Law.* Clark Boardman Callaghan, Deerfield, IL.
- Cole, D.N. 1996. Wilderness Recreation Use Trends, 1965 through 1994. USDA Forest Service, INT-RP-488, Ogden, UT. 10p.
- Cole, D.W., and S.P. Gessel. 1992. Fundamentals of tree nutrition. In, *Forest Fertilization: Sustaining and Improving Nutrition and Growth in Western Forests,* H.N. Chappell, G.F.
  Weetman, and R.E. Miller, eds. Institute of Forest Resources Contribution 73, College of Forest Resources, University of Washington, Seattle. Pp. 7-16.
- Colla, J., and J. DuPont. 2000. *Forest Practices Water Quality Audit, 1999.* Idaho Department of Lands, Coeur d'Alene. 21pp. + appendices.
- Collins, B.D., and G.R. Pess. 1997*a*. Critique of Washington's watershed analysis program. *Journal of the American Water Resources Association* 33:997-1010.
- \_\_\_\_\_, and \_\_\_\_\_. 1997b. Evaluation of forest practices prescriptions from Washington's watershed analysis program. *Journal of the American Water Resources Association* 33:969-996.
- Congressional Research Service (CRS). 1994. *Ecosystem Management: Federal Agency Activities*. 94-339 ENR. Washington, DC. Available [Online]: <a href="http://www.cnie.org/nle/biodv-4.html">http://www.cnie.org/nle/ biodv-4.html</a> [20 August 1998].

- Cook, P.S., and J. O'Laughlin. 1999. *Toward Sustainable Forest Management: Part I—Certification Programs*. Report No. 18, Idaho Forest, Wildlife and Range Policy Analysis Group, University of Idaho, Moscow. 85pp.
- Cooper, S.V., K.E. Neiman, and D.W. Roberts. 1991. Forest Habitat Types of Northern Idaho: A Second Approximation. USDA Forest Service GTR-INT-236, Odgen, UT. 143pp.
- Cordell, H.K., and J.C. Bergstrom, L.A. Hartmann, and D.B.K. English. 1990. An Analysis of the Outdoor Recreation and Wilderness Situation in the United States: 1989-2040. USDA Forest Service RM-GTR-189, Ft. Collins, CO. 112pp.
- Cortner, H.J., M.A. Shannon, M.G. Wallace, S. Burke, and M.A. Moote. 1996. Institutional Barrier and Incentives for Ecosystem Management: A Problem Analysis. USDA Forest Service PNW-GTR-354, Portland, OR. 35pp.
- Costanza, R. 1993. Developing ecological research that is relevant for achieving sustainability. *Ecological Applications* 3(4):579-581.
  - \_\_\_\_, and H.E. Daly. 1992. Natural capital and sustainable development. *Conservation Biology* 6(1):37-46.
    - \_\_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_\_, and J. A. Bartholomew. 1991. Goals, agenda, and policy recommendations for ecological economics. In, *Ecological Economics: The Science and Management of Sustainability,* R. Costanza, ed. Columbia University Press, New York. Pp.1-20.
  - \_\_\_\_, R. d'Arge, R. de Groot, S. Farber, M. Grasso, B. Hannon, K. Limburg, S. Naeem, R.V. O'Neill, J. Paruelo, R.G. Raskin, P. Sutton, and M. van den Belt. 1997. The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. *Nature* 387:253-260.
- Crocker-Bedford, D.C. 1990. Goshawk reproduction and forest management. *Wildlife Society Bulletin* 18:262-269.
- Cromack, K., Jr., F.J. Swanson, and C.C. Grier. 1978. A comparison of harvesting methods and their impact on soils and environment in the Pacific Northwest. In, *Forest Soils and Land Use*, C.T. Young, ed. Dept. of Forest and Wood Sciences, Colorado State University, Ft. Collins. Pp. 449-476.
- Cronon, W., ed. 1995. Uncommon Ground: Toward Reinventing Nature. W.W. Norton & Co., New York. 561pp.
- Cubbage, F.W., J. O'Laughlin, and C.S. Bullock, III. 1993. *Forest Resource Policy*. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York. 562pp.

- Cullen, S.J., C. Montagne, and H. Ferguson. 1991. Timber harvest trafficking and soil compaction in western Montana. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 55:1416-1421.
- Dahms, C.W., and B.W. Geils, tech eds. 1997. An Assessment of Forest Ecosystem Health in the Southwest. USDA Forest Service, RM-GTR-295, Fort Collins, CO. 21pp. Available [Online]: <a href="http://www.rmrs.nau.edu/publications/">http://www.rmrs.nau.edu/publications/</a> rm\_gtr\_295> [01 November 2000].
- Daily, G.C., and P.R. Ehrlich. 1996. Socioeconomic equity, sustainability, and earth's carrying capacity. *Ecological Applications* 6(4):991-1001.
- Daly, H.E. 1996. Beyond Growth: The Economics of Sustainable Development. Beacon Press, Boston. 253pp.
- d'Arge, R.C., R.B. Norgaard, M. Olson, Jr., and R. Somerville. 1991. Economic growth, sustainability, and the environment. *Contemporary Policy Issues* 9:1-23.
- Daw, S.K., S. DeStefano, and R.J. Steidl. 1998. Does survey method bias the description of northern goshawk nest-site structure? *Journal of Wildlife Management* 64:1379-1384.
- DeBell, J.D., and B.L. Gartner. 1997. Stem characteristics on the lower log of 35-year-old western redcedar grown at several spacings. *Western Journal of Applied Forestry* 12(1):9-15.
- DeByle, N.V., and P.E. Packer. 1972. Plant nutrient and soil losses in overland flow from burned forest clearcuts. In, *Watersheds in Transition*, S.C. Csallany, T.G. McLaughlin and W.D. Striffler, eds. American Water Resources Association, Urbana, IL. Pp. 296-307.
- de la Jara, J.F. 1994. The basis and action required for sustainable forestry development in Chile. In, *Readings in Sustainable Forest Management*, Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations, New York. FAO Forestry Paper 122. Pp.193-200.
- DellaSala, D.A., and D.M. Olson. 1996. Seeing forests for more than just the trees. *Wildlife Society Bulletin* 24:770-776.
- \_\_\_\_\_, D.M. Olson, S.E. Barth, S.L. Crane, and S.A. Primm. 1995. Forest health: Moving beyond rhetoric to restore healthy landscapes in the inland Northwest. *Wildlife Society Bulletin* 23:346-356.
- de Vries, H.J.M.. 1989. Sustainable Resource Use: An Enquiry into Modelling and Planning. Universiteitsdrukkerij Groningen.

- Dixon, J.A., and L.A. Fallon. 1989. The concept of sustainability: Origins, extensions, and usefulness for policy. *Society and Natural Resources* 2:73-84.
- Donnelly, D.M., and L.J. Nelson. 1986. *Net Economic Value of Deer Hunting in Idaho*. USDA Forest Service RM-RB-13, Ft. Collins, CO. 27pp.
- \_\_\_\_\_, J.B. Loomis, C.F. Sorg, and L.J. Nelson. 1985. *Net Economic Value of Recreational Steelhead Fishing in Idaho*. USDA Forest Service RM-RB-9, Ft. Collins, CO. 23pp.
- Drielsma, J.H., J.A. Miller, and W.R. Burch, Jr. 1990. Sustained yield and community stability in American forestry. In, *Community & Forestry: Continuities in the Sociology on Natural Resources,* R.G. Lee, D.R. Field, and W.R. Burch, Jr., eds. Westview Press, Boulder, CO. Pp. 55-68.
- Driver, B.L., R. Nash, and G.E. Haas. 1987. Wilderness benefits: A state-of-knowledge review. In, *Proceedings—National Wilderness Research Conference: Issues, State-of-knowledge, Future Directions*. USDA Forest Service INT-GTR-220, Ogden, UT. Pp. 294-319.
- Duffus, D. 1993. Tsitika to Baram: The myth of sustainability. *Conservation Biology* 7(2):440-442.
- Dunlap, R.E. 1992. Trends in public opinion toward environmental issues: 1965-1990. In, *American Environmentalism: The U.S. Movement, 1970-1990,* R.E. Dunlap and A.G. Mertig, eds. Taylor and Francis, Philadelphia, PA. Pp. 89-116.
  \_\_\_\_ and R. Scarce. 1991. The polls—poll trends:
  - Environmental problems and protection. *Public Opinion Quarterly* 55:651-672.
- Edge, W.D., C. L. Marcum, and S.L. Olson-Edge. 1987. Summer habitat selection by elk in western Montana: A multivariate approach. *Journal of Wildlife Management* 51:844-851.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_, and \_\_\_\_\_. 1988. Summer forage and feeding site selection by elk. *Journal of Wild-life Management* 52:573-577.
- Edmonds, R.L. 2000. *Forest Health and Protection*. McGraw-Hill, Boston, MA. 630pp.
- Egler, F. 1970. *The Way of Science: A Philosophy of Ecology for the Layman*. Hafner Publishing Company, New York, NY. 145pp.
- Ehrenfeld, D. 1992. Ecosystem health and ecological theories. Pages 135-143 in R. Costanza, B.G. Norton, and B.D. Haskell, eds. *Ecosystem Health*, Island Press, Washington, DC.

- Ehrlich, P.R., and G.C. Daily. 1993. Science and the management of natural resources. *Ecological Applications* 3(4):558-560.
- Eisenhauer, B.W., R.S. Krannich, and D.J. Blahna. 2000. Attachments to special places on public lands: An analysis of activities, reasons for attachments, and community connections. *Society and Natural Resources* 13:421-441.
- English, D.B.K., C.J. Betz, J.M. Young, J.C. Bergstrom, and H.K. Cordell. 1993. *Regional Demand and Supply Projections for Outdoor Recreation*. USDA Forest Service RM-GTR-230, Ft. Collins, CO. 39pp.
- \_\_\_\_\_ and J.M. Bowker. 1996. Economic impacts of guided whitewater rafting: A study of fiver rivers. *Water Resources Bulletin* 32(6):1319-1328.
- Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). 1991. NPS pollution: Runoff of rain and snowmelt—our biggest water quality problem. *EPA Journal* 17(5):1-58.
- Espinosa, F.A., Jr., J.J. Rhodes, and D.A. McCullough. 1997. The failure of existing plans to protect salmon habitat in the Clearwater National Forest in Idaho. *Journal of Environmental Management* 49:205-230.
- Everett, R., P. Hessburg, M. Jensen, and B. Bormann. 1994. Eastside Forest Ecosystem Health Assessment, Volume I: Executive Summary. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report PNW-GTR-317, Portland, OR.
- Fahey, T.D., and E. Starostovic. 1979. Changing resource quality: Impacts on the forest products and construction industries. *Forest Products Journal* 29(4):39-43.
- Fight, R.D., S. Johnston, D.G. Briggs, T.D. Fahey, N.A. Bolon, and J.M. Cahill. 1995. How much timber quality can we afford in coast Douglasfir stands? *Western Journal of Applied Forestry* 10(1):12-16.
- \_\_\_\_\_, L.E. Kruger, C. Hansen-Murray, A. Holden, and D. Bays. 2000. *Understanding Human Uses and Values in Watershed Analysis*. USDA Forest Service, PNW-GTR-489, Portland, OR. 16pp.
- Firey, W. 1960. Man, Mind, and Land: A Theory of Resource Use. Free Press, Glencoe, IL. 256pp.
- Fitzsimmons, A.K. 1996. Sound policy or smoke and mirrors: Does ecosystem management make sense? *Water Resources Bulletin* 32(2):217-227.

- Floyd, D.W., ed. 1999. Forest of Discord: Options for Governing our National Forests and Federal Public Lands. Society of American Foresters, Behtesda, MD. 84pp.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, and M.A. MacLeod. 1993. Regulation and perceived compliance: Nonpoint pollution reduction programs in four states. *Journal of Forestry* 91(5):41-47.
- Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations (FAO). 1991. Sustainable management in tropical forests. Annex F. In, *Report from the Committee on Forest Development in the Tropics, Tenth Session*, December 10-13, 1991, Rome, Italy.
- . 1993. The Challenge of Sustainable Forest Management: What Future for the World's Forests? Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations, New York. 128pp.
- \_\_\_\_\_. 1994a. *The Road from Rio: Moving Forward in Forestry*. Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations, New York. 30pp.
- . 1994b. Readings in Sustainable Forest Management. Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations, New York, NY. FAO Forestry Paper 122. 266pp.
- Force, J.E., and H.W. Lee. 1991. Nonindustrial private forest owners in Idaho. *Western Journal of Applied Forestry* 6(2):32-36.
- Ford-Robertson, F.C., ed. 1971. Terminology of Forest Science, Technology Practice and Products. Society of American Foresters, Washington, DC. 349pp.
- Forest Ecosystem Management Assessment Team (FEMAT). 1993. Forest Ecosystem Management : An Ecological, Economic, and Social Assessment. USDA Forest Service, National Marine Fisheries Service, Bureau of Land Management, US Fish and Wildlife Service, National Park Service, and Environmental Protection Agency. Portland, OR an Washington, DC.
- Forest Health Science Panel. 1997. Summary Report on Forest Health of the United States by the Forest Health Science Panel. Panel chartered by Charles Taylor, member U.S. Congress, 11th District, North Carolina. April 4, 1997. Available [Online]: <a href="http://www.house.gov/">http://www.house.gov/</a> resources/105cong/fullcomm/apr09.97/ taylor.rpt/tay-sum.pdf> [20August 1998].{see also Oliver et al. 1997}

- Forest Inventory and Analysis. 1997. Data downloaded by authors from U.S. Forest Service Forest Inventory and Analysis program web site. Available [Online]: <a href="http://www.srsfia.usfs.msstate.edu/scripts/ew.htm">http://www.srsfia.usfs.msstate.edu/scripts/ew.htm</a> [Various dates].
- Fortmann, L., and J. Kusel. 1990. New voices, old beliefs: Forest environmentalism among new and long-standing rural residents. *Rural Sociology* 55:214-232.
- Foy, G. 1990. Economic sustainability and the preservation of environmental assets. *Environmental Management* 14(6):771-778.
- Franklin, J.F. 1993. The fundamentals of ecosystem management with applications in the Pacific Northwest. In, *Defining Sustainable Forestry*, G.H. Aplet, N. Johnson, J.T. Olson, and V.A. Sample, eds. Island Press, Covelo, CA. Pp. 127-144.
- Frayer, W.E., and G.M. Furnival. 1999. Forest survey sampling designs: A history. *Journal of Forestry* 97(12):4-8.
- Freed, J. 1995. Special forest products: Past, present, future. *International Journal of Ecoforestry* 11(2/3):62-67.
- Fuentes, E.R. 1993. Scientific research and sustainable development. *Ecological Applications* 3(4):576-577.
- Furniss, M.J., R.D. Roelofs, and C.S. Yee. 1991. Road construction and maintenance. In, *Influ*ences of Forest and Rangeland Management on Salmonid Fishes and Their Habitats, American Fisheries Society Special Publication 19:297-323.
- Gale, R.P., and S.M. Cordray. 1991. What should forests sustain? Eight answers. *Journal of Forestry* 89(5):31-36.
- Galliano, S.J., and G.M. Loeffler. 1995. Scenic Assessment: Scenic Beauty at the Ecoregion Scale. USDA Forest Service, Interior Columbia Basin Ecosystem Management Project, Social Science Assessment Team, Walla Walla, WA. 46pp.
- \_\_\_\_\_, and \_\_\_\_\_. 1999. *Place Assessment: How People Define Ecosystems*. USDA Forest Service PNW-GTR-462, Portland, OR. 31pp.
- Gatto, M. 1995. Sustainability: Is it a well defined concept? *Ecological Applications* 5(4):1181-1183.
- Gillespie, A.J.R. 1999*a*. Rationale for a national annual forest inventory program. *Journal of Forestry* 97(12):16-20.

- \_. 1999b. Introduction to the Forest Inventory and Analysis Program. USDA Forest Service, Washington, DC. Available [Online]: <http:// fia.fs.fed.us/fia\_for\_nfs.rtf> [31 October 2000].
- \_\_\_\_\_ and W.B. Smith. 1998. Strategic Plan for Forest Inventory and Monitoring. USDA Forest Service, Office of Science Policy, Planning, Inventory, and Information, Washington, DC. Available [Online]: <a href="http://www.srsfia.usfs.msstate.edu/wo/strategy.htm">http://www.srsfia.usfs.msstate.edu/wo/strategy.htm</a>
- [18 August 1998].
  Gobster, P.H. 1996. Forest aesthetics, biodiversity, and the perceived appropriateness of ecosystem management practices. In, *Defining Social Acceptability in Ecosystem Management: A Workshop Proceedings*, M.W. Brunson, L.E. Kruger, C.B. Tyler, and S.A. Schroeder, tech. eds. USDA Forest Service PNW-GTR-369, Port-

land, OR. Pp. 77-97.

- Gonzalez-Caban, A., M.E. Fenn, and F.N. Scatena. 1995. Concepts, criteria, and indicators for monitoring sustainability. In, *Partnerships for Sustainable Forest Ecosystem Management: Fifth Mexico/U.S. Biennial Symposium*, C. Aguirre-Bravo, L. Eskew, C.E. Gonzalez-Vicente, and A.B. Villa-Salas, tech eds./comp. USDA Forest Service RM-GTR-266, Ft. Collins, CO. Pp. 13-23.
- Goodland, R. 1995. The concept of environmental sustainability. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* 26:1-24.
  - \_\_\_\_\_ and H. Daly. 1996. Environmental sustainability: Universal and non-negotiable. *Ecological Applications* 6(4):1002-1017.
- Graham, R.T., D. Minore, A.E. Harvey, M.F. Jurgensen, and D.S. Page-Dumroese. 1991. Soil management as an integral part of silvicultural systems. In, *Proceedings—Management and Productivity of Western-Montane Forest Soils*, USDA Forest Service GTR-INT-280, Ogden, UT. Pp. 59-64.

\_, R.T. Reynolds, M. H. Reiser, R.L. Bassett, and D.A. Boyce. 1994. Sustaining forest habitat for the northern goshawk: A quesion of scale. In, *Northern Goshawk: Ecology and Management*, W.M. Block, M.L. Morrison, and N.H. Reiser, eds. Studies in Avian Biology No. 16, Cooper Ornithological Society, Camarillo, CA. Pp. 12-17.

- \_\_\_\_\_, R.L. Rodriguez, K.M. Paulin, R.L. Player, A.P. Heap, and R.Williams. 1999. *The North*ern Goshawk in Utah: Habitat Assessment and Management Recommendations. USDA Forest Service RMRS-GTR-22, Fort Collins, CO. 48pp.
- Grant, G., C. McCain, and J. Cissel. 1994. Summary of the Watershed-Landscape Analysis Workshop: H.J. Andrews Experimental Forest. USDA Forest Service PNW-GTR-338, Portland, OR. 67pp.
- Greber, B. J. and K.N. Johnson. 1991. What's all this debate about overcutting? *Journal of Forestry* 89(11):25-30.
- Gregg, N.T. 1992. Sustainability and politics: The cultural connection. *Journal of Forestry* 90(7):17-21.
- Griffith, G.E., J.M. Omernik, and A.J. Woods. 1999.
  Ecoregions, watersheds, basins, and HUCs: How state and federal agencies frame water quality. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation* 54:666-676.
- Grubb, T.G, L.L. Pater, and D.K. Delaney. 1998. Logging Truck Noise Near Nesting Northern Goshawks. USDA Forest Service RMRS-RN-3, Fort Collins, CO. 2pp.
- Grumbine, R.E. 1994. What is ecosystem management? *Conservation Biology* 8:27-38. \_\_\_\_\_. 1997. Reflections on "What is ecosystem
- management?" *Conservation Biology* 11:41-47. Haeuber, R. 1996. Setting the policy agenda: The case of ecosystem management. *Natural Resources Journal*.36:1-28.
- \_\_\_\_\_, and J.F. Franklin. 1996. Perspectives on ecosystem management. *Ecological Applications* 6(3):692-693.
- Hagle, S., and J.W. Byler. 1993. Root diseases and natural disease regimes in a forest of western U.S.A. In, *Eighth International Conference on Root and Butt Rots, Proceedings*, International Union of Forestry Research Organizations (IUFRO), Vienna, Austria. Pp. 606-617
  - \_\_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_, S. Jeheber-Matthews, et al. 1994. Root disease in the Coeur d'Alene River basin: An assessment. In, *Interior Cedar-Hemlock-White Pine Forests: Ecology and Management, Symposium Proceedings*, D.M. Baumgartner, J.E. Lotan, and J.R. Tonn, eds. Cooperative Extension, Washington State University, Pullman, WA. Pp. 335-344.

- Halbert, C. 1993. How adaptive is adaptive management? Implementing adaptive management in Washington state and British Columbia. *Reviews in Fisheries Science* 1(3):261-283
- Hamanishi, C.M., F.G. Wagner, J. O'Laughlin, and T.M. Gorman. 1995. Idaho's timber harvest projections by ownership to 2000: An issuebased survey of resource managers. *Western Journal of Applied Forestry* 10(3):109-113.
- Hann, W.J., J.L. Jones, M.G. Karl, P.F. Hessberg, R.E. Keane, D.G. Long, J.P. Menakis, C.H.
  McNicoll, S.G. Leonard, R.A. Gravenmier, and B.G. Smith. 1997. Landscape dynamics of the basin. In, *An Assessment of Ecosystem Components in the Interior Columbia Basin*, T.M.
  Quigley and S.J. Arbelbide, tech. eds. USDA Forest Service PNW-GTR-405, Portland, OR.
  Pp. 337-1056.
- Hansen, E., and R. Bush. 1996. Consumer perceptions of softwood lumber quality. *Forest Products Journal* 46(10):29-34.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, R.J. Bush, and E.F. Fern. 1996. An empirical assessment of the dimensions of softwood lumber quality. *Forest Science* 42(4):407-414.
- Harris, C.C., and M.H. Robison. 1992. The Role of Recreation and Leisure Travel in Idaho's Economy. Bulletin No. 56, Idaho Forest, Wildlife, and Range Experiment Station, University of Idaho, Moscow. 59pp.
- Harvey, A.E. 1994. Integrated roles for insects, diseases and decomposers in fire dominated forests of the inland western United States: Past, present and future forest health. *Journal of Sustainable Forestry* 2:211-220. Also in, *Assessing Forest Health in the Inland West*, R.N. Sampson and D.L. Adams, eds. Haworth Press, Binghamton, NY. Pp. 211-220.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, M.F. Jurgensen, M.J. Larsen, and R.T. Graham. 1987. *Decaying Organic Materials and Soil Quality in the Inland Northwest: A Management Opportunity*. USDA Forest Service GTR-INT-225, Ogden, UT. 15pp.
    - \_\_\_\_, R.T. Meurisse, J.M. Geist, M.F. Jurgensen, G.I. McDonald, R.T. Graham, and N. Stark. 1989. Managing productivity processes in the inland northwest—mixed conifer and pines. In, *Maintaining the Long-Term Productivity of Pacific Northwest Forest Ecosystems*, D.A. Perry, R. Meurisse, B. Thomas, R. Miller, J. Boyle, C.R. Perry, and R.F. Powers, eds. Timber Press, Portland, OR. Pp. 164-184.

- J.M. Geist, G.I. McDonald, M.F. Jurgensen,
   P.H. Cochran, D. Zabowski, and R.T. Meurisse.
   1994. *Biotic and Abiotic Processes in Eastside Ecosystems: The Effects of Management on Soil Properties, Processes, and Productivity.* USDA Forest Service PNW-GTR-323. Portland, OR, 71PP.
- , P.F. Hessburg, J.W. Byler, G.I. McDonald,
   J.C. Weatherby, and B.E. Wickman. 1995.
   Health declines in western interior forests:
   Symptoms and solutions. In, *Ecosystem Management in Western Interior Forests, Symposium Proceedings*, D.M. Baumgartner and R.L.
   Everett, eds. Cooperative Extension, Washington State University, Pullman, WA. Pp. 163-170.
- Haynes, R.W., and A.L. Horne. 1997. Economic assessment of the basin. In, *An Assessment of Ecosystem Components in the Interior Columbia Basin*, T.M. Quigley and S.J. Arbelbide, tech. eds. USDA Forest Service PNW-405, Portland, OR. Pp. 1715-1869.
- \_\_\_\_\_, D.M. Adams, and J.R. Mills. 1995. *The 1993 RPA Timber Assessment Update*. USDA Forest Service PNW-GTR-259, Portland, OR. 66pp.
- Hays, S.P. 1959. Conservation and the Gospel of Efficiency: The Progressive Conservation Movement 1890-1920. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA. 297pp.
- \_\_\_\_\_. 1988. The new environmental forest. *University of Colorado Law Review* 59:517-550.
- Hayward, G.D., and R.E. Escano. 1989. Goshawk nest-site characteristics in western Montana and northern Idaho. *The Condor* 91:476-479.
- Hejl, S.J., R.L. Hutto, C.R. Preston, and D.M. Finch. 1995. Effects of silvicultural treatments in the Rocky Mountains. In, *Ecology and Management of Neotropical Migrtory Birds: A Synthesis and Review of Critical Issues*, T.M. Martin and D.M. Finch, eds. Oxford University Press, New York, NY. Pp. 220-244.
- Helms, J.A. 1998. *The Dictionary of Forestry*. Society of American Foresters, Washington, DC. 210pp.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, and J.E. Lotan. 1987. Selecting silvicultural systems for timber. In, *Ponderosa Pine: The Species and Its Management*, D.M. Baumgartner, and J.E. Lotan, comps. & eds. Symposium Proceedings, Sept. 29-Oct. 1, Spokane, WA. Pp. 221-225.

- Hieb, S.R. ed. 1976. Proceedings of the Elk—Logging—Roads Symposium. Moscow, Idaho, December 16-17, 1975. Forest, Wildlife and Range Experiment Station, University of Idaho, Moscow. 142pp.
- Hilborn, R., and D. Ludwig. 1993. The limits of applied ecological research. *Ecological Applications* 3(4):550-552.
- Hill, L. 1998. A summary of SAF's comments on ICBEMP. *Journal of Forestry* 96(10):40-41.
- Hillman, T.W., J.S. Griffith, and W.S. Platts. 1987. Summer and winter habitat selection by juvenile chinook salmon in a highly sedimented Idaho stream. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* 116:185-195.
- Hirvonen, H. 2000. What is forest health? *Journal of Forestry, Focus* 98(9):6-7.
- Holling, C.S. 1995. Sustainability: The cross-scale dimension. The meaning of sustainability: Biogeophysical aspects. In, *Defining and Measuring Sustainability: The Biogeophysical Foundations,* M. Munsinghe and W. Shearer, eds. The World Bank, Washington, DC. Pp. 65-75.
- Howard, J.L. 1999. U.S. Timber Production, Trade, Consumption, and Price Statistics 1965-1997. USDA Forest Service FPL-GTR-116, Madison, WI. 76pp.
- Ice, G.G., G.W. Stuart, J.B. Waide, L.C. Irland, and P.V. Ellefson. 1997. Twenty-five years of the Clean Water Act: How clean are forest practices? *Journal of Forestry* 95(7):9-13.
- Idaho Department of Fish and Game (IDFG). 1998a. Nongame Wildlife. Available [Online]: <http:// www2.state.id.us/fishgame/nongame.htm> [1 December 1998].
  - \_. 1998*b. Idaho Elk Recruitment Project.* Available [Online]: <http://www2.state.id.us/ fishgame/recruit.htm> [30 November 1998].
- Idaho Department of Labor. 1997. Population grows fast. *Idaho Employment* 9(4):8-10.
- Idaho Department of Lands. 1995. Forest Practices Cumulative Watershed Effects Process for Idaho. Idaho Department of Lands, Boise. Chapter pagination + appendices.
  - \_. 2000. Forest Practices Cumulative Watershed Effects Process for Idaho. Idaho Department of Lands, Boise. Chapter pagination + appendices.
- Idaho Forest Products Commission (IFPC). 1992. 1992 Opinion Poll. Idaho Forest Products Commission, Boise.

- \_\_\_\_\_. 1997. *1997 Opinion Poll*. Idaho Forest Products Commission, Boise.
- Innes, J.L. 1993. *Forest Health: Its Assessment and Status*. Wallingford, Oxon, U.K.: CAB International.
- Interagency Wild and Scenic Rivers Coordinating Council. 1999. A Compendium of Questions and Answers Relating to Wild and Scenic Rivers: A Living Draft. January 1999 revision. Available [Online] <a href="http://www.nps.gov/rivers/q&a.pdf">http://www.nps.gov/rivers/ q&a.pdf</a> [9 August 2000].
- Interior Columbia Basin Ecosystem Management Project (ICBEMP). 1997. Upper Columbia Basin Draft Environmental Impact Statement, Volume 1. USDA Forest Service and USDI Bureau of Land Management, Walla Walla, Washington.
- . 2000. Interior Columbia Basin Final Environmental Impact Statement and Proposed Decision (two volumes). USDA Forest Service and USDI Bureau of Land Management, Boise, ID.
- Irland, L.C. 1994. Getting from here to there: Ecosystem management on the ground. *Journal of Forestry*. 92(8):12-15.
- Irwin, L.L., and J.M. Peek. 1983. Elk habitat use relative to forest succession in Idaho. *Journal* of Wildlife Management 47(3):664-672.
- Iverson, D.C., and R.M. Alston. 1993. Ecosystembased forestry requires a broader economic focus. *Journal of Sustainable Forestry* 1(2):97-106.
- Iverson, G.C., G.D. Hayward, K. Titus, E. DeGaynor, R.E. Lowell, D.C. Crocker-Bedford, P.F. Schempf, and J. Lindell. 1996. Conservation Assessment for the Northern Goshawk in Southeast Alaska. USDA Forest Service PNW-GTR-387, Portland, OR. 101pp.
- Jackson, D.H. 1994. Timber Supply Overview: A Review and Commentary on the Montana Timber Assessment. In, *Rocky Mountain Challenge: Fulfilling a New Mission in the U.S. Forest Service*, Association of Forest Service Employees for Environmental Ethics, Eugene, OR. Pp. 41-49.
- Jenkins, A.F. 1996. *The Greening of National Forest Planning*. M.S. Thesis, University of Idaho, Moscow. 118pp.
  - \_\_\_\_. 1997. Forest health: A crisis of human proportions. *Journal of Forestry* 95(9):11-14.

- Jensen, M., I. Goodman, K. Brewer, T. Frost, G. Ford, and J. Nesser. 1997. Biophysical Environments of the Basin. In, An Assessment of Ecosystem Components in the Interior Columbia Basin, T.M. Quigley and S.J. Arbelbide, tech. eds. USDA Forest Service PNW-GTR-405, Portland, OR. Pp. 99-320.
- Johnson, N. 1993. Introduction. In, *Defining Sustainable Forestry*, G.H. Aplet, N. Johnson, J.T. Olson, and V.A. Sample, eds. Island Press, Covelo, CA. Pp. 11-15.
- Jones, S. 1974. Habitat Management Series for Unique or Endangered Species, Report No. 17, The Accipiters-Goshawk, Cooper's Hawk, Sharp-shinned Hawk. Technical Note, USDI Bureau of Land Management, Denver, CO.
- Jostad, P.M., L.H. McAvoy, and D. McDonald. 1996. Native American land ethics: Implications for natural resource management. *Society and Natural Resources* 9:565-581.
- Jozsa, L.A., and G.R. Middleton. 1994. *A Discussion of Wood Quality Attributes and Their Practical Implications*. Special Publication No. SP-34, Forintek Canada Corp., Vancouver, BC, Canada. 43pp.
- Jurgensen, M.F., A.E. Harvey, R.T. Graham, M.J. Larsen, J.R. Tonn, D.S. Page-Dumroese. 1990.
  Soil organic matter, timber harvesting, and forest productivity in the Inland Northwest. In, *Sustained Productivity of Forest Soils, Proceedings of the 7th North American Forest Soils Conference*, S.P. Gessel, D.S. Lacate, G.F. Weetman, and R.F. Powers, eds. Faculty of Forestry Publication, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC. Pp. 392-415.
- Kaltenborn, B.P. 1997. Nature of place attachment: A study among recreation homeowners in southern Norway. *Leisure Sciences* 19:175-189.
- Keegan, C.E., D.P. Wichman, D.D. Van Hooser, T.M. Gorman, F.G. Wagner, P.E. Polzin, and A.L. Hearst. 1997. *Idaho's Forest Products Industry: A Descriptive Analysis 1979-1996*. Bureau of Business and Economic Research, University of Montana, Missoula. 68pp.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, S.R. Shook, F.G. Wagner, and K.A. Blatner. 2000. *Idaho's Forest Products Industry: Current Conditions and Forecast 2000*. Station Bulletin 71, Idaho Forest, Wildlife and Range Experiment Station, University of idaho, Moscow. 4pp.
- Keiter, R.B. 1994. Beyond the boundary line: Constructing a law of ecosystem management. *University of Colorado Law Review* 65:293-333.

\_\_\_\_. 1996. Toward legitimizing ecosystem management on the public domain. *Ecological Applications* 6(3):727-730.

- Kellogg, R.M. 1982. Coming to grips with wood quality. *Forestry Chronicle* 58:254-257.
- Kempton, W., J.S. Boster, and J.A. Hartley. 1995. *Environmental Values in American Culture*. MIT Press, Cambridge, MA. 320pp.
- Kennedy, R.W. 1995. Coniferous wood quality in the future: Concerns and strategies. *Wood Science and Technology* 29:321-338.
- Kimmins, J.P. 1993. Ecology, environmentalism and green religion. *The Forestry Chronicle* 69:285-289.
- \_\_\_\_\_. 1995. Sustainable development in Canadian forestry in the face of changing paradigms. *The Forestry Chronicle* 71(1):33-40.
- Knowles, P., and C. Knowles. 1994. Wildlife overview: Poor excuses for poor management. In, *Rocky Mountain Challenge: Fulfilling a New Mission in the U.S. Forest Service*, Association of Forest Service Employees for Environmental Ethics, Eugene, OR. Pp. 69-82.
- Kolb, T.E., M.R. Wagner, and W.W. Covington. 1994. Concepts of forest health: Utilitarian and ecosystems perspectives. *Journal of Forestry* 92(7):10-15.
- \_\_\_\_\_, and \_\_\_\_\_. 1995. Forest health from different perspectives. Pages 5-13 in *Forest Health Through Silviculture: Proceedings of the 1995 National Silviculture Workshop, Mescalero, New Mexico, May 8-11,1995,* USDA Forest Service RM-GTR-267, Ft. Collins, CO.
- Krech, S. 1999. *The Ecological Indian: Myth and History*. New York: Norton.
- Landres, P.B., J. Verner, and J.W. Thomas. 1988. Ecological uses of vertebrate indicator species: A critique. *Conservation Biology* 2:316-328.
- Larsen, G.L. 1994. Forests at UNCED: An emerging global consensus toward sustainability. In, *Ex*panding Horizons of Forest Ecosystem Management: Proceedings of the Third Habitat Futures Workshop, M.H. Huff, L.K. Norris, J.B. Nyberg, and N.L. Wilkin, coords. USDA Forest Service PNW-GTR-336, Portland, OR. Pp. 1-16.

- \_\_\_\_, A. Holden, D. Kapaldo, J. Leasure, J. Mason, H. Salwasser, S. Yonts-Shepard, and W.E. Shands 1990. *Synthesis of the Critique of Land Management Planning. Volume 1. Critique of Land Management Planning.* USDA Forest Service FS-452, Policy Analysis Staff, Washington, DC. 24pp.
- Lee, D.C., J.R. Sedell, B.E. Rieman, R.F. Thurow, J.E. Williams, D. Burns, J. Clayton, L. Decker, R. Gresswell, R. House, P. Howell, K. M. Lee, K. MacDonald, J. McIntyre, S. McKinney, T. Noel, J.E. O'Connor, C.K. Overton, D. Perkinson, K. Tu, and P. Van Eimeren. 1997. Broadscale assessment of aquatic species and habitats. In, *An Assessment of Ecosystem Components in the Interior Columbia Basin*, T.M. Quigley and S.J. Arbelbide, tech. eds. USDA Forest Service PNW-GTR-405, Portland, OR. Pp. 1057-1496.
- Lee, K.N. 1993. Greed, scale mismatch, and learning. *Ecological Applications* 3(4):560-564.
- Lee, R.G. 1982. The classical sustained yield concept: Content and philosophical origins. In, *Sustained Yield*, D.C. Lemaster, D.M.
  Baumgartner, and D. Adams, eds. Proceedings of a symposium held, April 27 and 28, 1982, Spokane, WA. Pp. 1-10
  - \_\_\_\_. 1990. Sustained yield and social order. In, *Community & Forestry: Continuities in the Sociology on Natural Resources,* R.G. Lee, D.R. Field, and W.R. Burch, Jr., eds. Westview Press, Boulder, CO. Pp. 83-94.
  - \_\_\_\_. 1992. Ecologically effective social organization as a requirement for sustaining watershed ecosystems. In, *Watershed Management: Balancing Sustainability and Environmental Change*, R.J. Naiman, ed. Springer-Verlag, New York. Pp. 73-90.
- Leege, T.A. 1984. *Guidelines for Evaluating and Managing Summer Elk Habitat in Northern Idaho*. Wildlife Bulletin No. 11, Idaho Department of Fish and Game, Boise.
- Lélé, S.M. 1991. Sustainable development: A critical review. *World Development* 19(June):607-621.
  - \_\_\_\_\_ and R.B. Norgaard. 1996. Sustainability and the scientist's burden. *Conservation Biology* 10(2):354-365.
- Leopold, A. 1928. The home builder conserves. *American Forests and Forest Life* 34(May). \_\_\_\_\_. 1949. *A Sand County Almanac, and Sketches* 
  - *Here and There*. Oxford University Press, New York, NY. 226pp.

- Leopold, L.B. 1994. *A View of the River*. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA. 298pp.
- Leslie, A.J. 1994. Sustainable management of tropical moist forest for wood. In, *Readings in Sustainable Forest Management*, FAO Forestry Paper 122, Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations. Pp. 17-32.
- Levin, S.A. 1995. Scale and sustainability: A population and community perspective. In, *Defining* and Measuring Sustainability: The Biogeophysical Foundations, M. Munsinghe and W. Shearer, eds. The World Bank, Washington, DC. Pp. 103-114.
- Lilieholm, R.J., W.B. Kessler, and K. Merrill. 1993. Stand density index applied to timber and goshawk habitat objectives in Douglas-fir. *Environmental Management* 17:773-779.
- Loomis, J.B. 2000. Counting on recreation data: A call for long-term monitoring. *Journal of Leisure Research* 32:93-95.
- \_\_\_\_\_, and R.G. Walsh. 1997. *Recreation Economic Decisions: Comparing Benefits and Costs, Second Edition.* Venture Publishing, Inc., State College, PA. 462pp.
- \_\_\_\_\_, D.M. Donnelly, C.F. Sorg, and L. Oldenburg. 1985. *Net Economic Value of Hunting Unique Species in Idaho: Bighorn Sheep, Mountain Goat, Moose and Antelope*. USDA Forest Service RM-RB-10, Ft. Collins, CO. 16pp.
- Ludwig, D. 1993. Environmental sustainability: Magic, science, and religion in natural resource management. *Ecological Applications* 3(4):555-558.
- Lynch, J.A., and E.S. Corbett. 1990. Evaluation of best management practices for controlling nonpoint source pollution from silvicultural operations. *Water Resources Bulletin* 26:41-52.
- Lyon, L.J., and A.L. Ward. 1982. Elk and land management. In, *Elk of North America: Ecology* and Management, J.W.Thomas and D.E. Toweill, comps. & eds. Stackpole Books, Harrisburg, PA. Pp. 443-477.
- MacCracken, J.G. 1996. Forest health in the inland northwest: Maintaining the focus. *Wildife Society Bulletin* 24:325-329.
- \_\_\_\_\_, J. O'Laughlin, and T. Merrill. 1993. *Idaho Roadless Areas and Wilderness Proposals*. Report No. 10, Idaho Forest, Wildlife and Range Policy Analysis Group, Univ. of Idaho, Moscow. 57pp.

\_\_\_\_, D. Goble, and J. O'Laughlin. 1994. *Grizzly Bear Recovery in Idaho*. Report No. 12, Idaho Forest, Wildlife, and Range Policy Analysis Group, Univ. of Idaho, Moscow. 110pp.

- Maeglin, R.R. 1987. Processing and products considerations critical in utilizing second-growth ponderosa pine. In, *Ponderosa Pine the Species and Its Management*, D.M. Baumgartner and J.E. Lotan, comps. & eds. Symposium Proceedings, September 29-October 1, Spokane, WA . Pp. 19-24.
- MaGee, J.P., and T.E. McMahon. 1996. Spatial variation in spawning habitat of cutthroat trout in a sediment-rich stream basin. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* 125:768-779.
- Mandzak, J.M., and J.A. Moore. 1994. The role of nutrition in the health of Inland Western forests. In, *Assessing Forest Ecosystem Health in the Inland West*, R.N. Sampson and D.L. Adams, eds., Haworth Press, Binghamtom, NY. Pp. 191-210.
- Mangel, M., R.J. Hofman, E.A. Norse, and J.R. Twiss, Jr. 1993. Sustainability and ecological research. *Ecological Applications* 3(4):573-575.
- Manning, R., W. Valliere, and B. Minteer. 1999. Values, ethics and attitudes toward national forest management: An empirical study. *Society and Natural Resources* 12:21-436.
- Marcot, B.G., M.J. Wisdom, H.W. Li, and G.C. Castillo. 1994. *Managing for Featured, Threatened, Endangered, and Sensitive Species and Unique Habitats for Ecosystem Sustainability.* USDA Forest Service PNW-GTR-329, Portland, OR. 39pp.
- Marshall, J.D. 1995. Sustainability: A forest biologist's view. Paper presented at the "Sustainable Forestry Practices and Production Silviculture" session at the Society of American Forester's National Convention, Portland, ME, October 28-November 1. 5pp.
- Maser, C. 1994. Sustainable Forestry: Philosophy, Science, and Economics. St. Lucie Press, Delray Beach, FL. 373pp.
  - \_\_\_\_, R.F. Tarrant, J.M. Trappe, and J.F. Franklin, tech. eds. 1988. *From the Forest to the Sea: A Story of Fallen Trees*. USDA Forest Servuce PNW-GTR-229, Portland, OR.

- Mason, R.R. 1993. The role of pest interactions in forest health and productivity. Paper presented at the Forest Health and Productivity Technical Session, Society of American Foresters National Convention, Indianapolis, Indiana, November 7-10.
- Matthews, J. 1991. Forestry word games: Sustain. *Journal of Forestry* 89(5): 29-30.
- Maxwell, J.A., and A. Randall. 1989. Ecological economic modeling in a pluralistic, participatory society. *Ecological Economics* 1(3):233-249.
- McBeth, M.K., and R.H. Foster. 1994. Rural environmental attitudes. *Environmental Management* 18(3):401-411.
- McClelland, D.E., R.B. Foltz, W.D. Wilson, T.W. Cundy, R. Hienemann, J.A. Saurbier, R.L. Schuster. 1997. Assessment of the 1995 & 1996 Floods and Landslides on the Clearwater National Forest–Part I: Landslide Assessment. USDA Forest Service, Northern Region, Missoula, MT. 52pp.
- McCool, S.F., J.A. Burchfield, and S.D. Allen.1997.
  Social assessment. In, *An Assessment of Ecosystem Components in the Interior Columbia Basin*, T.M. Quigley and S.J. Arbelbide, tech. eds. USDA Forest Service PNW-GTR-405, Portland, OR. Pp. 1871-2009.
- McDonald, G.I. 1991. Connecting forest productivity to behavior of soil-borne diseases. In, *Proceedings-Management and Productivity of Western-Montane Forest Soils,* A.E. Harvey and L.F. Neuenschwander, comps. USDA Forest Service INT-GTR-280. Pp. 129-144.
- McNab, W.H., and P.E. Avers, compilers. 1994. Ecological Subregions of the United States: Section Descriptions. USDA Forest Service WO-WSA-5, Washington, DC.
- McNabb, D.H., F. Gaweda, and H.A. Froehlich. 1989. Infiltration, water repellency, and soil moisture content after broadcast burning a forest site in southwest Oregon. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation* 44:87-90.
- Meehan, W.R. 1991. Influences of Forest and Rangeland Management on Salmonid Fishes and Their Habitats. Special Publication 19, American Fisheries Society, Bethesa, MD. 751pp.

- Megahan, W.F. 1991. Erosion and site productivity in western-montane forest ecosystems. In, *Proceedings—Management and Productivity of Western-Montane Forest Soils*, USDA Forest Service GTR-INT-280, Ogden, UT. Pp. 146-150.
  - \_\_\_\_, and G.L. Ketcheson. 1996. Predicting downslope travel of granitic sediments from forest roads in Idaho. *Water Resources Bulletin* 32:371-382.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, S.B. Monsen, M.D. Wilson, N. Lozano, D.F. Haber, and G.D. Booth. 1992. Erosion control practices applied to granitic road fills for forest roads in Idaho: Cost effectiveness evaluation. *Land Degradation and Rehabilitation* 3:55-65.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, J.G. King, and K.A. Seyedbafheri. 1995. Hydrologic and erosional responses of a granitic watershed to helicopter logging and broadcast burning. *Forest Science* 41:777-795.
- Merchant, C. 1992. Environmental Ethics and Political Conflict. In, *Radical Ecology: The Search for a Livable World*. Routledge, New York, NY. Pp.61-81.
- Meyer, J.L. and G.S. Helfman. 1993. The ecological basis of sustainability. *Ecological Applications* 3(4):569-571.
- Milbrath, L.W. 1996. Becoming sustainable: Changing the way we think. In, *Building Sustainable Societies: A Blueprint for a Post-Industrial World*, D.C. Pirages, ed. M.E. Sharpe, Armonk, NY. Pp. 275-297.
- Mitchell, M.Y., J.E. Force, M.S. Carroll, and W.J. McLaughlin. 1993. Forest places of the heart: Incorporating special spaces into public management. *Journal of Forestry* 91(4):32-37.
- Moncrief, G.F. 1994. *Idaho Policy Survey*, #5. Survey Research Center, College of Social Sciences and Public Affairs, Boise State University, Idaho.
- Montgomery, D.R., G.E. Grant, and K. Sullivan. 1995. Watershed analysis as a framework for implementing ecosystem management. *Water Resources Bulletin* 31(3):369-386.
- Moore, K.R., and C.J. Henny. 1983. Nest site characterisitcs of three coexisting accipiter hawks in northeastern Oregon. *Raptor Research* 17(3):65-76.
- Moote, M.A., S. Burke, H.J. Cortner, M.G. Wallace. 1994. *Principles of Ecosystem Management*. Water Resources Research Center, University of Arizona, Tucson.

- More, T.A. 1996. Forestry's fuzzy concepts: An examination of ecosystem management. *Journal of Forestry* 94(8):19-23.
- Morelan, L.Z., S.P. Mealey, and F.O. Carroll. 1994. Ecosystem management in practice: Forest health on the Boise National Forest. *Journal of Forestry* 92(8): 22-24.
- Morgan, P., G.H. Aplet, J.B. Haufler, H.C. Humphries, M.M. Moore, and W.D. Wilson. 1994. Historical range of variability: A useful tool for evaluating ecosystem change. *Journal of Sustainable Forestry* 2(1/2):87-111.
- Mosley, J.C., P.S. Cook, A.J. Griffis, and J.
  O'Laughlin. 1997. Guidelines for Managing Cattle Grazing in Riparian Areas to Protect Water Quality: Review of Research and Best Management Practices Policy. Report No. 15., Idaho Forest, Wildlife and Range Policy Analysis Group, University of Idaho, Moscow. 67pp.
- Munasinghe, M., and J. McNeely. 1995. Key concepts and terminology of sustainable development. In, *Defining and Measuring Sustainability: The Biogeophysical Foundations*, M. Munsinghe and W. Shearer, eds. The World Bank, Washington, DC. Pp. 19-46.
- \_\_\_\_\_. and W. Shearer. 1995. An introduction to the definition and measurement of biogeophysical sustainability. In, *Defining and Measuring Sustainability: The Biogeophysical Foundations*, M. Munsinghe and W. Shearer, eds. The World Bank, Washington, DC. Pp. xv-xxxiii.
- Munro, D.A. 1995. Sustainability: Rhetoric or reality. In, A Sustainable World: Defining and Measuring Sustainable Development, T.C. Trzyna, ed. International Center for the Environment and Public Policy, Sacramento, CA. Pp. 27-35.
- National Commission on the Environment. 1993. Choosing a Sustainable Future: Report of the National Commission on the Environment. Island Press, Washington, DC. 180pp.
- Naumann, J.R. 1987. Uneven-aged management: Practice, issue, or cause. In, *Ponderosa Pine: The Species and Its Management*, D.M. Baumgartner, and J.E. Lotan, comps. & eds. Symposium Proceedings, Sept. 29-Oct. 1, Spokane, WA. Pp. 243-245.
- Nie, M.A. 1999. Environmental opinion in the American West. *Society and Natural Resources* 12:163-170.

- Norris, L.A., H. Cortner, M.R. Cutler, S.G. Haines, J.E. Hubbard, M.A. Kerrick, W.B. Kessler, J.C. Nelson, R. Stone, and J.M. Sweeney. 1993. Sustaining Long-term Forest Health and Productivity. Task Force Report 93-01, Society of American Foresters, Bethesda, MD.
- Norton, B.G. 1991. *Toward Unity among Environmentalists*. Oxford University Press, New York. 287pp.
  - . 1996. Sustainability across generations: Economics or ethics. In, *Sustainability Issues for Resource Managers*, D.L. Bottom, G.H. Reeves, M.H. Brookes, tech eds. USDA Forest Service PNW-GTR-370, Portland, OR. Pp. 5-12.
- Noss, R.F. 1993. Sustainable forestry or sustainable forests? In, *Defining Sustainable Forestry*, G.H. Aplet, N. Johnson, J.T. Olson, and V.A. Sample, eds. Island Press, Covelo, CA. Pp. 17-43.
- Novotny, V., and H. Olem. 1994. *Water Quality: Prevention, Identification, and Management of Diffuse Pollution.* Van Nostrand Reinhold, New York, NY. 1054pp.
- O'Connell, M.A., J.G. Hallett, and S.D. West. 1993. *Wildlife Use of Riparian Habitats: A Literature Review.* Report No. TFW-WL1-93-001, Timber Fish and Wildlife Program, Washington Department of Ecology, Olympia. 162pp.
- O'Connor, J.C. 1995. Toward environmentally sustainable development: Measuring progress. In, A Sustainable World: Defining and Measuring Sustainable Development, T.C. Trzyna, ed. International Center for the Environment and Public Policy, Sacramento, CA. Pp. 87-114.
- Office of Technology Assessment, U.S. Congress. 1992. Forest Service Planning: Accommodating Use, Producing Outputs, and Sustaining Ecosystems. OTA-F-505, Washington, DC. 206pp.
- O'Laughlin, J. 1990. *Idaho's Endowment Lands: A Matter of Sacred Trust.* Report No. 1, Idaho Forest, Wildlife and Range Policy Analysis Group, University of Idaho, Moscow. 18pp.
  - \_\_\_\_. 1993. Determining National Forest Timber Harvest Levels in the Inland Northwest: Past, Present, and Future. Contribution No. 705, Idaho Forest, Wildlife and Range Experiment Station, University of Idaho, Moscow. 5pp.
  - \_\_\_\_. 1994. A definition of forest health. *Journal* of Forestry 92(7):13.

- \_\_\_\_\_. 1996*a*. Forest ecosystem health assessment: Definition, measurement and management implications. *Ecosystem Health* 2(1):19-39.
- \_\_\_\_\_. 1996b. Idaho Water Quality Policy for Nonpoint Source Pollution: A Manual for Decision-makers. Report No. 14, Idaho Forest, Wildlife, and Range Policy Analysis Group, Univ. of Idaho, Moscow. 117pp.
- and P.S. Cook. 1995. Endangered Species Act at the Crossroads: New Directions from Idaho Case Studies. Report No. 13, Idaho Forest, Wildlife, and Range Policy Analysis Group, University of Idaho, Moscow. 307pp.
- \_\_\_\_\_, and P.V. Ellefson. 1982. Strategies for corporate timberland ownership and management. *Journal of Forestry* 80(12):784-788, 791.
- \_\_\_\_\_, J.G. MacCracken, D.L. Adams, S.C. Bunting, K.A. Blatner, and C.E. Keegan, III. 1993. *Forest Health Conditions in Idaho*. Report No. 11, Idaho Forest, Wildlife, and Range Policy Analysis Group, Univ. of Idaho, Moscow. 244pp.
- , W.R. Hundrup, and P.S. Cook. 1998. *History* and Analysis of Federally Administered Lands in Idaho. Report No. 16., Idaho Forest, Wildlife, and Range Policy Analysis Group, University of Idaho, Moscow. 125pp.
- Oliver, C.D., L.L. Iwin, and W.H. Knapp. 1994. Eastside Forest Management Practices: Historical Overview, Extent of Their Applications, and Their Effects on Sustainability of Ecosystems. USDA Forest Service PNW-GTR-324, Portland, OR. 73pp.
- \_\_\_\_\_, D. Adams, T. Bonnicksen, J. Bowyer, F. Cubbage, N. Sampson, S. Schlarbaum, R. Whaley, and H. Wiant. 1997. *Report on Forest Health of the United States by the Forest Health Science Panel*. United States Congress, Washington, DC. Availabale [Online]: <http:// www.house.gov/ resources/ 105cong/fullcomm/ apr09.97/taylor.rpt/ taylor.htm> [March 18, 1999].
- Omernik, J.M., and R.G. Bailey. 1997. Distinguishing between watershed and ecoregions. *Journal* of the American Water Resources Association 33(5):935-949.
- O'Neil, T.A., and G.W. Witmer. 1991. Assessing cumulative impacts to elk and mule deer in the Salmon River Basin, Idaho. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 29:225-238.
- O'Neill, R.V. 1996. Perspectives on economics and ecology. *Ecological Applications* 6(4):1031-1033.

- \_\_\_\_, C.T. Hunsaker, D. Jones, J.M. Klopatek, V.H. Dale, M.G. Turner, R.H. Gardner, and R. Graham. 1995. Sustainability at landscape and regional scales. In, *Defining and Measuring Sustainability: The Biogeophysical Foundations,* M. Munsinghe and W. Shearer, eds. The World Bank, Washington, DC. Pp. 137-143.
- Oregon Department of Forestry. 2000. *First Approximation Report*. Available [Online]: <a href="http://www.odf.state.or.us/FAR>">http://www.odf.state.or.us/FAR></a> [7 December 2000].
- Ostry, M.E., and T.H. Nicholls. 1998. The forest beyond the trees: Benficual role of disease in forest health. Pages 167-172 in *Proceedings Society of American Foresters National Convention, 1997*, Society of American Foresters, Bethesda, MD.
- Paehlke, R.C. 1994. Environmental values and public policy. In, *Environmental Policy in the* 1990s, 2nd edition, N.J. Vig and M.E. Kraft, eds. Congressional Quarterly Inc., Washington, DC. Pp.349-368.
  - . 2000. Environmental values and public policy. In, *Environmental Policy: New Directions for the 21<sup>st</sup> Century*, 4th edition, N.J. Vig and M.E. Kraft, eds. Congressional Quarterly Inc., Washington, DC. Pp. 77-97.
- Page, T. 1997. On the problems of achieving efficiency and equity, intergenerationally. *Land Economics* 73:580-596.
- Page-Dumroese, D.S. 1993. Susceptibility of Volcanic Ash-Influenced Soil in Northern Idaho to Mechanical Compaction. USDA Forest Service INT-RN-409, Ogden, UT. 5pp.
  - A. Harvey, M. Jergensen, and R. Graham.
     1991. Organic matter function in the westernmontane forest soil system. In, *Proceedings*— *Management and Productivity of Western-Montane Forest Soils*, USDA Forest Service GTR-INT-280, Ogden, UT. Pp. 95-100.
- Parker, J., D. Zuefle, and M. McDonough. 2000. Environmental ethics, religion and forestry in the southern United States. In, *Proceedings*, 1999 Society of American Foresters Convention. Portland, OR.
- Parry, B.T., H.J. Vaux, and N. Dennis. 1983. Changing conceptions of sustained-yield policy on the national forests. *Journal of Forestry* 81:150-154.

- Patla, S., K.K. Bates, M. Bechard, E. Craig, M. Fuller, R. Howard, S. Jeffries, S. Robinson, R. Rodriguez, and B. Wall. 1995. *Habitat Conser*vation Assessment and Strategy for the Northern Goshawk for the State of Idaho. Draft. On file. 35pp.
- Patton, D.R. 1992. *Wildlife Habitat Relationships in Forested Ecosystems*. Timber Press, Portland, OR. 392pp.
- Pearce, D. 1988. Economics, equity, and sustainable development. *Futures* 20:598-605.
- Peck, J. 2000. Seeing the forest through the eyes of a hawk: An evaluation of recent efforts to protect northern goshawks populations in southwestern forests. *Natural Resources Journal* 40:125-156.
- Pedersen, R.J. 1985. *Elk Use of and Unlogged and Logged Forest Environment*. Ph.D. dissertation, University of Idaho, Moscow. 142pp.
- Peters, R.L., E. Frost, and F. Pace. 1996. *Managing* for Forest Ecosystem Health: A Reassessment of the "Forest Health Crisis." Defenders of Wildlife, Washington, DC. Available [Online]: <http://www.defenders.org/bio-fh00.html> [01 November 2000].
- Pfister, R.D. 1993. The need and potential for ecosystem management in forests of the Inland West. In, *Defining Sustainable Forestry*, G.H. Aplet, N. Johnson, J.T. Olson, and V.A. Sample, eds. Island Press, Covelo, CA. Pp. 217-239.
- Pitelka, L.F., and F.A. Pitelka. 1993. Environmental decision making: Multidimensional dilemmas. *Ecological Applications* 3(4):566-568.
- Plum Creek Timber Company. 2000. Final Plum Creek Timber Company Native Fish Habitat Conservation Plan. Available [Online]: http:// www.plumcreek.com/environment/hcplinks.html> [17 November 2000].
- Powell, D.S., J.L. Faulkner, D.R. Darr, Z. Zhu, and D.W. MacCleery. 1993. Forest Resources of the United States, 1992. USDA Forest Service RM-GTR-234, Ft. Collins, CO. 132pp.
- Power, T.M. 1996. Lost Landscapes and Failed Economies: The Search for A Value of Place. Island Press, Covelo, CA. 304pp.
- Powers, R.F. 1991. Are we maintaining the productivity of forest lands? Establishing guidelines through a network of long-term studies. In, *Proceedings—Management and Productivity of Western-Montane Forest Soils*, USDA Forest Service GTR-INT-280, Ogden, UT. Pp. 70-81.

- Pritchett, W.L., and R.F. Fisher. 1987. *Properties* and Management of Forest Soils, Second Edition. John Wiley and Sons, New York, NY. 494pp.
- Quigley, T.M., and H.B. Cole. 1997. *Highlighted* Scientific Findings of the Interior Columbia Basin Ecosystem Management Project. USDA Forest Service PNW-GTR-404, Portland, OR. 34 pp.
  - \_\_\_\_, R.W. Haynes, and R.T. Graham, tech. eds. 1996. Integrated Scientific Assessment for Ecosystem Management in the Interior Columbia Basin and Portions of the Klamath and Great Basins. USDA Forest Service PNW-GTR-382, Portland, OR. 303pp.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, K.M. Lee, and S.J. Arbelbide, tech. eds.
     1997. Evaluation of the EIS Alternatives by the Science Integration Team Volume II. USDA Forest Service PNW-GTR-406, Portland, OR. Pp. 539-1094.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_, W.J. Hann, D.C. Lee, R.S. Holthausen, and R.A. Gravenmeir. 1998. ICBEMP: Using an ecosregion assessment for integrated policy analysis. *Journal of Forestry* 96(10):33-38.
- Randall, A., J.P. Hoehn, and C.S. Swanson. 1990. Estimating the Recreational, Visual, Habitat, and Quality of life benefits of Tongass National Forest. USDA Forest Service RM-GTR-192, Ft. Collins, CO. 14pp.
- Raymond, G.A. 1993. *Idaho Policy Survey # 4*. Survey Research Center, College of Social Sciences and Public Affairs, Boise State Univ., Idaho.
- Rees, W.E. 1995. Achieving sustainability: Reform or transformation? *Journal of Planning Literature* 9(4):343-361.
- Regier, H.A., S.A. Bocking, and H.F. Henderson. 1995. Sustainability of temperate zone fisheries: Biophysical foundations for its definition and measurement. In, *Defining and Measuring Sustainability: The Biogeophysical Foundations*, M. Munsinghe and W. Shearer, eds. The World Bank, Washington, DC. Pp. 335-354.
- Regional Interagency Executive Committee (RIEC). 1995. *Ecosystem Analysis at the Watershed Scale: Federal Guide for Watershed Analysis. Version 2.2.* Regional Ecosystem Office, Portland, OR. 26pp.
- Reid, D. 1995. *Sustainable Development: An Introductory Guide*. Earthscan Publications Ltd., London. 261pp.

- Reid, L.M. 1993. *Research and Cumulative Watershed Effects*. USDA Forest Service PSW-GTR-141, Albany, CA. 118pp.
- \_\_\_\_\_. 1998. Cumulative watershed effects and watershed analysis. In, *River Ecology and Management*, R.J. Naiman and R.E. Bilby, eds. Springer-Verlag, New York, NY. Pp. 476-501.
- and T. Dunne. 1984. Sediment production from forest road surfaces. *Water Resources Research* 20:1753-1761.
- Reynolds, R.T. 1983. Management of Western Coniferous Forest Habitat for Nesting Accipiter Hawks. USDA Forest Servce RM-GTR-102, Ft. Collins, CO. 7pp.
- \_\_\_\_\_, E.C. Meslow, and H.M. Wight. 1982. Nesting habitat of coexisting *accipiter* in Oregon. *Journal of Wildlife Management* 46(1):124-138.
- \_\_\_\_\_, R.T. Graham, M.H. Reiser, R.L. Bassett, P.L. Kennedy, D.A. Boyce, Jr., G. Goodwin, R. Smith, and E.L. Fisher. 1992. *Management Recommendations for the Northern Goshawk in the Southwestern United States*. USDA Forest Service GTR-RM-217, Ft. Collins, CO
- Ribe, R.G. 1989. The aesthetics of forestry: What has empirical preference research taught us? *Environmental Management* 13:55-74.
- Rice, R.M. 1992. The science and politics of BMPs in forestry: California experiences. In, *Watershed Management: Balancing Sustainability and Environmental Change*, R.J. Naiman, ed. Springer-Verlag, New York. Pp. 385-400.
- \_\_\_\_\_, J.S. Rothacher, and W.F. Megahan. 1972. Erosional consequences of timber harvesting: An appraisal. In, *Watersheds in Transition*, S.C. Csallany, T.G. McLaughlin, and W.D. Striffler, eds. American Water Resources Assoc., Urbana, IL. Pp. 321-329.
- Riitters, K.H., B. Law, R. Kucera, A. Gallant, R. DeVelice, and C. Palmer. 1990. Indicator strategy for forests. In, *Ecological indicators for the Environmental Monitoring and Assessment Program*. EPA 600/3-90/060, Research Triangle Park, NC: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Research and Development. Pp. 6-1 to 6-13.
- Rivlin, A.M. 1993. Values, institutions, and sustainable forestry. In, *Defining Sustainable Forestry*, G.H. Aplet, N. Johnson, J.T. Olson, and V.A. Sample, eds. Island Press, Covelo, CA. Pp. 255-259.

- Robinson, J.G. 1993. The limits to caring: Sustainable living and the loss of biodiversity. *Conservation Biology* 7(1):20-28.
- Robison, H., N.L. Meyer, R. Coupal, and C.C. Harris. 1991. *The Role of Natural Resource-based Industries in Idaho's Economy*. Bulletin 731, Cooperative Extension Service, Univ. of Idaho, 4pp.
- Rodgers, W.H., Jr. 1994. The seven statutory wonders of U.S. environmental law. *Loyola of Los Angeles Law Review* 27:1009-1021.
- Roesler, R. 1995. Tribe sees future in forests. *Spokesman-Review* May 21, p. A1, A9.
- Rogers, K. 1996. The public, the forest, and the U.S. Forest Service: Understanding attitudes towards ecosystem management. In, *Defining Social Acceptability in Ecosystem Management: A Workshop Proceedings*, Brunson, M.W., L.E. Kruger, C.B. Tyler, and S.A. Schroeder, tech. eds. USDA Forest Service PNW-GTR-369, Portland, OR. Pp. 65-76.
- Rolston, H., III, and J. Coufal. 1991. A forest ethic and multivalue forest management. *Journal of Forestry* 89(4):35-37.
- Romm, J. 1993. Sustainable forestry, an adaptive social process. In, *Defining Sustainable Forestry*, G.H. Aplet, N. Johnson, J.T. Olson, and V.A. Sample, eds. Island Press, Covelo, CA. Pp. 280-293.
- Rosenberger, R.S. 1998. Assessing Forest Scenic Beauty Impacts of Insects and Management.
  USDA Forest Service, Forest Health Technology Enterprise Team, FHTET 98-08, Ft. Collins, CO. 39pp.
- Rosgen, D. 1996. *Applied River Morphology*. Wildland Hydrology, Pagosa Springs, CO.
- Rudzitis, G., C. Watrous, and H. Johansen. 1995. Public views on public lands: A survey of interior Columbia River Basin residents. *The Migration, Regional Development, and Changing American West Project*, Dept. of Geography, Univ. of Idaho, Moscow. 16pp.
- Salo, E.O., and T.W. Cundy, eds. 1987. Streamside Management: Forestry and Fishery Interactions. Contribution No. 57, College of Forest Resources, Univ. of Washington, Seattle. 471pp.
- Salwasser, H. 1993. Sustainability needs more than better science. *Ecological Applications* 3(4): 587-589.

- \_\_\_\_\_, D.W. MacCleery, and T.A. Snellgrove. 1993. An ecosystem perspective on sustainable forestry and new directions for the U.S. National Forest System. In, *Defining Sustainable Forestry*, G.H. Aplet, N. Johnson, J.T. Olson, and V.A. Sample, eds. Island Press, Covelo, CA. Pp. 44-89.
- Sample, V.A. 1990. *The Impact of the Federal Budget Process on National Forest Planning.* Greenwood Pres, New York. 250pp.
- \_\_\_\_\_. 1993. Introduction. In, *Defining Sustainable Forestry*, G.H. Aplet, N. Johnson, J.T. Olson, and V.A. Sample, eds. Island Press, Covelo, CA. Pp. 247-253.
- Sampson, R.N. 1996. Forest Health Issues in the United States. American Forests, Washington, DC.
- \_\_\_\_\_, D.L. Adams, S.S, Hamilton, S.P. Mealey, R. Steele, and D. Van De Graaff. 1994. Assessing forest ecosystem health in the Inland West. *Journal of Sustainable Forestry* 2:3-10. Also in, *Assessing Forest Ecosystem Health in the Inland West*, R.N. Sampson and D.L. Adams, eds. Haworth Press, Binghamton, NY. Pp. 3-10.
- Savage, M. 1995. Pacific Northwest special forest products. *Journal of Forestry* 93(1):6-11.
- Schallau, C.H. 1989. Sustained yield versus community stability. *Journal of Forestry* 87(9):16-23.
- \_\_\_\_\_, and R.M. Alston. 1987. The commitment to community stability: A policy or shibboleth? *Environmental Law* 17:429-481.
- \_\_\_\_\_, and A. Goetzl. 1992. Effects of constraining timber supplies. *Journal of Forestry* 90(7):22-27.
- \_\_\_\_\_, W. McKillop, and W.R. Maki. 1998. Some flaws in the draft 1995 RPA program. *Forest Products Journal* 48(11/12):43-47.
- Schlosser, W.E., and K.A. Blatner. 1995. The wild edible mushroom industry of Washington, Oregon, and Idaho. *Journal of Forestry* 93(1):31-36.
  - and \_\_\_\_\_. 1997. Special Forest Products: An East-side Perspective. USDA Forest Service PNW-GTR-380, Portland, OR. 27pp.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, E.G. Schuster, and M.S. Carroll. 1995. Potential for expansion of the special forest products industry in the northern Rockies. *Western Journal of Applied Forestry* 10(4):138-143.
Schnepf, C. (ed.) 1994. Dancing with an Elephant. Proceedings: The Business and Science of Special Forest Products, A Conference and Exposition. Western Forestry and Conservation Association, Portland, OR. 213pp.

\_\_\_\_. 1992. *Special Forest Products*. CIS 952, Cooperative Extension Service, Univ. of Idaho, Moscow. 3pp.

Schowalter, T.D. 1994. An ecosystem-centered view of insect and disease effects on forest health. In, Sustainable Ecological Systems: Implementing an Ecological Approach to Land Management, W.W. Covington and L.F. DeBano., tech. coords.USDA Forest Service RM-GTR-247, Fort Collins, CO. Pp. 189-195.

Schroeder, H., and T.C. Daniel. 1981. Progress in predicting the perceived scenic beauty of forest landscapes. *Forest Science* 27:71-80.

\_\_\_\_, P.H. Gobster, and R. Frid. 1993. Visual Quality of Human-made Clearings in Central Michigan Conifers. USDA Forest Service NC-RP-313, St. Paul, MN. 9pp.

Scudder, D.F., and M.J. Willmorth. 1995. *Idaho Public Policy Survey. Number Six.* Survey Research Center, College of Social Sciences and Public Affairs, Boise State Univ., Idaho.

\_\_\_\_\_, J.P. Crank, and J.B. Weatherby. 1998. *Idaho Public Policy Survey. Number Nine.* Survey Research Center, College of Social Sciences and Public Affairs, Boise State Univ., Idaho.

Sedjo, R.A., A. Goetzl, and S.O. Moffat. 1998. Sustainability of Temperate Forests., Resources for the Future, Washington, DC.

\_\_\_\_\_, and D. Botkin. 1997. Using plantations to spare natural forests. *Environment* (December) 39(10):14-30.

Senft, J.F., B.A. Bendsten, and W.L. Galligan. 1985. Weak wood: Fast-grown trees make problem lumber. *Journal of Forestry* 83:476-484.

Servheen, G., compiler. 1997. Interagency Guidelines for Evaluating and Managing Elk Habitats and Populations in Central Idaho.Wildlife Bulletin No. 11, updated 1997. Idaho Department of Fish and Game, Boise, and U.S. Forest Service.

Seyedbagheri, K.A. 1996. Idaho Forest Best Management Practices: Compilation of Research on Their Effectiveness. USDA Forest Service INT-GTR-339, Ogden, UT. 89pp.

- Sheng, F. 1995. National economic indicators and sustainable development. In, A Sustainable World: Defining and Measuring Sustainable Development, T.C. Trzyna, ed. International Center for the Environment and Public Policy, Sacramento, CA. Pp. 216-229.
- Shindler, B., P. List, and B.S. Steel. 1993. Managing federal forests: Public attitudes in Oregon and nationwide. *Journal of Forestry* 91:36-42.

Siders, M.S., and P.L. Kennedy. 1996. Forest structural characteristics of accipiter nesting habitat: Is there an allometric realtionship? *The Condor* 98:123-132.

Sidle, R.C., and J.W. Hornbeck. 1991. Cumulative effects: A broader approach to water quality research. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation* 46:268-271.

Skovlin, J.M. 1982. Habitat requirements and evaluations. In, *Elk of North America: Ecology and Management*, J.W.Thomas and D.E. Toweill, comps. & eds. Stackpole Books, Harrisburg, PA. Pp. 369-413.

Smith, C.L. 1996. Is sustainability attainable? In, Sustainability Issues for Resource Managers, D.L. Bottom, G.H. Reeves, and M.H. Brookes, tech. eds. USDA Forest Service PNW-GTR-370, Portland, OR. Pp. 13-20.

Smith, D., and L. Clark. 1994. Hot views on hot topics: National survey gauges public views on forests, wildfire, and management. *American Forests* 100(6):3.

Smith, W.B. 1999. The United States Forest Resource Current Situation. Draft 1987 RPA Assessment. USDA Forest Service. Available [Online]: <a href="http://www.srsfia.usfs.msstate.edu/wo/">http://www.srsfia.usfs.msstate.edu/wo/</a> review.htm [25 January 2000] (see also USFS 1999a).

Smith, W.H. 1990. The health of North American forests: Stress and risk assessment. *Journal of Forestry* 88(1):32-35.

Society of American Foresters, (SAF). 1993. Sustaining long-term forest health and productivity: Executive summary of the task force report. *Journal of Forestry* 91(July):32-34.

\_\_\_\_. 1995. Forest certification. *Journal of Forestry* 93(April):6-10.

\_\_\_\_\_. 1997. Forest Health and Productivity: A Perspective of the Forestry Profession. Society of American Foresters, Bethesda, MD. 21pp.

Sorg, C.F., and L.J. Nelson. 1986. *Net Economic Value of Elk Hunting in Idaho*. USDA Forest Service RM-RB-12, Ft. Collins, CO. 21pp. \_\_\_\_\_ and L.J. Nelson. 1987. *Net Economic Value* of Waterfowl Hunting in Idaho. USDA Forest Service RM-RB-14, Ft. Collins, CO. 18pp.

- \_\_\_\_\_, J. Loomis, D.M. Donnelly, G. Peterson, and L.J. Nelson. 1985. *Net Economic Value of Cold and Warm Water Fishing in Idaho*. USDA Forest Service RM-RB-11, Ft. Collins, CO. 26pp.
- Squires, J.R., and L.F. Ruggiero. 1996. Nest-site preference of northern goshawks in southcentral Wyoming. *Journal of Wildlife Management* 60:170-177.
- Standing Bear, L. 1933. Indian wisdom. In, *The Great New Wilderness Debate*, J.B. Callicott and M.P. Nelson, eds. 1998. University of Georgia, Athens. Pp. 201-206.
- Standford, J.A., and J.V. Ward. 1992. Management of aquatic resources in large catchments: Recognizing interactions between ecosystem connectivity and environmental disturbance. In, *Watershed Management: Balancing Sustainability and Environmental Change*, R.J. Naiman, ed. Springer-Verlag, New York, NY. Pp. 91-124.
- Stankey, G.H. 1996. Defining the social acceptability of forest management practices and conditions: Integrating science and social choice. In, *Defining Social Acceptability in Ecosystem Management: A Workshop Proceedings*, M.W. Brunson, L.E. Kruger, C.B. Tyler, and S.A. Schroeder, tech eds. USDA Forest Service PNW-GTR-369, Portland, OR. Pp. 99-111.
- Stanley, T.R., Jr., 1995. Ecosystem management and the arrogance of humanism. *Conservation Biology* 9:255-262.
- Steel, B.S., P. List, and B. Shindler. 1994. Conflicting values about federal forests: A comparison of national and Oregon publics. *Society and Natural Resources* 7:137-153.
- Steele, R., R.D. Pfister, R.A. Ryker, and J.A. Kittams. 1981. Forest Habitat Types of Central Idaho. USDA Forest Service INT-GTR-114, Ogden, UT. 138pp.
- Steen, H.K., ed. 1984. *History of Sustained Yield Forestry*. Society for the International Union of Forestry Researchers, Santa Cruz, CA.
- Swanson, C.S., and J.B. Loomis. 1996. Role of Nonmarket Economic Values in Benefit-Cost Analysis of Public Forest Management. USDA Forest Service PNW-GTR-361, Portland, OR. 32pp.

- Swanston, D.N. 1978. Effect of geology on soil mass movement activity in the Pacific Northwest. In, *Forest Soils and Land Use*, C.T. Youngberg, ed. Dept. of Forest and Wood Sciences, Colorado State University, Ft. Collins. Pp. 89-115.
- . 1991. Natural processes. In, *Influences of Forest and Rangeland Management on Salmonid Fishes and Their Habitats,* American Fisheries Society Special Publication 19:139-179.
- Temperate Forest Foundation. 1998. *Sustainable Forestry*. Available [Online]: <http:// www.forestinfo.org/sust.htm> [28 December 1998].
- Thomas, M.G., and D.R. Schumann. 1993. Income Opportunities in Special Forest Products: Selfhelp Suggestions for Rural Entrepreneurs. USDA Forest Service, Washington, DC. 206 pp.
- Toman, M.A. 1992. The difficulty in defining sustainability. *Resources* (Winter):3-6.
  - . 1994a. Goals and Policies for Promoting "Sustainability:" Some Thoughts on the President's Council on Sustainable Development. Discussion Paper 94-44, Resources for the Future, Washington, DC. 13pp.
- . 1994b. Economics and "sustainability": Balancing trade-offs and imperatives. *Land Economics* 70(4):399-413.
- \_\_\_\_\_, and P.M.S. Ashton. 1994. Sustainable Forest Ecosystems and Management: A Review Article. Discussion Paper 94-42-Rev., Resources for the Future, Washington, DC,. 33pp.
- Trent, J. 1995. Attitudes, Beliefs, and Values for Interior Columbia Basin Ecosystem Management Project. Bureau of Land Management, Montana State Office, Helena.
- Tuchmann, E.T., K.P. Connaughton, L.E. Freedman, and C.B. Moriwaki. 1996. *The Northwest Forest Plan: A Report to the President and Congress.* U.S. Department of Agriculture, Office of Forestry and Economic Assistance, Washington, DC.
- USDA Forest Service (USFS). 1958. *Timber Resources for America's Future*. Forest Resource Report 14, USDA Forest Service, Washington, DC. 713pp.
  - \_\_\_\_\_. 1965. *Timber Trends in the United States*. Forest Resource Report 17, USDA Forest Service, Washington, DC. 235pp.

\_. 1973*a. The Outlook for Timber in the United States.* Forest Resource Report 20, USDA Forest Service, Washington, DC. 367pp.

\_. 1973b. National Forest Landscape Managment, Volume 2, Chapter5, Timber. USDA Forest Service, Agriculture Handbook No. 559, Washington, DC.

\_\_\_. 1976 to 1996, annual. *Report of the Forest Service*. USDA Forest Service, Washington, DC.

- \_\_\_\_\_. 1982. An Analysis of the Timber Situation in the United States: 1989-2030. Forest Resource Report 23, USDA Forest Service, Washington, DC. 499pp.
- \_\_\_\_\_. 1985. Forest Stand Density and Stocking: Concepts, Terms, and the Use of Stocking Guides. USDA Forest Service, WO-GTR-44, Washington, DC. 8pp.

\_\_\_\_\_. 1992. Forest Service Resource Inventories: An Overview. USDA Forest Service, Forest Inventory, Economics, and Recreation Research, Washington, DC. 39pp.

\_\_. 1993a. The Forest Beyond the Trees : A Browser's Guide to Special Forest Products. USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Region, Portland, OR. 13 pp.

\_. 1993b. The Principal Laws Relating to Forest Service Activities. Agriculture Handbook No. 453, USDA Forest Service, Washington, DC.

\_\_\_. 1995a. Inland Native Fish Strategy: Environmental Assessment (INFISH). USDA Forest Service, Coeur d'Alene, ID. 36pp. + appendices.

\_. 1995b. Implementing the President's Forest Plan '94. USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Region and Pacific Southwest Region, Portland, OR.

\_\_\_\_. 1998. Strategic Plan for Forest Inventory and Monitoring. USDA Forest Service. Available [Online]: <http://fia.fs.fed.us/strategy.pdf> [31 October 2000].

\_. 1999a. 1997 RPA Assessment of the Nation's Forests. Draft Tables. USDA Forest Service. Available [Online]: <http:// www.srsfia.usfs.msstate.edu/wo/review.htm

[25 January 2000].

\_\_\_\_\_. 1999b. Roads Analysis: Informing Decisions about Managing the National Forest Transportation System. USDA Forest Service, Misc.Rep. FS-643, Washington, DC. 222pp. Available [Online]: <a href="http://www.fs.fed.us/news/roads/">http://www.fs.fed.us/news/roads/</a> DOCSroad-analysis.shtml> [13 November 2000].

\_\_\_\_\_. 2000a. Forest Inventory and Analysis 1999 Business Summary. USDA Forest Service. Available [Online]: <http://fia.fs.fed.us/ FIA\_Annual\_Report\_1999.pdf> [31 October 2000].

\_\_\_\_\_. 2000b. Program History. Forest Health Monitoring Fact Sheet Series, USDA Forest Service. Available [Online]: <a href="http://willow.ncfes.umn.edu/spfo/fhm/fact/">http://willow.ncfes.umn.edu/spfo/fhm/fact/</a> history.htm> [02 November 2000].

\_\_\_\_\_. 2000c. Forest Service Roadless Area Conservation: Final Environmental Impact Statement. USDA Forest Service, Washington, DC. Available [Online]: <a href="http://roadless.fs.fed.us/documents/feis">http://roadless.fs.fed.us/documents/feis</a> [13 November 2000].

\_\_\_\_\_ and USDI Bureau of Land Management (USFS & BLM). 1993. Draft Environmental Supplemental Impact Statement on Management of Habitat for Late-Successional and Old-Growth Forest Related Species Within the Range of the Northern Spotted Owl. USDA Forest Service, Washington, DC.

\_\_\_\_\_ and \_\_\_\_\_. 1994*a. Special Forest Products.* USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Region and USDI Bureau of Land Management, Oregon/Washington State Office, Portland, OR. 1 sheet.

\_\_\_\_\_ and \_\_\_\_\_. 1994b. Environmental Assessment for the Implementation of Interim Strategies for Managing Anadromous Fish-producing Watersheds in Eastern Oregon and Washington, Idaho, and Portions of California. (PACFISH). USDA Forest Service, Washington, DC. 68pp. + appendices.

\_\_\_\_\_, US Environmental Protection Agency, National Marine Fisheries Service, US Soil Conservation Service, and US Fish and Wildlife Service. 1994. *Nestucca Watershed Analysis*.

USDI Bureau of Land Management (BLM). 1995. *Middle Applegate Watershed Analysis*. BLM, Medford District Office, Medford, OR. 135pp. \_\_\_\_\_. 2000. BLM -Medford Watershed Analyses.

Available [Online]: <http://

www.or.blm.gov:80/Medford/planning/ Medwatershed.html> [15 November 2000].

- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 1997. Endangered and threatened wildlife and plants; 90-day finding for a petition to list the northern goshawk in the contiguous United States west of the 100<sup>th</sup> meridian. *Federal Register* 62(188):50892-50896.
  - \_\_\_\_\_. 1998. Endangered and threatened wildlife and plants; Notice of 12-month finding on a petition to list the northern goshawk in the contiguous United States west of the 100<sup>th</sup> meridian. *Federal Register* 63(124):35183-35184.
  - \_\_\_\_\_ and U.S. Bureau of the Census (USFWS & USBOC). 1993. *1991 National Survey of Fishing, Hunting and Wildlife-Associated Recreation*. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service and Bureau of the Census, Washington, DC. Available [Online]: <a href="http://www.census.gov/">http://www.census.gov/</a> prod/1/gen/interior/index.html> [30 June 1997].
- Unsworth, J.W., L. Kuck, M.D. Scott, and E.O. Garton. 1993. Elk mortality in the Clearwater drainage of northcentral Idaho. *Journal of Wildlife Management* 57:495-502.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_\_, E.O. Garton, and B.R. Butterfield. 1998. Elk habitat selection on the Clearwater National Forest, Idaho. *Journal of Wildlife Management* 62:1255-1263.
- Upton, C., and S. Bass. 1996. *The Forest Certification Handbook*. St. Lucie Press, Delray Beach, FL.
- Van Deusen, P.C., S.P. Prisley, and A.A. Lucier. 1999. Adopting an annual inventory system: User perspectives. *Journal of Forestry* 97(12):11-14.
- van Kooten, G.C. 1995. Can nonmarket values be used as indicators of forest sustainability? *Forestry Chronicle* 71:702-710.
- Viana, V.M. 1997. Certification as a catalyst for change in tropical forest management. In, *Certification of Forest Products: Issues and Perspectives*. V.M. Viana et al, eds. Island Press, Washington, DC. Pp. 111-122.
- Viederman, S. 1995. Knowledge for sustainable development: What do we need to know? In, A Sustainable World: Defining and Measuring Sustainable Development, T.C. Trzyna, ed. International Center for the Environment and Public Policy, Sacramento, CA. Pp. 36-43.
  - \_\_\_\_. 1996. Sustainability's five capitals and three pillars. In, *Building Sustainable Societies: A Blueprint for a Post-Industrial World*, D.C. Pirages, ed. M.E. Sharpe, Armonk, NY. Pp. 45-53.

- Waddell, K.L. 1992. Forest Statistics of the Western States, 1987. Report compiled for the Western States Legislative Forestry Task Force. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, Portland, OR.
- Wagner, F.G., J. O'Laughlin, and T.M. Gorman. 1997. *Idaho's 1996 Timber Harvest*. Contribution No. 838, Idaho Forest, Wildlife and Range Experiment Station, Univ. of Idaho, Moscow. 6pp.
- Wagner, M.R. 1994. The healthy multiple-use forest ecosystem: An impossible dream. In, *Sustain-able Ecological Systems: Implementing an Ecological Approach to Land Management*, W.W. Covington and L.F. DeBano., tech. coords. USDA Forest Service RM-GTR-247, Fort Collins, CO. Pp.185-188.
- Walker, J.L. 1990. Traditional sustained yield management: Problems and alternatives. *Forestry Chronicle* 66:20-24.
- Walsh, J.A. 2000. The value of place meaning: Practical applications for the future. *Parks and Recreation* 35(8):42-54.
- Walters, R.M., ed. 1992. Visual Quality Objectives in Douglas-Fir Forests. USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Region, Publication No. R6-REC-TP-016-90, Portland, OR. 183pp.
- Washington Forest Practices Board (WFPB). 1997. Board Manual: Standard Methodology for Conducting Watershed Analysis. Version 4.0. Washington Forest Practices Board, Olympia.
- Watson, G., M. O'Connor, T.W. Hillman, B.
  Sugden, and S. Jensen. 1998. Synthesis of Watershed Analysis and Ecoclassification at a River Basin Scale for the Conservation and Management of Aquatic Ecosystems. Native Fish Habitat Conservation Plan, Technical Report #8, Plum Creek Timber Company, Seattle, WA. 51pp.+ tables & figures.
- Wear, D.N., W.F. Hyde, and S.E. Daniels. 1989. Even-flow timber harvests and community stability: An analysis of short-run timber sale policies. *Journal of Forestry* 87(9):24-28.
- Wellman, J.D. 1987. *Wildland Recreation Policy: An Introduction*. Krieger Publishing Company, Malabar, FL. 284pp.
- Wenger, K.F. ed. 1984. *Forestry Handbook.* 2<sup>nd</sup> *Edition.* John Wiley & Sons, NewYork. 1335 pp.

- Western Wood Products Association (WWPA). 1963 to 1997, annual. *Statistical Yearbook of the Western Lumber Industry*. Western Wood Products Association, Portland, OR.
- Wicklum, D., and R.W. Davies. 1995. Ecosystem health and integrity? *Canadian Journal of Botany* 73:997-1000.
- Wiersum, K.F. 1995. 200 years of sustainability in forestry: Lessons from history. *Environmental Management* 19(3):321-329.
- Williams, D.R., and M.E. Patterson. 1996. Environmental meaning and ecosystem management: Perspectives from environmental psychology and human geography. *Society and Natural Resources* 9:507-521.
- \_\_\_\_\_, and S.I. Stewart. 1998. Senses of place: An elusive concept that is finding a home in ecosystem management. *Journal of Forestry* 96(5):18-23.
- \_\_\_\_\_, M.E. Patterson, J.W. Roggenbuck, and A.E. Watson. 1992. Beyond the commodity meta-phor: Examining emotional and symbolic at-tachment to place. *Leisure Sciences* 14:29-46.
- Willits, S. 1994. "Black bark" ponderosa pine: Tree grade definition and value comparison with old-growth trees. *Western Journal of Applied Forestry* 9(1):8-13.
- Wilkinson, C.F. 1992. *Crossing the Next Meridian: Land, Water, and the Future of the West.* Island Press, Washington, DC.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, and H.M. Anderson. 1985. Land and resource planning in the national forests. *Oregon Law Review* 64(1&2):1-373.
- Wilson, M.J., and D.D. Van Hooser. 1993. Forest Statistics for Land Outside National Forests in Northern Idaho, 1991. USDA Forest Service INT-RB-80, Ogden, UT. 58pp.
- Winograd, M. 1995. Environmental indicators for Latin America and the Caribbean: Tools for sustainability. In, A Sustainable World: Defining and Measuring Sustainable Development, T.C. Trzyna, ed. International Center for the Environment and Public Policy, Sacramento, CA. Pp. 198-215.

- Woodmansee, R.G. 1992. An ecological perspective of New Perspectives. In, *Rocky Mountain New Perspectives Proceedings of a Regional Workshop*, E.T. Bartlett and J.R. Jones, eds. USDA Forest Service RM-GTR-220, Ft. Collins, CO. Pp. 8-19.
- World Commission on Environment and Development (WCED). 1987. *Our Common Future*. Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK. 400pp.
- Xu, Z., D.P. Bradley, and P.J. Jakes. 1995. Measuring forest ecosystem sustainability: A resource accounting approach. *Environmental Management* 19(5):685-692.
- Yaffee, S.L. 1996. Ecosystem management in practice: The importance of human institutions. *Ecological Applications* 6(3):724-727.
- Yanishevsky, R.M. 1994. Old-Growth Overview: Fragmented Management of Fragmented Habitat. In, Rocky Mountain Challenge: Fulfilling a New Mission in the U.S. Forest Service, Association of Forest Service Employees for Environmental Ethics, Eugene, OR. Pp. 7-28.
- Yankelovich, D. 1991. Coming to Public Judgment: Making Democracy Work in a Complex World. Syracuse University Press, New York. 290pp.
- Young, J.S., D.M. Donnelly, C.F. Sorg, J.B. Loomis, and L.J. Nelson. 1987. Net Economic Value of Upland Game Hunting in Idaho. USDA Forest Service RM-RB-15, Ft. Collins, CO. 23pp.
- Young, M.D. 1992. Sustainable Investment and Resource Use: Equity, Environmental Integrity, and Economic Efficiency.Pantheon Publishing Group, Inc., Park Ridge, NJ. 176pp.
- Ziemer, R.R. 1997. Temporal and spatial scales. In, Watershed Restoration: Principles and Practices, J.E. Williams, C.A. Wood, and M.P. Dombeck, eds. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, MD. Pp. 80-95.
- Zobel, B. 1984. The changing quality of the world wood supply. *Wood Science and Technology* 18:1-17.

[This page left blank intentionally.]

## GLOSSARY

- **Basic industry:** An industry that produces goods and services that are exported from the local economy.
- **Board foot:** Nominally a board foot is a piece of lumber 1 inch thick, 12 inches wide, and 1 foot long, or its equivalent in dried and surfaced lumber (Wenger 1984).
- **Capital:** Assets available for use in the production of further assets.
- **Codominant trees:** Trees with crowns forming the general level of the crown cover.
- **Dominant trees:** Trees with crowns extending above the general level of the crown cover.
- **Dozer piling:** Piling of woody debris using a bulldozer to push the debris into a pile or windrow.
- Forest land: Land at least 10% stocked by forest trees of any size, including land that formerly had such tree cover and that will be regenerated naturally or artificially (Brown and Chojnacky 1996).
- **Forest type:** A classification of forest land based on and named for the tree species presently forming a plurality of living tree stocking (Brown and Chojnacky 1996).
- **Grapple piling:** Piling of woody debris using a backhoe equipped with a grapple, or equipped with a bucket that is capable of opening and holding pieces of debris (Reynolds et al. 1992).
- **Growing stock trees:** Live timber species trees meeting specified standards of quality and vigor; excludes cull trees (Brown and Chojnacky 1996).
- **Growing stock volume:** Net cubic-foot volume in live poletimber size and sawtimber size growing stock trees from a 1-foot stump to a minimum 4inch top (Brown and Chojnacky 1996).
- Habitat type: An aggregation of all land areas potentially capable of producing similar plant communities at climax (Steele et al. 1981).
- Hand piling: Piling of woody debris using human muscle power.
- **Home range:** The area that an animal habitually uses during, nesting, resting, bathing, foraging, and roosting. A nesting home range contains nest areas (active and historical), the post-fledging family area, and the foraging area (Reynolds et al. 1992).
- **Hiding cover:** Vegetation capable of hiding 90 percent of a standing adult elk from the view of a human at a distance equal to or less than 200 feet (Servheen 1997).

- **Logging:** The felling, skidding, on-site processing, and loading of trees or logs onto trucks (Helms 1998).
- **Lopping and scattering:** A method to disperse logging debris, and to reduce it to a specific height (usually 2-3 feet) above the ground (Reynolds et al. 1992).
- Net annual growth: Gross annual growth minus average annual mortality (Brown and Chojnacky 1996).
- Net volume (in cubic feet): Gross cubic-foot volume in the merchantable portion of trees, less deductions for cull volume (Brown and Chojnacky 1996).
- Nonforest land: Land that does not currently qualify as forest land (Brown and Chojnacky 1996).
- **Nonreserved land:** Land that is not classified as **reserved**.
- **Nonstocked areas:** Forest land less than 10% stocked with live trees (Brown and Chojnacky 1996).
- **Poletimber stands:** Stands at least 10% stocked with growing-stock trees, in which half or more of the stocking is sawtimber or poletimber trees or both, with poletimber stocking exceeding that of sawtimber (Brown and Chojnacky 1996).
- **Prescribed burning:** Controlled application of fire to wildland fuels in either their natural or modified state, under such conditions of weather, fuel moisture, soil moisture, etc. as allow the fire to be confined to a predetermined area and at the same time to produce the intensity of heat and rate of spread required to further certain planned objectives of silviculture, wildlife management, fire hazard reduction, etc. (Ford-Robertson 1971).
- **Recreation activity day:** All or part of a calendar day spent participating in a given recreation activity.
- **Recreation visitor day:** 12 hours of visitation by one or more persons.
- **Removals:** The net volume of growing-stock trees removed from the inventory by harvesting, cultural operations, land clearing, and changes in land use (Brown and Chojnacky 1996).
- **Replacement nest area:** Forest areas with physiographic characteristics and size similar to suitable goshawk nest areas. Replacement areas can have young to mature forests that can be developed into suitable nest areas (Reynolds et al. 1992).

- **Reserved forest land:** Forest land withdrawn from tree utilization through statute or administrative designation (e.g., Wilderness areas) (Brown and Chojnacky 1996).
- Saplings: Live trees 1 to 4.9 inches d.b.h. (Brown and Chojnacky 1996).
- **Sawtimber:** A classification of timber inventory that is composed of sawtimber trees of commercial species (Powell et al. 1993).
- Sawtimber trees: Live timber species meeting regional size and defect specifications. Softwood trees must beat least 9 inches d.b.h. and hardwood trees 11 inches d.b.h. (Brown and Chojnacky 1996).
- Sawtimber stands: Stands at least 10% stocked with growing-stock trees, with half or more of total stocking in sawtimber or poletimber trees, and with sawtimber stocking at least equal to poletimber stocking (Brown and Chojnacky 1996).
- **Seedlings:** Established live timber species trees less than 1 inch d.b.h. (Brown and Chojnacky 1996).
- Seral stage: A temporal and intermediate stage in the process of succession (Helms 1998).
- Sight distance: The distance at which 90 percent or more of an adult elk is hidden from human view (Servheen 1997).
- **Site-potential tree height:** The average maximum height for mature trees on a site, given the local growing conditions

- Stand size class: A classification of forest land based on the predominant size of trees present (see Sawtimber stands, Poletimber stands, Saplings, and Seedlings) (Brown and Chojnacky 1996).
- **Stocking:** An expression of the extent to which growing space is effectively utilized by present or potential growing-stock trees (Brown and Chojnacky 1996).
- **Suitable nest area:** An area that includes all of the attributes of a nest area and is, therefore usable for nesting by goshawks (Reynolds et al. 1992).
- **Thermal cover:** For elk, vegetation used by elk to help maintain comfortable body temperature with minimal energy expenditure. A stand of coniferous trees 40 ft., or more tall with average crown cover exceeding 70 percent (Servheen 1997).
- **Thinning from below:** The removal of the slower growing trees in the lower portion of the canopy. This intermediate treatment leaves the taller, faster-growing trees at a selected density and spacing (Reynolds et al. 1992).
- **Timberland:** Forest land where timber species make up at least 10% stocking (Brown and Chojnacky 1996).
- **Woodland:** Forest land where timber species make up less than 10% stocking (Brown and Chojnacky 1996).